
THE UNIVERSITY OP HULL

"B ritish  Policy towards the French Republic in 1848"

being a Thesis submitted for the Degree o f

Doctor o f Philosophy

in the University o f Hull

*>y

David N eil Petler, B.A.

January 1984



Summary o f Thesis fo r  Ph.D. degree

D.N. Petler 

on

"B ritish  Policy towards the French Republic in 1848"

The revolutions o f 1848, which were sparked o f f  hy the overthrow 

o f Louis Philippe and the establishment o f the Second French Republic, 

destroyed the existing balance o f power in Europe, increased the lik e ­

lihood o f a major war, and exacerbated the uncertainty and tension 

on the continent. During th is c r it ic a l  period the B ritish  Government 

took a close in terest and played a prominent r^le in European a ffa irs . 

This thesis examines the formation and execution o f B ritish  policy 

towards the French Republic between the February Revolution and the 

election  o f Louis Napoleon Bonaparte.

Distrust o f France as a poten tia lly  disruptive force in Europe played 

a prominent part in B ritish  thinking, and consequently the B ritish  

Government sought to moderate the Republic's conduct and lim it i t s  

opportunities fo r  an aggressive foreign  policy. This study shows how 

the B ritish  Government pursued th is conservative objective whilst 

working with the Republic and encouraging some o f the lib e ra l movements 

on the continent. The domestic repercussions o f the French revolution 

are also examined. The Government's response to the challenges of 

the Chartists and the Ir ish  Repealers reveals the determination with 

which i t  tr ied  to avert revolution and o ffers  a s ign ifican t contrast 

with it s  " l ib e ra l"  foreign  policy. Moreover, the danger o f domestic 

upheaval and the worrying events on the continent enhanced the conserv­

atism of the Court and the opposition parties, and th is hampered the 

Government's a b il ity  to pursue the foreign policy i t  preferred.

fresh interpretation of a sign ifican t aspectThis study o ffers  a



of B ritish  foreign  policy in the mid-nineteenth century. I t  reveals 

that the B ritish  Government pursued its  conservative objectives by 

" lib e ra l"  p o lic ies , and that those po lic ies  were modified by domestic 

opposition. I t  also challenges the assumption that B ritish  po lic ies  

were decisive in averting a European war. I t  seeks to demonstrate 

that peace was maintained by factors beyond the control o f the B ritish  

Government and that the course o f the revolutions remained largely  

unchanged by it s  actions.
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Preface

Like 1815 and 187O, 1848, the Year o f Revolutions, is  seen as a 

turning-point in  European h istory. I t  marked the end o f the Metternich 

system, the climax o f the revolutionary ferment which had disturbed 

the continent since 1789, and gave a warning o f the rise  o f Germany 

and Ita ly . I t  was also a time when there was an obvious struggle 

between con flic tin g  princip les, between absolutism and constitutionalism, 

monarchism and republicanism, and nationalism and supranational 

empires. Contemporaries recognised that they were liv in g  at the dawn 

o f a new age, although what that age would bring seemed unclear.

For B rita in , however, 1848 marked no such turning-point. There was 

no great socia l or p o lit ic a l upheaval, and no change o f government.

There was not even a s ign ifican t change in  Government policy either 

at home or abroad. But fo r  the fin a l collapse o f the Chartist movement 

and the fa ilu re  o f Smith O 'Brien's rebellion  in Ireland, i t  would 

have been as unremarkable as 1847* The important year in B ritish  

h istory had been 1846, when Pee l's  Conservative Party had been shattered 

over the Corn Laws and famine had begun to a f f l i c t  Ireland, and two 

years la ter B ritish  p o lit ic s  were s t i l l  try ing to adjust to these 

dramatic events. As a result o f the re la tive  quiescence o f domestic 

p o lit ic s , the momentous occurrences across the Channel assumed a 

greater sign ificance. The B ritish  public began to take a closer 

in terest in the a ffa irs  o f the continent and in  the po lic ies  pursued 

hy it s  government, and i t  displayed a particular in terest in the 

a ffa irs  o f i t s  nearest neighbour and trad itiona l r iv a l,  France.

This is  not the f i r s t  study o f Anglo-French relations in 1848.

In 1925 Donald M. Greer's account o f Palmerston's policy towards



the Second Republic was published. However Greer's work dealt with 

the whole o f Palmerston's th ird tenure o f the Foreign O ffice : only 

s ix ty  o f the three hundred and ninety pages covered 1848, and most 

o f them were confined to the c r is is  in northern I ta ly .  Moreover,

Greer took no account o f public opinion and, lacking access to the 

unpublished private papers o f the po lit ic ian s , had only a partia l 

grasp o f the B ritish  Government's ob jectives and o f i t s  internal 

d ivis ions.

Since the publication o f Greer's book, several students in  the

United States have made a study o f Anglo-French relations in  1848.

The value o f these works varies. Some o f the authors fa ile d  to consult

the unpublished correspondence and the da ily  newspapers other than 
2

The Times. In recent years, however, two new studies have appeared, 

both o f which have used the unpublished correspondence in  the Public 

Record O ffice and the Broadlands Papers. The f i r s t  o f these, by 

George B il ly ,  is  a study o f Palmerston's conduct o f foreign  a ffa irs  

in  the f i r s t  h a lf o f 1848.^ B il ly  claims to o ffe r  "a fresh interpretation 

and more complete account o f Palmerston's foreign  policy in 1848" 

than has previously been given.^ In fact he concentrates on B rita in 's  

relations with the major Powers and omits important incidents such 

as the expulsion o f Bulwer. Nor are B i l ly 's  conclusions particu larly 

new. He emphasises Palmerston's commitment to the maintenance o f 

the balance o f power and minimises his support fo r the lib e ra l movements 

on the continent. The second thesis, by John Derden, is  o f more

1 . D.M. Greer: L 'Angleterre, la France et la Revolution de 1848. Le 
Troisième Ministère de Lord Palmerston au Foreign O ffice (1846 -  
18*31 ) (Paris 1928).

2. H.F. Brooks: "English Reactions to the Continental Revolutions o f 
1848" unpublished Ph.D. D issertation, University o f Nebraska 1948;
J.W. Campbell: "The Influence o f the Revolutions o f 1848 on Great 
Brita in " unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University o f Georgia 
1963; P.E. Wilson: "Anglo-French Diplomatic Relations, 1848 -  1851" 
unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University o f Chicago 1954-

3 . G.J. B il ly : "Palmerston’ s Foreign Policy: 1848" unpublished Ph.D. 
Dissertation, City University o f New York 1982.

4. ib id , 245*
5 . ib id , 266 -  8.

i i
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d irect relevence to Anglo-French re lations. I t  examines the a c t iv it ie s  

o f Lord Normanby in some d e ta il, but i t  is  o f more value in describing 

how a perceptive observer regarded the events in  France in  1848 than 

in accounting fo r the various factors which a ffected  the formation 

o f B ritish  policy towards the Republic.

Whilst there is  no d e fin it iv e  work on British  policy towards France 

in  1848, there are several works in  which Anglo-French relations
7

play a major part. The most important o f these are by Lawrence Jennings

8and A.J.P. Taylor. Jennings' work deals with Anglo-French relations

as seen from Paris. I t  gives a convincing account o f the formation

o f French po licy , but makes only a su perfic ia l attempt to cover the

formation o f B ritish  policy. Taylor discusses the formation o f B ritish

policy with respect to northern I ta ly ,  which forms a prominent issue

in Anglo-French relations in 1848. Palmerston is  depicted as an

exponent o f r e a l-p o lit ik . intent on preventing a major European

war and preserving the balance o f power, whilst his colleagues

are seen as endangering th is prudent po licy by the ir pro-Ita lian

sympathies and th e ir "pusillanimous d is lik e o f taking up a firm

9attitude about anything at a l l " .  The evidence Taylor c ites  seems 

to ju s t ify  these sweeping conclusions, but the evidence is  inadequate. 

Taylor did not use the unpublished le tte rs  and diaries o f the members 

o f the Government which often reveal the hopes and intentions o f the 

policy-makers. Taylor's f ie ld  o f study is  also extremely restric ted . 

Palmerston's problems with the Queen are la rge ly  ignored, and the 

influence o f public opinion, which Taylor asserts was pro-Ita lian ,

6. J.K. Derden: "The B ritish  Embassy in Paris in 1848" unpublished 
Ph.D. Dissertation, University o f Georgia 1981.

7. L.C. Jennings: France and Europe in 18A8: A Study o f French Foreign 
A ffa irs  in  Time o f Crisis (Oxford 1973)»

8. A .J.P. Taylor: The Ita lia n  Problem in European Diplomacy 1847 -  49 
(Manchester 1 934)«

9. ib id . 234.
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is  dismissed. As a resu lt, he has an incomplete understanding of 

Palmerston's plans, underestimates the extent and the importance of 

the opposition to them, and misrepresents the fee lin gs o f the Cabinet, 

Parliament and the public. This thesis does not o ffe r  a radical re­

interpretation o f B ritish  policy towards northern Ita ly  in 1848, but 

i t  does show that Palmerston was less single-minded, and his colleagues 

were less contemptible, than Taylor suggests.

The aim of th is study is  to examine the influences on the formation 

o f B ritish  policy towards the French Republic between the February 

Revolution and the election  o f Louis Napoleon, and to assess the 

success o f that policy. The private le tte rs  o f B ritish  ministers 

and diplomats, most o f which are unpublished, supplement the o f f ic ia l  

correspondence to give a fu lle r  picture o f the B ritish  Government's 

intentions and actions than has previously been achieved. I t  has

also been possible to reconstruct some o f the discussions in the

1 1Cabinet from the unpublished diaries o f S ir John Cam Hobhouse and 

Lords Grey, Minto and Morpeth. F ina lly , an attempt has been made to 

examine how the Government's po lic ies were modified by opposition 

from Queen V ictoria  and Prince A lbert, from Parliament, and from the 

B ritish  public as a whole.

*  *  *

During the course of my research I have received assistance from 

a large number o f people, and i t  is  now my pleasant duty to express 

my appreciation. I  would like to thank: Her Majesty the Queen, fo r  

permission to consult and quote from the royal correspondence in the 

Broadlands (Palmerston) Papers; the Marquis o f Normanby, fo r permission

10. ib id . 7 .
11. Extracts from Hobhouse's diaries were published by Lady Dorchester 

(Lady C. Dorchester (e d . ):  Recollections o f a Long L ife (London 
1911))» but the accounts of the discussions in the Cabinet were 
largely  omitted.

10
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-to consult and quote from the Normanby Papers; the Earl o f Clarendon, 

fo r  permission to quote from the Clarendon Papers in the Bodleian 

Library; Lord Blake, fo r permission to consult the 14th Earl o f Derby 

Papers at the Queen's College, Oxford; Lord Howard, fo r  access to the 

Castle Howard Archives; the Trustees o f the Broadlands Archives Trust, 

fo r permission to consult and quote from the Broadlands Papers. I  

have also received unfailing help and courtesy from the s ta ffs  o f the 

fo llow ing institu tions: the B ritish  Library; the Public Record O ffice ; 

the Royal Commission on H istorica l Manuscripts; the Bodleian Library, 

Oxford; the National Library o f Scotland; the Department o f Palaeography 

and Diplomatic, Durham University; the Borthwick Institu te o f H istorica l 

Research, York; the Institu te o f H istorica l Research, London; and Hull 

University Library. Without the financia l assistance o f the Hull Univ­

e rs ity  Grants Committee I  would have been unable to v is i t  London, Oxford 

and elsewhere to study the unpublished papers. F ina lly , I  would like 

to thank my supervisor, Dr Bernard Porter, fo r  his advice and guidance.
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Chapter I :  B rita in  and Europe, 1846 -  1848

i )  PALMERSTON'S RETURN TO THE FOREIGN OFFICE

On 6 December 1 845 S ir Robert Peel, the Prime M inister, to ld  Queen

V ictoria  and Prince Albert that he f e l t  compelled to resign. He was

convinced, he explained, that i t  was necessary to repeal the Corn Laws,

but he would not attempt i t  without the unanimous support o f the Cabinet

which he did not have. He advised the Queen to send fo r  Lord John

Russell, the leader o f the Whigs, who a fortn ight ea r lie r  had declared
-]

his support fo r  repeal. When Russell saw the Queen, he to ld  her he

could not commit himself to forming a ministry without consulting his

colleagues and, because o f the large Conservative majority in both
2

Houses, without being assured o f Pee l's  support. On the 18th, a fte r  

a week o f private discussions and p o lit ic a l manoeuvrings, the leading 

Whigs voted by eleven to f iv e  in favour o f try ing to form an administr­

ation.^ The next task was to agree upon a Cabinet.

The most controversial o f the proposed appointments was also 

probably the most predictable. In 1830 the appointment o f Lord Palm­

erston to the Foreign O ffice had caused a considerable amount o f surprise. 

In December 1845 his return there seemed a foregone conclusion. As 

early as the 10th Russell, without consulting his colleagues, had to ld  

Palmerston that he would be expected to take his old o ffic e .^  Yet there

1. Prince A lbert's  memorandum, 7 December 1845: QVL, I I ,  56 -  60. For 
Pee l's  conversion to repeal, Lord Stanley's opposition, and Russell's 
Edinburgh Letter, see N. Gash: S ir Robert Peel: The L ife  o f S ir Robert 
Peel a fte r  1830 (London 1972), 531 -  51; W.D. Jones: Lord Derby and 
Victorian Conservatism (Oxford 1956), 110 -  14 ; J. Prest: Lord John 
Russell (London 1972), 201 -  2; F.A. Dreyer: "The Russell Administration, 
1846 -  1852" unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University o f St. Andrews 
1962, 13 -  16 .

2. Russell's Journal, 11 December 1845: PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR, I ,  103 -  4 ). 
The best account o f Russell's attempt to  form a government is  F.A. Dreyer 
"The Whigs and the P o lit ic a l Crisis of 1845" English H istorica l Review 
IXXX (1965), 514 -  37-

3. Grey's Journal, 18 December 1845s Qrey P. C3/12.
4 . R. Bullen: Palmerston, Guizot and the Collapse o f the Entente Cordiale 

(London 1 974)» 44*
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was widespread apprehension in  Whig c irc les  about Palmerston's return 

to the Foreign O ffice .

Opposition within the Whig party to Palmerston as Foreign Secretary

was nothing new. In 1 835 an attempt had been made to move him because
5

he had been too viru lent against the Northern Courts. More seriously, 

during the Mehemet A li c r is is  o f 1840 Clarendon, Holland and Russell 

had opposed Palmerston's handling o f the a f fa ir  — Russell going so 

fa r as to tender his resignation -  because they f e l t  he was being 

too provocative to France.^ Whilst in  opposition, a large part o f 

the leadership o f the party had disapproved o f Palmerston's vehement 

attacks on Aberdeen and the entente cordiale with France, although 

a fte r  the Tahiti incident that disapproval had waned. Palmerston's 

proposed return to the Foreign O ffice , therefore, was unlikely to 

meet with universal approval in Whig c irc les .

I t  was Lord Grey, the son o f the former Prime M inister, who led 

the opposition in December 1845* Grey had long disapproved o f Palmerston's
g

conduct o f foreign a ffa ir s , and as early as the 13th Edward E llic e  

warned Russell that Grey would be "d i f f ic u lt  about some arrangements 

at the Foreign O ffice ". Upon talk ing to friends and prospective 

colleagues, Grey found that many people shared his views about Palmerston.5.
6.
7.
8.

9.

K. Bourne: Palmerston: The Early Years 1784 -  1841 (London 1982),
545 -  9? S ir C.K. Webster: The Foreign Policy o f Palmerston 1830 -  
1841 (London 1951)y I ,  416 -  21. For e a r lie r  opposition in the 
Cabinet to Palmerston see Bourne, Palmerston. 502 -  3, 524, 529 -  31 
and 542 -  5.
Bourne, Palmerston. 589 — 617; S ir H.E. Maxwell: The L ife  and Letters 
o f George William Frederick Fourth Earl o f Clarendon K.G., G.C.B. 
(London 1913)» I j  182 — 212; S. Walpole: The L ife  o f Lord John Russell 
(London 1889) ,  I ,  347 -  54; Webster, I I ,  675 -  6, 689 -  90, 700,
709 -  13 and 718 — 20.
Bullen, 3 3 - 5  and 41 -  4 .
Bourne, Palmerston. 401, 554» and 565» Breyer, "Russell Administr­
ation ", 32; R. Job: "The P o lit ic a l Career o f Henry, Third Earl Grey 
(l826 -  52)" unpublished M .Litt. D issertation, University o f Durham 
1959, 376 -  8. . . , 0 ,
E llic e  to Russell, 13 December 18452 PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR, I ,  89).
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On the 18th he confided to his journal that whilst "every "body"

d isliked the thought o f Palmerston’ s return, "as usual the whole
10

odium of making the objectn. w i l l  I  see be le f t  to me." The same

evening Francis Baring warned Russell o f the opposition to Palmerston

and suggested that he be moved to the Colonial O ffice and given the

leadership o f the Lords. Russell rep lied  that the Queen had already

to ld  him "that a l l  she was a fra id  o f was Palmerston at the Foreign

11O ffice , but that he had said that i t  must be." During the night, 

however, Russell evidently thought the matter over, fo r  the follow ing 

morning he to ld  Palmerston

that he knew as w ell as I  did the impression that had 
been made against him as a warlike p o lit ic ian ; that I 
did not agree in that impression & thought i t  unjust.
That i f  he had thought i t  should so fa r be yielded to 
that he should take the colon ial o ff ic e  I  was ready to 
agree.

Such a tentative approach was hardly l ik e ly  to persuade Palmerston

to relinquish the Foreign O ffice . "He said he thought that z >

acceptJ  would be admitting the justice o f the impression. I  said

in that case I  would o ffe r  him the foreign  o ff ic e  & no other. He
12agreed to accept i t . "

On the morning o f the 19th Russell began to d istribute the o ffic es  

o f his government. He offered Grey the Colonial O ffice , which Grey 

accepted, and then described the other proposed appointments. When 

he mentioned Palmerston Grey interrupted and said that he would not 

serve in  the Government i f  Palmerston had the Foreign O ffic e .1̂  That

10. Grey’ s Journal, 18 December 1845: Grey P. C3/ 12 . Cf Macaulay to 
Mrs C. Trevelyan, 19 December 1845: T. Pinney (e d . ):  The Letters
o f Thomas Babington Macaulay (London 1977), IV, 276; Lord Stanmore: 
Sidney Herbert, Lord Herbert o f Lea; A Memoir (London 1906), I ,  58.

11. Lord Northbrook: Journals and Correspondence o f Francis Thornhill 
Baring, Lord Northbrook (London 1 902 -  1905)» 1» 224.

12. Russell’ s Journal, 19 December 1845: PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR, I ,  106).
13. Grey’ s Journal, 19 December 1 845: Grey P. C3/l2; Russell's Journal, 

19 December 1845= PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR. I ,  1 0 6 - 7 ) .
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evening, in  a le t te r  to Russell, Grey explained his objections.

He had, he declared, always been "on the most amicable terms" with 

Palmerston and had "a very high opinn." o f his a b il it ie s .  At the 

same time,

I  could not be blind to the notorious fact that ju s tly  or 
unjustly both friends & opponents regarded with considerable 
apprehension the prospect o f his return to the Foreign 
O ffice , & the existence o f such a fee lin g  was in my mind 
no s ligh t objectn. to the appointment. But farther, when 
he formerly held th is o ff ic e  events occurred which are 
by no means yet forgotten which have created fee lings o f 
apparent alienatn. between him & some o f the ch ief statesmen 
& diplomatists o f foreign  countries more especia lly  o f 
France. Hence there is  now undeniably on the ir part a 
pre-disposition to view with jealousy whatever may be 
done by him, & conduct which may be perfec tly  proper in 
i t s e l f ,  might when adopted by him give offence which i t  
wd. not do coming from another person.

He was, he stressed, w illin g  to serve in  the administration i f  Palmerston

held another position -  he also suggested the Colonial O ffice -

and he denied having any personal aspirations to the Foreign O ffice .

In conclusion, he remarked that he "shd. have f e l t  less confidence

in my opinn. to th is e ffe c t  had I  not found i t  universally concurred

in ", and he expressed his b e lie f  that "there is  not one o f those

who were to have been our colleagues who does not think that his

taking a d ifferen t o ffic e  wd. have been a very great advantage

Russell was dismayed by Grey’ s decision. Convinced that his government

could not survive without Grey’ s support in the Lords, he asked

15E llic e  to ta lk  to him. Meanwhile he informed Palmerston o f what 

had happened and asked again whether he would take another o ff ic e .  

Palmerston, however, dug his heels in . The new objection, he rep lied , 

"renders i t  s t i l l  more impossible than i t  was before fo r me to take 

any other o f f i c e " . ^  I t  took E llic e  some time to find Grey, and when

14- Grey to Russell, 19 December 1845: PRO 30/22/4E (q Walpole, I ,  414 -  16 ).
15. Russell's Journal, 19 December 1 845s PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR, I ,  107);

GM, V, 337. , ,
16. Palmerston to Russell, 19 December 1845: PRO 30/22/4E.
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he did so he did not press him to drop his opposition to Palmerston,

as Russell evidently expected, hut rather declared his personal

conviction that Grey was right to object. Not surprisingly, Grey

maintained his position. Upon learning o f Grey's resolve, Russell

announced that he must give up the attempt to form an administration

as the breach with Grey "would produce d if f ic u lt ie s  and embarrassments
18

that would m aterially impair his chance o f success." Grey was

"bewildered" when he learnt o f Russell's decision. He began to wish

that instead o f making a personal objection to Palmerston's appointment

he had suggested that the rest o f the proposed Cabinet should vote 

19on the question. But he did not think he had been wrong to oppose

the appointment, and he continued to believe that the bulk o f the

party would support him. The whole business, he to ld  his w ife , had

been "disagreeable" and he was blamed fo r Russell's  fa ilu re , "but

20as I  don't fe e l to have deserved i t  I  don't care."

A fter the flu rry  o f action came the inquest. Who was to blame

fo r the fa ilu re  to form a Whig government? Russell blamed Grey,

21and resolved "never to act with him in public again". He did not

deny Grey's right to oppose Palmerston's conduct o f foreign  a ffa ir s ,

although he personally thought the critic ism  unjust. What he resented

was Grey's fa ilu re  to t e l l  him of his objections before he accepted
23

the task o f try ing to form a government. The rest o f the party
24

was also c r it ic a l  o f Grey. Both Palmerston and Grey blamed E llic e ,

17* Grey's Journal, 19 December 1845: Grey P. C3/l2; GM, V, 361.
18. GM, V, 338.
19» Grey's Journal, 19 December 1845: Grey P. C3/l2; GM, V, 361.
20. Grey to his w ife , 20 December 1845: Grey P. 103/3.
21. Russell to his w ife , 21 December 18452 Walpole, I ,  4 17 .
22. Russell to Minto, 20 December 1845: N.L.S. Mss. 11774 f96 (q Walpole,

I ,  416 -  17).
23. Russell to Grey, 21 December 1845: Grey P. 122/1 (q Walpole, I ,  416);

Russell to Wood, copy, 3 January 1846: PRO 3O/22/5A (q LGJR, I ,
100 -  2 ).

24. Baring to Russell, 19 December 1845* Lansdowne to Russell, 21 December 
1845» Pox Maule to Russell, 22 December 1845» E llic e  to Russell,
23 December 1845: PRO 30/22/4E (q LCJR, I ,  9 5 - 8 ) .
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accusing him of encouraging Grey to continue on the line he had 

c hos en . Ot he r s ,  including the Queen, thought that Russell had 

abandoned his task too p rec ip ita te ly  and that he should have tr ied
o r 27

to go on without Grey. In fa c t, as Sir Charles Wood observed, 

a l l  three had been to blame to some extent. Russell had been anxious 

to escape a d if f ic u lt  position and had fa ile d  to heed the warning 

signs. E l l ic e ’ s behaviour, either deliberate ly  or by accident (Palmerston 

thought the former, Wood the la t te r ) ,  had served to strengthen Grey's 

resolution rather than weaken i t .  But, above a l l ,  Grey had been 

too hasty and too dogmatic. He had misread the general apprehension 

about Palmerston's return to the Foreign O ffice as a willingness 

to force him to take another position even at the risk  o f crippling 

the party by alienating him completely.

The one person to emerge from the controversy with his position 

strengthened was Palmerston. He had staked his claim to the Foreign 

O ffice and Russell had revealed that whatever the rest o f the party 

thought he was w illin g  to support that claim. Moreover, Palmerston's 

importance to the Whigs had been demonstrated to a l l .  There was 

some ta lk  o f try ing to do without Grey's support in the Lords; there 

was none o f try ing to do without Palmerston's in  the Commons. But 

Palmerston's attitude towards his colleagues seems to have undergone 

a sign ifican t change. " I  am w ell aware", he wrote to Lord Melbourne, 

" . . .  that some persons both at home and abroad have imbibed the 

notion that I  am more ind ifferen t than I  ought to be as to running 

the risk  o f war." He accepted these attacks from foreign statesmen 

and from Tory opponents, he declared, but he resented the " l i t t l e  25 26 27

25. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 28 December 1845s B.L. Add. Mss. 56565 f 133;
Grey to E ll ic e , copy, 29 December 1 8452 Grey P. 120/3.

26. Grey's Journal, 20 December 1 845: Grey P. C3/l2; Hobhouse’ s Diary,
28 December 1845s B*L. Add. Mss. 43748 f2 ; Wood to Russell, 31 
December 1845s PRO 30/22/4E; GM, V, 338, 341 and 344 -  5*

27 . Wood to Grey, 27 December 18455 Grey P. 105/2 .
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cabal within our own ranks". His c r it ic s ,  he explained,

could not charge me with fa ilu re , because we had succeeded 
in  our undertakings . . .; they could not charge me with 
having involved the country in  war, because, in fa c t , we 
had maintained peace; and the only thing that was le f t  
fo r  them say was that my policy had a tendency to produce 
war . . .

One sign o f his disenchantment with the Whigs was his f l ir ta t io n

with the idea o f jo in ing a coa lition  o f moderate Whigs and Tory 

29Protection ists. Another was his determination to maintain his 

independence when eventually he returned to the Foreign O ffice .

Russell's fa ilu re  to form a ministry in  December merely postponed 

what rapidly became inevitab le. Peel forced through the repeal o f 

the Corn Laws and in the process smashed the great Conservative 

party which he had spent much o f his career since 1830 creating. 

Two-thirds o f the party, led by Lord Stanley and inspired by D israe li, 

rejected Pee l's  leadership and became known as Protection ists. On 

29 June 1846, a fte r  seventy-four Protectionists combined with the 

Whigs and the Radicals to defeat an Ir ish  Coercion B i l l ,  Peel announced 

his resignation. The Protectionists could not command su ffic ien t 

support to form an administration so once again the Queen sent fo r  

R u sse ll.^

Russell was determined that the problems o f the previous December 

should not recur. Having decided that Palmerston's support was v i t a l ,  

he resolved to do without Grey's. On 27 June he to ld  Grey that although 

he did not think i t  impossible that he and Grey should hold o ffic e  

together in  the future, "upon the whole he thought i t  better we shd. 28 29 30

28. Palmerston to Melbourne, 26 December 1845: QVL, I I ,  81.
29. H.C.F. B e ll: Lord Palmerston (London 1936), I ,  363 -  5; R. Stewart:

The P o lit ic s  o f Protection: Lord Derby and the Protectionist Party 
1841 -  1862 (Cambridge 1971). 70 -  1: Drever, "Russell Administration", 
46 -  7-

30. For the repeal o f the Corn Laws and the break-up o f the Conservative 
party see R. Blake: D israeli (London 1966), 223 -  43; Gash, 562 -  
615; Prest, 210 -  18 ; Stewart, 48 -  76; Dreyer, "Russell Admini­
stra tion ", 37 — 57*
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not "be so just at present." Grey began to reconcile himself to being 

excluded from o f f ic e . 31 The follow ing day, however, S ir Charles Wood 

intervened. At the beginning o f the year, Wood, Grey’ s brother—in—law, 

had done a l l  he could to prevent the r i f t  between Russell and Grey 

widening further. Now he wrote to Russell pointing out the advantages 

o f including Grey and declaring that i f  Grey was given the Colonial 

O ffice he would have "enough to occupy him". With "occasional commu­

nication on your part, . . . and a l i t t l e  forbearance from his colleagues," 

he announced, " I  have confident hopes that a l l  might go smooth." 33

Russell found Wood’ s arguments extremely persuasive. He to ld  

Wood, who to ld  Grey, that his objections to Grey had been based 

upon "the d if f ic u lt ie s  he foresaw in my getting on with others, 

andJ  that on further enquiry he did not find these d if f ic u lt ie s

as insuperable as he had supposed."3  ̂ I t  is  known that Russell discussed

35Grey's inclusion with Lansdowne, and as he to ld  the Queen that

he discussed the composition o f the new government with Lansdowne,

Palmerston, Clarendon and Cottenham,3  ̂ i t  is  probable that he also

discussed the subject with Palmerston. Lady Palmerston remarked that

her husband "decided to take him [_ Grey_7 in in order to avoid having

37to explain why he was being punished and le f t  out in  the co ld ."

This statement and Russell's remark to Wood implies that Palmerston 

had a veto on Grey's inclusion and that in  order not to damage his 

standing among the Whigs Palmerston refused to use i t .  I t  also illu s tra tes  

the importance Russell placed on Palmerston's opinion.

31. Grey's Journal, 27 June 1846: Grey P. C3/ 12 .
32. Wood to Grey, ¿7 December 1845: ib id  105/2; Wood to Russell,

5 January 1846: PRO 30/22/5A (q LCJR, I ,  100 -  2 ).
33. Wood to Russell, /~28 June 1846J :  PRO 30/ 22/5B (q Walpole, I ,  427).
34» Grey's Journal, 30 June 1846: Grey P. C3/12.
35« Prest, 224.
36. Prince A lb ert ’ s memorandum, 30 June 1846: QVLt I I ,  98.
37. Lady Palmerston to Princess Lieven, 3 July 1846: Lord Sudley (e d .):

The Lieven -  Palmerston Correspondence 1828 -  1856 (London 1943),286.
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Grey spent much o f the 30th considering " a l l  the pros & cons"
■ 3 Q

of accepting the Colonial O ffice . Wood urged him to accept, hut 

warned that "there was no use in his coming in unless he meant to 

make things go smoothly" .39 The follow ing day Grey entered the Cabinet. 

He explained th is decision in his journal by w riting that " i f  I  con­

tinued out things wd. necessarily arise which wd. produce more or 

less coolness between myself & my friends" and that Aberdeen's s e tt le ­

ment of the Oregon question made the danger o f "Palmerston's getting 

us into a war with the U.S." much less l ik e ly .^  This second explanation 

was added in  the margin and is  c lea r ly  an afterthought. Moreover, 

in his le t te r  o f 19 December he had specified  France rather than the 

United States as the country with which Palmerston was most lik e ly  

to quarrel. The dominant motive fo r  his acquiescence to Palmerston's

appointment was his rea lisation  that i f  he continued his opposition

41he would be excluded from o ffic e . But his views on Palmerston's 

unsu itability as Foreign Secretary had been repressed, not changed.

I t  was widely doubted, wrote S ir James Graham, whether Palmerston,

Grey and Clarendon could be brought into "harmonious union" on foreign 

a ffa irs . "The seeds o f angry difference are th ick ly  scattered on a l l  

sides. ii) * * * * * * * * * * *

i i )  PALMERSTON AT THE FOREIGN OFFICE, 1846 -  1848

On 12 December 1845 Charles G reville  wrote in his journal with

reference to Palmerston: " I  don't imagine he cares about corn, fixed

duty, s lid ing scales, or anything e lse , except so fa r as they may

bear upon his return to that abode o f b l i s s . T h e  "abode o f b lis s "

38. Grey's Journal, 30 June 1846: Grey P. C3/12.
39- Wood to Russell, 30 June 1846: PRO 30/22/5A (q LCJR, I ,  108 -  9).
40. Grey's Journal, 30 June 1846: Grey P. C3/12 .
41. This is  also the judgement o f Grey's biographer (Job, 404 ) and

o f F.A. Dreyer ("Russell Administration", 64 -  5)«
42. Graham to Peel, 3 July 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 40452 f146.
43. gm, v , 324.
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to which G reville  referred was the Foreign O ffice . In the mid-nineteenth 

century the Foreign O ffice was one o f the busiest o f the government 

departments. I t  was especia lly  busy in  1848 when, Palmerston calculated, 

28,000 despatches were received or sent. 44 The workload fo r  the 

Foreign Secretary was tremendous, particu larly during months o f 

crises. " I  have been overpowered by Despatch Boxes fa l l in g  on me 

like hailstones & growing up lik e  a Tropical Jungle, and Interviews

45unceasing every Day", Palmerston complained at the end o f March.

There is  l i t t l e  doubt, however, that Palmerston loved the work and 

was overjoyed to be back in  harness.

To an increasing number o f Englishmen, Palmerston was the personi­

fica tion  o f John Bull. Fearless o f a l l  foreigners and the scourge 

o f continental despots, he protected B ritish  in terests , supported 

European lib era ls  and defended the weak against the bullying o f the 

strong. I t  was an image which Palmerston sought to project by his 

speeches and through his links with the press.4  ̂ But th is picture 

o f a jin go is t ic  chauvinist belies the complexities o f Palmerston's 

views on foreign  a ffa irs .

On 1 March 1848, at the end o f a long speech on the Near East, 

Palmerston made a rousing avowal o f the principles upon which he acted 

-  an avowal which is  sometimes taken as indicative o f Palmerstonian 

foreign p o licy .4  ̂ He lis ted  three main duties o f a B ritish  Foreign 

Secretary: the maintenance o f peace and fr iend ly  relations with a l l

44* Russell to Prince A lbert, 19 June 1849: QVL, I I ,  263. The most 
recent study o f Palmerston at the Foreign O ffice (although only 
fo r  the period 1830 -  1841) is  Bourne, Palmerston, 408 -  98. Cf 
C.R. Middleton: The Administration o f B ritish  Foreign Policy 
1782 -  1846 (Durham 1977).

45» Palmerston to Russell, copy, 30 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/104O.
Cf E. Ashley: The L ife  and Correspondence o f Henry John Temple 
Viscount Palmerston (London 1879)« I I ,  78.

46. B. Kingsley Martin: The Triumph o f Lord Palmerston: A Study o f 
Public Opinion in England before the Crimean War (London 1924)»
46 -  76.

47. K. Bourne: The Foreign Policy o f V ictorian England 1830 -  1902 
(Oxford 1970), 46; J. Ridley: Lord Palmerston (London 1970,)» 45  ̂ -  3.
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nations, as long as i t  was consistent "with a due regard to the

in terests, the honour, and the d ign ity o f th is country"; the protection

and extension o f B ritish  commerce; and the avoidance o f unnecessary

a lliances. B rita in 's  "rea l po licy ", he proclaimed,

is  to  he the champion o f justice and righ t; pursuing that 
course with moderation and prudence, not Becoming the Quixote 
o f the world, hut g iv ing the weight o f her moral sanction 
and support wherever she thinks that justice is ,  and wherever 
she thinks that wrong has been done. S ir, in pursuing that 
course, and in pursuing the more lim ited direction  o f our 
own particu lar in terests, my conviction is ,  that as long 
as England keeps herse lf in the right . . . she never w i l l  
find herse lf altogether alone. . . . Therefore I  say that 
i t  is  a narrow policy to suppose that th is country or that 
is  to he marked out as the eternal a l ly  or the perpetual 
enemy o f England. We have no eternal a l l ie s ,  and we have 
no perpetual enemies. Our in terests are eternal and perpetual, 
and those in terests i t  is  our duty to fo llow .

I f  he had to sum up his principles in one sentence, he declared in

conclusion, " I  would adopt the expression o f Canning, and say that

with every B ritish  Minister the interests o f England ought to he
A 8

the shihholeth o f his p o licy ." The language is  typ ica lly  Palmerstonian. 

I t  was amusing, memorahle and striden tly  pa trio tic . But the principles 

expressed -  a determination to further national se lf- in te res t and 

a vague promise to champion "ju stice  and r ig h t" , combined with a 

readiness to work with any Power should i t  seem in B rita in 's  in terests 

-  were moderate and la rge ly  unobjectionable. But how did those principles 

work in  practice?

I t  has been said that the keystone o f Palmerston's foreign  policy 

in 1848 was the maintenance o f the general European peace .^  On the 

whole, th is is  true. Palmerston was not a fra id  o f a major war, fo r 

unlike Aberdeen he was confident that given adequate precautions 48 *

48. Hansard, XCVII, 121 -  3 (q Bourne, V ictorian England, 291 — 3 ).
49* B e ll, I ,  420; D. Southgate: 'The Most English Minister . ♦ . '

The Po lic ies and P o lit ic s  o f Palmerston (London 1966), 201;
I t .  Prob.. 4 - 5» B il ly , 266 -  8; G. G illessen: "B ritish  Policy 
towards German Unification 1848 — 18 51: Prom the March Revolutions 
to the Dresden Conferences" unpublished D. Phil. Dissertation, 
University o f Oxford 1958, i i i  — v i .
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Britain would emerge victorious from any co n flic t . But he d isliked

the prospect o f i t  Because he knew that the struggle would he prolonged,

would weaken Brita in , and would damage the Vienna settlement o f 1815

hy which a Balance o f power had Been established in Europe from which

Britain benefited greatly . He was prepared to see the settlement

altered , as over Belgium, But only as long as the existing Balance

of power was maintained and By the consent o f a l l  f iv e  major Powers.

He feared that i f  the Powers Began to change parts o f the settlement

a rb itra r ily  i t  would destroy the legitimacy o f the whole and might

lead to a rev iva l o f French expansionism. I t  was on th is ground that

he condemned the annexation o f Cracow by the Northern Powers. I f ,

he had warned the previous August,

the Treaty o f Vienna Be not good on the V istu la, i t  may 
Be equally Bad on the Rhine, and on the Po; and therefore 
I am convinced, that not only a sense o f ju stice , but a 
sense o f policy and o f s e lf- in te re s t , w i l l  lead those Powers 
to see that the Treaty o f Vienna must Be respected as a 
whole, and that i t  is  eminently fo r the ir in terests that 
that whole should in  a l l  i t s  parts Be observed.

The existing European system was Bound together By trea ties  other

than those o f 1815 . Palmerston, fo r  example, objected to the Spanish

Marriages By saying that they were a v io la tion  o f the Treaty o f 
52

Utrecht. Unless nations respected the ir treaty commitments, Palmerston 

argued, Europe would lapse into confusion and perpetual war.

In conjunction with the trea ties  were the guarantees which had 

Been given to support certain t e r r ito r ia l arrangements. Under a 

guarantee, Palmerston explained to Van de Weyer, the Belgian minister 

in London, the guarantor had a duty to protect what had Been guaranteed. 

The signatory o f a treaty, in contrast, had a right to intervene 50 51 52

50

50. Bullen, 54»
51. Hansard. LXXXVIII, 830 -  1.
52. Bullen, 14-Off. Whether they were a v io la tion  or not was the 

subject o f much controversy.
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to protect the stipulations o f that trea ty , hut did not have a duty

to do so.53 On the whole, Palmerston d isliked guarantees because

they restricted  B rita in 's  freedom of action. In February 1848, fo r

example, he refused to guarantee any settlement between Naples and

S ic ily  on the grounds that i t  could "lead us into future Embarrassments

54& Responsib ilities o f the most d i f f ic u lt  and inconvenient Kind."^

As long as Brita in  had a right to intervene to protect her interests

Palmerston was sa tis fied . Nor, in practice, did the existence o f a

guarantee mean that Britain would necessarily act to protect what

she had guaranteed. In May 1848, despite a trea ty  o f 1720 by which

Britain had guaranteed the possession o f the whole o f Schleswig to

Denmark, Palmerston suggested the partition  o f the duchy on the lines 

55o f nationality. In the re a lit ie s  o f international p o lit ic s , the 

existence o f a guarantee did not compel a government to adopt a 

spec ific  line over a certain question, but i t  did make i t  more d if f ic u lt  

fo r a government to ju s t ify  i t s  conduct i f  i t  was at variance with 

the guarantee.

Palmerston's desire to maintain the peace o f Europe was the result 

o f more than his wish to preserve the balance o f power. I t  was generally 

accepted among informed British  observers that turmoil on the continent, 

even i f  i t  did not d irec tly  involve B rita in , would seriously damage 

British  trade. On 4 March 1848 The Economist published an a r t ic le  

giv ing deta ils  o f the importance o f B rita in 's  trade with Europe.

In 1846, i t  announced, the to ta l value o f B ritish  exports had been 

£57>786,936, o f which £26,671,263 worth had been sent to Europe and 

North A frica . In comparative terms, B ritish  exports to Germany had 53 54 55

53. Van de Weyer to d'Hoffschmidt, con fidentia l, 7 March 1848: A. de 
Ridder (e d .): La Crise de la Neutrality Beige de 1848. Le Dossier 
Diplomatique (Brussels 1928) ,  I ,  142 -  4*

54. Palmerston to Minto, 24 February 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 f104.
55. G illessen, 48 and 5 1 - 2 .
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teen almost as valuable as those to the te r r ito r ie s  o f the East 

India Company or to the United States (£6,326,210 to £6,434,456 

and £6,830,450 respective ly ), and sim ilar comparisons could he made 

between the value o f B ritish  exports to Ita ly  and British  North 

America (£3,391,022 to £3,308,659) or France and Brazil (£2,715,963 

to £2,749,338). War or revolution on the continent, The Economist 

observed, would hamper trade and probably reduce demand fo r  B ritish

goods, and th is would in evitab ly  have an adverse e ffe c t on B ritish

56industry. Leading po litic ian s recognised that a commercial or 

industrial recession led to socia l unrest and increased p o lit ic a l 

discontent. "Our great desiderandum is  peace", wrote Clarendon a fte r  

the March revolutions. " . . . I f  things keep qu iet, trade and manufactures 

w i l l  rev ive , and the B ritish  b e lly  -  the seat o f an Englishman's 

p o lit ic a l opinions -  being fu l l ,  we shall hear less o f w ild reforms.

In his speech o f 1 March Palmerston had said that the protection 

and promotion o f B ritish  commerce was one o f the principle duties 

o f a Foreign Secretary, and he was not a fraid  o f intervening m ilita r ily
58fo r th is purpose. But there was never any question o f Britain 

intervening m ilita r ily  in  Europe in 1848 in  order to protect her 

economic in terests, fo r  the B ritish  Government lacked both the desire

56. The Economist. 4 March 1848, 254 -  5 . This prediction o f the 
injurious e ffe c t on B ritish  exports o f unrest on the continent 
seemed to be proved in  1848. In the f i r s t  two months o f the year 
the value o f B ritish  exports to Europe, in comparison with the 
same period the previous year, rose s lig h t ly , but in March they 
f e l l  by an eighth and in A pril by almost a th ird. I t  was not un til 
September that they approached a sim ilar value ( ib id . 10 June 
1848, 649 -  50j MG. 11 November 1848, 6).

57. Clarendon to Reeve, 10 May 1848: J.K. Laughton: Memoirs o f the L ife  
and Correspondence o f Henry Reeve. C.B., D.C.L. (London 1898) ,  I ,  200.

58. At the beginning o f 1848, fo r example, the B ritish  navy, in  conjunc­
tion  with the French navy, was involved in a dispute in the Rio 
Plata in  an attempt to protect European economic interests there.
See J.F. Cady: Foreign Intervention in the Rio de la Plata 1838 -  
50. A Study o f French, B ritish , and American Policy in Relation
to the Dictator Juan Manuel Rosas (New York 1929)»
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and the capability to do so e ffe c t iv e ly . Outside Europe, i t  was 

possible to intervene at less expense and with less risk  o f the 

problem escalating. At the same time, Palmerston tr ied  to further 

B rita in 's  commercial in terests wherever possible in Europe. He urged 

both republican Prance and the Frankfurt Diet to lower the ir t a r i f f
R Q

barriers. The response was disappointing. When Normanby brought 

up the question, Lamartine "flinched at once from the subject and 

talked o f more immediate matters." The French Government, Normanby 

explained, was committed to protecting French trade and industry 

and, because o f the economic recession, would be overthrown i f  i t  

tr ied  to adopt another course. "No Govt, whatever in France could 

as yet make a move in that d ir e c t io n ."^  Palmerston sought freer 

trade because he knew that i t  would be advantageous to B ritish  trade 

and industry. Continental governments resisted his e ffo r ts  because 

they feared that the ir own industries would not be able to compete 

with goods that were produced cheaper and better in Britain.

Palmerston sought to preserve European peace, but he was fa r 

from being an advocate o f the status quo. He was prepared to see 

t e r r ito r ia l changes and even to assist in the ir achievement. But 

there were certain pre-conditions to Palmerston's support fo r  change: 

the existing t e r r ito r ia l  arrangement had to be shown to be unsatisfactory 

and the proposed change must not disturb the existing balance o f 

power. Palmerston was sympathetic to most o f the nationalist movements 

on the continent, but whether or not he supported them depended 

upon whether he thought they would further B rita in 's  in terests.

In contrast to his support fo r  European nationalism, Palmerston's 

support fo r  European liberalism  rarely  depended on the country involved.

59* Palmerston to Normanby, 26 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/7 (q Ashley, 
I I ,  71); Palmerston to Cowley, No 1, 29 July 1848: PRO FO 30/107.

60. Normanby to Palmerston, 1 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/128.
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Palmerston believed that there could he no lasting s ta b ility  in Europe 

un til the continental governments sa tis fied  the legitim ate constitu­

tiona l demands o f the ir subjects. His de fin ition  o f legitim ate consti­

tutional demands tended to be lim ited to the advocacy of a B ritish - 

style constitution, and the closer a constitution resembled that of 

Britain the more admirable Palmerston thought i t  to be; but many con­

tinenta l libera ls  fa iled  to rea lise  th is . There was, in Palmerston’ s 

eyes, an added advantage fo r Britain in encouraging constitutionalism. 

I f  other countries adopted a sim ilar p o lit ic a l system, they would, 

he hoped, be more receptive to the ideas o f Free Trade. Therefore 

he f e l t  that i t  was both B rita in 's  duty and in B rita in 's  interests 

to advocate and support constitutionalism whenever and wherever she 

could. ¡

The most famous case o f the B ritish  Government's support fo r  Euro­

pean liberalism  before 1848 was the mission o f Lord Minto to Ita ly . 

Minto, a member o f the B ritish  Cabinet, was sent to Ita ly  in i t ia l ly  

to get Papal support fo r the Government's Ir ish  policy, but at the 

end o f October 1847 i t  was decided to extend the scope o f his task.

He was instructed to v is i t  Turin and Florence, as w ell as Rome, where 

he was to encourage the governments to continue the ir constitutional 

reforms and to persuade those people agitating fo r  change to restrain  

the ir enthusiasm and moderate the ir demands. In Palmerston's opi­

nion, I ta ly  was the "weak part o f Europe" and he had predicted soon 

a fte r  entering o ffic e  that "the next war that breaks out in Europe 

w i l l  probably arise out o f Ita lian  a f fa ir s ."  The misgovernment of 

the Ita lian  states and the oppressive influence o f Austria, he 61 62

61. Palmerston to Russell, 14 September 1847s PRO 30/22/6F (q LCJR,
I »  310). For the e ffe c t  o f Minto's mission in th is respect see 
K.B. Nowlan: The P o lit ic s  of Repeal: A Study in the Relations be­
tween Great Britain and Ireland, 1841 -  60 (London 1965)« 175 -  8«

62. Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 31 October 18475 RvP» 63» Cf B e ll,
I ,  413 -  17; i t . Prob. , 45 -  6.
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judged, would produce insurrections and revolutions which Prance 

would he tempted to exp lo it. The result would he war between Prance 

and Austria which would inevitab ly spread to the rest o f Europe.

The only way to prevent such a catastrophe, he argued, was fo r  the 

B ritish  Government to support those Ita lian  monarchs who were moving 

towards constitutionalism and to exhort the other Powers to do the 

same.

I f  we succeed . . .  I  believe we shall be doing a thing 
agreeable, as w ell as useful. . . . I f ,  on the contrary, 
we f a i l  . . .  we shall at least stand ju s t ified , and shall 
be able to show that we are wholly absolved from the Res­
ponsib ility  o f any ¿-misfortunes which may hereafter arise 
from that Quarter.

B ritish  support fo r  Ita lian  liberalism  took a number o f forms, but 

Lord Minto's mission was the most obvious manifestation.

Palmerston's anxiety about Ita ly  was fu l ly  ju s t ified . On 12 January 

1848 a revolution broke out in S ic ily  when the inhabitants o f Palermo 

demanded o f the ir sovereign, King Ferdinand o f Naples, the restoration 

o f the constitution o f 1812. A fter a fortn ight o f spasmodic figh tin g 

most o f the Neapolitan troops were expelled and on the 29th Ferdinand
¿A

granted a constitution. 4 The f ir s t  revolution o f the Year o f Revolu­

tions had succeeded.

I t  is  worthwhile examining the B ritish  Government's response to 

the S ic ilian  revolution in a l i t t l e  d e ta il, fo r  i t  c la r if ie s  Palmerston's 

attitude towards the lib e ra l movements on the continent and provides 

a preview to his in i t ia l  reaction to the revolutions that broke out 

la ter in the year. His f i r s t  concern was to prevent the problem 

escalating. He urged Austria in the strongest terms not to intervene 

on behalf o f the Neapolitans -  arguing that i f  she did "there w i l l  63 64

63. Palmerston to Russell, 30 July 1846: FRO 30/22/5B (q Ashley, I I ,
12 -  14 ).

64. The best accounts in English o f the S ic ilian  revolution are H. Acton: 
The Last Bourbons o f Naples ( 1825 -  1861) (London 1961 ) ,  191 -  202;
G.P.-H. Berkeley and J. Berkeley: I ta ly  in the Making: January 1 st 
1848 to November 1 6th 1848 (Cambridge 1 940), 5̂  -  62.
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in fa l l ib ly  be war, and i t  w i l l  be a war o f principles which . . . 

w i l l  spread over a l l  Europe, and out o f which the Austrian Empire 

w i l l  certa in ly not issue unchanged" -  and contemplated ordering

the B ritish  f le e t  to prevent Austrian troops "passing from Naples

66or Elsewhere to S ic i ly ."  Having iso lated the problem, he then 

tr ied  to solve i t .  Minto, whose good o ffic es  were requested by King 

Ferdinand, hurried south from Rome to see what he could do to reconcile 

the King and his rebellious subjects. The British  Government, Minto 

was to ld , wanted S ic ily  and Naples to remain united under the same 

crown, and i t  thought that the best way to remove the discontent 

that was threatening that union would be "by tim ely Reforms". I f  

the King had given such reforms e a r lie r , Palmerston added, the problem
4 ' r j

would probably not have arisen. The tactics  which were to be used

to achieve th is objective were le f t  to Minto, the only proviso was

63that Britain  would not guarantee any settlement.

The task o f reconciling the Neapolitans and the S ic ilians was

not easy -  Lansdowne compared i t  to try ing "to  separate two cats

69when they have once begun to fig h t"  -  but by the end o f February 

a solution seemed in sight. "Vie have conquered a l l  the d if f ic u lt ie s  

o f the S ic ilian  question except one", Minto reported: "but that 

one, thro, I  think, the absurd obstinacy o f both parties s t i l l  stands 65 66 67 68

65. Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 11 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/PO/807 
(q Ashley, I I ,  63 -  4)»

66. Palmerston to Russell, copy, 13 January 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/l033. 
The Cabinet vetoed th is idea, "but", Palmerston to ld  Minto, "the 
less you say about that, the better, because the notion that we 
might do so, must tend to prevent Metternich from taking such
a Step" (Palmerston to Minto, 3 February 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 
f89 ). In fa c t, denied permission to march through Papal te rr ito ry  
(Minto to Palmerston, secret, 18 January 1848: PRO F0 44/4 , q PP, 
LVII, 399 -  400), the Austrian Government confined i t s e l f  to a 
diplomatic offensive designed to secure the support o f Russia 
and Prussia ( i t .  Prob. , 61 -  2 ).

67. Palmerston to Minto, No 13, 3 February 1848: PRO F0 44/3 (q PP, 
LVI, 276).

68. Russell to Palmerston, 14 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/18 1 .
69» Lansdowne to Minto, 3 February 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 11806 f132.
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in "the way o f any agreement.""^ Given time, i t  seems probable that 

Minto could, have overcome the remaining point o f d ifference. Unfort­

unately i t  was at th is delicate stage o f the negotiations that news

o f the revolution in  Prance arrived to throw the dispute back into 

71the melting pot.

* * *

I t  would be misleading to examine Palmerston's actions in 1848 

without looking at his attitude towards the four continental Powers 

in the years leading up to the revolutions, and the key to an under­

standing o f that attitude is  his views on Prance.

D.M. Greer has said that Palmerston was motivated by a fear and

hatred o f Prance, which was a result o f his experiences in o ffic e
72during the Napoleonic wars. This is  an exaggeration, but i t  is  

true that Palmerston was d istrustfu l o f the French nation as a whole. 

Prance, he wrote in a memorandum on National Defence, had "so much 

to covet & so much to revenge" with respect to Britain . Even when 

there was no desire fo r con flic t on the part o f e ither government, 

the two countries

come into Contact, and often into something like Conflict 
P o lit ic a lly  & Commercially in almost every Part o f the 
Globe. The Insolence or the Indiscretion o f a Subordinate 
o f f ic e r ,  the R iva l Jealousy o f grasping merchants, a hundred 
possible Incidents may at any moment give Rise to Questions 
which inflaming national Peeling on one Side o f the Channel 
or the other, may place the most Peace loving government 
to say the least o f i t ,  in great embarrassment; and which 
might furnish fa ir  ground o f Quarrel to a government in 
Prance desirous o f finding occasion fo r  a Rupture. ^

Palmerston wrote th is when Prance was a monarchy. A French Republic,

he f e l t ,  would be even more dangerous fo r  i t  would be more responsive

to the whim of popular passions. "Large Republics", he wrote shortly

70. Minto to Russell, 29 February 1848: PRO 30/22/7A.
71. For Britain  and the S ic ilian  revolution a fte r  February 1848 see 

below pp. 127 -  30 and 291 -  306.
72. Greer, 163-
73. Palmerston's memorandum, 10 A p ril 18472 FRO 30/22/6C (q LCJR,

I ,  248 -  9).
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a fte r  the February Revolution, "seem to be essen tia lly  & inherently 

a gg ress ive ".^  Even i f  the people o f France were p ac ific , the in s ta b ility  

o f the republic, which he believed to be inherent in the system, 

might make i t  expedient fo r  the ir government to embark on a foreign

75war in  order to prevent i t s  army in terferin g in domestic p o lit ic s .

And yet, although Palmerston regarded France as a r iv a l and potential

threat to B rita in , his attitude towards her was la rge ly  pragmatic.

He would work with her i f  he thought such co-operation would further

British  in terests. The h istory o f his f i r s t  two tenures o f the Foreign

O ffice illu s tra tes  th is dichotomy. The c r is is  over Belgian independence

saw Palmerston playing a double rftle: i f  the threat to European peace

seemed to come from the Northern Powers, he emphasised in Berlin ,

St. Petersburg and Vienna the danger o f French aggrandizement; i f

the threat seemed to come from France, he emphasised in Paris the

7 f)probable reaction o f the Northern Courts to an aggressive step.

By 1833 the balance had sh ifted. The settlement o f the Belgian question 

and Palmerston's increasing concern with the threat from Russia led 

to the establishment o f a " lib e ra l a lliance" between Brita in  and 

France. The "a llian ce ", however, was short-lived. Mutual jealousy, 

r iv a lry  over Spain and Portugal, and the fa ilu re  o f France to lower 

her t a r i f f  barriers meant that by 1837 i t  was dead in a l l  but name

The Mehemet A li c r is is  o f 1839 -  41 destroyed what remained o f the

friend ly  relations between the two governments and led, temporarily 

at least, to an association between Britain  and the Northern Powers.

The a f fa ir  was a diplomatic triumph fo r Palmerston, but i t  had been 

gained at the cost o f frightening more cautious sp ir its  in Britain 74 * 76 *

74. Palmerston to Normanby, 28 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/1O (q Ashley, 
I I ,  73).

75* Palmerston to Normanby, 27 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/9 (q Ashley, 
I I ,  72).

76. Bourne, Palmerston, 332 -  48; Webster, I , 89 -  176.
77* Bourne, Palmerston, 352 -  406; Webster, I ,  349 -  521»
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and alienating almost a l l  Prance.' The entente cordiale established 

by Aberdeen and Guizot improved relations between the two countries, 

but i t  was never as secure as Aberdeen and Guizot liked to imagine 

and i t  could not erase the memory o f the humiliation Prance had suffered

79at the hands o f Palmerston.

The events o f December 1845 in Britain were viewed with great

concern in Paris. Despite an assurance that the departure o f Aberdeen

80need not lead to the collapse o f the entente cord ia le , the prospect 

o f Palmerston's return caused Louis Philippe and his ministers to 

fear that there would be a return to the poor state o f Anglo-French 

relations that had existed when he le f t  o ff ic e . The basis o f the 

entente cord ia le . Guizot to ld  Henry Reeve, was to subordinate minor 

disagreements in favour o f the promotion o f a better general under­

standing. Palmerston, in contrast, allowed small questions to in terfere  

with important ones. " I I  aime la lu tte ,"  Guizot complained, "and 

the place where he is  least master is  that at which he is  most anxious 

to become so ." Guizot was determined not to be bu llied  or out-manoeuvred 

as Thiers had been over Mehemet A l i .®1 In A p ril 1846, in an e ffo r t

to dispel th is h o s t il ity  and suspicion, Palmerston and his w ife v is ited

82Paris and were delighted by the ir reception. But the exercise was

less successful than they imagined. Guizot, Princess Lieven to ld

Aberdeen, had been unimpressed by Palmerston's protestations o f his

love o f peace and his desire fo r a good understanding with Prance.

He was convinced i t  was an act and that the old Palmerston would
83reappear once in  o ffic e . 78 * 80 81 82 83

78. Bourne, Palmerston. 561 -  620; Webster, I I ,  619 -  776.
79* Bullen, 5 8 — 9 and 87 — 915 M.E. Chamberlain: Lord Aberdeen: A 

P o lit ic a l Biography (London 1983), 343 -  84.
80. Louis Philippe to Queen V ictoria , 16 December 1845: QVL, I I ,  67 -  8.
8 1. Reeve to Russell, 15 December 1845* PRO 30/22/4E (cr LCJR, I ,  9 0 - 2 ) .
82. GM, V, 392.
83. Princess Lieven to Aberdeen, 29 A pril 1846: E. Jones Parry (e d . ):

The Correspondence o f Lord Aberdeen and Princess Lieven 1 832 -  
1854 (London 1938 -  1939). I .  250.
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The state o f fee lin g  about Palmerston in the French Court and

Government made a quarrel almost inevitable when he returned to the

Foreign O ffice in June 1846. Convinced that Palmerston would try

to deceive them, Louis Philippe and Guizot looked with deep suspicion

at a l l  his actions. They scented a deception over the troublesome

question o f the marriages o f the Queen o f Spain and her s is te r , the

heiress apparent, and they decided to pre-empt him. Quickly and secretly

and with the connivance o f the Spanish Court and Government, they

arranged the simultaneous marriages o f the Queen to the Duke o f Cadiz

and o f her s is te r  to one o f Louis Philippe's sons, the Due de Montpen-

s ier. I t  was a clear breach o f an agreement reached at Eu by Guizot 
ft/I

and Aberdeen. I t  was also a clear diplomatic v ic to ry  fo r  France 

and defeat fo r Britain.

Guizot had expected Palmerston to be angry about the French coup, 

but he was disconcerted by the general condemnation i t  received in 

London.^ The da ily  press was almost universally h o s t i le .^  People 

whom Guizot had hoped would defend his actions were among the most
O *y

vehement in th e ir criticism . Even Aberdeen found i t  d i f f ic u lt  to

88excuse his fr ien d 's  conduct. The B ritish  Cabinet, despite some 

doubts, did not sp lit  with Palmerston but united behind him.®^ For 

Palmerston, the Spanish Marriages were proof o f a l l  he had ever said 84 85 86 87 88 89

84. Bullen, 76 -  119»
85. ib id . 128 -  9-
86. DN, 16 and 28 September, and 9 October 1846, 2; MC, 18 and 24 

September, and 8 October 1846, 4 -  5i MP, 21 and 25 September, 
and 12 October 1846, 4 ; The Times. 21 and 29 September, and 8 
October 1846, 2 . An exception was the Morning Herald which played 
down the a f fa ir  and tr ied  to defend Loujs Philippe (MH. 17 Sept­
ember 1846, 4 ).

87. Peel to Aberdeen, 22 September 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 43065 ff2 l3  -  
15? Graham to Aberdeen, 24 November 1846: ib id  43190 ff173 -  5 ; 
Queen V ictoria  to King Leopold, 7 and 14 September 1846: QVL, I I ,
118 -  19 and 121 -  3.

88. Aberdeen to Peel, 21 September 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 40455 ff388 -  91
89. Clarendon to Russell, 8 September 1846, and Lansdowne to Russell,

20 September 1846: PRO 30/22/5C (q LCJR. I ,  117 and 121 ) ;  Russell 
to Jarnac, copy, 26 October 1846: PRO 30/22/5D (q Walpole, I I ,  
5 - 7 ). For the doubts in  the Cabinet see below p. 44*
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about the Orleans monarchy and the way Britain  should deal with i t .

"Louis Philippe & Guizot have carried th e ir  Point by Boldness, Decision,

and Promptitude", he to ld  Russell.

We have been defeated by our Tim idity, Hesitation and Delay.
. . . We have stood more in  awe o f Prance than Prance has 
stood in awe o f us; & while we have been S h illi Shallying 
under the Pear o f giv ing her temporary displeasure She has 
braved our D issatisfaction, & seized hold o f a permanent 
& important advantage.

Palmerston recognised that he had suffered a defeat over the Mont-

pensier marriage, but he refused to accept i t  as a fa it  accompli.

He did a l l  he could to mobilise French and Spanish public opinion

against the marriage, and tr ied  to persuade Montpensier to renounce

his claim to either the French or Spanish throne. He also sought

the support o f the Northern Courts in the dispute, and in order not

to antagonise them toned down his protest over the annexation o f 

91Cracow. He was s t i l l  prepared to work with Prance i f  necessary,
92

and did so over Portugal and the Rio Plata, but he was always reluc­

tant to do so, despite the fact that th is could hamper the e ffe c t iv e  

pursuit o f B ritish  in terests. He wished to make the French Government 

fe e l the consequences o f i t s  estrangement from Britain . When i t  was 

suggested that Britain and Prance should co-operate over I ta ly ,  he 

strenuously and successfully opposed the idea. The French, he wrote 

to Russell,

take such advantage o f Every Thing . . . that i f  we were 
to say anything that looked like  the Expression o f a Strong 
wish or anxiety fo r the ir cooperation about Ita ly  they 
would say, see here is  the English government pretending 
to be angry with us about Spain, but compelled to come 
and ask us fo r Help the very f i r s t  Time that any Event 
o f any Importance happens in any Part o f Europe; I t  is  
clear that they cannot do without us, & therefore we may 
take any lib e r t ie s  with them that we lik e , either in Spain 90 91 92

90. Palmerston to Russell, 10 September 1846: PRO 30/22/5C (q LCJR, 
I ,  117).

91. Bullen, 136 -  74.
92. ib id , 217 -  61; Cady, 212 -  43.
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or Elsewhere.

Palmerston's determination not to forg ive Louis Philippe and Guizot 

fo r the Spanish Marriages warped B ritish  foreign  policy between 

September 1846 and February 1848, and as a result damaged B ritish  

in terests.

Some members o f the B ritish  Cabinet, notably Lansdowne and Grey, 

thought that the passage o f time, and the b irth  o f a child to the 

Queen o f Spain, would lead to an improvement in Anglo-French re lations. 

Palmerston, together with Russell and Clarendon, disagreed. He believed 

that Britain could place no confidence in France as long as Louis

94Philippe remained on his throne and Guizot headed the French Government.

As late as 4 February 1848 he warned that the f a l l  o f Guizot, without 

a satisfactory settlement o f the Montpensier question, would be

95unlikely to result in an improvement in Anglo-French re lations. J 

Palmerston's observation was the result o f reports from Paris 

that the French Government might be defeated in the Chamber o f Deputies

over it s  handling o f the Sonderbund c r is is  and its  relations with

96the Northern Courts. Normanby, who had been predicting Guizot's

97downfall throughout 1847» was to ld  that "there were, amongst those

who s t i l l  voted with the Ministry . . . ,  a su ffic ien t number o f

Conservatives determined to get r id  o f Guizot, to make his fate
98

certain before long." In fa c t, Guizot's Government withstood a 

"magnificent" attack from Thiers and emerged with a majority of

99eighty; but, undaunted by the inaccuracy o f his prediction, Normanby 93 94 * 96 * 98 99

93. Palmerston to Russell, 14 September 1847: PRO 30/22/6F (q LCJR,
I ,  135).

94. Bullen, 128 and 194 -  205.
95« Palmerston to Normanby, 4 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/4 .
96. For the rapprochement between France and the Northern Powers 

see Bullen, 207 -  12 and 293 -  321; I t .  Prob.. 50 -  7 .
97- Bullen, 322 -  5 .
98. Normanby to Palmerston, 27 January 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/103.
99. Normanby to Palmerston, 5 February 1848: ib id  GC/NO/l10; Bullen, 326.
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continued to assure Palmerston o f the widespread opposition to i t s

• t  1 0 0foreign policy.

I t  is  d i f f ic u lt  to judge how fa r the Spanish Marriages and th e ir

consequences led to the February Revolution. Lamartine to ld  Normanby

that Louis Philippe owed his downfall to the dynastic ambitions

which had led to the Montpensier marriage: " I  always said that se lfish

object would be his ruin; i t  drove him into a line o f p o lit ic s  which
101the Country would not stand". However, as Lord Grey observed,

102th is could have been " a dexterous piece o f f la t te ry " .  What seems 

certain is  that the growing association in international a ffa irs  

o f France and the Northern Powers, which resulted from the quarrel 

with Brita in , added to the unpopularity o f the Orleans monarchy.

In one respect, then, Palmerston was p a rtia lly  responsible fo r  the 

February Revolution. But there is  no evidence to suggest that Palmerston 

pursued his anti-French policy in order to e ffe c t  the overthrow of 

the Orleans monarchy.

There was a positive side to Palmerston's d is lik e o f Louis Philippe

and Guizot. Roger Bullen has suggested that Palmerston was "more

tactfu l and understanding" towards the Second Republic than might

have been expected because he had been on such bad terms with it s  

103predecessor. I t  seems a reasonable supposition. But Palmerston's 

po licy towards the Provisional Government was primarily pragmatic.

I f  the Republic remained peaceable and did not threaten British  in terests, 

he was w illin g  to work with i t ;  i f  i t  challenged Brita in , he was 

ready to res is t i t  with a l l  the powers at his disposal. 100 101 102 103

100. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 10 February 1848; Nor. P. P/14/24.
101. Normanby to Palmerston, confidentia l, 28 February 1848: PRO 

FO 27/803 (q NJ, I ,  136).
102. Grey's Journal, 29 February 1848: Grey P. C3/14 .
103. Bullen, 338.
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* * *

Britain had Been on had terms with Orleanist Prance during Palmerston's 

previous tenures o f the Foreign O ffice . On those occasions he had 

tr ied  to counter-balance the h o s t ility  o f Prance by coming to an 

understanding with the Northern Powers. At the beginning o f 1848, 

however, such an understanding seemed impossible. Despite Palmerston's 

e ffo r ts  in the autumn o f 1846, i t  was Prance rather than Britain 

which had drawn closer to the Northern Powers. The reason fo r  th is 

was that Metternich, who guided the foreign po lic ies  o f the Northern 

Courts, had a d ifferen t set o f p r io r it ie s  to Palmerston.

Metternich took l i t t l e  in terest in the Spanish question, except

in so fa r as i t  a ffected  the diplomatic balance in Europe. He was

preoccupied by the unrest in Ita ly  which he regarded as a sign of

a wider revolutionary conspiracy which he f e l t  should be crushed

mercilessly. He disapproved strongly o f Palmerston's advocacy o f

reform in I ta ly ,  even though he knew some reforms were needed.

He believed that the support which Palmerston gave the libera ls

was encouraging the extremists rather than defeating them. I f  only

Palmerston would stop supporting the disruptive elements, he pleaded

to Ponsonby, the chances o f restoring normality would be grea tly  
105

improved. Palmerston, he decided, must be a secret supporter o f 

revolution, and as he was certain that Britain as a whole hated 

revolution he concluded that Palmerston must be hiding his true 

motives from his colleagues and from the country. His plan, therefore, 

was to by-pass Palmerston and place his case before Parliament and
-j 06

the British electorate. Metternich, however, was mistaken. The 

motives which Palmerston avowed were his true ones, and before 1848

104. I t .  Prob,. 16 -  24.
105. Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 28, 24 February 1848: PRO PO 7/346.
106. I t .  Prob.. 30 -  1, 42 -  3, and 69.
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-the British  electorate broadly approved o f his conduct.

At the beginning o f 1848 Anglo—Austrian relations seemed to have

reached an impasse. Both Metternich and Palmerston were convinced

that the policy pursued by the other would lead to revolution. Even

when revolution broke out in S ic ily  i t  did not cause either to reconsider
1 08

his views. Each saw i t  as ju stify in g  the policy he had advocated.

Both f e l t  that Anglo-Austrian relations could only improve i f  the 

other f e l l  from power. Metternich expected Palmerston to be driven 

from the Foreign O ffice once public opinion was alerted to the dangerous 

po licy he was pursuing. Palmerston hoped Metternich would be dismissed 

but he did not see how th is could be achieved. He foresaw revolution 

in Ita ly ,  but not at Vienna.

There were no pressing disagreements between Britain and the two

other Northern Powers. The r iv a lry  o f Britain and Russia over Turkey,

which less than a decade la ter led to war, was in abeyance. The Tsar

believed that the two countries had reached a satisfactory compromise

in June 1844 when Aberdeen and Nesselrode had agreed that the po lic ies

o f the two governments should be concerted i f ,  despite the ir combined

e ffo r ts  to preserve i t ,  the Turkish Empire collapsed. He did not

rea lise  that Russell's Government did not fe e l i t s e l f  bound by th is 
109

agreement. On the whole, the British found Prussia the most accept­

able o f the Northern Powers. Frederick W illiam 's decision to establish 

a single Diet fo r the whole o f Prussia was warmly approved as a step, 

a lbe it a hesitant and on its  own inadequate step, in the right d irection . 

But Prussia, lik e  Russia, was closer to Austria than to Britain . On 107 108 109 110

107. DN, 28 and 31 August 1847, 1 - 2 ;  The Times. 15 and 24 September 
1847, 4; MC, 20 and 23 September 1847, 2; I t .  Prob.. 3 3 - 5 .
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the major international issues -  the Spanish Marriages, the annexation

o f Cracow, the unrest in Ita ly , and the Sonderhund c r is is  -  the

Northern Powers presented a united front.

The h o s t ility  o f the Northern Courts towards Palmerston, because

o f his support fo r  liberalism , did have it s  compensations. European

111libera ls  regarded him as the ir champion. I t  is  apparent, however,

that like the continental governments most European libera ls  did

not understand the conservatism im plic it in Palmerston's support.

Clinton Dawkins, the Consul General at Venice, to ld  Aberdeen in

November 1848 that the unrest at the beginning o f the year had been

"grea tly  encouraged" by the conduct o f the British  Government.

The inferences drawn from Ld. Palmerston's despatches,
& from Lord Minto's language, . . . were most mischievous 
. . . England was looked upon as an open enemy j^ A u s tr ia ,
& a proportionate open friend to Lombardy . . .

I t  was not that Palmerston fa iled  to explain his po licy adequately.

I t  was rather that the e ffe c t  o f his policy seemed to be the reverse

o f his avowed objectives. He claimed to support the European monarchies,

and yet he wished to reduce the ir authority. He claimed he did not

want to see Austrian power reduced, and yet he wanted to deprive

her o f her Ita lia n  possessions. He claimed he wanted to prevent

revolution, and yet the encouragement he gave the European lib era ls

seemed to increase unrest. No wonder continental statesmen were

confused and viewed his a c t iv it ie s  with suspicion. Palmerston's

answer to these charges was that the foundations o f the autocratic regimes

were essen tia lly  unsound and that major changes were needed before

the whole ed ifice  came tumbling down. The events of 1848 prove that,

to some extent at least, Palmerston's judgement was correct. But i t

was much easier to see th is at the end o f the year than at the beginning. 111 112

111. Ridley, 451.
112. Dawkins to Aberdeen, 26 November 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43247 f23*
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* * *

On 27 June 1846 Aberdeen gave Peel a b r ie f description o f the

state o f B rita in 's  foreign re lations:

The cordial understanding existing with Prance, prevails 
in  re a lity , although not so ostentatiously, with a l l  Europe.
. . . Even Spain . . . was never more fr iend ly . In the 
Levant, at no period was our influence ever grea ter^^ r 
exercised with more advantage to B ritish  in terests.

Eighteen months la ter the situation was very d iffe ren t: "we are

gradually becoming estranged from a l l  our a l l ie s ,  as w ell as from

France; and I  do not see that we have any friends in  Europe, except

114the Pope and the Sultan; in addition to the Radicals o f a l l  countries." 

Admittedly Aberdeen was a strong c r it ic  o f Palmerston and the situation 

when Peel le f t  o ffic e  had not been as favourable as he described.

But there is  l i t t l e  doubt that during the f i r s t  year and a ha lf o f 

Palmerston's th ird tenure o f the Foreign O ffice Britain  suffered 

several diplomatic setbacks. In December 1 845 Lord Grey had predicted 

that Palmerston would find i t  d if f ic u lt  to work with continental 

governments. Events seemed to have proved him righ t. And yet, despite 

the fa ilu re  o f many o f his p o lic ies , Palmerston's position in the 

Cabinet seemed secure.

i i i ) THE CABINET, THE COURT AND THE DIPLOMATS

Sir Charles Webster has said that Palmerston "had more opposition

in the Cabinet than any other Foreign Minister o f the nineteenth

115century except Canning in his f i r s t  two years." Webster spoke 

o f the period 1830 to 1841, but the statement is  equally true o f 

the period 1846 to 1851. Palmerston reacted by trying to establish 

his independence at the Foreign O ffice . He had more experience and 113 114 115

113. Aberdeen to Peel, 27 June 1846: ib id  40455 f376.
114 . Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 17 November 1847: Jones Parry,

I ,  290.
115. Webster, I ,  31.



a "better grasp o f the complexities o f international a ffa irs  than 

his colleagues, and consequently he tended to regard critic ism  of 

his actions as ill-in form ed meddling.

In several respects, the rules fo r  consulting the Cabinet about 

foreign a ffa irs  helped Palmerston to maintain his independence.

A l l  despatches received were kept in the Cabinet room where members 

o f the Cabinet could peruse them at the ir leisure. Usually, however, 

ministers were too busy to s i f t  the ir way through the mass o f information 

that flowed into the Foreign O ffice . Palmerston circulated some des­

patches and private le tte rs  which he wanted his colleagues to read, 

but often these were selected to ju s t ify  his own actions. In theory, 

policy decisions were hammered out by the whole Cabinet; in practice, 

meaningful contributions to the discussions could only be made by 

those ministers who were well-informed. In the Russell administration 

the lead in the discussions on foreign a ffa irs  was usually taken by 

Russell and Palmerston, with Clarendon, Grey, Hobhouse, Lansdowne,

Minto and Wood making occasional contributions. A l l  out-going despatches 

should have been approved by Russell and the Queen before they were

sent, but th is did not always happen. Members o f the Cabinet rarely

119saw a despatch before i t  was sent. Private le tte rs  to B ritish  

diplomats could also be used by Palmerston to keep information from 

his colleagues. Conversations with the Foreign Secretary were ra re ly  

more revealing. His manner was often fr iend ly  and conciliatory, even 

when faced with strong critic ism . As a resu lt, complained the Duke 

o f Bedford, "he leaves an impression at variance with the fixed

116 . There is  no study o f the Foreign O ffice during Palmerston’ s 
third tenure, but the evidence suggests that the rules fo r 
consulting the Cabinet and the Queen were the same as during 
the Grey and Melbourne administrations, fo r  which see Middleton,
42 - 65.

1 1 7 . Bullen, 6 4 - 6; Webster, I ,  40 -  1 .
118 . See, fo r  example, below pp. 33, 185, 274 and 313.
119. Bullen, 65 -  6.
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purpose o f his own mind." Most members o f the Cabinet, therefore, 

only knew what was generally known about foreign  a ffa irs  and what 

Palmerston to ld  them. But th is did not prevent them having strong 

views about the objectives and conduct o f B ritish  foreign  policy.

I t  was known from the start that Russell’ s Cabinet was sp lit .

Prince Albert divided i t  into the "Grey Party", consisting o f Lord 

Grey, Lord Clarendon, S ir George Grey and Sir Charles Wood, and a 

group, stigmatised by Grey as "old women", consisting o f Lords Auck­

land, Lansdowne and Minto and Sir John Cam Hobhouse. Russell, the 

Prince judged, "leans en tire ly  to the last named gentlemen"; Palmerston,

i f  forced to make a choice, would "forget what passed in December
121la st, and jo in  the Grey Party". Whatever the value o f th is d ivis ion

with respect to domestic a f fa ir s , however, i t  would be wrong to regard

i t  as an accurate assessment o f the divisions on foreign a ffa irs .

Roger Bullen, having studied the period from June 1846 to February

1848, sp lit  the Cabinet into two groups on foreign a ffa ir s : the largest,

consisting o f Russell, Lansdowne, Clarendon and Minto, wanted to

preserve a good understanding with France, but were unwilling to

sacrifice  B ritish  in terests in order to achieve i t  and, despite some

misgivings, on the whole they supported Palmerston in  1846 and 1847;

the minority, led by Grey and Wood, thought Palmerston's po lic ies

unnecessarily quarrelsome, but, says Bullen, i t  had l i t t l e  impact on
122

the formation o f policy. This simple d ivis ion  is  inadequate fo r  

1848: the majority was less united than i t  had been, especia lly  over

120. Bedford to Clarendon, 1 February 1849: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 .
Cf Hobhouse’ s Diary, 15 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f89.

121. Prince A lbert's  memorandum, 6 July 1846: QVL, I I ,  102. Lord
Jocelyn, Palmerston's son-in-law, made a sim ilar d ivis ion , but 
he was probably more accurate when he placed Palmerston in the 
"anti-progress" party o f Russell and Lansdowne (M.R.D. Foot and
H.C.G. Matthew (ed s .): The Gladstone Diaries (London 1968 -  1978)» 
I I I ,  555). ............... '

122. Bullen, 59 -  64.
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I ta ly ,  and an examination o f the Grey and Halifax papers, which 

Bullen did not use, reveals that Grey and Wood were more in flu en tia l

than Bullen suggests.

* * *

The person in the Cabinet who had the most influence on Palmerston’ s

conduct o f foreign a ffa irs  was the Prime M inister, Lord John Russell.

In December 1845 Wood had assured Grey that he did not believe "you

could have made any arrangement [_ at the Foreign O ffice_/ better
123than P. under Johnny’ s con tro l." Two years la ter i t  was apparent

that the arrangement had not worked. Russell could not control Palmerston.

Part o f the reason fo r Russell's fa ilu re  was his preoccupation

with other matters, especia lly  the problems o f Ireland. As early as

August 1846 Charles G reville  was to ld :

Lord John was w ell disposed to in terfere  in foreign a ffa ir s , 
and indeed as a Prime Minister ought in every department; 
but what he feared was that he would not find time, and 
that he would be overwhelmed with the multifarious functions 
that were heaped upon him, the endless correspondence, 
the innumerable deputations, and the attendance in the 
House o f Commons . . .

But th is was not the whole reason. There were several occasions 

which Russell could have used to assert his authority, yet he fa iled  

to  do so. In February 1847» fo r  example, Russell contradicted an 

injudicious and unauthorised threat Palmerston had made. But instead 

o f using the incident to prevent a sim ilar occurrence "he has done 

no more than stop th is attempt, and has le f t  everything to go on 

as i t  may." Russell knew that his Government could not survive 

without Palmerston's support, and therefore he was careful not to 

take any step which might antagonise him. "John has exercised control 

to a certain extent," Bedford assured Clarendon early in 1849, "but 123 124 125

123. Wood to Grey, 27 December 1845: Grey P. IO5/2 .
124. GM, V, 4 17 . Cf Bullen, 60.
125. GM, VI, 63 -  5-
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not to the extent o f quarrelling with him". The longer Russell

remained s ilen t, however, the more independent Palmerston became

and the less ready he was to accept Russell's interference. I t  was

a vicious c irc le  which Russell did not have the courage to break.

One o f the principal people urging Russell to take Palmerston

in hand was Queen V ictoria . The Queen's complaints about Palmerston

were a constant source o f worry to Russell in 1848. She had a number

o f grievances, one o f which was that Palmerston did not consult her
127about despatches u n til a fte r  they had been sent. The Queen was

extremely sensitive about th is constitutional practice -  she even

128complained to Aberdeen about his neglect in th is respect -  and 

Palmerston was often remiss about consulting her. But i t  seems doubtful 

whether she would have been so determined, or Palmerston so neglectfu l, 

but fo r the fact that she disapproved strongly o f the po lic ies  Palmerston 

was pursuing.

Between 1837 and 1841 the Queen's views on foreign  a ffa irs  had
129

been molded by Palmerston. In October 1846 he s t i l l  wrote o f her 130

130as an "inexperienced honestminded open-hearted young woman". But 

whilst Palmerston had been out o f o ff ic e  the Queen, under the influence 

o f Peel and Aberdeen, and especia lly o f her beloved A lbert, had 

changed.

The Queen had developed a great respect and lik in g  fo r Aberdeen, 

preferring the moderate, conciliatory tone he took with other govern­

ments to the pugnacious attitude adopted by Palmerston. She was 

particu larly happy about the entente cord ia le . and according to 

Graham her attachment to Louis Philippe "amounts almost to a

126. Bedford to Clarendon, 1 February 1849s Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 .
127 . See, fo r example, Qtieen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 17 A pril 1848:

Bd. P. RC/F/35O (q QVL, I I ,  202).
128. Chamberlain, 298.
129. RvP, 23 -  9.
130. Palmerston to Russell, 6 October 1846: PRO 30/22/5D.
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Passion." 131 132 133 134 135 She and Prince Albert continued to discuss foreign
132

a ffa irs  xcith Peel and Aberdeen a fte r  they le f t  o ff ic e . Palmerston's 

views d iffe red  widely from those o f the Queen and he did not treat 

her with the respect she f e l t  she deserved. But his position was 

undoubtedly made more d i f f ic u lt  by the fact that one o f her advisers 

was his strongest c r it ic .

Prince A lbert's  influence over his w ife was more pervasive. G rev ille  

observed that he had "become so id en tified  with the Queen that they 

are one person, and . . .  i t  is  obvious that while she has the t i t l e

133he is  rea lly  discharging the functions o f the Sovereign." The

Prince took a close in terest in  foreign  a ffa ir s ,  and kept up a private

correspondence with several European monarchs. He had a deeply held

b e lie f  in the rights o f monarchs, and he was c r it ic a l  when he thought

134Palmerston attacked those rights. His main in terest, however,

was with furthering the cause o f German unity and constitutionalism

and promoting the idea o f a bloc o f constitutional powers in  central

Europe, led by Germany, and Brita in , which would act as a barrier

1 35to both autocratic Russia and revolutionary Prance. J He stressed,

however, that these constitutional reforms

must be o f organic growth, and o f national development, i f  
they are to prosper and lead to the happiness o f a people. 
Any stage in that development missed . . .  is  sure to lead 
to confusion, and to retard that very development which we

131. Graham to Peel, 4 September 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 40452 f l 6l ;
C. Woodharo-Smith: Queen V ictoria : Her L ife  and Times 1819 -  1861 
(London 1972), 239 -  52. Her admiration fo r  Louis Philippe took 
a severe blow over the Spanish Marriages, but by November 1846 
there were signs that she favoured a better understanding with 
Prance (RvP, 38 -  45)*

132. Prince Albert to Aberdeen, 9 September, 16 October and 25 December 
1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 43046 ff84 -  6, 113 -  16 and 121 -  5 ; Gash, 
673 -  5* The Whigs found th is increasingly objectionable (Bedford 
to Clarendon, 4 February 1849: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 ).

133. GM, V, 329 -  30.
134. Eyck, Prince Consort, 41 -  53; RvP. 32 and 46 -  61.
135. Eyck, Prince Consort, 64 -  72; T. Martin: The L ife  o f His Royal 

Highness The Prince Consort (London 1875 -  1880), I I ,  438 -  58.
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desire.

I t  was on th is ground that he disagreed with Palmerston. Palmerston's

"h o lly ", he complained to his former tu tor, was "to  plunge States

into constitutional reforms fo r  which they have no in c lin a tion ."

This, he declared, c itin g  the examples o f Greece, Portugal and Spain,

137was " cruite wrong".

I t  is  doultfu l whether the Queen fu lly  understood her husband's 

views on constitutional reform. She judged the question in a more 

emotional ligh t. Deeply conscious o f the rights which she f e l t  were 

due to a monarch, she thought Palmerston's attacks on the authority 

o f her fe llow  monarchs were wrong in principle and dangerous in 

practice. She recognised the fa ilin g s  o f other governments, lu t 

in her eyes change should only come from the top. There could le  

no excuse fo r revolution. " I  maintain that Revolutions are always 

lad fo r the country, and the cause o f untold misery to the people", 

she to ld  Russell in August 1848. "Obedience to the laws & to the 

Sovereign, is  obedience to a higher Power, d iv in e ly  institu ted fo r  

the good o f the people, not o f the Sovereign, who has equally duties 

& ob liga tion s."1̂

This combination o f the Prince's lengthy, reasoned arguments 

and the Queen’ s impassioned denunciations was a formidable obstacle 

fo r the Foreign Secretary. For his part, Palmerston thought that the 

Queen in terfered too often in the a ffa irs  o f the Foreign O ffice .

"HRH seems . . .  to have forgot that there is  a responsible Secy, 

o f State fo r Foreign A ffa ir s ,"  he noted at the top o f one le t te r ,  

"however I  am not lik e ly  to fo rge t". But even he acknowledged 136 137 138 139

136. Prince Albert to Russell, 5 September 1847: Martin, I I ,  433.
137. Prince Albert to Stockmar, 2 September 1847: ib id , 426.
138. Queen V ic to r ia 's  Journal, 6 August 1848: E. Longford: V ictoria  R .I. 

(London 1964) ,  197 -  8.
139. Note on Russell to Palmerston, 10 August 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/214 .
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that she had a right to have her views taken into consideration

and sometimes he found them d if f ic u lt  to overcome. On such occasions

he expressed "the greatest deference" to the views o f the Queen and

the Prince, "and then goes on in his own course without paying the

least attention to what they have been saying to h i m . H e  was

encouraged in  th is by his w ife who believed that the Queen "has not
141re flec tion  or sense to fe e l  the force" o f her husband's arguments.

The more the Queen opposed him, the more Palmerston resorted to 

deception. This made her increasingly angry. She poured out her 

fee lings to Russell, who had the unenviable and ultim ately impossible 

task o f reconciling his indignant sovereign and her uncontrollable 

Foreign Secretary.

Russell realised that both Palmerston and the Queen were to blame 

fo r the poor relations between them. He agreed that the tone o f some 

o f Palmerston’ s despatches was objectionable, but, lamented his brother, 

he found i t  "impossible" to "a lte r  the sp ir it  in  which he w rites".

He sympathised with the Queen's complaints that she was often not 

consulted u n til i t  was too late and he urged Palmerston to remember 

to show her despatches before they were sent; "but", he added on one 

occasion, "as I  agree with you very constantly in opinion, my only 

wish is  . . . t°_7  save the Queen anxiety, & me some trouble".

This was the crux o f Russell's dilemma. He recognised that the Queen 

was sometimes ju s t ified  when she charged Palmerston with ignoring 

constitutional practice. But on questions o f po licy, which lay behind 

her complaints, Russell usually agreed with Palmerston.

At a Cabinet on 10 May 1848 Russell read a memorandum on what

140. GM, VI, 81.
14 1 . Lady Palmerston to Palmerston, n .d .: M. Countess o f A ir l ie :  Lady 

Palmerston and Her Times (London 1922), I I ,  122.
142. Bedford to Clarendon, 24 January 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 3.
143. Russell to Palmerston, 1 October 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/225 (q Walpole,

I I ,  47).
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he believed should be the principles o f B ritish  foreign policy fo llow ing 

the March revolutions. He began by dismissing the idea o f the sanctity 

o f trea ties . The Napoleonic domination o f Europej he remarked, had 

been established by trea ties  "as sacred as that o f 1815" . B ritain  

should not "proclaim the in va lid ity  o f the trea ties  o f 1815" ,  fo r  

that would encourage other Powers to seek changes, but at the same 

time should not "go on clinging to a wreck i f  a safe shore is  within 

our reach." The balance o f power, rather than the stipulations of 

the Vienna settlement, should be the basis fo r  B ritish  calculations. 

Russell then turned to the major European issues confronting Britain . 

Austria, he declared confidently, "can hardly restore her sway in 

I t a ly . "  Therefore, in conjunction "tho* not in d irect concert with 

Prance", B rita in  should use her influence "to  produce a frank abandon­

ment o f Lombardy & Venice on the part o f Austria ." A quick settlement 

was desirable in order to avert French intervention, but i t  is  evident 

that by a settlement Russell meant the removal o f Austrian influence 

■from Ita ly  and not the restoration o f peace at any price. His attitude 

towards the Schleswig-Holstein question was sim ilar: Britain should 

try  to se ttle  the quarrel before i t  could escalate. Here, however, 

he does seem to have had any preconditions. With respect to Spain, 

he thought that Britain should continue to express her disapproval 

o f the Montpensier marriage but should not attempt to gain a diplomatic 

victory . In conclusion, he declared:

I t  is  in our in terest to use our influence as speedily & 
as generally as possible to se ttle  the pending questions,
& to f ix  the boundaries o f states. Otherwise i f  war once 
becomes general i t  w i l l  spread over Germany, reach Belgium,
& fin a lly  sweep England into it s  vortex. . . . England 
cannot be ind ifferen t to the supremacy o f Prance over Germany 
& Ita ly ; or to the advance o f Russian armies to Constantinople. 
S t i l l  less to the incorporation o f Belgium with a new French 
Empire. ^  144

144. Russell's memorandum, 10 May 1848: PRO 30/22/7C (q Walpole, I I ,  
40 -  2, where i t  is  misdated). Cf Grey's Journal, 10 May 1848: 
Grey P. C3/14 .
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A comparison "between th is declaration o f principles and the prin­

ciples which Palmerston sought to pursue reveals a number o f sim ilar­

i t ie s .  Russell's desire fo r  a speedy restoration o f peace and order 

in Europe was echoed by Palmerston. The necessity o f preserving Belgian 

neutra lity and o f preventing French expansion across the Rhine and 

the Alps and Russian expansion towards Constantinople were keystones 

o f Fklmerston’ s policy. Palmerston never went so fa r as to say that 

the Vienna settlement was no longer binding on Europe, but he was 

prepared to countenance sizeable t e r r ito r ia l  changes. There were, 

however, two important differences. Russell wanted to drop B rita in ’ s

quarrel with Spain, at least fo r  the moment; Palmerston was determined

145to continue his anti-Spanish lin e. The second d ifference is  more 

subtle and should not be exaggerated. Russell seems to have favoured 

the cause o f Ita lia n  unity and liberalism  because he thought that i t  

would be ben e fic ia l to the Ita lians ; Palmerston favoured i t  because 

he thought i t  would assist the maintenance o f the balance o f power 

and therefore further B rita in ’ s in terests. Russell was not blind to 

the claims o f national s e lf- in te re s t, just as Palmerston did not ignore 

the moral claims o f the Ita lians. But there was a d ifference in emphasis 

which seems to have made Russell less w illin g  than Palmerston to com­

promise on the Ita lian  question.

Russell’ s sympathy fo r  the Ita lian  cause was encouraged by his 

father-in-law Lord Minto, the Lord Privy Seal, and his brother-in-law 

Sir Ralph Abercromby, the B ritish  minister in Turin. Several members 

o f the Cabinet had a ju s t ifia b ly  low opinion o f Minto’ s a b il it ie s  -  

Wood, re ferring to Minto’ s mission to I ta ly ,  declared that he "was
■A A £

no use at home & might as w ell go abroad"  ̂ -  but Russell placed 

a great deal o f fa ith  in his advice. Minto’ s journey through Ita ly

145. See below pp. 1 8 3 - 5  and 188.
146. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 28 January 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f76*
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confirmed his enthusiasm fo r the Ita lian  cause, and upon his 

return to England he became one o f the principle advocates o f S ic ilian  

independence. He wrote fr e e ly  o f his support to the S ic ilian  repre­

sentatives in L o n d o n , p r o b a b l y  unaware that they were regarded 

with suspicion and were under surveillance. Abercromby's influence 

on Russell was probably less than that o f Minto, but because of 

the position he held his views are important. He had great admiration 

fo r the Ita lian  people, although he was doubtful about the good 

intentions o f King Charles Albert o f Sardinia, and was hostile  to 

Austrian influence in the peninsula. He was also excessively suspicious 

o f French intentions, especia lly  a fte r the February Revolution.

Convinced that Ita lian  liberalism  and unity was benefic ia l to both 

Ita ly  and Brita in , he believed that the B ritish  Government should

• - x  x  1 5 0be firmer m  its  support.

I t  is  d i f f ic u lt  to quantify the influence o f Minto and Abercromby 

on Russell. I t  is  unlikely that they in itia ted  his support fo r  the 

cause o f Ita lian  liberalism , but i t  seems probable that the ir enthusiasm 

helped to make Russell over-optim istic about Ita lian  a ffa ir s , and 

un til July 1848 that over-optimism dominated the Cabinet's discussions 

on Ita ly .

* *  *

Next to those o f Palmerston and Russell, the most in flu en tia l 

voices in the Cabinet on foreign a ffa irs  were those o f Lord Lansdowne,

147. See Minto to Russell, 29 September, and 7 and 15 November 1847:
PRO 30/22/6F and 30/22/6G (q LCJR, I ,  312 -  17 ); I t .  Prob. .
46 -  50. -------------

148. See the le tte rs  from Scalia and Granatelli in N.L.S. Mss. 12084.
149. Reports on the ir movements can be found in FRO MEPO 2/43.
150. See Abercromby to Russell, 31 August 1847, and 22 February and 

4 A p ril 1848: PRO 30/22/6E, 30/22/7A and 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,
308 -  9, 331 and 334 -  5)-
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Lord Clarendon, 1 ^1 and Sir John Cam Hohhouse. The vastly  experienced

Lansdowne had the (occasionally embarrassing) task o f defending

Palmerston's conduct in the House o f Lords. Clarendon, widely tipped
152

as a possible replacement as Foreign Secretary, had served as 

minister to Spain fo r six years and upon entering the Cabinet had 

taken a prominent part in the opposition to Palmerston during the 

Mehemet A li c r is is . J Hobhouse, as President o f the Board o f Control, 

took a close in terest in anything that a ffected  the security o f 

India. Outside the Cabinet th is group had a sk illed  exponent o f 

i t s  views in the d iaris t and Clerk o f the I¥ ivy Council Charles 

G rev ille . I t  was a loose group -  only Clarendon and G reville  seem 

to have been on particu larly confidential terms -  but i t  is  distinguish­

able by the s im ila rity  o f the views about Palmerston.

On the whole, before 1848 the Lansdowne-Clarendon group supported 

the foreign policy pursued by Palmerston. But they were not uncritica l 

admirers. In private they disapproved o f the language he sometimes 

used to other governments, regarding i t  as provocative and counter­

productive. Palmerston "does some things so w e ll" , wrote G reville  

on one occasion, "that i t  is  impossible not to regret that he does 

any i l l ,  and i t  is  both provoking & astounding that he overlooks 

the extreme importance o f manner & tone". ^  During 1848 th is group 

became less reticent in voicing it s  critic ism . There was even an 

occasion when Lansdowne and Clarendon opposed Palmerston and Russell

151. Clarendon was only in the Cabinet u n til May 1847 when he went 
to Ireland as Lord Lieutenant. But he was kept w ell informed
on a ffa irs  in the Cabinet and when in England he attended Cabinet 
meetings.

152. Grey's Journal, 18 December 1845: Grey P. C3/ 12 ; Queen V ic to ria 's  
memorandum, 19 September 1848, and Russell to Queen V ictoria ,
22 January 1849: QVLt I I ,  232 and 250 -  1.

153 . Maxwell, I ,  67 -  218.
154. G reville  to Normanby, 3 February 1848: Nor. P. 0/498. Cf Hobhouse's 

Diary, 28 January 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f77> Clarendon to 
Reeve, 21 January 1848: Laughton, I ,  192.
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on a question o f policy. The group did not play a prominent part

in forming B ritish  foreign policy, hut the views i t  expressed, and

especia lly  those o f Lansdowne and Clarendon, were often in flu en tia l.

Almost as important as being a member o f the Cabinet fo r  influencing

the formation o f foreign policy was the post o f ambassador to Prance.

156Indeed i t  was considered by some as equivalent to Cabinet rank.

In 1848 the position was held by the Marquis o f Normanby, a prominent

Whig po litic ian . Under Lord Melbourne, Normanby had served as Lord

Lieutenant in Ireland and at the Colonial and Home O ffices, but u n til

his appointment to the Paris embassy he had shown l i t t l e  in terest

1 57in foreign a ffa irs . He subsequently claimed that he went to Paris

because Russell wanted someone there who could "soften the prejudice

fe l t  against the departmental ch ie f", but as Bullen remarks th is seems

1 58unlikely. J The appointment was probably the result o f Normanby's 

desire fo r a diplomatic post combined with the Government's wish to 

have someone i t  could trust in Paris. Whatever i t s  origins, the choice 

was not as bad as at f i r s t  sight i t  appeared.

In several respects Normanby's views on foreign a ffa irs  were sim ilar 

to those o f Clarendon and Lansdowne. He lamented Palmerston's abras­

iveness, and c r itic is ed  i t  even when writing to the Foreign Secretary. 

At the same time, like Russell and Minto, he was an avowed partisan 

o f the cause o f Ita lian  nationalism and liberalism . "Poor I ta ly " ,  he

1 55

155. See below pp. 297 -  8.
156. Bullen, 71 -  2. Palmerston called the Paris embassy "the Key 

Stone o f our Foreign Relations" (Palmerston to Normanby, 2 June 
1848: Nor. P. P/20/38).

157 . In 1839 he was mentioned as one o f the members o f the Cabinet 
with whom i t  was useless to discuss foreign a ffa irs  (Webster,
I ,  4 1 ) and his infrequent interventions during the Mehemet A li 
c r is is  seem to have been d is tin c tly  unhelpful (Bourne, Palmerston, 
593 and 602).

158. Bullen, 7 2 - 3 .
159. See, fo r example, Normanby to Russell, 23 August 1846: PRO 30/22/5B 

(q LCJR, I ,  115 -  16 ) ;  Normanby to Palmerston, 20 January 1848:
Bd. P. GC/NO/99.
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1 ()0wrote in 1847, " I  have an adopted son's in terest in her fa te ."  3 

His main concern, however, was o f course Anglo-French relations.

He arrived in Paris in July 1846 with the best intentions, hut fo llow ing 

the Spanish ferriages -  a "most extraordinary piece o f trickery " -  

he lost a l l  trust in Louis Philippe and Guizot. In February 1848 

he wrote that the King's "blarney" had "rather caught" Stratford 

Canning. " I  know myself how d if f ic u lt  i t  is  at f i r s t  to believe
1 62that such obvious 'bonhomie' should mean nothing but to deceive."

This distrust might be understandable, but i t  seems to have been

carried to an extreme and does not excuse the manner in which Normanby
1 63consorted with Thiers and Mol'S. I t  did, however, have it s  compensations. 

He was more tolerant towards the new Republic than might have been 

expected o f such a proud aristocra t, and he worked w ell with such 

diverse characters as Lamartine, Bastide and Cavaignac. Normanby 

saw his task, with respect to the Republic, as assisting Lamartine 

and Cavaignac to pursue the ir moderate foreign po lic ies  and helping 

to prevent the latent Anglophobia, which he believed existed in 

France, breaking out. I t  was not an easy job. " I  can assure you", 

he to ld  Palmerston at the end o f March, " I  never knew a race that

required such nice rid ing between wiging them too much or le tt in g
”1 64them have too much the ir own way". 4

Normanby had a number o f defects as an ambassador. He was notoriously 

vain -  Hobhouse remarked that i f  i t  was true that Lamartine was 

"one o f the vainest o f mortals, . . .  he is  w ell matched"1 and 

th is made him susceptible to fla t te ry . I t  is  d if f ic u lt  to judge how

160. Normanby to Clarendon, 8 September 1847s Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 20.
161. Normanby to Russell, 3 September 1846: PRO 30/22/5C (q LCJR.

I ,  116) .
162. Normanby to Palmerston, 5 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/no/110.
163. Bullen, 191 -  4 .
164. Normanby to Palmerston, 26 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/146.
165. Hobhouse's Diary, 29 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f108 

(q Dorchester, VI, 206).
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far Normanby was taken in  by Lamartine’ s honeyed words, or even

whether Lamartine sought to mislead him. But by June Normanby had
166lost much o f his fa ith  in Lamartine’ s promises. A convinced consti­

tutional monarchist and Free Trader, Normanby had l i t t l e  sympathy 

with the soc ia lis t republican aspirations of men like Louis Blanc, 

and th is led him to misrepresent the motives and actions o f an important 

section o f the Provisional Government. Normanby's greatest drawback 

was the uncritica l way in which he accepted information, especia lly  

i f  that information agreed with his own preconceptions. Louis Blanc's

assertion that he was a re ta ile r  o f " id le  rumours and unsifted reports"
167who did not deign to discover what was re a lly  happening is  unfair, 

but not wholly without foundation. On the whole, however, Normanby 

performed his task w ell in 1848, defending B ritish  in terests and 

keeping his Government well-informed.

* *  *

Normanby was a trusted and re liab le  representative o f the B ritish  

Government. The same cannot be said o f Lord Ponsonby, the B ritish  

ambassador to Austria. Ponsonby went to Vienna determined to improve 

Anglo-Austrian relations. Once there he f e l l  under the spe ll of 

Metternich and came to accept his hostile judgement o f Palmerston.^®

The e ffe c t o f th is on Ponsonby’ s performance o f his duty was disastrous. 

He ignored instructions i f  he thought they would damage Anglo-Austrian 

relations. The problem was exacerbated by the fact that B ietrichstein , 

the Austrian ambassador in London, was equally u nreliab le.1^  ponsonby's 166 167 168 169

166. Normanby to Palmerston, 11 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/178.
167. L. Blanc: 1848. H istorica l Revelations: Inscribed to Lord Normanby

New edn., (New York 1971)» v i i i  -  ix . ~ ~ ' ~
168. According to one English v is ito r , Ponsonby listened to Metternich 

"as i f  to an oracle" (Marchioness o f Londonderry (e d .): Letters 
from Benjamin D israeli to Frances Anne Marchioness o f Londonderry 
1837 -  1861 (London 1938), 30).

169. I t .  Prob., 42 -  4 .
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short-comings were recognised in Foreign O ffice c irc le s : "Really 

Ld. Ponsonby is  too bad," Lord Eddisbury, the Parliamentary Under­

secretary, complained on one occasion, "the language he holds &

the conduct he pursues . . . make him appear rather the opponent
170than the servant o f th is govt." But Palmerston's hands were tied .

Because Ponsonby was a member o f the extensive Grey family he could

not be recalled without creating trouble in the Cabinet.

A fte r the events o f December 1845 Lord Grey was understandably

reluctant to oppose Palmerston's conduct o f foreign a ffa irs . Besides,

the demands o f the Colonial O ffice gave him l i t t l e  time to inquire

171into the a c t iv it ie s  o f other departments. The Spanish Marriages,

however, could not but rekindle his in terest. He had warned that

Palmerston's return might lead to a quarrel with France, and he had

been proved righ t. He discussed the question with Wood, and they

concluded that although "the French have behaved very i l l  . . . P*s

conduct & s t i l l  more his language to M. de Jarnac have been very 
172imprudent". Wood began to sound out the rest o f the Cabinet to

173see i f  they shared his doubts. He received l i t t l e  encouragement,

and in the end reported to Grey: " I  do not see anything that Palmerston

could have done otherwise than as he d id ." Grey remained sceptical.

He called Lord Stanley's critic ism  o f Palmerston "rather severe"

175but deserved. However without more support from his colleagues 

he dare not do anything.

Throughout 1847 Grey kept a wary eye on Palmerston’ s conduct,

170. Eddisbury to Normanby, 22 December 1848: Nor. P. O/395. On another 
occasion Normanby asked that a sensitive despatch should not be 
communicated to Ponsonby as "he cannot keep anything from Metternich" 
(Normanby to Palmerston, 6 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/m).

17 1 . Job, 407 -  10 .
172. Grey's Journal, 15 September 1846: Grey P. C3/13 .
173 . Wood to Russell, 21 September 1846: PRO 30/22/5C; Wood to Grey,

27 September 1846: Grey P. IO5/2 .
174. Wood to Grey, 15 October 1846: Grey P. 105/2 .
175 . Grey's Journal, 19 January 1847: ib id  C3/13.
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Tout he only thought o f acting on two occasions. The f i r s t  concerned 

Palmerston's links with the Morning Chronicle. During the f i r s t  week 

o f February the Chronicle printed two vio len t attacks on Aberdeen 

and the governments o f Austria and France, and on the 12th i t  des­

cribed certain "coarse and unwarrantable" insults which Normanby had

177received from Guizot. Grey was alarmed by these provocative a rt ic le s
<j rj Q

and suspected they were inspired by Palmerston. He poured out his

anger to Wood, who assured him that Russell was "very much displeased"

179with the Foreign Secretary. The second occasion occurred in November

when Grey complained in the Cabinet about the "system o f meddling"

in Spanish p o lit ic s  of S ir Henry Bulwer, the B ritish  minister in

Madrid. " I  expressed my opinn. decidedly but cautiously", recorded 
“1

Grey. In themselves these incidents were o f l i t t l e  importance, 

but they helped to confirm Grey's b e lie f  that Palmerston was an unsuit­

able Foreign Secretary.

The main cause o f dispute between Palmerston and the "Grey Party"

before 1848 was the question o f National Defence. The state o f B rita in 's

defences had been troubling the m ilitary experts since the early

1840s, fo r the widespread introduction o f steamships seemed to have

caused a revolution in naval strategy. Pee l's  Government had discussed

the matter, but l i t t l e  had been done because Aberdeen, anxious not

to damage the entente cord ia le , threatened to resign i f  the Cabinet

181agreed to a major increase in m ilitary expenditure. I t  was le f t  

to the Whigs to consider how best the south coast o f England could be

176. MC, 1 and 4 February 1847» 4«
177 . MC, 12 February 1847, 4 . The "a ffa ire  Normanby" is  discussed 

in Bullen, 185 -  94.
178. Grey's Journal, 12 February 1847: Grey P. C3/13 . Palmerston had 

close links with the Chronicle (see below pp. 55 and 58) ,  but 
on th is occasion he seems to have been innocent (see Palmerston 
to Russell, 9 February 1847s PRO 30/22/6B; Bullen, 200).

179. Grey’ s Journal, 27 February and 2 March 1¿47s Grey P. 63/13.
180. Grey's Journal, 5 November 1847= ib id .
181. Chamberlain, 371 -  4» Gash, 517 -  25 .
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protected against a sudden attack by France. The whole o f Russell's 

Cabinet recognised the inadequacy o f the nation's defences. Where 

the members disagreed was over what improvements were needed and con­

sequently how much should be spent.

Russell and Palmerston favoured a plan advocated by the Duke o f 

Wellington fo r  the formation o f a 100,000 strong national m ilit ia ,

the former te l l in g  the Cabinet that he would resign rather than "leave
182

the country a prey to any adventurous enemy". The "Grey Party"

opposed the idea, in i t ia l ly  on the grounds that i t  would "be very

unpopular amongst the class o f persons from whom we generally derive

our support at e lec tion s"^^  and then, a fte r  the general e lection
184o f 1847, on the grounds o f expense. 4 By the beginning o f 1848 a t t i ­

tudes on the two wings o f the Cabinet had hardened: Palmerston admitted 

that the nation's finances were strained, but he declared that "almost 

any expedient to face the temporary D ifficu lty  would be better than 

to proclaim to Europe that we are too poor & too much distressed to
185be able to defend the Country";  ̂ Wood, in  contrast, wrote that the

186danger was "very much over-rated". In the centre, opinion seems

1 87to have osc illa ted  from one side to the other. By th is time, however, 

the debate was not confined to the Government.

On 4 January 1848 the Morning Chronicle published a le tte r  from 

the Duke o f Wellington to S ir John Burgoyne describing the inadequacies

182. Palmerston|s memorandum, 10 A p ril '1847s PRO 30/22/6C (q LCJR,
I »  248 -  9) ;  Hobhouse's Diary, 19 October 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 
43751 T35 (q Dorchester, V I, 1 99)-

183. Wood's memorandum, 21 March 1847: PRO 30/22/6B (q LCJR, I ,  243).
184. Hobhouse's Diary, 19 October 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 ff35 -  7 

(q Dorchester, V I, 199 -  200).
185. Palmerston to Russell, 18 January 1848: PRO 30/22/7A.
186. Wood's memorandum, 5 January 1848: ib id .
187. Contrast, fo r  example, Hobhouse's Diary, 2 May 1847: B.L. Add. 

Mss. 43750 f33 ( " I  think they /""the m ilitary experts_/ fear 
too much") and 19 October 1847; ib id  43751 f36 ( " I  remarked 
that . . . the danger was great & was imminent").
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of B rita in 's  d e f e n c e s . T h e r e  is  no proof how the Chronicle obtained

a copy o f the le t te r , 7 hut the fact that i t  was published in the

Chronicle may mean that Palmerston had a hand in its  publication.

Palmerston believed that Parliament would vote the increased expend-

1 90iture i f  to ld  the truth. He may have hoped to overcome the re s is t­

ance in the Cabinet by arousing public opinion. I f  so, he miscalcu­

lated badly. The m ilit ia  plan was attacked from a l l  sides: Pee lite

newspapers doubted whether the French could launch a surprise attack,

1 91as Wellington assumed; Protectionist journals wanted increased

1 92spending on the navy, not a m ilit ia ; whilst Cobden and the Radicals 

doubted W ellington's judgement and preached that a wider adoption of

Free Trade would remove international r iv a lry  and thus the need fo r

1 93 m 1 94large m ilitary expenditure. The support from the Whig press was

largely  lost amid the general doubt and rid icu le .

On 1 February the Cabinet discussed the Budget. Wood announced

that, as a result o f the expenditure on Ireland and the K a ffir  War,

the Government was faced with a d e f ic it  o f £3,200,000 which he thought

should be met by making the 3f/' income tax permanent and having an

extra 2% tax fo r  two years. This, he calculated, would leave a surplus

of £150 -  160,000. Nothing was said about a m ilit ia , except by Grey

who remarked that "he had not yet seen a m ilit ia  b i l l  fo r  which he 188 189 190 191 192 193 194

188. MC, 4 January 1848, 2.
189. A ll  the Chronicle would say was that i t  had not received the 

le tte r  from Wellington or Burgoyne (MC, 5 January 1848, 2 ).
190. Ilobhouse's Diary, 19 October 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f36.
19 1 . The Times. 7 and 11 January 1848, 4 ; The Economist. 8 and 29 

January 1848, 3 2 - 3  and 116 -  17-
192. MH, 5 and 8 January 1848, 4 ; MP, 7 and 13 January 1848, 2 and 4 ; 

Quarterly Review. LXXXII, 453 -  83.
193. J. Bright and J.E. Thorold Rogers (ed s .): Speeches on Questions of 

Public Policy by Richard Cobden, M.P. (London 1870) ,  I ,  455 -  72; 
DN, 7 and 11 January 1848, 1 - 2 ;  ILN, 8 January 1848, 1 -  2.

194. MC, 5 and 8 January 1848, 2; Spectator. 8 and 15 January 1848, 34 -  
5 and 6 0 - 1 .  The Manchester Guardian had doubts, but on the whole 
supported the Government (MG, 8 and 22 January 1848, 6 - 7 ) *



could vo te ." 1 ̂  The Cabinet on the 9th was more eventful. Russell, 

supported by Palmerston, declared that the surplus should be used 

to create a national m ilit ia . Wood retorted "that i f  we are to c a ll 

out the m ilit ia  even a f iv e  per cent income tax w i l l  be in su ffic ien t", 

whilst Hobhouse observed that there was a strong fee lin g  in  the 

country against any increase in m ilitary expenditure. "C. Wood stood

his ground manfully," concluded Hobhouse, "Grey muttered & occasionally

1 96broke out vehemently." A l l  in  a l l ,  i t  had been " fa r  from agreable." 7

The reverberations o f th is Cabinet continued that evening. Grey

thought "Ixi. J & Palmerston w i l l  upset the Govt, i f  they do not

mind" and said as much to Hobhouse who "begged him to speak to Palmerston

197or Russell qu ietly  & to say nothing in the Cabinet." "  Lansdowne

was also having doubts. " I  cannot shut my eyes to a l l  the d if f ic u lty

o f instantly proposing & carrying an Income Tax," he wrote to Russell.

Any surplus, he argued, should be spent on Ireland and not on such
198a controversial issue as National Defence. Palmerston, however, 

insisted that at least two-thirds o f the surplus should be put aside 

fo r the m ilit ia . " I f  th is cannot be agreed to , "  he warned, " I  fo r 

one should be quite prepared to say that the government is  unable 

to perform its  Duty to the Country and ought to go ou t."1^  Over 

the next couple o f days Russell and Wood worked out a compromise, 

and on the 12th the former gave the Cabinet the outlines o f the 

Budget in which £150,000 was to be used to improve the existing 

m ilit ia  system. 200 Grey saw this as a triumph fo r  his viewpoint:

" I  f la t te r  myself I  shall succeed yet in defeatg. any foo lish  scheme" .201

195. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 1 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 ff80  -  1 .
196. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 9 February 1848: ib id  ff83 -  5 (partly  q 

Dorchester, V I, 201 -  2 ).
197. Grey's Journal, 9 February 1848: Grey P. C3/ 14 ; Hobhouse's 

Diary, 9 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 86.
198. Lansdowne to Russell, 9 February 1848: PRO 30/22/7A.
199. Palmerston to Russell, 10 February 1848: ib id .
200. Hobhouse's Diary, 12 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 88.
201. Grey's Journal, 12 February 1848: Grey P. C3/ 14.
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But Russell and Palmerston had greater reason fo r satisfaction - the 

Budget contained a proposal fo r increased m ilitary expenditure.

On 18 February Russell announced the Government's plans fo r  incr­

eased taxation to a crowded House o f Commons. He placed particular

emphasis on the need to increase defence expenditure because o f the
202

alleged danger from across the Channel. M.P.s on both sides o f

the House immediately attacked the Budget: Protectionists saw i t  as
203

proof that Free Trade did not work; Radicals called the proposed

increase in m ilitary expenditure unnecessary and provocative -  i t  was,

said Cobden, "an act calculated to ir r ita te  and exasperate" France.20^

No Peelite spoke in the debate, but there were rumblings o f disapproval
205from The Times and The Economist.  ̂ Most disturbing o f a l l  fo r  the

206Government was the critic ism  from some Whigs. On the 21st, in

an attempt to appease the opposition, Wood offered to submit the

m ilitary estimates to a select committee. The House rejected th is .
207The proposal, noted Morpeth, "looked like a sh irk ." Three days

la ter came news o f the f a l l  o f Guizot.

The events in Paris attracted a great deal o f public attention

away from the burgeoning p o lit ic a l c r is is . The Budget was largely

ignored as the newspapers described the revolution to the ir readers.

The Government, however, s t i l l  had to get the Budget through Parliament.

VJood, checking his figures, discovered that the d e f ic it  would be

less than he had o r ig in a lly  calculated. He informed Peel, his financia l 
208

mentor, that he planned to propose the extra 2% fo r only one 202 203 204 205 206 207 208

202. Hansard, XCVI, 900 -  26.
203. ib id , 935 -  42, 946 -  60 and 978 -  9. Cf MH, 19 and 21 February 

1848, 4 ~ 5 j  MP, 21 February 1848, 4 .
204. Hansard, XCVI, §26 -  9, 960 -  8 (Cobden), and 975 -  9. Cf DN,

19 and 21 February 1848, 1 - 2 ;  ILN, 26 February 1848, 111 -  12.
205. The Times, 19 and 21 February 1848, 6 and 4 ; The Economist. 19 

and 26 February 1848, 1 9 7 - 8  and 225 -  6.
206. Hansard, XCVI, 933 -  5 an4 942 -  6; MG, 23 February 1848, 4-
207. Hansard, XCVI, 987 -  1019; Morpeth's Diary, 21 February 1848:

C.H.A. J19/8/17 f4.
208. J.B. Conacher: The Peelites and the Party System (Newton Abbot 

1972), 41 -  4-
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year.20  ̂ Peel rep lied  that he did not think any increase would be

a good idea . 209 210 211 Despite th is , on the 28th Wood submitted th is suggestion

to the Cabinet. Russell answered that Graham, Cardwell and Gladstone

would oppose any increase, that some Whigs would be h ostile , and

that with the opposition from the Protectionists and the Radicals

i t  would be impossible to carry the increase. This, wrote Hobhouse,
211"settled  the matter." That evening Wood introduced the new Budget,

continuing the existing income tax fo r three years. I t  had a stormy

passage -  being attacked by the Radicals who clamoured fo r  a reduction

in m ilitary expenditure and by the Protectionists who continued to

c r it ic is e  Free Trade -  but, supported by the Pee lites , i t  was accepted. 212 213 214 215

That morning Peel had warned that i t  was an unpropitious time to be

making an important financia l statement; "Men's minds are confounded
213

with what is  passing in  Prance." In the circumstances, Wood was 

probably gratefu l fo r that fact.

The defeat o f the Budget was a grave setback fo r the Government.

Not only did i t  have to abandon it s  defence plans, but also Parliament's

confidence in it s  a b il ity  to handle public finance was severely 
214shaken. Russell's fa ilu re  to judge the fee lings o f Parliament 

and the country was almost as culpable as Wood's miscalculation o f 

the d e f ic it .  The a f fa ir ,  observed the normally sympathetic Manchester 

Guardian, had been "a succession o f serious blunders." D Yet, in 

a perverse way, the Government's defeat demonstrated its  strength 

as w ell as i t s  weakness. There were repeated rumours that the Government 

might be forced to resign . 216 Charles G reville  thought th is unlikely.

209. Wood to Peel, copy, 26 February 1848: Hal. P. A4/122 .
210. Peel to Wood, 26 February 1848: ib id .
211. Hobhouse's Diary, 28 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 ff102 -  3
212. Hansard, XCVI, 1392 -  145O.
213. Peel to Wood, 10 a.m. 28 February 1848: Hal. P. A4/122 .
214 . Dreyer, "Russell Administration", 106.
215 . MG, 1 March 1848, 4 .
216. Grey's Journal, 25 February 1848: Grey P. C3/ 14 ; Hobhouse's 

Diary, 26 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f f  95 -  6 (q 
Dorchester, V I, 203); GM, V I, 131 -  2.
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The Whigs, he wrote on the 20th, were "the only possible Government."

Neither the Protectionists nor the Peelites were ready to form an

administration on their own, and their differences were too great

to form one together. "This is ,  in truth, the great security which

the present Government has fo r  keeping o ff ic e . I f  they are defeated,

and o ffe r  to resign, no other Government w i l l  he found possible,
217

and they w i l l  be forced to stay in ".

iv )  PARLIAMENT, THE PRESS AND FOREIGN AFFAIRS

On 22 January 1848 The Times predicted that the Government's

conduct o f foreign a ffa irs  would not attract much attention in the

218House o f Commons during the coming session. Three weeks la ter 

Lord Redesdale, a leading Protection ist, wrote that he thought that 

there was l i t t l e  advantage to be gained from attacking Palmerston.21  ̂

The events o f 1848 proved The Times and Redesdale wrong: there were 

important debates on Spain, Schleswig-Holstein and Ita ly . And yet, 

given the scale o f the events on the continent and the controversial 

nature o f some o f Palmerston's actions, there was a marked reluctance 

to discuss foreign a ffa irs . This reluctance does not indicate a lack 

o f interest among M.P.s or widespread support fo r  the Government's 

conduct. Rather i t  was symptomatic o f a desire not to disturb the 

Parliamentary balance.

Precise figures for the number o f supporters each party in the 

Commons had a fte r  the general election  o f August 1847 are in dispute.

F.A. Dreyer has calculated that the Government had between 324 and 

336 supporters, f i f t y  more than before the e lection , the Peelites 

between 85 and 1 1 7 , and the Protectionists about 200. The Government's 217 218 219

217. GM, V I, 132 -  3.
218. The Times, 22 January 1848, 6.
219. Redesdale to Stanley, 11 February 1848: Der. P. Box 149/6.
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majority, however, was dependent on the Radicals and the Ir ish  Repealers,

the proportion o f whom had increased and who in 1848 were showing
220increasing signs o f independence. On questions o f law and order

in Ireland, the Government could usually re ly  on the support o f the

Protectionists and the Pee lites . On questions o f Free Trade, i t  could

expect the support o f the Peelites and the Radicals. On questions

of foreign policy, however, i t s  position was vulnerable, as the

Protection ists, the Peelites and the Radicals had the ir own strong

views on Palmerston's conduct. Neither the Protectionists nor the

Peelites wished to bring down the Government. The anxiety o f both

to prevent the other gaining power was greater than the h o s t il ity
221

o f either towards the Whigs. But a reunion o f the Conservative

Party was always a p oss ib ility , and an issue which could have precipitated

the reunification was Palmerston's handling o f foreign a ffa irs .

* * *

The three elder statesmen of the Peelites -  Sir Robert Peel, Lord 

Aberdeen and S ir James Graham -  held strong views on Palmerston's 

conduct. The younger generation o f leaders showed less in terest. 

Gladstone’ s correspondence and diary fo r 1848 contain very few references 

to foreign a ffa irs . He spoke only once in Parliament on foreign , as

d istinct from colon ia l, a ffa irs  when he opposed the diplomatic relations
222with Rome b i l l  on re lig ious grounds.

The most authoritative o f the Peelite voices on foreign a ffa irs  

was that o f Aberdeen, the former Foreign Secretary. Aberdeen was

220. Dreyer, "Russell Administration", 99 _ 103. The Morning Herald 
estimated that o f the 328 M.P.s who would usually support the 
Government, 108 were Repealers, Radicals or Dissenters (MH
25 August 1847, 5 ).

2 2 1 . For the relations between the Protectionists and the Peelites 
before 1848 see Conacher, 17 -  28 and 34 -  5 ; Stewart, 81 -  121.

222. Hansard, Cl, 229 -  33- Although Gladstone played an important
rftle in Parliament and began to show a f la i r  fo r financial a ffa irs , 
during 1848 he seems to have been preoccupied with private problems 
(R. Shannon: Gladstone. I  1809 -  186*5 (London 1982), 202 -  13).
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also the most c r it ic a l o f Palmerston. He regarded the Spanish Marriages

as a breach o f the agreement reached at Eu and a "heavy "blow" to the

entente cord ia le .22  ̂ But he was equally c r it ic a l  o f the B ritish  Govern-
2 2A

ment’ s response, which he fe l t  was exaggerated and ill-founded.

Towards the end o f the year th is critic ism  became embroiled in a

b itte r  feud with Palmerston. He resented the attacks on himself in
225

the Morning Chronicle and blamed them on Palmerston. Aberdeen's 

disapproval o f Palmerston was enhanced by his lack o f sympathy fo r  

the lib era l movements in Europe. He thought the behaviour o f the
22  f\inhabitants o f Cracow "so scandalous as to ju s t ify  any severity ."

His views on I ta ly  were equally uncompromising. He did not trust

the Pope and, despite the occupation o f Ferrara, thought the fears

of Austrian intervention in Papal reforms "mere invention". Ita lian

unification  was "an impracticable dream" which, i f  accomplished,

"would be o f very doubtful advantage." B rita in , he f e l t ,  should jo in

France in urging the Pope to moderate his attitudes and actions.

Unfortunately, because o f Palmerston's h o s t ility  towards Louis Philippe

and Guizot, th is was impossible. "The fundamental principle o f our

p o licy ," he lamented, " . . . is  a blind hatred o f France, or rather

the French Government, which nothing can abate, and which is  seen
227

in every quarter." In Aberdeen's opinion, the collapse o f the 

entente cordiale was a serious setback to the cause o f moderate reform 

in Europe, and i t  was a setback which he came increasingly to blame 

on Palmerston.

Neither Peel nor Graham fu lly  shared Aberdeen's views on foreign 

a ffa irs . Whilst Prime Minister, Peel had been far more suspicious 223 224 225 226 227

223. Aberdeen to Peel, 21 September 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 4O455 ff388 -  91.
224. Aberdeen to Peel, 3 September and 27 November 1846r ib id  ff392 

and 396.
225. Aberdeen to Peel, 4 December 1846: ib id  f405; GM, VI, 53.
226. Aberdeen to Peel, 2 December 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 40455 f404.
227. Aberdeen to Peel, 28 September 1847: ib id  ff445 -  6.
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of Prance than Aberdeen. The Spanish ferriages strengthened th is

fe e lin g .22  ̂ Like Aberdeen, he had l i t t l e  sympathy fo r the continental

lib era ls . But he was not uncritica l o f the Northern Courts: he called
230

the annexation o f Cracow "sheer fo l ly " ,  and f e l t  that Austria

would make "a great mistake" i f  she in terfered in the domestic a ffa irs

o f the Ita lia n  states, "however threatening they may be." Peel

f e l t  that unrest on the continent could be appeased i f  reforms were

made. The February Revolution, he wrote in  October, could have been
232

prevented i f  Guizot had been w illin g  to make changes. I t  was the 

typ ica l Conservative reaction to a l l  agitation  fo r  reform: give a 

l i t t l e  in  order to preserve the whole. In Aberdeen's eyes, however, 

the fa ilu re  o f Peel to support the policy o f repression pursued by 

Guizot and other continental statesmen indicated an inadequate compre­

hension o f the dangers facing Europe. " I  think you have looked at the 

subject with rather too much o f an English view ", he rep lied . The 

choice in France had not been between two parties who wished to uphold 

the principles of the existing constitution, but between one which 

wanted to overthrow the monarchy and another which wanted to sustain 

i t .  In such circumstances, i t  was B rita in 's  duty to support the la t te r .2^  

Graham did not share Aberdeen's intense suspicion o f European 

liberalism  and was alarmed about what he saw as Aberdeen's increasing 

reactionary tendencies. He to ld  G reville  in May 1848 that "these 

times o f universal revolution were unsuitable to the genius and taste 

o f Aberdeen". He had been an "excellen t" Foreign Secretary under 

Peel; "but now the scholar o f Castlereagh, whose inclinations a l l

2 2 8 . Gash, 496 -  517.
2 2 9 . Peel to Aberdeen, 22 September and 21 November 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 

43065 f f 2 l 3 and 247 -  8.
2 3 0 . Peel to Aberdeen, 21 November 1846: ib id  f 2 4 4 .
2 3 1 . Peel to Aberdeen, 22 September 1847: ib id  f 3 3 2 .
2 3 2 . Peel to Aberdeen, 25 October 1848: ib id  f f 339 -  4 2 .
2 3 3 . Aberdeen to Peel, 2 November 1848: ib id  4O455 f 4 5 3 .
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lay towards Metternich and Guizot, was disgusted and disheartened

at the spectacle Europe presented.1,234 His critic ism  o f Aberdeen,

however, did not mean that he approved o f Palmerston's conduct. He

blamed him to some extent fo r the collapse o f the entente cordiale

and was disturbed by his h o s t ility  towards the Northern Courts. " I f

Palmerston remain much longer Foreign M inister", he wrote in  August
235

1847, "we shall not have a Cordial Friend in Europe." The events

o f 1848 reinforced these doubts. One o f the reasons he gave fo r refusing 

the Admiralty in January 1849 was that he could not condone Palmerston's 

conduct o f foreign a ffa irs . Graham was to some extent drawn back 

to the Whigs by the unrest in Europe; Aberdeen was driven away from 

them. Peel maintained a position between the two, but his disapproval 

o f Palmerston made him lean towards the la tte r .

Peel, Aberdeen and Graham disapproved o f Palmerston's conduct in

1848, but they did not publicise their views. Their followers in 

Parliament were equally reticen t. The Peelite  newspapers were more 

forthcoming. In theory, i t  is  wrong to speak o f a newspaper with a 

p o lit ic a l label, fo r  most papers asserted the ir p o lit ic a l independence. 

In practice, the p o lit ic a l links could be very strong. At the end of 

1846 Palmerston claimed that he had "no power o f exercising any detailed 

control over the language and opinions" o f the Morning Chronicle.^3  ̂

but at the time he made th is assertion the leading a rt ic le s  on foreign 

a ffa irs  in the Chronicle re flected  his views and some were even drafted 

by him. Nor was Palmerston alone in manipulating the press: Aberdeen's

234. GM, V I, 180.
2 3 5 « Graham to Aberdeen, 6 August 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 43190  f 190 .

Cf Graham to Aberdeen, 1 December 1846 and 3 January 1847.* ib id  
ff179 -  80 and 183 -  6. .

2 3 6 . Graham to Peel, 12 January 1849: ib id  40452 f 3 l 2 (q C.S. Parker: 
L ife  and Letters o f S ir James Graham. Second Baronet o f Netherby. 
P .C ., G.C.B., 1792 -  1861 (London 1 9 0 7 ). I I .  7 3 ): GM. VI. 269 

and 271•
2 3 7 . Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 14 December 1846: RvP, 51 -  2 .
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Morning Post; and the Daily News was established fo r  the spec ific
238

purpose o f propagating the Free Trade viewpoint. And th is p o lit ic a l 

influence was fo r a spec ific  reason: to persuade the electorate to 

favour a particular policy or a particular po litic ian .

In A p ril 1847 Russell and Clarendon discussed whether public opinion 

could be mobilised on a question o f foreign policy. They agreed "that

th is , although d i f f ic u lt ,  might be possible i f  the Government and
239

the press acted together". 7 Before 1848, however, the major foreign 

policy questions did not excite the mass o f the B ritish  public. During 

the last third o f 1846 the Spanish Marriages and the ir consequences 

received copious coverage in the leading da ily  newspapers. But, as 

John Bright observed, "there hardly could be a question o f foreign 

p o lit ic s  in which the people here have taken less i n t e r e s t " . N e w s ­

paper editors and owners were wary o f emphasising a subject in which 

the ir readers had l i t t l e  in terest. Feargus O'Connor, fo r  example, 

decided that "not more than 1 col/- umn_7 shall be devoted to foreign 

news" in the Chartist Northern Star, observing that "much & very 

just complaint is  made o f so much space being devoted to matters

in which the Star readers and English people take not the s ligh test 
241in terest". Interest in European a ffa irs  did increase in 1848, 

as was witnessed at the Chartist meetings, fo r  the events on the 

continent gripped the public imagination, but there seems to have 

been no attempt to mobilise "public opinion" either in defence or

2 3 8 . For the Daily News see H.R. Fox Bourne: English Newspapers: Chap­
ters in the History o f Journalism (London 1887), I I ,  14O - 5 1 ;
S. Koss: The Rise and Fa ll o f the P o lit ic a l Press in Brita in : 
Volume One: The Nineteenth Century (London lQ8l ) f 9A -  6. For 
Palmerston, Aberdeen and D israeli see below pp. 5 7 , 5 8 - 9  and 
6 0 - 1.

2 3 9 . Clarendon to Reeve, 1 A p ril 1847: Laughton, I ,  184 -  5 *
240. Bright to Cobden, 29  November 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 43383 f 176 .
2 4 1 . O'Connor to Harney, 4  January 1848: F.G. Black and R.M. Black 

(ed s .): The Harney Papers (Assen 1969 )»  61 -  2 .
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in opposition to the Government's po lic ies . The detailed arguments

in the pressj therefore, were not directed so much at the mass of

the people hut at the electorate, and in particular the leaders o f

society, through whom the newspapers and the ir supporters hoped to

influence M.P.s and thereby the Government. For th is purpose, as

important as the views expressed was where those views appeared,

and in th is respect the columns o f The Times were the optimum place.

The predominance o f The Times over other newspapers in mid-nineteenth

m century Britain was phenomenal. According to Kingsley Martin, in 1852

The Times had a da ily  circu lation o f 4 0 ,0 0 0  whereas it s  nearest r iv a l
242

sold only 7 ,0 0 0  copies. Russell's Government recognised its  importance

-  Clarendon declared that he did not "care a straw what any other
243

newspaper thinks or says" -  and, through Clarendon, G reville  and 

Wood, i t  managed to influence some o f its  leading a r t ic le s .2^  But 

The Times remained primarily Pee lite in it s  opinions, especia lly  

in the sphere o f foreign a ffa ir s , and John Delane, the ed itor, was 

a close friend o f Aberdeen. Palmerston, observed G rev ille , found the 

paper "the most troublesome, & most formidable antagonist he has to
245

compete w ith ."

Palmerston's return to the Foreign O ffice received a cautious 

welcome from The Times. Contrasting the peaceful state o f B rita in 's  

foreign relations with the numerous disputes Aberdeen had inherited, 

i t  declared its  hope that Palmerston would continue his predecessor's 

policy o f assisting "the maintenance o f peace and the advancement 

o f the great cause o f human improvement" without increasing "the 

humiliation or jealousy" o f other s t a t e s . S e v e n  months la ter such 242 243 244 245 246

242. Kingsley Martin, 86.
2 4 3 . Clarendon to Reeve, 18 June 1848: The Times: The History o f The 

Times: The Tradition Established 1841 -  1884 (London 1939 ) ,  9 2 .
244. ib id , 100 -  3 ; Clarendon to Russell, 4 June 1847: PRO 30/22/6D.
245. G reville  to Clarendon, 26  January 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 2 1 ; History 

nf The Times. 92 -  100 .
246. The Times, ¿9  June 1846, 4.
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to the attacks on Aberdeen in the Morning Chronicle, "produce the 

results to which he is  most opposed as in fa l l ib ly  as i f  he connived 

at them."2^  Continental governments, i t  remarked a year la te r , regarded 

Palmerston as "the enemy o f a l l  established Governments and the friend 

o f a l l  popular insurrections". Wo British  Foreign Secretary, i t  dec­

lared, should be gu ilty  o f such a charge, but i t  care fu lly  refrained
O A O

from saying that Palmerston was innocent o f i t .  The Times professed

much sympathy with the continental lib era ls , but i t  was becoming

alarmed fo r the future o f Europe. Reform seemed to be being replaced

by revolution. Its  cautious response to the news o f the S ic ilian  revo-

249lution re fle c ts  its  growing doubts. Europe, The Times believed, 

was in increasing danger and Palmerston's po lic ies seemed to be exacer­

bating the problem.

Before 1848 Palmerston had a useful a l ly  in his figh t against The

Times in the Morning Chronicle, which was owned by Sir John Easthope.

In February 1848, however, Easthope, angered by the Whig attempts to

gain the support o f The Times, gave up trying to make the Chronicle

250profitab le and sold i t  to three Peelites led by Lord Lincoln. J

G reville  heard that the new owners intended that the Chronicle should

support the Government, but within a few days he noted its  hostile 

251tone. Clarendon found Lincoln's policy incomprehensible, fo r  not 

only did the Chronicle attack the Whigs, the Radicals and the Protect­

ion ists , but i t  also c r itic is ed  Peel. " I  know they are angry with 

Peel", he wrote to his brother-in-law, " . . .  but they are acting 247 248 249 250 251

247. ib id . 5 February 1847, 5.
248. ib id . 22 January 1848, 6.
249. ib id . 2 8  January and 1 and 11 February 1848, 4 -  5 *
250. Bullen, 2 9 - 3 7 ;  Koss, 7 4 - 7  and 8 6 - 7 .
2 5 1 . GM, VI,  1 3 1 .
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as i f  they mean to iso la te  themselves."  ̂ On questions o f foreign 

policy, however, the differences between The Times and the Morning 

Chronicle were s ligh t. The two papers, fo r a long time h itte r  r iv a ls , 

were now combined in the ir opposition to Palmerston. To make matters 

worse fo r the Foreign Secretary, follow ing the sale o f the Chronicle 

he no longer had a leading newspaper to put across his views. The 

Manchester Guardian often supported him, but i t  was careful to maintain 

it s  independence. The other two well-established da ily  newspapers, 

the Morning Herald and the Morning Post t were controlled by the Protect­

ion ists.

252

* * *

The Protectionist Party at the beginning o f 1848 was in some confusion. 

In the Lords, i t  was in the capable hands o f Lord Stanley, the acknow­

ledged head o f the party. In the Commons, i t  was leaderless. Lord 

George Bentinck had resigned because he could no longer command the 

support and respect o f the majority o f Protection ists. His obvious 

successor was Benjamin D israeli, but D israeli was unacceptable to

many in the party and the choice f e l l  on Lord Granby who quickly

254decided that he was not up to the job. As a resu lt, the Protectionists 

went through the session o f 1848 without a recognised leader in the 

Commons. In such circumstances, D israe li's  oratorica l b r illian ce

2 5 2 . Clarendon to Lewis, 2 July 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 3 2 . The younger 
Peelites disapproved o f Pee l's  constant support fo r  the Whigs 
and favoured a reunion with the Protection ists, and used the 
Chronicle to express the ir views. Their loya lty  to Peel prevented 
a schism, but in June they staged a minor rebellion  against his 
leadership when they voted with the Protectionists against the 
Government's Sugar B i l l  (Dreyer, "Russell Administration", 112 -  18).

2 5 3 . D. Ayerst: Guardian; Biography o f a Newspaper (London 1971 ) ,  105.
Soon a fte r  the sale o f the Chronicle Palmerston tried  to recruit 
The Times to his cause, but the overture was rebuffed by Delane 
(G reville  to Clarendon, 24 February 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 2 1 ;
History o f The Times, 2 3 9 )*

254. Blake, 261 -  2 ; Jones, 121 -  6 and 130 -  1; Stewart, 122 -  8.
"D *Is ra e li,"  declared Stanley when the problem arose again, "with 
a l l  his ta len ts, is  out o f the question" (Stanley to Beresford, 
copy, 10 December 1848: Der. P. Box 178/1).
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"brought him to the fore. "Let the National Club fr e t  & whine as i t  

may", Lord John Manners wrote to his friend, " -  yours must he the 

guiding sp ir it  in any new government that can he formed on old world 

p r incip les ."2"^ But what seemed obvious to Manners was not equally 

so to the more reactionary rank and f i l e .  D israe li’ s caustic wit was 

admired, especia lly  when directed against Peel, hut i t  caused many 

to distrust him. Consequently he spent much o f 1848 uncertain o f his 

own position and future in the Protectionist Party.

At f i r s t  sight, the attitude o f the Protectionists towards foreign 

a ffa irs  before 1848 seems to lack consistency. This is  best seen by 

the d iffe r in g  opinions expressed by the Morning Post and the Morning

Herald; the Post condemned the Spanish Marriages, the Herald declared

256that there was nothing to worry about; the Post applauded the 

annexation o f Cracow, the Herald condemned the " c r i m e " t h e  Post 

called the Pope's reforms "crude" and "ridiculous" and opposed any 

B ritish  attempt "to  sustain a Quixotic p r ies t", the Herald supported

the Pope and urged the Austrians to fo llow  his "wise and enlightened
258course"; the Post condemned the S ic ilian  revolution, the Herald

259
cautiously welcomed i t .  These differences represented the views 

o f the two factions within the Protection ists; the Morning Post was 

sympathetic towards Bentinck and D israeli, the la tte r  being an occasional 

contributor; the Morning Herald was under the influence o f Beresford
Q ¿TQ

and Newdegate and was usually fie rc e ly  Protestant. Bentinck and 

D israeli were noted fo r the violence o f the ir opinions, and the Post

2 5 5 » Manners to D israeli, 12 March 1848: Dis. P. B/XX/M/27.
256. MP, 4 September and 12 October 1846, 4; MH, 4 and 17 September 

1846, 4.
257. MP, 23 November 1846, 4 » MH, ^4 November 1846, 4.
258. MP, 21 September 1846 and 27 August 1847, 2 ; MH, 2 September 1846 

and 10 September 1 8 4 7 » 4 « The Herald’ s support fo r  the Pope is  
rather surprising as i t  was usually strongly anti-Catholic.

2 59. MP, 29 January and 1 February 1848, 4; MH, 7 and 10 February 1848, 4.
2 6 0 . W. Hindle; The Morning Post 1772 -  1 9 37 ; Portrait o f a Newspaper 

(London 1937 )»  177 -  8 ; Koss, 78 and 8 3 ; Stewart, 90 -  1 .
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re flected  th is . The majority in the party, represented hy the Herald, 

were more cautious although not necessarily less extreme. But i t  

would be wrong to exaggerate the differences, especia lly  on foreign  

a ffa irs . Both were anxious to preserve the existing European system.

Where they disagreed before 1848 was over how th is could best be 

achieved.

Whatever they fe l t  about the state o f Europe, the Post and the 

Herald were re la t iv e ly  united about what they thought B ritish  policy 

should be. B ritain  should use her "moral influence" to help se ttle  

disputes, but except where her v ita l  strateg ic interests were a ffected  

she should never in terfere  d irec tly . Nor should she a l ly  herse lf 

with any continental Power, as D israeli explained early in 1847.

He had often heard, he said, that peace could only be maintained 

either by a "cord ia l understanding" between Britain  and Prance or 

by a "secret understanding" between Britain and Russia. He disagreed. 

Peace, he proclaimed,

could be maintained by England alone, i f  she understood 
her position, and did not underrate her power. . . . England 
held the balance, and i f  she was conscious o f her position 
and exercised her influence with firmness and discretion  ' 
she might obtain and enjoy the blessings o f peace, and hand 
them down to posterity, better than with partia l a lliances 
with either o f the r iv a l Powers, bgva good understanding 
and generous friendship with both.

These were sim ilar sentiments to those o f "no perpetual enemies" and 

"no eternal a l l ie s "  subsequently expressed by Palmerston. Indeed D israeli 

began his speech by saying that he could find no fau lt with the principles 

avowed by the Foreign Secretary.262 Where the Protectionists c r itic is ed  

Palmerston was on the grounds that he did not stick  to the policy 

he professed. Moreover, when he did intervene or complain, he did so

2 6 1 . Hansard, LXXXIX, 156._Cf W.P. Monypenny and G.E. Buckle: The L ife
o f Benjamin D israeli Earl o f Beaconsfie ld  (London 1910 -  1 9 2 0 )----
I I I ,  186 -  7. ------------  7

2 6 2 . Hansard. LXXXIX, 149.
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to l i t t l e  e ffe c t263 and, even worse, in the ir eyes he usually favoured 

the wrong s id e .26  ̂ They f e l t  that i f  Palmerston insisted on meddling, 

he should at least do so e f fe c t iv e ly  and without damaging B rita in 's  

reputation.

Before 1848 the attitude o f the Protectionists towards spec ific  

questions o f foreign policy had "been uncertain and unco-ordinated, 

as might he expected from the party's divided leadership and its  

preoccupation with domestic issues. The revolutions o f that year 

focussed attention on B rita in 's  foreign policy and united the party 

in defence o f the status quo. Stanley in the Lords and D israeli in 

the Commons led the attack on Palmerston with the cry o f non-intervention. 

* * *

The policy o f non-intervention was also that advocated by Richard 

Cobden and John Bright. In private Cobden and Bright lamented the 

interest which the British  Government took in the a ffa irs  o f other

countries. B rita in 's  "true policy is  iso la tion ", wrote Bright. "Our

265duty is  to get rich & to mind our own business". But despite th is

fee lin g , the Manchester School o f Radicals, led by Cobden and Bright,

took a keen interest in foreign a ffa irs , arguing that a wider adoption

o f Free Trade principles would remove international r iv a lry  and thereby

abolish war. Early in 1846 Cobden declared:

I  see in the Free-Trade principle that which shall act on 
the moral world as the principle o f gravitation  in the uni­
verse, -  drawing men together, thrusting aside the antagon­
ism o f race, and creed,2|gd language, and uniting us in the 
bonds o f eternal peace.

Cobden disapproved strongly o f Palmerston. Whilst he strove to improve 

relations between nations, the Foreign Secretary's "brusque manner

2 6 3 . MH» 22 January 18 4 7 » 4 »
264. MP, 24 August 1847, 4 «
2 6 5 . Bright to Cobden, 29 November 1846: B.L. Add. Mss. 43383 f 176 .

Cf Cobden to Bright, 18 September 1847: ib id  43649  f 7 0 ; DN, 2 
October 1846, 2 .

2 6 6 . Cobden*s Speeches. I ,  362 (q Bourne, Victorian England. 2 6 9 ).
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o f treating national relationships . . .  was_7" very prejudicia l 

to those ideas o f friend ly  intercourse which are beginning to spread

n .,267among every c iv iliz e d  people.

The majority o f Radical M.P.s did not share the Manchester School's 

view o f Palmerston. Some were even more c r it ic a l  o f him -  David Urquhart

entered Parliament intent on proving that Palmerston was betraying
2 63the country to the Russians. Most, however, approved o f Palmerston's

foreign policy. The Daily Dews and the Illu stra ted  London News we loomed
269his return to the Foreign O ffice . His support fo r European lib era ls

270
was echoed in the ir leading a rt ic le s . Cobden bemoaned th is tendency.

He saw "nothing to object to " in the Daily Hews, he to ld  Bright towards

the end o f 1848, "unless i t  be a proneness to the old tone o f foreign

policy, & a disposition to back Lord Palmerston in his intermeddling 
271propensities." Much o f th is support, however, was based on a mis­

conception o f Palmerston's attitude. Many Radicals assumed from Palmerston's 

language that he was a firmer friend o f liberalism  than in fact he was.

And this could have it s  drawbacks. In June 1847 the Government's fa te 

seemed in doubt when the Radicals thought o f voting against i t s  Portuguese 

policy (which they thought was too "reactionary") in conjunction with 

the Protectionists (who thought the policy too " l ib e r a l" ) .  There was

widespread r e l ie f  in Government c irc les  when the Radicals called o f f
272the attack at the last moment.

2 6 7 . Cobden to Bright, 18 January 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 43649 f 69 .
2 6 8 . M.H. Jenks: "The A c tiv it ie s  and Influence o f David Urquhart*1833 -

5 6, with Special Reference to the A ffa irs  o f the Wear East" unpublished 
Ph.D. Dissertation, University o f London 1964, 172 -  274

2 6 9 . I ,  2 July 1846, 1} ILW, 4  July 1846, 2 3 .
2 7 0 . DN, 5 September and 30 November 1846, 28  July and 2 August 1847 2 *

ILW, 28  November 1846 and 18 September 1847, 336  -  7 and 1 7 7 - 8 .  ’
2 7 1 . Cobden to Bright, 1 November 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43649  f f 84 -  5.

By 1850 Cobden was convinced that the paper was under Palmerston's 
control (Koss, 100).

2 7 2 . Grey's Journal, 14 June 18 47 : Grey P. C3/13 ; Dreyer, "Russell 
Administration", 9 3 .
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On the fringes o f radicalism was the Chartist movement. The Chartists

had only one M.P., Feargus O'Connor, hut their demand fo r  e lec to ra l

reform struck a responsive chord with many Radicals. In retrospect,

i t  is  possible to see that at the beginning o f 1848 Chartism was doomed.

The movement was deeply divided, between the Moral Force Chartists

who disapproved o f violence and the Physical Force Chartists who were

prepared to resort to i t ,  and much o f its  energy was absorbed in O'Con-
273nor's fru itless  Land Plan. At the time, however, Chartism seemed

to be undergoing a rev iva l. "Bad trade", declared O'Connor's Northern

Star, the leading Chartist newspaper, "has brought not a few o f the
274

e lec tora l class to the ir senses". I t  seemed clear that Chartism 

would be a potent force in 1848.

An in flu en tia l section o f the Chartist leadership took a close in ter­

est in foreign a ffa irs , and more particu larly in the continental revolu­

tionary societies. George Julian Harney played a prominent part in  the 

Fraternal Democrats, a society in which Physical Force Chartists and 

foreign (la rge ly  German) ex iles  met every month to discuss how the cause 

o f international brotherhood could best be f u r t h e r e d . A n o t h e r  such 

society was the People's International League, which was led by William

Lovett and Thomas Cooper and which had Mazzini as it s  "great source
P7 ̂

o f insp iration ." ' The r iv a lry  o f the two societies was intense, but

the ir attitude towards Palmerston was sim ilar. They accused him of

bullying small countries and being cowardly towards the major Powers
277

especia lly Russia. The Northern Star thought the lib era l advice

2 7 3 . D. Read and E. Glasgow: Feargus O'Connor: Irishman and Chartist 
(London 19 6 1 ) ,  108 -  1 7 t A*R* Schoyen: The Chartist Challenge: A 
Portrait o f George Julian Harney (London 19 5 8 ) ,  146 -  9 ; P.W. Slos- 
son: The Decline o f the Chartist Movement (New York 1916), 94 -  5.

274. Northern Star, 1 January 1848, 1.
275. H. Weisser: B ritish  Working-class movements and Europe (Manchester 

1 9 75 ) ,  125 -  4 0 .
276. ib id , 154 -  6 3 ; T. Cooper: The L ife  o f Thomas Cooper (London 1872),

2 9 9 . '
277. Weisser, 9 6 - 7  and 173 -  5 *
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he gave other countries "remarkably good", hut that because he was

so conservative at home he was not the person to give i t .  "We are

involuntarily reminded", declared the Star, "o f the old proverb o f

• ..278Satan reproving sm.

I t  is  easy to exaggerate the interest the Chartists took in foreign 

a ffa irs  before 1848. The Northern Star printed accounts o f fu l l  halls 

and rapturously received speeches when describing meetings o f the Frat­

ernal Democrats. But, as Henry Weisser has shown, such descriptions
279owed much to the fe r t i le  imagination o f Harney. Some European issues

were extremely popular: there was a keen interest in events in France,

the acknowledged centre o f revolutionary a c t iv ity , and in the cause o f
280Polish independence. But, before 1848, Chartist interest in Europe

had been at i t s  least when the movement had been at i t s  height. At

these times, the chances o f domestic success seemed to preclude any

281other in terest. Conversely, when the movement was in the doldrums

European a ffa irs  seemed to o ffe r  an encouraging diversion. Events on

the continent were looked upon as examples or warnings from which the

Chartists could learn in order to further the ir cause. Interest in

Europe fo r i t s  own sake was confined to a small minority.

Whilst in terest in Europe among Chartists was small, among the Ir ish
2 82

Repealers i t  was n eg lig ib le . They were preoccupied by the enormous 

problems facing Ireland as a result o f the Famine. Like the Chartist 

movement, the Repeal movement was riven by internal d ifferences. The 

f ir s t  sp lit  came in January 1847 when a group known as Young Ireland

278. Northern Star. 29  A p ril 1848, 4.
279. Weisser, 132 -  4.
2 8 0 . ib id , 4 -  5 and 118 -  25; S. MacCoby: English Radicalism 1832 -

1852 (London 1935 ) ,  3 66 -  76. ------- —--------------- 2----
2 8 1 . Slosson, 2 0 0 ; Weisser, 84 -  99*
2 8 2 . For deta ils o f the Repeal movement see S ir C.G. Duffy: Four

Years o f Ir ish  History 1845 -  1849 (London 1883); D. Gwynn? 
Young. Ire la nd and 1848 (Cork 1949 ) ,  32 -  154; Nowlan, passim. 
For the Famine see C. Woodham-Smith: The Great Hunger. Irolanrt 
1845 -  9 (London 1962 ). ------------------ ^ --------------
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le f t  the Repeal Association to form the Ir ish  Confederation. The Young 

Irelanders, led hy the M.P. William Smith O’ Brien and the ed itor o f 

-the Ration Charles Gavan Duffy, f e l t  that they could no longer accept 

O'Connell's insistence that Repeal must he gained hy non-violent means. 

They did not advocate an immediate recourse to arms, fo r they recognised 

that Ireland was not yet ready fo r a rebellion , hut they believed that 

i t  should not he precluded. By the autumn a r i f t  had developed in the 

Confederation. A small group, led hy John Mitchel, urged that there 

should he an immediate ris in g , arguing that because o f the ravages o f 

the Famine the Ir ish  people could not afford to wait. On 7 February 

1848 Mitchel and his supporters were expelled from the Confederation.

They established their own newspaper, the United Irishman, through 

which they hoped to provoke a clash with the authorities.

The B ritish  Government, through Lord Clarendon, tr ied  to meet the 

threat from Young Ireland hy a mixture o f conciliation  and coercion.2^  

Clarendon wanted greater powers to repress the widespread disorder 

and control the Ir ish  press. He even asked fo r the suspension o f Habeas 

Corpus in Ireland. "He is  the most thorough Tory Lord Lieut. Ireland 

has seen fo r  many years", observed Lord Lincoln. 4 At the same time, 

Clarendon wanted to spend more money (a lbe it not as much as was needed) 

on famine r e l i e f  and wanted a b i l l  to provide greater security o f ten­

ure, which he hoped would counter-act the promises o f the Ration and 

the United Irishman. Clarendon's colleagues in London were reluctant to 

accede to these requests. Conscious o f the sen s it iv ity  which Parliament 

always displayed on Ir ish  questions, they thought some o f them unnecessary 

and others inexpedient. At the beginning o f 1848 the ir refusal to be 

panicked seemed ju s t ified , fo r the reports reaching the Cabinet seemed

2 8 3 . For the Whig Government's response to the Ir ish  problem in 1847 
see Rowlan, 165 -  7 » Dreyer, "Russell Administration", 123 -  8.

284. Lincoln to Peel, 31 January 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 40481 f 4 3 4 .
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-to show that the state o f Ireland was slowly improving.  ̂ However 

they knew that there was s t i l l  a long way to go.

285

v ) CONCLUSION

On 9 February 1848 the Belgian Foreign Minister sent a circu lar

despatch to Belgian diplomats in other countries. I t  concerned the

disturbed state of Europe. Prance and Britain , wrote d'Hoffschmidt,

sont lo in  d 'ê tre  dans une situation alarmante. Toutefois, 
l'une est tra va illé e  par des partis qui peuvent, dans te lle s  
circonstances données, lu i créer des embarras serieux; l'au tre 
n'en a pas f in i  avec la question d 'Irlande, toujours pleine 
de périls . Toutes deux ont, de plus, dans leurs relations 
extérieures, des complications qu'un avenir prochain peut 
singulièrement aggraver.

The rest o f Europe was scarcely in better shape: Austria had enormous 

problems in Ita ly , where the governments o f Rome and Naples seemed shaky; 

the states o f Germany were restless, with the exception, d'Hoffschmidt

judged, o f Prussia; whilst Russia was faced with " les  inquiétudes per­

pétuelles" o f Poland. As fo r Greece, Portugal, Spain and Switzerland,

"ces malheureux pays . . . semblent condamnés è, parcourir sans relâche 

le cercle des troubles révolutionnaires." Other European statesmen
O  0 * " 7

shared d'Hoffschmidt' s fears, whilst the disruptive elements, such
pOO

as the Chartists, welcomed the prospect o f general upheaval. 0 Metternich

and Palmerston were working hard in their own mutually incompatible 

ways to avert the catastrophe, but time was running out.

The B ritish  Government seemed ill-prepared to meet the enormous 

challenges o f 1848. Its  record was not impressive: i t s  response to

285. Morpeth's Diary, 13 January 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/16 f44.
2 8 6 . Circular despatch by d'Hoffschmidt, 9 February 1848: Ridder, I ,

1 —  2 #

2 8 7 . R. Apponyi: Vingt-cinq ans a. Paris ( l 826 -  1 8 50 ). Journal du Comte 
Rodolphe Apponyi: Attaché de l'Ambassade d'Autriche-Hongrie à Paris 
(Paris 1913 -  19 26 ) ,  I V , 1 3 4 » Prince Albert to Peel, 4 January 
1848: C.S. Parker: Sir Robert Peel: From his Private Papers (London 
1891 -  1899)» H I ,  4 9 0 ; Ping Leopold to Queen V ictoria , 12 February 
1848: QVL, I I ,  175.
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the problems o f Ireland was at best unimaginative and dogmatic and at 

worst crim inally negligent, whilst its  handling o f the economy le f t  

much to be desired. Its  foreign policy was equally uninspiring: the 

Spanish Marriages had led to a b itte r  feud with France, and the support 

expressed fo r the continental libera ls  had antagonised the Northern 

Powers. The Government's position in Parliament was weak and uncertain. 

Lacking a re liab le  majority, Russell's administration was dependent 

on the support o f disenchanted Radical and Ir ish  M.P.s, the ta c it  backing 

o f the Peelites and the restraint o f the Protection ists. The Cabinet 

i t s e l f  was deeply divided, with the "Grey Party" disapproving strongly 

o f the Foreign Secretary and the Lansdowne-Clarendon faction  having 

growing doubts about him. Palmerston himself was uncontrollable but 

indispensable, and Russell, anxious to retain o f f ic e ,  was unwilling 

to change th is unsatisfactory state o f a ffa irs . The events o f 1848 

would put a great internal and external strain on the Government. In 

the circumstances outlined above, i t  seemed unlikely that i t  could 

withstand the pressures.

Fortunately fo r the Whigs, there were other factors which gave the 

Government strength. The extra-Parliamentary agitation , although a 

potent threat, had divided leadership and lacked widespread support. 

Inside Parliament, the two parties which could have provided, or helped 

to provide, an a lternative administration were happy fo r  the moment 

to le t the Whigs continue in power. Disapproval o f Palmerston's actions 

as Foreign Secretary was widespread, both in the Cabinet and among the 

opposition parties. But he was tolerated because i t  was known that the 

Government could not survive without him and because so far his conduct 

had not been too outrageous. I t  was clear, however, that Palmerston 

only held his position on suffrance. I f  he did anything which turned 

public opinion against him, his c r it ic s  in the Cabinet might try  to



get rid  o f the ir troublesome colleague and the Protectionists and the 

Peelites might forget the ir caution and the ir differences fo r the good 

o f the country. I t  is  tempting to suggest that Palmerston might have 

survived an attempt to force his resignation, as he triumphantly survived 

the Don Pacifico debate two years la ter. I t  is  impossible to say whether 

he would have done so or not. What is  clear, is  that no attempt was 

made to force Palmerston's resignation not because his opponents feared 

his strength, although that might have been part o f the reason, but 

because they were apprehensive about what would happen once he had 

gone. They disliked what were assumed to be the alternatives to the 

Whig Government more than they d isliked Palmerston.
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Chapter II: Britain and the French Revolution

i )  THE OUTBREAK OP REVOLUTION

There was a widespread fee lin g  among informed observers in Britain 

at the beginning o f 1848 that Prance was on the eve o f important changes. 

Some people fe l t  that Louis Philippe might not have long to liv e  -  

he had been seventy-four at his last birthday and there were reports
A

that he was unwell -  and that the changes would come a fte r  his death.

Others, however, discerned signs o f p o lit ic a l discontent in Prance.

The widespread socia l unrest, which was a result o f the recent poor

harvests and the industrial recession, was largely ignored in favour

o f more spectacular, and to most Britons more in teresting, issues.

Normanby noted the d issatisfaction  with Louis Philippe's foreign policy
2

and exaggerated its  importance, whilst the scandals and revelations 

o f corruption, which shook Prance in the summer o f 1847 and continued 

into January 1848, seem to have fascinated the British  public.^ The 

e ffec t o f these events on the prestige o f the French Government was 

assumed to be disastrous. "As things are now," asserted the Morning 

Chronicle,

. . . the fabric o f the French constitution has lost its  
cement, and . . . any semblance o f coherency i t  s t i l l  retains 
is  owing to mere juxta-position, and to the force o f gravity  
with which the super incumbent portions weigh down the rest. 
Left undisturbed and unmeddled with, i t  may hold together 
fo r a good while. But once assailed by any violence from 
without, or undermined by any disturbance from beneath, the 
whole fabric w i l l  tumble into instant ruin.

1. Palmerston to Normanby, 3 January 1848: Nor. P. P/20/1; The Times. 
4 January 1848, 4 i York Herald, 22 January 1848, 4.

2 . See above pp 24 -  5 »
3. The Times, 1 July and 27 August 1 8 47 » and 25 January 1848, 4 » MH.

1 July and 31 August 18 4 7 » and 26 January 1848, 4 > MP* 15 July and 
28 August 1847, 4; MC, 16 July and 30 August 1847, 4 ; DN, 21 July 
1847 , 2.

4. MC, 23 August 1847, 2 .
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And that fabric was being attacked, fo r a campaign fo r e lectora l reform 

was gathering momentum.

The campaign fo r e lectora l reform, which took the form o f a series

o f banquets, was viewed with great interest in Britain. The Whigs and
5

the Radicals, and some Pee lites , expressed their support fo r  i t .  "The 

truth is , "  declared the Northern Star, more in hope than expectation,

"that these Reform Banquets are 'the beginning o f the end,' and that 

end w i l l  be the destruction o f Louis Philippe's throne and something
g

more." More cautious voices, however, alarmed by the troubled state

of Prance, were starting to express doubts. Although the banquets "may

not be o f much importance", wrote Aberdeen, " . . . they appear to be

more numerous than could be wished." "Whether they go fast or slow,"

declared the Morning Post, re ferring to those po litic ians who were

agitating fo r reform, "they go mischievously i f  they want to overthrow
7

careful protective government". As the tension in Paris increased, 

so the opinions expressed in the British  press became more extreme.

When the news came that the French Government had banned the banquet 

in the Champs Elysees planned fo r 22 February, which was supposed to 

be the climax of the reform campaign, the Daily News was indignant, 

comparing Louis Philippe to Charles X in 1830 . I t  was dangerous and 

unwise, i t  warned, to be dependent upon the army when the people of
g

Paris were roused into ju s tifia b le  anger. The Standard, in contrast,

supported the ban, congratulating Louis Philippe and Guizot on the

firm stand they had taken to defend good government and therefore true
9

lib erty . The c r is is  in France, which the British  press had been predicting

5 . Spectator. 1 January 1848, 1 2 ; The Times. 16 February 1848, 4; York 
Courant. 17 February 1848, 4 j Fraser's Magazine. XXXVII, 119 -  2 0 .

6. Northern Star, 1 January 1848, 4 *
7 . Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 17 November 1847: Jones Parry, I ,  2 9 0 ;

MP, 4 February 1848, 4.
8 . DN, 23 and 24 February 1848, 3 and 2 .
9 . Standard, 24 February 1848, 2 .
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fo r  several months was coming, seemed to have arrived.

The British Government received copious reports from Paris on the 

state of a ffa irs , the rumours and the fluctuating fortunes o f the various 

parties. Normanby's le tters  and despatches, many o f which were subse­

quently published under the t i t l e  A Year o f Revolution, give a valuable

10insight into the state o f Paris at th is time. Normanby was a w e ll- 

informed observer, but he was far from being unbiassed. He barely dis­

guised his hope that the agitation  would result in Guizot’ s f a l l  from 

power. According to one French deputy, his disappointment on the 20th,

when i t  seemed that Guizot would survive, "e ta it quelque chose d ’ ir r^ s is t-

11iblement comique." In London, Palmerston read Normanby's reports

with a mixture o f satisfaction  and apprehension. "Guizot seems playing

like a Reckless and desperate Gambler fo r a l l  or nothing", he wrote

on 11 February; "one should say he was more lik e ly  to get nothing than

a l l  -  one would be glad to see him out, but one does not want his Ejectment

12to be brought about by a Revolution." Guizot might f a l l ,  he told

Hobhouse, but he had "no fears fo r the royal Government surrounded

13by 6 0 ,0 0 0  troops or more." Russell, preoccupied with the problems 

o f the Budget, Ireland and S ic ily , concluded a le tte r  to Minto with the 

pla intive cry: " I  hope France may not add to our trou b les ."^

At f i r s t , Normanby did not recognise the signs o f revolution when
S

scu ffles broke out in the Champs Elysees on the morning o f the 22nd.

Some windows had been broken, he reported, and the Municipal Guards 

had moved in to disperse large crowds, but there had been no serious 

clashes and the crowd seemed to be in a good humour.1̂  That evening,

1 0 . NJ, 34 -  8 0 . Cf Derden, 66 -  7 8 .
11 . A. de Circourt: Souvenirs d’une Mission 5. Berlin en 1848 (ed. G. Bourgin) 

(Paris 1908 ) ,  I ,  22 -  3 .
1 2 . Palmerston to Normanby, 11 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/5.
13 . Hobhouse’ s Diary, 15 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 9 0 *
14 . Russell to Minto, 12 February 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 f 9 8 .
1 5 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 88, 22 February 1848: PRO FO 27/803 (q NJ,

I ,  80 -  2 ) ;  Normanby to Palmerston, 22 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/116 

(q NJ, I ,  82 -  3 ).
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te ll in g  his w ife that the trouble was "rather ch ild 's  play", he went to 

dine with the Minister o f Finance. " I  wished him much to send an excuse", 

wrote Lady Normanby in her journal, "but he said . . .  i t  would notJ  

do fo r him to seem afraid to go ." When he returned he to ld  his w ife that

the streets were "quiet but dark, the Gas being stopped", and that there

16were troops everywhere. I t  seemed as i f  the firm line taken by the

Government had averted a serious con flic t. More experienced observers

of Parisian a ffa irs  were not so confident. "Some who remember 1830" ,

17Normanby reported, "say i t  is  very like the f i r s t  day."

During the early hours of the 23rd the situation in Paris deterior­

ated. At the British  embassy shooting could be heard in distant parts of 

the c ity , and by the follow ing morning a number o f barricades had been 

erected, thereby disrupting communications within the c ity , and rumours 

were fly in g  from mouth to mouth. "One does not know what to b e lieve",

recorded Lady Normanby. Then, early in the afternoon, word came that Guizot

18had been dismissed. " I  hear the cheers of the people". Normanby was 

less elated by the fu lfilm ent o f his predictions. "So Guizot is  gone at 

la s t !"  he wrote to Palmerston.

I f  th is was obtained by any other means I  cannot say that there 
would be the slightest mixture in the fee lin g  with which I  re­
gard the event:- But i t  says but l i t t l e  fo r the progress of 
regular Constitutional Govt, that the intervention o f armed 
National Guards should be necessary to force a change.

Louis Philippe had been within twenty-four hours of losing his throne,

Normanby judged, and even now i t  was by no means certain that his position

_ 19 was safe.

In Britain the news o f Guizot's dismissal provoked a mixed response.

The Protectionist papers blamed Louis Philippe and Guizot fo r what had

1 6. Lady Normanby's Journal, 22 February 1848: Well. P. 157/ 7 0 *
17* Normanby to Palmerston, 22 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/no/h 6 (q NJ,

T, 8 3 ).
18. Lady Normanby's Journal, 23 February 1848: Wre l l .  P. 157/70 -  1 .
1 9* Normanby to Palmerston, 23 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/N0/117 (q NJ,

I ,  87 -  8).
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happened, although on d ifferen t grounds: the Morning Herald condemned

them fo r not making concessions; the Morning Post condemned them fo r not
20crushing the unrest before i t  got out o f hand. The Radical papers were 

equally divided. The Daily News rejoiced at the triumph of the "moral 

attitude o f the population" over the French army. "The example is  a preg­

nant one," i t  wrote, "and the lesson such as every monarch and every 

minister must ponder. Neither must provoke, fo r  neither can overcome, 

the h o s t ility  o f a m illion voices, not to speak o f a m illion arms." The 

Illu stra ted  London News, on the other hand, called Guizot's downfall 

"unimportant". The ministers may have changed, hut the system remained

the same. "Louis Philippe", i t  judged, "merely plays an old game over 

21again." The Times did not consider the events in Paris "unimportant".

The previous day i t  had urged the French Government to stand firm behind

its  "hedge o f bayonets"; i f  i t  gave way, i t  would surrender " in f in ite ly

22more than M in isteria l power." Now that Louis Philippe had given way, 

i t  gave fu l l  rein to i t s  fears. The f a l l  o f Guizot, i t  declared, was 

a revolution. "That ominous term must be employed when the institutions 

o f the country have been subverted and the authority o f the Crown sub­

dued by m ilitary v io lence." I t  judged that the authority of Louis Philippe 

had been destroyed, predicted that the new government o f Odillon Barrot 

and Thiers would not be able to control the situation, and feared that 

the events in France would have a profound e ffe c t on the rest of Europe.

"These considerations", i t  concluded, "disclose a most threatening and 
23

uncertain future."

In Government c irc les  the news of Guizot's dismissal was greeted with 

less re jo ic ing than might have been expected a fte r  the harsh comments 

that had been made about him since the Spanish Marriages. Palmerston 20 21 22 23

2 0 . MH, 25 February 1848, 4* MP, 25 February 1848, 4 *
2 1 . DN, 25 February 1848, 3 ; ILN, 26 February 1848, 116.
2 2 . The Times, 24 February 1848, 4 - 5 *
2 3 . ib id . 25 February 1848, 4 - 5 *
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thought the "surrender o f the King o f the Barriers to the Summons of 

the National Guard . . .  a Curious Example o f p o lit ic a l and poetical 

justice" and judged that the new government would he "much more lib era l 

than Guizot's both at Home and abroad".2̂  But, like Normanby, he regr­

etted and was surprised that Louis Philippe and Guizot had not taken 

"the Hints so p len tifu lly  given them of the national Desire fo r  a Change,

& that they chose to subject themselves to the degrading necessity of
2S

yie ld ing to compulsion." Others had sim ilar mixed fee lin gs. " I f  i t  

were not fo r my dread o f a French revolution and a conviction o f the

gravity  of the s ituation ," wrote Charles G rev ille , " I  should re jo ice
2 5

much in the downfall o f Guizot & the defeat o f Louis Ph ilippe." J What

everyone agreed upon was that the future fo r Louis Philippe looked

bleak. " I t  w i l l  be d i f f ic u lt " ,  observed Russell, " fo r  the King o f the

27Barricades to survive such a defeat by an armed fo rce ."  1 

* * *

For a time, i t  seemed as i f  the departure o f Guizot would sa tis fy  

those in Paris demanding change. The crowds were jubilant and the barri­

cades began to be dismantled. However the situation was s t i l l  confused 

and tense. The sligh test spark could rekindle the revolutionary flame, 

and that spark was provided when a detachment o f soldiers protecting 

the Foreign Ministry fired  on a crowd, k il l in g  or wounding fifty -tw o

people. "A deplorable event", noted Lady Normanby, "/~which_/ has again
28

set the whole c ity  in an uproar." To make matters worse, the new govern- 24 25 26 27 28

24. Palmerston to Minto, 24 February 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 f f lC>5 -  6 
(q Ashley, I I ,  56, with sligh t changes).

25. Palmerston to Normanby, 24 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/6.
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ment, anxious to avoid further "bloodshed, ordered the regular troops

to leave the c ity . I t  was a crucial mistake, fo r hy withdrawing the

troops the Government abandoned the streets o f Paris to an angry, armed

mob who were shouting about treachery on the part o f the King and his

ministers.2  ̂ "But where w i l l  this end?" wrote Lady Normanby anxiously.

"What Ruin, what Sorrow, what Mourning and G rief w il l  there not f a l l  on

th is bright C ity; the Mercy o f God save us from more b l o odshe d ! A r ound

midday on the 24th i t  was announced that Louis Philippe had abdicated

in favour o f his ten year old grandson, the Comte de Paris. But when an

attempt was made in the Chamber o f Deputies to announce the formation

o f a regency, i t  was shouted down by people from the streets who had

invaded the- building. Instead, a Provisional Government, consisting of

known republicans, was proclaimed. " I  cannot but hope that tomorrow may

bring some signs o f a settled  future", Normanby wrote to Palmerston,

"but nothing can be more gloomy fo r  the prospects of a great Country

31than the complete anarchy which exists at th is moment."

The foreign community in Paris had been viewing events in the c ity  

with increasing alarm. For many, the announcement o f the formation o f a 

republican government was the fin a l straw. The Count o f Syracuse, a son 

o f the King o f Naples, took refuge in the British  embassy, and over one 

hundred Austrian and Russian aristocrats and the ir servants crowded into 

the Austrian embassy which was protected by fewer than f i f t y  National
32

Guardsmen. There were numerous rumours, one o f the most persistent 

and worrying being that the new Republic had declared war on Austria

29. Normanby to Palmerston, No 9 4 , con fidentia l, 25 February 1848: PRO 
FO 27/803 (q NJ, I ,  98 -  101 ).

3 0 . Lady Normanby's Journal, 11 a.m. 24 February 1848: Well. P. 157/72.
3 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 9 3 f 4 p.m. 24 February 1848: PRO FO 27/803 
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and. tha-fc troops were already marching to the fr o n t ie r .^  On the whole, 

a fte r  some in i t ia l  alarm, Normanby does not seem to have shared in this 

panic. His rftle, he to ld  Palmerston, was "to  remain perfectly  quiet .

. . giving a l l  the protection thatJ  may be possible to the English 

Residents, and being merely an observer o f the p o lit ic a l events that 

are passing around m e."^  Nevertheless he advised those Britons who

35applied to him for assistance to leave Paris as soon as possible.

Precise figures fo r the number o f B ritish  citizens who le f t  Prance because 

o f the revolution w i l l  never be known, but an impression o f the scale 

o f the exodus can be gained from The Times which reported that in the 

week ending 19 March 1 ,392  people le f t  Boulogne fo r England whereas only 

453 le f t  England fo r Boulogne.^

Most Britons who le f t  Paris because of the revolution did so voluntarily.

Elsewhere th is was not the case. On 29 February Normanby heard that British

engineers and stokers on the Chemin du Nord were being prevented by French

workers from driving the trains and that other British  citizens were

37being bullied into leaving the country. Over the next few days more 

such reports were received, the worst cases being at Rouen where some
OQ

2 ,0 0 0  Britons were employed. I t  is  impossible to discover how many

39British  workers and the ir fam ilies were forced to leave France, but 33 * 35 36 * 38

3 3 . Lady Normanby's Journal, 25 February 1848: Well. P. 157/7 5 ; Hobhouse's 
Diary, 28 February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 105 (q Dorchester,
VI, 204); MP, 28 February 1848, 4 ? Jennings, 1.

3 4 * Normanby to Palmerston, No 9 3 , 4 p.m. 24 February 1848: PRO FO 27/803 
(q NJ, I ,  9 4 ).

3 5 . Normanby to Palmerston, 25 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/N0/ l2 0 . A few 
days la ter, upon learning that r a i l  communications with the coast 
had been disrupted, he urged them to stay in Paris (Normanby to Palm­
erston, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/127, q NJ, I ,  1 1 0 ).

3 6 . The Times. 24 March 1848, 5.
3 7 * Normanby to Palmerston, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/127.
3 8 . Featherstonehaugh to Normanby, 4 March 1848, enclosed in Normanby

to Palmerston, No 1 3 0 , 6 March 1848: PRO FO 27/804. Cf Derden, 119 -  27.
3 9 » Normanby estimated that 3 -  4 »0 0 0  wanted to leave (Normanby to Palm­

erston, No 1 6 3 , 15 March 1848: PRO FO 27/804, q NJ, I ,  230 -  1), but 
i t  seems unlikely that th is number actually le f t .  S ir George Grey 
to ld  the Commons that 97 had reached Portsmouth by 6 March, but th is 
was only one port and he la ter added that many more were s t i l l  coming 
over (Hansard, XCVII, 3 3 6 - 7  anJ 4 5 8 ).



i t  seems to have been a sign ificant number and i t  caused Normanby and

the British  Government a varie ty  o f problems.

I t  was realised from the start that the expulsions were not due simply

to Anglophobia. Unemployment around Rouen and Le Havre was high -  Feather-

stonehaugh, the British  consul at Le Havre, estimated that 20 -  3 0 ,0 0 0

French workers were "out o f employ and starving" -  and i t  was only natural

that the B ritish  workers should be accused o f taking jobs which r igh tfu lly

belonged to Frenchmen.^ Nor were the B ritish  the only foreign workers

to be victim ised: elsewhere in France there were sim ilar incidents involving

41Belgian and Savoyard workers. But the incidents were disturbing, especially
!

as the new Government declared that i t  could not prevent them. Alphonse

de Lamartine, the new Foreign Minister and the dominant influence in the

Provisional Government, condemned the behaviour o f his countrymen and

promised lib era l compensation, but said that as yet the central government

42lacked the means to make its  authority f e l t  in the provinces.

The British press was quick to condemn what was seen as the ingratitude 

o f the French people. B ritish  workers had gone over to help improve French 

industry, and now they were being bruta lly evicted. Some French industries, 

i t  was asserted with a certain degree o f satisfaction , would collapse 

without B ritish  expertise to sustain them.^ At the same time, S ir George 

Grey's declaration that the Government planned no re ta lia t io n ^  was widely 

applauded. People were g ra tified  by the way in which French people continued

78

4 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/l2 7 ; Normanby 
to Palmerston, No 1 6 3 , 15 March 1848: PRO FO 27/804 (q NJ, I ,  2 3 1 ).

41. P. Quentin-Bauchart: Lamartine et la Politique Etrangère de la Révol­
ution de Février (24 fév r ie r  -  24 juin 1848) (Paris 1Q0 7 ) T 10/1 -  £

4 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 3 0 , 6 March 1848: PRO FO 27/8O4 (q NJ,
I ,  178 -  9 ). I t  is  true that the Provisional Government was having 
d if f ic u lty  ensuring law and order (Jennings, 61 -  2 ), but, according 
to Featherstonehaugh, the authorities at Le Havre seemed to welcome 
the attacks on the British  workers because they diverted popular 
anger away from themselves (Featherstonehaugh to Palmerston, 20 March 
1848: Bd. P. GC/pE/15).

4 3 . The Times, 15 and 17 March 1848, 4 - 5 ; Spectator, 1 A pril 1848, 3 2 3 ; 
T a it 's  Edinburgh Magazine, XV, 2 1 3 ; Fraser's Magazine, XXXVII, 386.

4 4 « Hansard, XCVII, 3 3 6 .
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to be w ell received in London and liked to contrast i t  with what was 

happening across the Channel. Besides, there was some apprehension

that i f  the B ritish  boycotted French goods, as was suggested, the French 

45might re ta lia te .

Not a l l  people in Britain were sympathetic to the expelled workmen.

The Chartists accused them of depriving their French brothers o f valuable

employment and charged the "respectable" press with exaggerating the

stories o f violence done to the workmen in order to discourage support

fo r  the revolution. This second accusation has been taken up by Helen

Brooks^ and there is  some evidence to support i t .  Normanby reported

that many o f the claims fo r  compensation proved grossly in f la te d ,^  whilst

S ir George Grey thought that the fa te o f the workmen was an example of

the misery which revolutions caused, from which would-be British  revolu-

49tionaries would do w ell to take warning, and in his statement to the

Commons on the 13th he emphasised that the workmen had arrived from France

50in a "very destitute condition." I t  would be wrong to assume from this

that the Government and the press deliberately misled the public, but

neither made any e ffo r t  to minimise the accounts o f the suffering.

One o f the more unusual results o f the expulsion o f the workmen was the

idea o f Lord Grey to send some o f the workers to help defend Mauritius.

There was uncertainty how news o f the revolution would a ffec t parts of

the B ritish  Empire. Russell expressed doubts about the loya lty  o f the 

51French Canadians, and on 29 March Palmerston brought up the question 45 * * 48 49 50 51

4 5 . Hobhouse's Diary, 31 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 12 ; Spec­
ta tor, 1 A pril 1848, 3 2 3 ; Fraser's Magazine. XXXVII, 476.

4 5 . Northern Star. 11 March 1848, 5; LabourerT~H I. 184.
4 7 * Brooks, 183.
48. Normanby to Palmerston, No 252, 13 A p ril 1848: PRO FO 27/806.
4 9 . G. Grey to Clarendon, 11 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 12 .
5 0 . Hansard, XCVII, 4 5 8 .
5 1 . Russell to Grey, 12 March 1848: Grey P. 122/3 . The French Canadians

were d isa ffected , but there was no trouble with them in 1848 (see 
W.P. M orrell: B ritish  Colonial Policy in the Age of Peel and Russell 
(Oxford 1 9 30 ) ,  450  -  1 ). .... ...... ......... ..... ......... .................
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of Mauritius. In the event o f war with the Republic, he wrote to Grey, 

the British  garrison o f 1 ,6 0 0  men would be unable to repulse a French 

invasion from the nearby Is le  de Bourbon, especia lly as the invaders 

could expect assistance from the French-speaking population o f Mauritius.

He suggested, therefore, that reinforcements should be sent from the 

Cape where the K a ffir  war had just ended. Grey agreed as to the vulner­

a b il ity  o f the island, but he fe l t  that the troops in the Empire were 

as th in ly spread as was prudent and he was unwilling to spare any o f the 

regiments in Britain because o f the disturbed state o f Ireland and the 

poss ib ility  o f war in Europe. " I f  we were not so hard up fo r  money",
|

he wrote,

I  wd. propose to the Cabinet to raise a corps o f pioneers for 
the Mauritius roads from the workmen expelled from France. -  
we wd. get a splendid corps by promising them land a fter 7 
years service, speaking French they are just the men fo r i t ,
& i t  wd. be an (-invaluable additn. to the British  populatn. 
o f the Island.

Despite his doubts, the follow ing morning Grey suggested the idea to

Russell, calculating that i f  the conditions were made su ffic ien tly  a ttractive

54between three and four hundred workmen would take up the o ffe r . But, 

as Grey had feared, the Prime Minister vetoed the scheme on the grounds 

o f expense. I f  a regiment could not be spared from India, he wrote, " I  

do not know what we can do." The Government's objective "must be to retrench 

in colonial defences, & not to spend more money in such objects.

The s till-b o rn  Mauritius plan reveals less the B ritish  Government's 

concern with the fate o f the expelled workmen than its  views on Imperial 

defence. But i t  was not unsympathetic to the plight o f the workmen, and 

i t  set up a special fund to help them reach England.^6 I t  also took up 

the question o f the deposits le f t  in the French Savings Banks. Not unnat- 52 53 * * 56

5 2 . Palmerston to Grey, 29  March 1848: Grey P. 119/2.
5 3 . Grey to Palmerston, 29 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/GR/2392.
5 4 * Grey to Russell, 30 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B.
5 5 * Russell to Grey, 30 March 1848: Grey P. 122/3 .
5 6 . Bidwell to Bonham, No 7 » 20 March 1848: PRO FO 27/817 .
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urally , the workmen had wanted to withdraw their savings when they le ft

Prance. But as part o f i t s  measures to prop up the nation’ s finances

the Provisional Government had passed leg is la tion  which prevented th is.

The Standard called th is "naked robbery". 1 Normanby tended to agree.

He took up the subject with Lamartine who admitted i t  was " a monstrous

58in justice" and promised that the restrictions would be l i f te d . A fortnight

59la ter Lamartine announced that he had signed a decree freeing the deposits.

Normanby thought that th is would be the end o f the matter, but weeks 

passed and he heard nothing o f the decree. At the beginning o f May he 

took up the subject again; this time he found Lamartine's answers evasive 

and u nsatis factory .^  In June, a fte r questions had been asked in Parliament, ̂  

Normanby made another attempt to obtain satisfaction . However, instead 

o f honouring the promise Lamartine had made, the Minister o f Finance 

said that only the deposits o f those who could prove they had been driven 

away by actual violence, and not merely by the fear o f violence, would 

be freed. Normanby was furious, ca llin g  i t  a "flagrant . . . evasion 

o f the substantial part o f the engagement taken with me by Monsieur Lam-
/To

artine and the Provisional Government now three months since." But 

not even Normanby's anger and his forcefu l restatement o f the British  

case could persuade the French Government to give way. Goudchaux, who 

became Minister o f Finance a fte r the June Days, remained as resolute 

as his predecessor. He was struggling with the confused state o f the 

nation's finances and the general lack o f confidence whilst trying to

5 7 . Standard, 14 March 1848, 2 . The subject is  discussed in d eta il in 
Derden, 132 -  4 3 .

5 8 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 6 3 , 15 March 1848: PRO FO 27/804 (q NJ,
I ,  2 3 0 ). —

5 9 - Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 1 9 , 31 March 1848: PRO FO 27/805.
60 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 1 5 » 11 May 1848: ib id  27/807 (q NJ, I ,

3 76 -  7 ). " ....
61. Hansard, XCIX, 8 7 9 «
6 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 0 7 » 23 June 1848: PRO FO 27/809 (q NJ,

I I ,  18 -  2 6 ).
6 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 7 4 » 23 July 1848: PRO FO 27/81O (q NJ,

I I ,  116 -  18).
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stimulate the economy.^ He was reluctant to agree to any financial measure 

which might hamper the recovery, no matter how "beneficial to Prance’ s 

external re lations, because no recovery meant continued socia l distress 

and p o lit ic a l in s tab ility . I t  was only in August that a satisfactory 

compromise was reached.

Goudchaux’ s response to Normanby's complaints illu stra tes  the general 

attitude o f French ministers when dealing with the e ffec ts  o f the revolution 

on British citizens in France. They were anxious to appease the British  

Government -  even Lamartine's deception was an attempt, a lbe it foo lish , 

to placate the B ritish  -  but the ir means were lim ited and they would 

not do anything that would jeopardise the ir own precarious position.

For it s  part, the British  Government accepted the French Government's 

p r io r it ie s , even i f  i t  thought that some o f it s  actions were unjust.

I t  recognised that to take a more force fu l line would not solve the 

problem, and could antagonise ministers who were doing the ir best in 

extremely d if f ic u lt  circumstances. ii)

i i )  BRITAIN AND THE FALL OF LOUIS PHILIPPE

Not a l l  who le f t  France a fte r  the revolution protected by British  

passports were British  c itizens. " I  am getting the English away as fast 

as I  can," Normanby wrote on the 25th, "& gave some Passports th is morning

to some o f those who I  wish were in safety: you w il l  understand who I
65

me a n . " T h e  people to whom Normanby alluded were members o f the ex- 

Royal Family, former ministers, and people c losely  id en tified  with the 

fa llen  regime.

At f ir s t  Normanby was reluctant to give passports to foreigners, 

believing "that my f ir s t  duty is  not knowingly to do anything which i f

64. F.A. de Luna: The French Republic under Cavaignac« 1848 (Princeton 
1969 ) ,  274 -  6.

65. Normanby to Palmerston, 25 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/N0/ l2 0 .
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discovered might compromise the safety o f my own Countrymen." However 

he soon received word that the Provisional Government would not hinder 

the departure o f the refugees. Lamartine did not want to antagonise 

Britain , Because he was convinced "qu'aucune coa lition  sérieuse n 'e ta it 

possible contre la Prance . . . sans le concours et sans la solde de 

l'A n g le terre ." He was determined, therefore, not to give " l 'a r is to c ra t ie  

anglaise le prétexte de forcer le cabinet anglais à une croisade 

contre la Republique." °  Moreover, i t  seems lik e ly  that the Provisional 

Government was glad that the Orleans family and the ex-ministers were

escaping, fo r then i t  would not have the problem o f deciding what to

68do with them. On the afternoon o f the 25th Normanby to ld  Count d'Alton

Shee, whom Lamartine had sent with an assurance that the Provisional

Government was doing a l l  i t  could to restore order and that i t  wanted

to be on good terms with Britain , that f ir s t  impressions would be

important in forming British  public opinion and that therefore

every fa c i l i t y  should be given at the outposts fo r the 
persons furnished with my Passports should not be harassed /~sic 7  
with unnecessary form alities which would remind them of 
what they had heard o f the bad days o f the f ir s t  Revolution.
This Count d'Alton Shee assured me he¿was convinced would 
quite f a l l  in with Lamartine's views. ^

A subsequent le t te r  suggests that the agreement was more specific .

I t  was agreed, Hormanby wrote on 1 March, that " I  should get o f f  any

o f the Ministers I  could and orders were given at the ports never

to make the least question about my passports.

Precisely which refugees Normanby helped to reach England is  unclear.

He names the Duchesse de Montpensier, who had been " le f t  behind & 66 67 68 69 70

66. Normanby to Palmerston, 26  February 1848: ib id  GC/N0/121 .
67. Lamartine, H isto ire . I I ,  164*
68. This, at least, was Palmerston's opinion (Palmerston to Normanby, 

27 February 1848s Nor. P. P/20/9), and i t  seems confirmed by Louis 
Blanc's assertion that the Provisional Government took l i t t l e  
interest in Louis Philippe once he had abdicated (Blanc, 65 -  6).

69. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 25 February 1848: Nor. P. P/14/39 
(partly  q NJ, I ,  1 0 7 ).

7 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, 1 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/129.
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forgotten in the confusion", and M. Dumon, the former Minister o f

71Finance, and Palmerston mentions Princess Lieven; hut i t  is  clear

from Normanby's le tte rs  that there were others. However the greatest

concern Vías fo r the safety o f Louis Philippe, and as late as the 2nd
72

Normanby did not know his whereabouts. The British  Government was

also anxious to secure the ex-King’ s safety. On the 27th i t  sent a

steamer to assist him to cross the Channel, although lacking any

defin ite  information i t  could not be directed to any particular French

port, and i t  authorised its  consuls at the Channel ports to "grant

Passports to any Persons who may be in personal Danger . . .  i f  such

Passports are necessary in order to enable them to get a w a y . F o r

several days ministers, and London society as a whole, waited for

news. Then, on the 3rd, Sir George Grey wrote to Clarendon that the

former King and Queen "are in  safety but nothing is  to be said about

them t i l l  they are on th is side /~of_/ the water." He added in a

t postscript that he had just heard that they had landed at Newhaven.

Featherstonehaugh at Le Havre had been able to contact them and smuggle
V f)

them aboard the Post O ffice packet Express.

Featherstonehaugh was immensely proud o f his achievement, which 

he fe l t  was inadequately appreciated. He was furious when the Prov­

is ional Government claimed the credit for getting the former King and

7 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, 29 February and 1 March 1848: ib id  GC/NO/127 
and GC/NO/129; Palmerston to Normanby, 7 March 1848: Nor. P.
P/20/14 .

7 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 2 March 1848: Nor. P. P/14/46.
7 3 . Palmerston to the consuls at Le Havre and Cherbourg, confidential,

27 February 1848: PRO FO 27/818; G. Grey to Clarendon, 2 7  February 
1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 1 2 .

7 4 * Bidwell to Featherstonehaugh, No 9 , 29  February 1848: PRO FO 27/818. 
The Due de Nemours had already contacted the consul at Boulogne 
who got him aboard a Post O ffice packet (Hamilton to Palmerston,
No 11 , 12 p.m. 26 February 1848: PRO FO 27/817).

7 5 * Grey to Clarendon, 3 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 12.
7 6 . For Featherstonehaugh's graphic, and amusing, account o f Louis 

Philippe’ s escape see Featherstonehaugh to Palmerston, 3 March 
1848: Bd. P. Gc/fe/12 (q QVL, I I ,  184 — 8).
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Queen away. But he was not allowed to boast of his success: the

I! 3
Government was anxious to suppress any hint of it s  involvement,

and Palmerston wanted to put an end to a l l  correspondence on the

79subject as soon as possible. 17 Nor was there very much to boast about.

Following the agreement between Normanby and Lamartine, what danger

there had been to Louis Philippe had come from over-zealous local

republicans and not from the new government in Paris.

* * *

Reports o f the progress o f the revolution in Paris reached London

every two or three hours on the 25th. By n igh tfa ll the f a l l  of the

Orleans monarchy and the proclamation o f the Second Republic had

been confirmed. Excitement and in terest, tinged with apprehension,

was intense in London society. "You know what London is  in a ferment

of exciting events," wrote Lady John Russell to her s is ter ,

and can therefore pretty w ell imagine the constant succession 
o f reports, true and fa lse , from hour to hour, the unceasing 
cries o f the newsmen with 2nd, 3rd, 4'th, and 5^h editions 
o f a l l  the newspapers, the running about o f friends to one 
another’ s houses, the continual crossing o f notes in the 
streets, each asking the same questions, the hopes and fears 
and the conjectures one hears and utters during the course 
o f the day, and the state o f blag^, weary stupidity to which 
one is  reduced by the end o f i t .

I t  was d if f ic u lt  to get authoritative and accurate information, fo r 

severe storms in the Channel made communications between Britain and 

France slow and irregu lar, or to discern which reports were true and

7 7 * Featherstonehaugh to Palmerston, 7 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/FE/15.
78. Morpeth’ s Diary, 2 March 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 9; Hobhouse’ s 

Diary, 4 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 1 l 2 . I t  seems to have 
been largely  successful. The a c t iv it ie s  o f the steamer which had 
been sent were widely discussed (Earl o f Malmesbury: Memoirs of 
an Ex-Minister. An autobiography New edn., (London 1885), 158 -  9;
MH, 28 February 1848, 4 ), but the detailed accounts o f Louis Phil­
ippe’ s escape published in the B ritish  press contained no mention 
o f the involvement o f the British  or French Governments.

7 9 » Palmerston to Featherstonehaugh, No 1 2 , 14 March 1848: PRO FO 27/818.
8 0 . Lady John Russell to Lady Mary Abercromby, 3 March 1848: D. MacCarthy 

and A. Russell: Lady John Russell: A Memoir, with Selections from 
Her Diaries and Correspondence (London 1 9 1 0 ), 96 .
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which v;ere unfounded. Nevertheless, London society and the British  

press tr ied  to assess the causes o f the revolution, and in particular 

to what extent Louis Philippe was responsible.

In many cases, judgements about Louis Philippe's cu lpab ility  re flected  

preconceived ideas about the causes o f revolutions in general and the 

state o f the Orleans monarchy before i t s  overthrow. A small but in flu ­

en tia l body o f opinion in Britain blamed the revolution on a republican 

conspiracy. The Orleans monarchy at the beginning o f 1848 was in 

quite a healthy condition, these people argued. There were some problems, 

as was witnessed by the socia l and p o lit ic a l discontent, but these 

problems were no worse than they had been ea rlie r  in Louis Philippe's 

reign or than they were in other countries. The revolution had occurred 

because an unscrupulous minority, the Parisian republicans, had exacer­

bated the discontent and exploited the situation to the ir own advantage. 

D israeli, in his biography o f Bentinck, claimed that the conspiracy 

in Prance was just one manifestation o f a conspiracy which existed 

throughout Europe to overthrow monarchy, despoil property and attack 

the influence o f the Church.^ I t  was a romantic view -  painting a 

picture o f secret societies and mysterious men with hidden faces -  

which re flected  D israe li's  romantic temperament, but i t  was shared 

by more cautious observers. Aberdeen, having listened to Guizot's 

explanations, came to believe in the existence o f a republican conspiracy,

dismissing the reform agitation  as "a very convenient pretext" fo r
32

revolution, and even Peel, under the influence o f his friend, did 

not discount the idea en tire ly . Moreover, circumstantial evidence 

seemed to support th is interpretation. The speed with which the repub­

licans seized power a fte r  Louis Ph ilippe's abdication reinforced the 81 82 83

81. B. D israeli: Lord George Bentinck: A P o lit ic a l Biography New edn.,
(London 1858), 396 -  8 ? --------------------

8 2 . Aberdeen to Peel, 2 November 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 4^455  f 4 5 4 *
8 3 . Peel to Graham, 2 November 1848: Gra. P. Bundle 105 .
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"belief that they had "been prepared fo r the overthrow o f the monarchy.

In some respects, the idea that a revolution had occurred as a

result o f a conspiracy was a reassuring one fo r  a deposed monarch

or an evicted minister, or fo r a po litic ian  who f e l t  that his position

was threatened. I t  assumed that the revolution was the result o f the

a c t iv it ie s  o f a small, unrepresentative group rather than the result

o f widespread d isa ffection . But such an explanation created a problem:

why had the minority been successful i f  i t  did not re fle c t  the aspirations

of the majority? The Standard blamed Thiers, in i t ia l ly  fo r associating

with the republicans during the banquet campaign, thereby giving them

a respectab ility  which they did not deserve and which they would

otherwise have lacked, and la ter fo r ordering the withdrawal o f the

troops, which "paralysed a l l  the means provided fo r the defence of

85the Crown and the constitution o f Prance." More popular targets 

fo r criticism , however, were Louis Philippe and, to a lesser extent, 

Guizot. The Morning Herald argued that i f  the King had promised e lectora l

reform, the majority o f those agitating fo r change would have been
86

satis fied . Most Protectionists, on the other hand, f e l t  not that 

Louis Philippe had been too firm but that he had not been firm enough. 

"What can by p oss ib ility  /~sic 7  be more contemptible than the conduct 

o f Louis Philippe & his fam ily ," asked the Duke o f Newcastle, "running 

away like thieves, & poltroons, . . . preferring the ir own safety 

to the grand cause o f the ir Country." Even Queen V ictoria  thought

8 4 . Standard, 26  February 1848, 2 ; Quarterly Review. LXXXII, 541 -  6 5 ;
T a it*s_Edinburgh Magazine. XV, 275 -  6 . In fa c t, the Parisian 
republicans were as surprised as anyone by the turn o f events, 
but they had responded to the new situation quicker than their 
r iva ls .

85. Standard. 28 February and 22 March 1848, 2 . Cf Malmesbury, 157.
86. MH, 26 February 1848, 4 *
87. Newcastle to Stanley, 29 February 1848: Der. P. Box 147/1. Cf 

Brougham to Aberdeen, 5 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43194 f 5 J Manners 
to D israeli, 7 March 1848: Dis. P. B/xx/m/2 6 ; Hobhouse's Diary 
(reporting a conversation with Lady Malmesbury), 15 March 1848:
B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f l 30 (q Dorchester, V I, 2 0 9 ); Londonderry, 26  -  7.
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that Louis Philippe had abdicated too quickly. " S t i l l " ,  she added,
88

"the recollection  o f Louis XVI . . .  is  enough to ju s t ify  a l l . "

Among Whigs and Radicals there was l i t t l e  regret expressed about 

the departure o f Louis Philippe. His downfall, declared the Daily Newst

"w il l  be welcomed with contented laughter by perhaps three-fourths o f

89mankind." "Whatever differences o f opinion may exist as to the compar­

ative merits o f a Republican system of Government," wrote the Free 

Trade York Courant,

every true friend o f freedom w il l  re jo ice  at the present 
noble triumph of the French nation. The Guizot Ministry 
had too long been allowed to insult the people by arrogantly 
depriving them of the ir c iv i l  righ ts, whilst its  foreign 
policy also was disreputable in the extreme. With regard 
to Louis Philippe, his reign has been one long series o f 
emeutes -  p o lit ic a l intrigues with foreign States -  and 
police p lots; and his Government has been supported by 
incessant prosecutions against the press, and by laws which 
have trampled a l l  lib e r ty  to dust. . . . The people, who 
elevated him to empire, have driven him from a throne which 
he was no longer worthy to occupy, and his f a l l  presents 
a s trik inggand memorable moral example to a l l  the monarchs 
o f Europe. ^

This was the line adopted by other Whig and Radical newspapers. Louis 

Philippe, i t  was asserted, had ignored the rights and legitimate 

desires o f his subjects. He had pursued a dynastic policy abroad 

and an i l l ib e r a l  policy at home. Eventually, a fte r  showing great 

patience, the people o f France had had enough and had driven him

The Times was also sharply c r it ic a l o f Louis Philippe and his

system. Indeed i t  was so c r it ic a l that i t s  proprietor made i t  moderate 
92

it s  tone. I t  regretted the f a l l  o f the Orleans monarchy and thought 88 89 90 91 92
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that Louis Philippe could have retained his throne by a vigorous 

use o f force. But i t  judged that the root cause o f the revolution 

was the mistaken po lic ies Louis Philippe had pursued since his accession. 

Since 1830 , i t  observed, British  governments had shown a prudent 

f le x ib i l i t y ,  passing the necessary reforms to cope with the greater 

p o lit ic a l awareness o f the populace and the problems created by increasing 

industria lization. Louis Philippe, in contrast, had not responded 

to the changing circumstances and had suffered the consequences. The 

speed o f the revolution, i t  argued, did not reveal the strength o f 

the opposition, but showed that "the system was even more hollow,

93the core more rotten, and the surface more deceptive, than we supposed."

The interpretation o f the causes o f the revolution put forward 

by The Times and the Whig and Radical newspapers was fa r more convincing 

than the "conspiracy" theory o f certain Tories, fo r  i t  took fu l l  

account o f the widespread dissatisfaction  in Prance with the Orleans 

monarchy. But i t  did not explain why the revolution occurred when 

i t  did. Whigs and Radicals argued that the banning o f the banquet 

had been the decisive incident, a last despotic act which provoked 

the people from peaceful protest to mass violence. The episode outside 

the Foreign Ministry merely exacerbated the situation. The Times, 

conscious o f the m ilitary forces at Louis Philippe's disposal, offered 

a more reasonable explanation. The state o f Prance made some sort 

o f change inevitable by the beginning o f 1848, but the monarchy had 

fa llen  because the former King and his ministers had displayed a 

remarkable degree o f tim id ity  and incompetence. They could not have 

avoided change to the p o lit ic a l system, but they could have prevented 

revolution.

* * * 93

9 3 . The Times, 26 February 1848, 5 » Cf The Economist, 26 February
1848, 227.
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Whatever the views about Louis Philippe's responsib ility  for the

revolution, there was never any doubt that he would be welcomed as

a refugee. As early as 28 February Russell to ld  the Commons that he

had "never dreamt that England would refuse to perform any of those

sacred duties o f hosp ita lity  which at a l l  times have been extended

to the vanquished, whether they have held extreme monarchical or

94extreme lib e ra l opinions." I t  was an announcement which was endorsed

95by a l l  sections o f the press. The provision o f a safe haven fo r 

a l l  p o lit ic a l refugees, however d istastefu l the B ritish  might find

the ir views, was a practice o f which British  po litic ians and the

96British  public were ju s t ifia b ly  proud. However the presence o f

the Orleans family in Britain caused a number o f problems which Russell's

Government would have preferred to avoid.

Potentia lly the most serious o f these problems was the p oss ib ility  

that the Parisian republicans might misunderstand the asylum given 

to the refugees. Instead o f seeing i t  as an act o f hosp ita lity , they 

might regard i t  as symbolic o f a monarchical a lliance against the 

Republic. The Government, therefore, tr ied  to distance i t s e l f  from 

the refugees. I t  to ld  the Queen that she must not provide one o f her 

palaces fo r the use o f the ex-Royal Family and was gratefu l when 

King Leopold made Claremont available. But i t  was impossible to 

check the sympathy shown towards the refugees by London society, and

the Government made no attempt to do so. The Queen recognised the
98

delicacy o f her position, but once the former King and Queen arrived 

9 4 « Hansard, XCVI, 1431 .
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9 6 . For British  attitudes towards foreign refugees at this time see

B.J. Porter: The refugee question in mid-Victorian P o lit ics  (Cambridge 
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in London she forgot her good intentions and resumed her close friendship 

with them. "Nothing but the extraordinary good sense o f Prince Albert 

and the boundless influence he has over her keeps her affectionate

99feelings under due restra in t", observed G reville . Outside the Court,

Aberdeen seems to have been closest to the refugees: he invited Guizot

to stay with him and to ld  Princess Lieven that his "only regret"

was that he could not "see him every day o f my l i f e . " " * ^  But politic ians

as diverse as Peel, D israeli and Russell v is ited  Louis Philippe or
101dined with Guizot, and sought their views on events in Prance.

Even Palmerston gave a quiet dinner fo r  Guizot, and G rev ille , who

had been present, thought they "would have shaken each other's arms

102o f f " .  Individually, these episodes were o f l i t t l e  importance.

Taken together, however, they created the impression that the refugees

were being f^ted by society, which Clarendon considered "in  bad taste

103& unnecessary".

On 6 March Normanby was to ld  that British  po litic ians should take

care not to show too much favour towards the former French ministers.

The warning, which came from a friend o f Guizot, was heeded by Palmerston.

He informed Normanby that, should Lamartine bring up the subject o f

the refugees, he could explain that

although we shall treat the French here with that personal 
Courtesy and Consideration which is  due to their misfortunes 
as Exiles, . . . our Behaviour towards them Must not be 
construed as implying any Sympathy in the cause o f Policy 
in the ir Past by which the ir Misfortunes have been produced,

9 9 » GM, V I, 1 9 0 . Cf Woodham-Smith: Queen V ic to ria . 285.
1 0 0 . Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 16 August 1848: Jones Parry, I I ,

2 9 7 ; E* Balfour: The L ife  o f George Fourth Earl o f Aberdeen 
K.G., K.T. (London 19 22 ) ,  155 -  6.

1 0 1 . See, fo r example, Peel to Aberdeen. 25 October 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 
43065 f f 339 -  4 2 ; R. D israeli (e d .):  Lord Beaconsfield's Corres­
pondence with his S ister 1832 -  1852 2nd edn., (London 1886 ) ,
2 1 6 ; Lady John Russell to Lady Mary Abercromby, 10 December 1848: 
MacCarthy and Russell, 102 -  3 *
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nor as indicating the Slightest Disposition to encourage 
any Intrigues fo r^h e Subversion o f the present order o f 
things in  Prance.

Ten days la ter Normanby seized upon an observation by Lamartine that

the extreme republican newspapers in Paris were making much o f the

meetings between Louis Philippe and Queen V ictoria  to pass on Palmerston’ s 

106assurances.

As early as 14 March i t  was being rumoured that Normanby had been

instructed to apologise fo r the presence o f Louis Philippe in England.

G reville  was "disgusted" by the report, accusing Russell and Palmerston

of a "condescention [_ s ic 7 " towards the Republic which was "u tterly

unworthy & unbecoming" o f them. "The personal treatment o f the Exiles,

is  a matter fo r ourselves alone, . . . the Q. o f England ought not

107to apologise to Messrs. Louis Blanc & Co." The Morning Chronicle 

and The Times took up the story, the la tte r  condemning any apology
j\ Q0

as "u tterly  inconsistent with our d ignity as a nation". In an

e ffo r t  to put an end to the rumours, on the 21st Palmerston to ld  the

Commons that Normanby had not apologised fo r  the presence o f the

refugees, but had explained that the British  Government would give

asylum to any foreign ex iles and that there was no question o f i t

109
intriguing with those ex iles . The statement was accepted, but

not everyone was happy. I f  the explanation had been given spontaneously,

wrote the Standard, " i t  betrays a nervous tim id ity which we must

think derogates from the d ignity o f a British  Government"; i f  i t

had been given in response to a complaint from the Provisional Government,

"that remonstrance convicts MM. Lamartine and Co. o f a degree of

arrogant pretension in which i t  is  neither d ign ified  nor safe to

10 5 . Palmerston to Normanby, 7 March 1848: Nor. P. p/20/14*
1 0 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 7 3 » secret, 18 March 1848: PRO FO 27/805.
1 0 7 . G reville  to Bedford, 14 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B.
1 0 8 . MC, 17 March 1848, 4 ; The Times, 20 March 1848, 4 *
109 . Hansard, XCVII, 847 -  8*



indulge them." In either case, the B ritish  Government had Been 

at fau lt.

I t  was not often that Palmerston was accused o f showing too much

deference towards a foreign government, hut th is was one o f those

occasions. The B ritish  public was not going to he to ld  hy anyone

how to treat i t s  guests; i t  was certain ly not going to he told  hy

foreigners such as those who composed the Provisional Government.

Of course Normanhy had not apologised and the explanation he had given

was sim ilar to those which The Times and the Daily Hews had given

at the beginning o f the month when discussing the practice o f giving

asylum. But the indignation that was aroused when i t  was rumoured

that the B ritish  Government might have apologised illu stra tes  the

strength o f fee lin g  on the subject.

I t  is  iron ic that the British  Government should have got into

trouble for defending Louis Philippe's presence in Britain , fo r the

general impression in London was that the ministers in general, and

Palmerston in particu lar, did not like the refugees. The Foreign O ffice

was convinced that there was a deliberate campaign by Louis Philippe,

Guizot and Aberdeen to denigrate the Foreign Secretary. But, as E.J. Stanley

observed, "There is  enough truth about a l l  these matters to furnish

111ground fo r embellishments". In part th is h o s t ility  was due to the

resentment about the way the refugees complained about the ir conditions

112in ex ile . Russell called them "v ile  ungrateful dogs". But in the 

main i t  was the result o f the consciousness o f the ir p o lit ic a l differences. 

"The truth is  that I  like and esteem the man", wrote Macaulay to his 

s is te r , explaining why he had refused to dine with Guizot.

1 1 0 . Standard, 22 March 1848, 2 .
11 1 . E.J. Stanley to Normanby, 17 March 1848: Nor. P. 0/387.
11 2 . Russell to Clarendon, 21 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 . Cf 

Hobhouse's Diary, 11 March 18481 B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 12 3 (q 
Dorchester, VI, 207 -  8 ), and 27 November 1848: B.L. Add. Mss.
43753 f f 60 -  1 (q Dorchester, V I, 2 2 7 ).
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But I  think the policy o f the minister both at home and 
abroad detestable. At home i t  was a l l  corruption, and abroad 
a l l  treachery. I  could not hold to him the language o f 
entire respect and complacency without a v io la tion  of truth; 
and, in his present circutp^ances, I  could not bear to shew 
the least disapprobation.

Despite Russell’ s assurance that " a l l  enmity to his projects as a

114King ceases with his deposition", i t  was d if f ic u lt  to forget ea r lie r

quarrels with Louis Philippe, especia lly the Spanish ferriages, or

to avoid the fee lin g  that the current c r is is  in Prance was the result

115of his foo lish  po lic ies . In Palmerston, however, these feelings 

were combined with a b e lie f  that the Orleans family was s t i l l  a poten­

t ia l  threat to Britain.

The f a l l  o f Louis Philippe, reported Bulwer from Madrid, created

the impression in Spain that Britain would no longer object to the

Montpensier marriage. The British  objection, i t  was argued, had been

that there was a danger o f Prance and Spain being united under one

”116crown. But now Prance was a republic that danger was past. Palmerston 

did not accept th is interpretation. The marriage, he wrote at a la ter 

date, "never could be considered as a Question o f today nor o f this 

year, but . . . had its  existence in the Future and in Duration o f 

Time." Convinced that Prance would not "s e ttle  down into a Republic",110 

he fe l t  that sooner or la ter there would be a monarchical reaction 

at which time Louis Philippe's heir, the Comte de Paris, would be 

"as good a horse to back fo r winning the Plate, as any other in the 113 114 115 116 117 118

1 1 3 . Macaulay to Selina Macaulay, 13 March 1848: Pinney, IV, 3 6 2 .
1 1 4 . Russell to Queen V ictoria , 3 March 1848: QVL, I I ,  191.
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and 7; Grey's Journal, 27 February 1848: Grey P. C3/1 4 ; Clarendon 
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c5 2 4 ; S ir G.F. Lewis (e d .): Letters o f the Right Hon. Sir George 
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F ie ld ."11  ̂ I f  the Orleans family was restored, B rita in ’ s objections 

to the Montpensier marriage would he the same as they had been before 

the revolution.

Both Russell and LanscLowne admitted the principle o f Palmerston's

argument, but neither believed that the Government should maintain

its  anti-Montpensier stance, arguing that to do so would look like

120vindictiveness towards the Orleans family. Palmerston did not

heed their advice, and tr ied , unsuccessfully, to prevent the Montpensiers

trave llin g  to Spain. The B ritish  public, he warned Jarnac, would

object to having Britain  used as "a Stepping Stone" in order that

121Louis Philippe could continue to pursue his dynastic ambitions.

In Madrid, Bulwer continued to press fo r the exclusion o f the Montpen-

122siers from the Spanish succession, but to no e ffe c t . The only

results o f Palmerston's actions were to anger Louis Philippe, who

121la ter to ld  D israeli that Palmerston "persecutes them", and to 

antagonise the Spanish Court and Government.

Palmerston's opposition to Louis Philippe over the Montpensiers 

did not extend into other spheres, as the ex-King suspected. Soon 

a fte r the a rr iva l o f the Orleans family Palmerston to ld  Jarnac that 

£1,0 0 0  would be made available from the Secret Service fund to ease 

the ir financial d if f ic u lt ie s ,  on the understanding that the British  

Government’ s involvement should not become k n o w n . M o r e  importantly, 

he took up the question o f the private property o f the Orleans family 

with the French Government. In it ia l ly  i t  seemed that the Republic

119 . Palmerston to Bulwer, copy, 4 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/572.
1 2 0 . Russell to Palmerston, 25 March 1848s ib id  GC/ru/i 9 1 ; Lansdowne 

to Russell, 30 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B.
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12 3 . Londonderry, 70.
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would. Toe generous to the deposed monarch. On 3 March Lamartine to ld  

Normanby that the Provisional Government had no intention o f confis­

cating the private property and that i t  was trying to decide what did 

and did not belong to the state. Within a few days, however, Lamar­

tine was showing greater reluctance on the subject, saying "that this 

was o f a l l  other the worst moment to take any step with reference to

th is property." The financial problems o f Prance would make i t  d if f ic u lt

12 6to ju s t ify  handing over large sums o f money. On three separate

occasions Normanby was instructed to bring up the subject o f Louis

127Philippe's personal wealth, but on each the French Government

128refused to do anything because o f the state o f public opinion.

I t  was not un til the end o f October that the National Assembly voted,

"almost without discussion, and with hardly a dissentient vo ice",

129to free the property, and even then a month la ter G reville  noted

1 0̂that the residents o f Claremont had s t i l l  not received the ir money.

The British  Government, however, had done as much as could reasonably 

be expected o f i t .

The presence o f the refugees in Britain was never a major problem 

fo r the British  Government. The popular conception o f i t s  attitude 

towards Louis Philippe and the ex-ministers damaged its  standing 

with the B ritish  Court and in flu en tia l sections o f Parliament and 

the electorate, whilst the po lic ies  i t  pursued with respect to them

1 2 5 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 1 9 , 3 March 1848: PRO PO 27/804 (a NJ
I ,  168 -  9). — ’

1 2 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 14 5 , confidentia l, 9 March 1848: PRO 
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exacerbated the poor relations between Britain and Spain and acted 

as a minor irr itan t between Britain and Prance. The most important 

thing about the B ritish  attitudes towards the refugees, however, 

was the influence that those attitudes had a forming opinions about 

the new Republic. Judgements about the new rulers in Prance were lik e ly  

to be more hostile i-ihere Louis Philippe was regarded with sympathy 

and respect than where he was regarded with d is lik e and rid icu le.

i i i ) BRITAIN AND THE PROVISIONAL GOVERNMENT

" I f  retribution could have fa llen  alone upon L. Phillippe Z“ sic_ 7

& Guizot one might almost be g lad ," wrote Clarendon on 27 February,

". . . but the ir fa te is  hardly perceptible in the ocean o f trouble

which has overwhelmed them and I  quite tremble to think o f the amount

131o f disaster that may be oncoming." Clarendon's view was a popular

one. Whatever one.'s views about Louis Philippe's regime, i t  was widely
132assumed, except in Radical c irc le s , that the Republic would be

worse. Some newspapers condemned the members o f the Provisional Government

133as dangerous, unprincipled revolutionaries. The majority, however, 

thought the Provisional Government was a motley co llection  o f inexperienced 

id ea lis ts  (lik e  Lamartine), v io lent demagogues (lik e  Ledru R o llin ), 

and unrealistic but dangerous theorists (lik e  Louis Blanc), which 

would be incapable o f maintaining peace and s t a b i l i t y . N o  newspaper 

questioned the right o f the French people to choose the ir own rulers, 

but many doubted the wisdom o f that choice. 131 132 133 134

131 . Clarendon to Lansdowne, copy, 27 February 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  
Letter-Book Vol.2  f 135*
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In the opinion o f many British observers, nowhere vías the unsuit­

98

a b ility  for high o ffic e  o f the new French ministers better demonstrated

than in the way they disregarded the doctrines o f la isser -  fa ire

and favoured state intervention in the economy. The French ministers,

observed Macaulay to Morpeth, "are refuting the doctrines o f p o lit ic a l

economy in the way that a man would refute the doctrine o f gravitation

by jumping from the Monument." J They "betray a profound ignorance

o f the functions o f government, and o f the natural laws which regulate

a like the production o f food and the quantity o f employment", judged

The Economist. "Mo government ought to attempt to regulate the hours

of labour; no government can guarantee work to a l l  i t s  c itizens;

nor guarantee the subsistence o f the workmen by th is labour.

The Provisional Government, i t  was thought, had contracted obligations

137which, in the words o f The Times, " i t  is  impossible to fu l f i l " ,

and th is led inevitab ly on to consideration about what would happen

when the po lic ies fa iled . The consensus, from Protectionists to Radicals,

was that French trade and industry would be destroyed, and that the

Provisional Government would be discredited. There would be increased

socia l unrest and another revolution, probably resulting in a more

138extreme government. Republicanism and socialism was on t r ia l  in

France, wrote the Spectator, and Europe was watching the result with

great in terest. The in i t ia l  resu lts, however, led one to believe

139that the experiment would fa i l .  To be fa ir ,  the rapid decline 

o f the French economy a fte r  the February Revolution seemed to prove 

the v a lid ity  o f the B ritish  criticism s, as the British  press was

13 5* Morpeth's Diary, 4 March 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 11•
136 . The Economist, 4 March 1848, 2 5 7 »
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quick to point ou t.1̂ ° But the B ritish  had never fe l t  that there

was any need fo r proof. The B e lie f in the "benefits o f la isser -  fa ire

was so ingrained that any a lternative was simply dismissed as unworkable.

This assessment o f the Provisional Government's socia l and economic 

po lic ies served to confirm the widespread assumption in Britain that 

the revolution in Prance was not over, that the re la tive  calm in

141Paris during the f ir s t  week o f March was only the lu l l  in the storm.

I t  was not an assumption that eased B ritish  anxiety. I t  was a matter

o f "ju stice and o f plain common sense" to desire a stable government

in Prance, declared The Times. In s ta b ility  led to disorder, damaged

trade and industry, and increased the chances o f war.

I f  there is  to be a change, i f  the bubble is  to burst, 
i f  Lamartine is  to collapse into a poet, and Louis Blanc 
into something s t i l l  smaller and less practical, le t i t  
not be soon. Let Paris have time to se ttle  down . . .

I f  there was further figh ting, or i f  there was an immediate attempt

at a monarchical reaction, the republicans might be driven to further

extremes or conceivably the mass o f the people might unite behind

the Provisional Government in defence o f law and order. A period

o f calm, i t  was thought, would give the French people time to rea lise

that the po lic ies o f the Provisional Government would not work.

The British  Government also hoped fo r a period o f calm. In it ia l ly  

ministers had feared the worst: "This is  the beginning", noted Hobhouse, 

remembering 1792; "who w i l l  liv e  to see the end?"1̂  Normanby's despatches 

and le tters  o f the 26th and 27th, however, helped to ease those fears.

1 4 0 . DN, 15 March 1848, 4f MG, 15 March 1848, 4; The Economist. 18 
and 25 March 1848, 309 -  11 and 337 -  8; The Times. 14 and 25 
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The ambassador reported that order was being restored and that the

moderate republicans, led by Lamartine, were gaining ascendency over

the soc ia lis ts  and the anarchists.1̂  Particu larly welcome was the

nexis that the French ministers "wish peace and respect to a l l  te r r ito r ia l

divisions and that as a proof o f th is they are resolved even i f  Belgium

14-5offers  to unite i t s e l f  with France to refuse i t . "  In the ligh t 

o f these reports, the B ritish  Government was prepared to encourage 

Lamartine. There was l i t t l e  expectation that he would remain in power 

fo r long, fo r i t  was assumed that the Parisian republicans would 

soon t ir e  o f his moderation, but whilst he did control a ffa irs  i t  

was thought advisable to support him "on acct. o f his own real merits,
SI A Z '

and to prevent worse". A "p ac ific  orderly Republic", wrote Russell 

on 1 March, "must be the utmost extent o f our wishes." However, given 

France’ s enormous internal problems, the fallacious po lic ies o f the 

Provisional Government and the inflammable state o f the rest o f Europe,
1  A H

the Prime Minister did not hold out much hope that i t  could be achieved.

* * *

On the evening o f the 25th Brunnow and D ietrichstein, the Russian 

and Austrian ambassadors in London, had a private interview with 

Palmerston during which, according to Brunnow’ s account, they expressed 

their deep concern about the events in France. The revolution, they 

argued, threatened the peace o f Europe and therefore i t  was important 

that the four remaining monarchical Powers should do nothing precipitate 

or individually. They did not advocate that the four Powers should 

try  to overthrow the new Republic, but they fe l t  that they should 144

144- Normanby to Palmerston, No 9 6 , 26 February 1848, and N098, 27 
February 1848: PRO FO 27/803 (q NJ, I ,  112 -  15 and 127 -  3 0 ).

145 . Normanby to Palmerston, 3 p.m. 27 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/N0/ l2 2 .
1 4 6 . Palmerston to Normanby, 3 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/ l1 . Cf Grey's

Journal, 29 February 1848: Grey P. 03/1 4? Hobhouse's Diary,
1 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 108 (q Dorchester, VI, 2 0 6 ).

147. Russell to Clarendon, 1 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 »
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take a firm , united stance and should declare the ir jo in t intention

to res ist Republican aggression. "Tenez pour certain” , Brunnow observed,

que s i l'Angleterre, l'Au triche, la Prusse et la Russie 
demeuront d'accord en tr 'E lles , nous maintiendrons la Prance 
dans ses lim ites. E lle  reculera devant la double danger 
d'une guerre continentale et maritime, à la fo is . Mais si 
e l le  entrevoit la poss ib ilità  de vous piacer sur une ligne 
de conduite, separ€e de notre, -  Vous la verrez deborder, 
en Belgique, sur la Rhin, en I t a l ie ,  partout, et la guerre 
deviendra pour nous tous un malheur dèslors in€vitabler.

In conclusion, Brunnow assured Palmerston that the Tsar "ne laissera

pas ses A llie s  sans sou tien ."^^  I t  was a w ell written, w ell reasoned

argument which appealed to the widespread fear that the Republic would

embark on an expansionist war. Brunnow and D ie tr ichstein did not re lish

such a con flic t, but they f e l t  that i f  i t  came the Republic should

be made to su ffer the consequences. "Russia would look on & w a it,”

Brunnow to ld  Hobhouse, "but i f  attacked would make a great e f fo r t ,

149and i f  victorious there would be no more magnanimity".

Palmerston’ s precise response to the approach from Brunnow and

D ie tr ichstein is  unclear. According to Van de Weyer, he urged the

Prussian Government not to allow a Russian army to march through Ger- 

1 SOmany, but there is  no confirmation o f this from British  sources.

But i t  is  clear that the two ambassadors were unhappy with Palmerston's 

answer, fo r Brunnow asked that his le tte r  be forwarded to Russell. 

Russell, however, agreed with Palmerston. Britain , he judged, should 

communicate her views on the Republic " fre e ly  & in a fr iend ly  s p ir it "  

to the Northern Courts, but ought "to  avoid any thing like a Congress 

. . . /""whichJ  would naturally seize the suspicions o f Prance."

Russell f e l t  that there were two dangers to the peace o f Europe: 

the Republic might embark on an expansionist war, designed to extend

1 4 8 . Brunnow to Palmerston, confidential, 26 February 1848: Bd. P. 
GC/BR/210.

1 4 9* Hobhouse's Diary, 26  February 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f*99- 
1 5 0* Van de Weyer to d’ Hoffschmidt, confidentia l, 3 March 1848: Ridder, 

I ,  7 0 .
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the fron tiers o f France and spread republican principles; or the Rep­

ublic might be provoked into a war by being challenged or threatened 

by the Northern Powers. " I  do not fe e l  at a l l  sa tis fied  with the present

state o f th ings", Russell concluded,. but from what quarter & in

151what manner danger may arise , i t  is  not easy to say."

In an e ffo r t  to reassure the ambassadors, Russell spoke to them

himself. Lamartine’ s words, he urged, should be construed "in  the

sense most favourable to a respect fo r the rights o f other countries

-  & States -  that we ought not to provoke war or weaken a Govt, s t i l l

in the cradle, & that cradle rocked by armed men." Unfortunately,

he to ld  Clarendon, Brunnow and D ietrichstein "do not lis ten  to me,

& are in despair that England should show any favour to the young

Republic." Wellington, at Russell's request, J also tr ied  to

reassure D ietrichstein. But, he reported, he seemed to make l i t t l e  

1 54impression. According to D ietrichstein, however, Wellington said 

that i f  war did break out in Europe Britain would figh t alongside 

the Northern Powers. Even i f  Wellington had made no such promise, 

as seems lik e ly , i t  was the impression he had created, and i t  confirmed 

the b e lie f  o f Brunnow and D ietrichstein that the British  Government’ s 

determination to maintain an independent line towards the Republic 

was not shared by other, in their eyes more responsible, B ritish  states­

men.

On 28 February the Cabinet discussed what line the British  Government 

should adopt towards the French Republic. Russell announced that he 

proposed to make a statement in the Commons to the e ffe c t that Britain 

did not intend to in terfere in the internal a ffa irs  o f France. "This

1 5 1 » Russell to Palmerston, 27 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/184.
152 . Russell to Clarendon, 3 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 .
153 . Russell to Wellington, 4 March 1848: Well. P. 157/97 (q Walpole,

I I ,  3 4 ).
154- Wellington to Russell, copy, 6 March 1848: Well. P. 157/100.
1 5 5 . I t .  Prob., 7 3 .
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seemed to please the Cabinet", noted Hothouse, "hut Palmerston in ter­

posed & said that such a volunteer declaration would look like being 

in a hurry to acknowledge the Republic." He did not disagree with the 

sentiments which Russell proposed to express, but he warned that care 

must be taken about the suscep tib ilities  o f the Northern Courts. He 

"thought i t  better to wait fo r  a question and then to say simply that 

o f course no one thought o f in terfering in the internal a ffa irs  o f

Prance or any other Country." Palmerston was supported by Lansdowne,

156and in the end the rest o f the Cabinet agreed. Palmerston had insisted

on this compromise because he did not want to show too much favour to

the Republic, whilst at the same time not wishing "to  discourage the

1 57Friends o f the English a lliance" in  Prance, The rest o f the Cabinet

158had agreed because, as Clarendon observed, they knew that a careful 

balance had to be struck between not offending Prance and not offending 

the Northern Powers. I t  is  revealing, however, that neither Russell 

nor Palmerston thought i t  necessary to discuss the proposal o f Brunnow 

and D ietrichstein fo r a defensive entente. The discussion had been 

about how much sympathy to show the Provisional Government, and not 

about whether or not to show any sympathy.

On 29 February Cobden wrote o f his alarm at "the tone o f the clubs 

and coteries o f London" towards the Republic, which he judged was 

"decidedly h ostile ". He fe l t  that i t  was "the duty o f every man in 

England . . .  to raise the cry fo r n eu tra lity ." Cobden had mistaken 

disapproval o f the revolution and anxiety about the future fo r h o s t ility  

towards the Republic. Newspapers o f a l l  shades o f p o lit ic a l opinion 156 * 158

156 . Hobhouse’ s Diary, 28 February 1848r B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f f 103 -  4. 
That evening Russell gave the agreed answer in reply to a question 
from Joseph Hume (Hansard, XCVI, 1389).

157* Palmerston to Normanby, 28 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/1O.
15 8 . Clarendon to G. Grey, copy, 29 February 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  

Letter-Book V ol .2  fl38.
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advocated non-intervention in the internal a ffa irs  o f Prance.

Those who did speak or write o f war with the Republic did so in defensive

terms -  about maintaining the balance o f power in the event of French

1 6l 1 62aggression 1 or about honouring B rita in ’ s treaty obligations.

The right o f a people to choose their own form o f government was one 

o f the favourite freedoms advocated by mid-nineteenth century British  

po litic ians and leader w riters, and just because that choice was 

thought to be unwise did not mean that the right should be challenged.

Not everyone in Britain  believed that the outbreak o f even a major 

war on the continent need force Britain to intervene. The Channel 

and the Royal Navy, i t  was argued, would keep Britain secure from 

invasion. "The true attitude o f England, in the case o f another con­

tinental revolutionary war, is  s tr ic t  neu tra lity ", declared the Daily 

News.

There is  no credit to be got by trying to prop up tottering 
despotisms, and l i t t l e  by figh ting to obtain constitutions 
or national independence fo r communities who have,not arms 
and brains to get and keep them fo r themselves. J

At the other end o f the p o lit ic a l spectrum, the Duke o f Newcastle

argued that Britain should not intervene until the other Powers had

fought themselves to a stan d still; "then w i l l  be our time to step

forward & then we may /~be_7 enabled to act with e ffec t & stand in

the position o f moderators o f Europe & the world.

The members o f Russell's Government did not believe that Britain

could or should stand a loo f from a major European war. I f  the Republic

"160

160 . The Times. 28 February 1848, 4; MC, 29 February 1848, 5; MG,
1 March 1848, 4; MH, 1 March 1848, 4; MP, 1 March 1848, 4; ILN, 
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attacked its  neighbours, Palmerston to ld  Normanby, "we cannot s it  

quiet & see Belgium overrun, and Antwerp become a French Port; and 

even a war in other Directions would sooner or la ter draw us into 

its  vortex. Ministers recognised that in a European war B rita in ’ s

economic interests would be damaged, her v ita l  strategic interests 

would be threatened, and the balance o f power as established in 1815, 

by which Britain set so much store, might be overthrown. They did 

not welcome the prospect o f war -  fo r Britain had l i t t l e  to gain 

and much to lose from a major con flic t -  but they knew that i f  there 

was one Britain would have to intervene to defend her v ita l  interests.

Palmerston’ s in i t ia l  instructions to Normanby a fter the revolution 

re fle c t the British  Government’ s desire to prevent a European war 

and to remain on good terms with both the Republic and the Northern 

Courts. " I  can give you but provisional Instructions," the Foreign 

Secretary wrote,

continue at your Post keep up u n o ffic ia l & useful Communications 
with the Men who from Hour to Hour ( i  say not even from Day 
to Day) may have the Direction o f Events, but commit us to 
no acknowledgement o f any men, nor o f any Things -  our Prin­
ciples o f action are to acknowledge whatever Rule may be 
established with apparent Prospect o f Permanency but none 
other. We desire Friendship and extended Commercial Intercourse 
with France, and Peace between France & the rest o f Europe 
-  we w i l l  engage to prevent the Rest o f Europe from Meddling 
with France, which indeed we are quite sure they have no 
Intention o f doing; The French Rulers must engage to prevent 
France from assailing any Part o f the Rest o f Europe; upon 
such a Basis our Relations with France may be placed on a 
Footing more friend ly  than they have been or were lik e ly  
to t e 1$£th Louis PhiiiPPe & Guizot -  I  have no Time to say 
more.

Palmerston seems to have been trying to develop fo r  Britain a rfrle 

sim ilar to that she had pursued so successfully during the Belgian 

c r is is . Britain would hold the balance o f power in Europe, siding 165 166

165 . Palmerston to Normanby, 27 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/9 (q Ashley, 
I I ,  72). Cf Grey’ s Journal, 27 February 1848: Grey P. C3/14;
Russell to Clarendon, 29 February 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 .

1 6 6 . Palmerston to Normanby, 26  February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/7 (mostly 
q Ashley, I I , 7 1 )•
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with Prance against threats from the Northern Powers, and with the

Northern Powers against threats from Prance. In such a position,

Palmerston would he able to meet a challenge from revolutionary Prance

or the reactionary Northern Powers.

On 28 February Normanby v is ited  the French Foreign Ministry for

the f ir s t  time since the revolution to communicate the contents o f

the instructions he had received. Lamartine's response was encouraging.

His " f i r s t  des ire", he to ld  Normanby, "was to complete the developement

of the English a lliance" which he fe l t  would promote "the only true

interests o f Prance." He admitted that there was a powerful body o f

opinion in Prance which wanted to overthrow the Vienna settlement

by war, but he said that he had resisted such demands. Nevertheless

he warned "that i f  any weaker State struggling to maintain its  independence

should be attacked they would fe e l i t  the ir duty to f l y  to their rescue".

He made specific  reference to Prance's relations with Spain, stigmatizing

Louis Philippe's policy as "antinational" and assuring Normanby that

the Republic wanted no "exclusive influence" in Madrid, before emphasising

the measures the Provisional Government had taken to restore law and

order. As Normanby started to leave, Lamartine made on fin a l appeal:

'A l l  now depends on you. I f  England speedily puts in a 
shape, which can be made public what you have expressed 
to me personally today we are a l l  saved here, and the 
foundation o f the most lasting and sincere a lliance is  
established between two great nations who ought always 
to be fr ien d s .'

Normanby was deeply impressed as to Lamartine's s incerity  and

believed that Britain should respond to his overture. " I  am convinced",

he wrote, "that such a timely declaration on our part would do more

here to create an English fee lin g  & to maintain the cause o f order

168. . . than any thing else in the world." 3 In London the reaction 167 168

1 6 7 . Normanby to Palmerston, private and confidential, 28 February 
1848: PRO PO 27/803 (q NJ, I ,  132 -  8).
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was more cautious: Grey was so surprised that Lamartine had said

" a l l  that is  righ t" that he suspected that he had been fla tte r in g

1 69Normanby, whilst G reville  feared that he had shown too much sympathy

170towards the new regime. The la tte r  point was subsequently taken 

up by the Queen. "Lord Normanby is  inclined to be on too friend ly 

& confidential terms with M. Lamartine", she wrote on 10 March. "Did 

Lord Palmerston Caution him? We shd. do a l l  what is  right but not

171show any empressement towards what is  a fte r a l l  a great Calamity."

But Palmerston was prepared to give Lamartine some encouragement.

Whilst repeating that Britain would not recognise the Republic until

a stable government had been established, he praised the "enlightened

sentiments" Lamartine had expressed and said that i f  the principle

o f "respect by every Power fo r the Rights and Independence o f other

States" was observed by Prance, as he fe l t  sure i t  would be by the

other Powers, there would be a good chance that peace could be maintained

172and that Britain  and Prance could remain on terms o f friendship.

17^Lamartine and Normanby were disappointed by Palmerston's response.

They did not know that he had wanted to go further, but had been

forced to compromise. The Queen had objected to the desire Palmerston

had expressed in the draft despatch fo r "most cordial friendship"

174with the Republic as "rather too strong", whilst Russell had thought 

i t  "desireable to pin down the new Govt, to terms which w il l  bind 

them to our a l l ie s ,  as well as to ourselves." As a resu lt, in 

the fin a l despatch "most cordial friendship" became simply "friendship"

169 . Grey's Journal, 29 February 1848: Grey P. C3/14.
17 0 . G reville  to Clarendon, 2 and 4 March 1848: Clar. P. Box c521.
171 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 10 March 1848: Bd. P. RC/p/348 

(q RvP, 6 9 ).
1 7 2 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 7 0 » 29 February 1848: PRO PO 27/797.
1 7 3* Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 1 4 » 2 March 1848: ib id  27/804 (q NJ,

1 » 153 -  5 )» Normanby to Palmerston, 4 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/nO/130 . 
17 4* Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 29 February 1848: QVL, I I ,  183.
175 « Russell to Palmerston, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/185.
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and the section about respecting the in tegr ity  o f other countries was 

inserted. The response may not have been as warm as Lamartine had hoped, 

but nor was i t  as cold as the Russian and Austrian ambassadors would 

have wished. The B ritish  Government had maintained its  delicate balancing 

act between the Republic and the Northern Powers.

* * *

At the same time as Lamartine was giving his private assurances

to Normanby, he was making a public declaration o f the Republic's

pac ific  intentions. On 27 February he sent a Note to the diplomatic

corps in Paris which he hoped would assuage the ir fears. I t  was less

informative than his conversations with Normanby, but i t s  basic content

1T 6was the same. In Brita in , where the Note was scrutinised c losely ,

the reaction was mixed. The Times was uncertain, saying i t  "may mean

177a great deal, but i t  may also mean nothing at a l l . "  Russell was
1 *7 8hopeful, ca llin g  i t  "very p ac ific ". Palmerston was more cautious: 

he found its  contents "very g ra tify in g ", but wondered how far Lamartine 

"may fin a lly  be able to carry out his In ten tions".1̂  Even so, he

cited i t  to Metternich as further proof o f the Republic's pacific

. . 180intentions.

The Note was not designed as a statement o f policy. That came a 

week la ter with the publication o f Lamartine's Manifesto.1^1 This 

is  an important document, but i t  is  also confusing fo r i t s  tone varies. 

Parts o f i t  were conciliatory, as where Lamartine promised that the 

Republic "ne fera point de propagande sourde ou incendiare chez ses 

voisins" and where he assured Britain that the Republic wanted no

1 7 6 . Circular Note by Lamartine, 27 February 1848: DD, I ,  1; Jennings, 10. 
177* The Times. 1 March 1848, 5.
1 7 8 . Russell to Clarendon, 1 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 .
179- Palmerston to Normanby, 3 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/11.
180. Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 29  February 1848: Bd. P. GC/po/808  

(q Ashley, I I ,  75).
181. The Manifesto is  printed in Lamartine, H isto ire , I I ,  3 4 - 4 1 . The 

most recent and best analysis o f i t  is  Jennings, 10 -  16.
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exclusive influence in Spain. Elsewhere, however, the Manifesto seemed

to threaten the other Powers. "Les tra ités  de 1815" ,  Lamartine declared,

"n 'existent plus en droit aux yeux de la  République française", although

he promised that the Republic would only try  to e ffe c t changes by

peaceful means. This declaration was followed by another, s t i l l  more

menacing in the eyes o f the rest o f Europe:

s i l'heure de la reconstruction de quelques nationalités 
opprimées en Europe, ou a illeu rs , nous paraissait avoir 
sonné dans les décrets de la Providence . . .  la République 
française se c ro ira it en droit d'armer elle-meme pour pro- 
té*ger ces mouvements légitimes de croissance et de nation­
a l it é  des peuples.

Lamartine claimed that i f  Prance "a la conscience de sa part de mission 

libera le  et c iv il is a tr ic e  dans la s ièc le , i l  n 'y a pas un de ces mots 

qui s ign ifie  guerre. " But was th is assertion reconcilable with the 

determination to change the Vienna settlement and the promise to assist 

oppressed nationalities?

In England, the reaction to the Manifesto was predominantly unfav­

ourable. Some observers, mainly Protectionists, shared a view expressed

by Dietrichstein that i t  was a v irtu a l declaration o f war on the rest
1 32

of Europe. The majority, however, did not know what to make o f i t .

The problem, observed the Morning Chronicle, was the ambiguity o f Lamar­

t in e 's  language. The refusal to acknowledge the le g a lity  o f the treaties 

o f 1815 combined with the promise to assist oppressed nationalities 

alarmed the B ritish  press. These were dangerous principles to adopt, 

i t  was thought, and i f  Prance followed them there would be a European 

war. The problem was that from the pacific  tone o f the rest o f the 

Manifesto no one could be sure whether Lamartine intended to fo llow  

these principles. Was i t  a bellicose declaration, disguised in the 

language o f peace and conciliation , or was i t  a pacific  declaration, 182

1 8 2 . Spencer to Bedford, 6 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,  2 9 0 );
Van de Weyer to d'Hoffschmidt, confidential, 6 March 1848: Ridder, 
I ,  1 0 2 ; Quarterly Review, LXXXII, 583.
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dressed up in the language o f war and revolution? The B ritish  press
183

was unsure, hut i t  had a tendency to fear the worst.

Dislike o f the Manifesto was not universal in England. Lamartine, 

wrote the Daily News, "preaches the doctrine o f peace with philosophic 

conviction and poetic fervour." I t  regretted the reference to the 

trea ties  o f 1815, hut i t  understood the domestic pressures on Lamartine 

and judged that the Provisional Government hoped to negotiate slight 

modifications to the Vienna settlement rather than major changes -  

a return to the boundaries established fo r Prance before Napoleon's 

return from Elba rather than the reannexation o f Belgium and the le f t  

bank o f the Rhine. The Northern Powers could not oppose these changes 

on princip le, the News argued, because they had altered the Vienna 

settlement with respect to Cracow, and i t  hoped that the changes 

could be effected  without recourse to war and without involving Britain.

The line taken by the Daily News is  important fo r two reasons. 

F irs t ly , i t  demonstrates that a small but sign ificant body o f opinion 

in England accepted that the Vienna settlement was unsatisfactory 

before the March revolutions revealed the strength o f the nationalist 

aspirations o f the Germans, Ita lians , Magyars and Slavs. Secondly, 

i t  re flec ts  c lea rly  an attitude which can also be detected in the 

other newspapers. The Manifesto was an important and to some extent 

worrying statement o f policy, but i t  referred to the rest o f Europe. 

B ritain  might hold strong views on the proposed changes, but she 

was not d irec tly  affected.

Although the general fee lin g  in England was that the Manifesto 

contained no direct reference to Britain , across the Ir ish  Sea there 

vías a strong opinion to the contrary. There were three oppressed 183 184

1 8 3 . MC, 7 March 1848, 4 ; MP, 7 March 1848, 4; The Times, 7 March 
1848, 4; MG, 8 March 1848, 4 ; MH» 8 March 184 8» 4 .
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nations in Europe, John Dillon to ld  a meeting o f the Ir ish  Confederation:

185Poland, Ita ly  and Ireland. The promise that the Republic would

assist oppressed nationalities was o f particular importance to Ireland,

wrote John Mitchel in the United Irishman. I t  meant that

i f  Ireland rose in insurrection . . . and i f  England, or 
any other foreign power, landed one man on th is our island 
to intimidate or defeat us in the assertion o f our natural 
and national righ t, then the French Republic would believe 
i t s e l f  en titled , i . e . ,  ju s tified , necessitated, to protect 
by force o f arms that 'leg itim ate movement' o f ajjiggppressed 
nation fo r  l i f e ,  fo r nationality, fo r greatness.

This interpretation o f the Manifesto alarmed Clarendon greatly.

He had been anxious lest the Provisional Government should say anything

18*7which might act as a stimulus to the Repeal movement. How Lamartine

had published a statement which seemed "almost addressed to this

188Country & assuredly w i l l  be so received here". I t  vías an in terpret­

ation which Lamartine had not envisaged would be put on his words.

When Hormanby mentioned i t  to him, he laughed and said "Autant les 

N a tio n a lity  d 'Alsace ou de Bourgogne.'" 7 " I  quite know enough o f

your present subjects to believe that they might think Lamartine 

must have meant them when he talked o f reviving n a tion a lities ", wrote

Normanby to Clarendon, "but here i t  was understood as much . . .  as

190i f  the word Poland had been used." What was important to Clarendon, 

however, was not what Lamartine had meant but what the Ir ish  Repealers 

thought he had meant, and the phrases in the Manifesto were su ffic ien tly  

vague and the ir tone su ffic ien tly  menacing to make the interpretation 

put on them by D illon and Mitchel credible. 185 186 187 188 189 190

1 8 5 . Duffy, 5 4 5 .
186. United Irishman, 11 March 1848, 72. There is ,  o f course, a sign ificant 

difference between being "en titled " to intervene, which is  what 
Lamartine said, and being "necessitated" to do so, which is  what 
Mitchel asserted.
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On the fringes o f the Government in London the reaction to the

Manifesto was as unfavourable as i t  was among the public as a whole.

Those with access to Normanby's reports, however, knew that i t s  true

meaning was that the Provisional Government wished to maintain peace

and that the ominous parts had been inserted to appease the French 

192public. y "The Circular is  Evidently a Piece o f Patchwork", Palmerston 

to ld  Clarendon,

put together by opposite Parties in the govt, the one war­
like & disturbing, the other Peaceful & conciliatory. I 
should say that i f  you were to put the whole o f i t  into 
a Crucible, and to evaporate the gaseous Parts & scum o f f  
the Dross you would find the Regulus^to be Peace & good 
Fellowship with other governments. ^

" I f  the Powers o f Europe wished to make war against France, there

are in  that Circular abundant materials wherewith to pick a Quarrel

with her", he observed to Normanby; " i f  on the other hand the Powers

o f Europe are desirous o f maintaining Peace, there is  to be found

in the Circular the substance o f Peace although somewhat clothed

194in the Garb o f Defiance." At the same time, Palmerston recognised

that the Republic's good intentions were only assured as long as

1 95Lamartine held his position o f pre-eminence.

Palmerston came the closest o f any foreign observer to understanding

196the true meaning o f the Manifesto. His perceptiveness, however, 191 192 193 * * 196

191

19 1 . G reville  to Clarendon, 6 March 1848:.ib id  Box c521 ; Hervey to 
Clarendon, 10 March 1848: ib id  Ir ish  Box 16; H. G rev ille : Leaves 
from the Diary o f Henry G reville (ed. Viscountess E n fie ld ),
(London 1883), I ,  2 3 7 -

1 9 2 . On 3 March, fo r example, Lamartine to ld  Normanby that he had not 
wanted to say anjrthing about the trea ties  o f 1815, but that because 
o f the hatred with which they were regarded in France i t  had been 
"impossible" to say nothing (Normanby to Palmerston, No 118, 3 
March 1848: PRO FO 27/804, q NJ, I ,  164 -  6).

1 9 3 . Palmerston to Clarendon, 9 March 1848: Clar. P. Box 0524 (q Ashley,
I I ,  76). Cf Lansdowne to Russell, 7 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B 
(partly  q LCJR, I ,  2 9 1 )» Russell to Wellington, confidential,
12 March 1848: Well. P. 157/115 -  16 (q Walpole, I I ,  3 7 ).
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q Marquis o f Lome: Viscount Palmerston K.G. (London 1892), 99 -  10 0 ).

1 9 5 « Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 13 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/ab/2 6 8 .
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was not because he had studied the document more astutely than most, 

hut because Lamartine had to ld  Normanby what i t  meant. He recognised 

that Lamartine might not have been te ll in g  the truth or that he might 

be unable to pursue the pacific  policy he avowed, but he saw nothing 

in the Manifesto which contradicted the private assurances already 

transmitted through Normanby.

iv )  BRITAIN AND THE EUROPEAN REACTION TO THE REVOLUTION

"Sellez vos chevaux, messieurs", Tsar Nicholas I  is  reputed to

have declared upon hearing o f the revolution in Paris: " la  République

197est proclaméé en France." The story is  probably apocryphal, but 

i t  gives an accurate impression o f the Tsar's reaction to the news.

His response was sw ift and decisive. He ordered the army to be put 

on a war footing and made available seven m illion s ilv e r  roubles, 

about £1,200,000, which i t  was calculated would enable an army o f 

4 5 0 ,000 men to take the f ie ld  in less than three months. He did not 

intend to attack France -  Nesselrode assured Bloomfield, the British  

ambassador, that the m ilitary preparations "were defensive" -  but 

he dreaded "the impulse which the success o f the Republicans o f France 

w i l l  give to the spread o f lib era l opinions in Europe," and he was 

determined "to  stem the torrent o f rebellion  against vested authority 

which he apprehends may otherwise approach His own fron tier. The 

m ilitary c irc les  in St. Petersburg were in a state o f the "greatest 

excitement", Bloomfield reported, but he doubted whether the danger 

o f war was as great as i t  seemed. He thought the Russian Government 

would not "dare . . . leave Poland without a su ffic ien t force to repress 

disorder" and he fe l t  reassured by Nesselrode's "calm & cautious"

19 7• E. Bapst: L'Empereur Nicolas I er et la Deuxieme République Fran­
çaise (Paris 1898), 2 .

1 9 8 . Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 48, 6 March 1848: PRO FO 65/3 4 8 .



reaction to the news.

Like his master, Nesselrode was happy to le t "ces féroces Français 

cuire dans leur ju s ".2° °  He to ld  the Russian ambassador in Berlin

that i f  the revolution did not spread to Prussia, " je  serais . . .

201tr^s content." Where Nesselrode d iffered  from the Tsar was over

how best to contain the revolution. Nicholas seemed to re lish  the

prospect o f war. Nesselrode thought more in terms of a diplomatic

barrier to France, although without discounting the m ilitary option

which he thought would be an invaluable aid to diplomacy. On 11 March

he to ld  Bloomfield that he thought i t

impossible to expect that the French people would remain 
for any length o f time peaceably within their own fron tiers 
and that sooner or la ter they would be endeavouring to 
spread . . . the pernicious principles o f the ir newly adopted 
form of Government. I t  was essential therefore that the 
Great Powers should come to an understanding as to the course 
of combined action to be adopted under these circumstances, 
and that he must always attach the highest value to the 
adhesion o f England to any such project, fo r Her adhesion 
would enable the a ll ie s  to present a most e ffectual barrier 
by land and sea to French encroachments.

Bloomfield made no comment, but he gained the impression "that the

basis o f an offensive and defensive alliance against France has been

. . . f o r  some time past agreed upon between Austria, Prussia and

Russia."202

The apprehension in St, Petersburg on learning of the February 

Revolution was echoed in Berlin where, according to Westmorland,

"the greatest alarm prevails both in the Royal Family & in the public". 

The King saw the events in Paris as a threat to European peace, and, 

writing to Queen V ictoria , he urged that the four monarchical Powers

199

1 9 9 » Bloomfield to Palmerston, 7 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/BL/186.
2 0 0 . Nesselrode to Chreptowitch, 9 March 1848: A. de Nesselrode (ed .): 
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should, at the f ir s t  sign o f French aggression, " le t  France fe e l

by sea and by land, as in the years ’ 1 3 , ' 1 4 , and ’ 1 5 , what our union

may mean."20  ̂ The reaction o f the Prussian Government was more measured.

Canitz, the Foreign Minister, assured Westmorland that Prussia had

no intention o f in terfering in the internal a ffa irs  o f France, but

that i t  was determined "to resist any attempt . . .  to overthrow the
205te r r ito r ia l arrangements sanctioned by the Treaties of Vienna."

Towards that end, Prussia, like other German states, began to prepare

206i t s  army fo r  war.

Metternich saw the events in Paris as proof o f the va lid ity  o f

the warnings he had been giving the rest o f Europe. The revolution,

he to ld  the Austrian representative in Rome, "a r£pudi£ les dernieres

apparences de la fantasmagorie lib'erale qui a servi de vo ile  au radi- 

207calisme." His thoughts swung back s ix ty -five  years, and during

a long interview with Ponsonby on 1 March he remarked that "the present

State of a ffa irs  in France was just what i t  was in  17 93 ."  I t  was now

time, he to ld  Ponsonby, fo r Austria, Britain, Prussia and Russia to

revive the ir wartime alliance in order to res ist possible French
2oQ

aggression. As w ell as the direct threat from France, however, 

Metternich feared that Europe would be subverted by revolutionary 

propaganda spread by the Republic. Austria, he to ld  Hardinge on the 

9th, "never was so sound", but two days ea rlie r  he had told  Ponsonby 

that Germany, "with the exception o f Prussia", was in a condition

2 0 4 . King Frederick William to Queen V ictoria , 2 7  February 18 48 : QVL
I I ,  177 -  9 . Gf G illessen, 2 - 4 .  * 4 ~ ’

2 0 5 . Westmorland to Palmerston, No 41, 29 February 1848: PRO FO 64/285.
2 0 6 . Jennings, 2 .
2 0 7 . Metternich to Eiitzow, confidential, 12 March 1848: M.A. de Klinkow- 

stroem (e d .): Mgmoires, Documents et Ecrits Divers laiss^s par
le Prince de Metternich, Chancelier de Cour et D’Btat (Paris 1884), 
V II, 605 .

2 0 8 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 3 2 , 1 March 1848: PRO FO 7/347 (partly 
q PP, LV II, 4 8 2 ).

2 0 9 . Londonderry, 3 0 .
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"which may he called Revolutionary." And he had never made any

secret o f his views on the state o f Ita ly . King Charles Albert o f

Sardinia was being encouraged by the same type o f men "who have just

now overturned in Prance the Throne o f 1830" ,  he to ld  Ponsonby. He

pleaded yet again fo r Palmerston to stop encouraging the libera ls

^ 211
and thereby the unrest.

I t  is  an exaggeration to say that Metternich "welcomed" the prospect

o f war with the Republic because he thought i t  would reunite Britain

212with the Northern Powers. But, fearing that war was probable, he

hoped that the British  Government would see the error o f it s  ways

and would jo in  the Northern Courts in resisting French expansionism

and stamping out d isa ffection . On 7 March he sent an identic despatch

to St. Petersburg, Berlin and London in which he proposed that the

four monarchical Powers should t e l l  the Provisional Government that

they did not intend to in terfere in Prance's internal a ffa irs  providing

the Republic agreed to respect existing trea ties , and that they should

warn i t  that i f  the Republic attacked any one o f the four Powers the

211others would regard i t  as a declaration o f war against them a l l .

The Tsar welcomed Metternich's proposal. He now considered the

maintenance o f peace as possible, "whereas i t  was at f ir s t  looked

214
upon as a foo lish  dream." But Metternich had always calculated 

on the support o f Russia and Prussia. The important reaction would 

be that o f the British  Government. Without Britain , the a lliance would 

not be seen as an alliance in defence o f order and the status quo, but 

as an alliance in support o f reaction and despotism. Metternich recog­

nised as c lea rly  as Lamartine the importance o f a British  declaration

2 1 0 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 3 4 , 7 March 1848: PRO PO 7/347.
2 1 1 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 3 3 , 3 March 1848: ib id  (partly q PP, 

LVII, 4 8 3 ).
2 1 2 . I t .  Prob.. 75.
2 1 3 . Circular despatch by Metternich, 7 March 1848: Klinkowstroem,

V II, 598 -  9.
2 1 4 . Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 6 0 , 18 March 1848: PRO PO 65/348.
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against the Republic.

"Here is  a pretty to do at Paris", wrote Palmerston to Ponsonby

on 29 February. I t  seemed lik e ly , he went on, that the Republic would

continue in France, at least fo r the moment. Any attempt at reaction,

either with an internal or external stimulus, would spell disaster;

"the only chance fo r tran qu illity  and order in France and fo r Peace
215

in Europe is  to give support to Lamartine." This le tte r  accompanied

a despatch to Ponsonby, copies of which were sent to Bloomfield and

Westmorland, in which Palmerston gave his opinion as to the best

line the monarchical Powers could adopt towards the Republic. The

"best and almost only chance o f preserving peace in Europe", he declared,

must be found in an entire abstenance f ~sic 7 on the part 
o f the other Powers o f Europe from any measures which might 
wear the appearance of a threatening demonstration against 
France, and which might ijjd^cate any intention o f in terfering 
in her internal concerns.

Whereas the Northern Courts thought that a demonstration o f strength 

and resolve would deter French aggression, Palmerston recognised that 

such a demonstration might antagonise the Provisional Government and 

exacerbate it s  domestic problems.

Advising moderation towards the Republic was only part o f Palmerston’ s

recommendations to the Northern Courts. He was convinced that i f

the states o f Germany and Ita ly  were to avoid revolution their governments

must institu te constitutional reforms. He advised the Austrian Government

to in it ia te  reforms in northern Ita ly  and recommended that i t  se ttle

its  differences with Sardinia so that they could combine to meet 
217

the new challenge, and he warned the Prussian Government o f the 

danger o f ignoring popular demands fo r reform and relying on the

215. Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/P0/808 
(q Ashley, I I ,  7 5 ).

2 1 6 . Circular despatch to Ponsonby, Bloomfield and Westmorland, 29
February 1848: FRO FO 7/3 4 3 * . ,

217. Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/PO/8O8
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army, c itin g  the events in Paris as an example o f what could happen.

But there was something half-hearted about the manner in which he

put forward th is advice. Although convinced that Austria and Prussia

would be wise to adopt his suggestions, he c lea rly  did not expect

them to do so. Meanwhile, he waited to hear how Metternich, Nesselrode

and Canitz had received the news o f the revolution in Prance.

In it ia l  reports on both sides seemed to suggest that Britain and

the Northern Courts were close to agreement on the ir policy towards

the Republic. Canitz, fo r  example, "most heartily  re jo ices" at the

attitude o f the B ritish  Government as explained by Bunsen, Westmorland 
219reported. However closer examination o f what had been said and

c la r ific a tion  about what had been meant revealed that there was a

significant divergence o f opinion. Canitz had applauded B rita in 's

attitude so warmly because Bunsen had gained the impression that the

British  Government would jo in  Metternich's jo in t declaration and would

220"unflinchingly uphold" the Vienna settlement. Bunsen had misunderstood

what had been said to him, Palmerston explained.

I  recommended concert, & deliberation, & caution as to 
what should be done or said, and I have invariably expressed 
an opinion that in the present uncertain state o f a ffa irs  
in Prance, the less that is  either done or said by the 
other Powers o f Europe the better.

Those Frenchmen who favoured war should not be given an excuse to

start one by arguing that the monarchical Powers were combining against 

221
the Republic. I t  was on th is principle that Palmerston explained

222the re jection  o f Metternich's proposal of 7 March.

There was another reason why the B ritish  Government refused to 

jo in  the Northern Courts in defence o f the Vienna settlement. On

218. Palmerston to Westmorland, No 4 4 » 10 March 1848: PRO PO 64/282.
2 1 9 . Westmorland to Palmerston, No 4 3 , 2 March 1848: ib id 64/285.
2 2 0 . Westmorland to Palmerston, No 5 2 , 9 March 1848: ib id .
2 2 1 . Palmerston to Westmorland, No 4 4 » 10 March 1848: ibid. 64/282.
2 2 2 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 4 5 » 20 March 1848: ib id  7/3 4 3 .
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7 March, "before Metternich's proposal was received "but in response 

to a sim ilar suggestion from Bunsen, Russell told  Palmerston that 

the British  Government "should "be guided "by our general concern fo r 

the "balance o f power & the independence o f States rather than the 

stipulation o f 1815” . Adjustments to the Vienna settlement were 

permissible, and in some cases even desirable, as long as the balance 

o f power v;as maintained and essential B ritish  interests were not threat­

ened. Britain had not guaranteed, and therefore had no obligation to 

defend, the whole o f the Vienna settlement, Palmerston told  Bunsen.

When asked which parts o f the settlement Britain would defend, Palm­

erston replied that i t  was not the practice o f the British  Government

"to  make any declaration as to what England would or would not do in

22Aany case which has not yet happened."

I t  seems lik e ly  that there was a third factor which affected the 

British  Government's thinking. Palmerston and his colleagues approved 

o f the objectives, although not necessarily the methods, o f many o f 

the libera ls  in Germany and Ita ly , and th is meant c r it ic is in g  the 

repressive po lic ies  o f the Northern Courts. They could not a l ly  them­

selves with the Northern Powers without seeming to abandon European 

liberalism , and in such circumstances the French Republic might pick

up the mantle o f the champion o f European liberalism  cast aside by the
22S

British  Government. The Cabinet was conscious o f a fundamental d if fe r ­

ence between " l ib e ra l"  Britain and the "reactionary" Northern Powers, 

just as there seemed to be a fundamental difference between Britain 

and the French Republic. In its  opinion, there was no natural a f f in ity  

between the four monarchical Powers, as Metternich seemed to assume.

Even so, had Palmerston believed that Metternich's proposal was benefic ia l

2 2 3 . Russell to Palmerston, 7 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/188.
2 2 4 . Palmerston to Westmorland, No 5 0 » 14 March 1848: PRO FO 64/2 8 2 .
2 2 5 . This fear became an important factor in Government thinking la ter 

in the year (see below pp. 12 9 , 295 and 299  -  300).
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to the peace o f Europe there seems l i t t l e  doubt that Britain would 

have associated with the Northern Powers. But Palmerston did not Be­

lieve  that the proposal would he benefic ia l -  indeed he thought i t  

would be harmful -  and in such circumstances the difference between 

constitutional Britain and the despotic Northern Powers served to 

reinforce his re jection .

* x- *

I t  vías not only the Northern Powers that were alarmed by the news

o f the proclamation o f the Second Republic. King Leopold, fearing

that revolution would spread to Belgium, prepared to jo in  Louis Ph il-

226ippe in ex ile  and on the 26th he offered to abdicate. Van de Weyer,

convinced that the French would invade Belgium, asked Palmerston to

send a naval squadron to the Scheldt, where its  presence "sera it une

demonstration decisive et fo rcera it le Gouvernement révolutionnaire

de la France ^ abandonner ses projets d'envahissement." 1 Fortunately,

the Belgian Government was made o f sterner s tu ff. I t  rejected the

King's o ffe r  to abdicate, increased the garrisons of the fron tier

fortresses, arrested suspected revolutionaries, and sought confirmation

of the guarantee o f Belgian neutrality from the signatories of the 

223Treaty of London. The precautions were wise, but as fa r as the 

Belgian people were concerned unnecessary. "The sp ir it  of nationality 

and o f repugnance to foreign intervention manifested amongst a l l  

classes is  most decided", Howard de Walden reported on 4 March. "The 

tone o f the high p o lit ic a l Parties has been admirable, a l l  uniting 

in support o f the common cause -  National Independence."

The British Government was also anxious that Belgium should maintain

2 2 6 . B.D. Gooch: Belgium and the February Revolution (The Hague 1963 ) ,
27 -  8.

2 2 7 . Van de Weyer to d'Hoffschmidt, confidential, 5 p.m. 27 February 
1848: Ridder, I ,  6 - 7 *

2 2 8 . Gooch, 28  -  3 2 .
2 2 9 . Howard de Walden to Palmerston, No 1 1 , 4 March 1848: PRO FO 10/137-
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its  independence and neutrality. Russell and Palmerston were prepared

230to go to war to defend Belgium, But they hoped that the Belgian 

Government would do nothing to provoke an attack or make a successful 

invasion possible. In contrast to his language to the Northern Courts, 

Palmerston warned the Belgian Government not "to  re ly  too confidently 

on the Pacific  disposition o f the men who fo r the moment direct the 

A ffa irs  o f Prance". I t  would he "highly imprudent" fo r i t  "to make 

any m ilitary demonstrations which should indicate an expectation of 

attack", hut i t  would he equally unwise not to "s ile n t ly  mature its  

defensive_ 7  arrangements".

The British  Government did not want Belgium to succumb to revolution 

or invasion, hut there was a lim it to how far i t  would go to help 

King Leopold and his Government. The February Revolution caused a 

financial c r is is  in Belgium, and the Belgian Government feared that 

unless the industrial distress was relieved a revolution might break 

out. I t  enquired whether the British  Government would give a loan as 

British  hankers had not been sa tis fied  with the securities the Belgian 

Government had offered. Lansdowne, to whom Van de Weyer communicated

the request, was sympathetic, hut said that the state o f public opinion

232on questions o f finance precluded any loan. Wood made a sim ilar 

observation on 15 March when the Cabinet considered a request from 

King Leopold that the B ritish  Government should revive the annuity 

o f £3 0 ,0 0 0  which he had given up in 1830 . Sir George Grey added "that 

he had reports showing the temting /~sic 7  o f the people in the manu­

facturing d is tr ic ts  to republicanism -  what would be said o f another 

3 0 ,000£ a year to keep up royalty in Belgium." Combined with certain

2 3 0 . Palmerston to Normanby, 27 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/9 (q Ashley, 
I I ,  72); Russell's memorandum, 10 May 1848: PRO 3O/22/7C (q Walpole,
I I ,  4 2 ). „ n ,

2 3 1 . Palmerston to Howard de Walden, No 4» 6 March 1848s PRO F0 10/13 6 .
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understandable doubts about whether Belgium was in as much danger as 

Leopold and his ministers claimed, th is fear of provoking unrest in

Britain was su ffic ien t to persuade the Cabinet to re ject the request.

The British Government was anxious to maintain s ta b ility  in Belgium,

but not at the cost o f increasing the chances of revolution at home.

The Belgian Government was not the only government which feared

that the French revolution would find an echo in it s  own country.

The Spanish Government was appalled by the overthrow of the Orleans

monarchy. I t  sought a rapprochement with Britain , saying i t  wished

to concert i t s  policy towards the Republic with that o f the British

Government. Bulwer, however, rebuffed the overture, using the occasion

to c r it ic is e  the leg is la tion  the Spanish Government had introduced

to prevent c iv i l  d i s o r d e r . I t  is  tempting to see Bulwer's response

as a result o f his intense d is like o f Narvaez's administration and
235

his sympathy with the lib era l opposition. But this was only part

o f the reason. He had c r itic is ed  the new leg is la tion , he told  Palmerston,

because he thought i t  more lik e ly  to provoke unrest than prevent i t .  0

The Portuguese, the British  minister in Lisbon reported, received

the news o f Louis Philippe's f a l l  with "less perceptible sensation

than was to have been expected". But Seymour fe l t  certain that when

revolts began in Spain, as he f e l t  sure they would, there would be

"great violence" in Portugal. This could be prevented, he continued,

i f  the present government was dismissed and a more lib era l one was 
237

established. Palmerston shared Seymour's assessment o f the situation. 

On 28 February he sent the minister a strongly worded despatch in which

2 3 3 . Hobhouse's Diary, 15 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f 12 9?
Morpeth's Diary, 15 March 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 fi7 .

2 3 4 . Bulwer to Palmerston, No 2 8 , 4 March 1848: FRO FO 72/74O (q PP,
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he expressed the hope that the Portuguese Government would "take timely- 

warning from the events" in Paris and would not, "hy persevering in 

an unconstitutional and unnational Course o f Administration, reduce 

the ir Sovereign to the melancholy Condition in which e v i l  Counsels
p O

have placed the King o f the French." The Queen o f Portugal was 

furious when Seymour read Palmerston's despatch to her. She declared 

that there was no need to pass reforms and that she had "perfect con­

fidence o f being able to meet coming events in security." Saldanha, 

the Foreign Minister, was more po lite  but equally resolute, and he 

condemned the lib e ra l opposition which, he claimed, was "fixed  upon 

French support and upon a Republic". The future o f Portugal, he said, 

depended on whether Britain supported the Portuguese Government.

I f  they countenance us, we may fa ir ly  hope to get safely 
through the coming ordeal, even should our Neighbours be 
revolutionized. I f  they do not, the Queen is  lo s t, English 
influence is  lo s t, and Portugalpmust become a Republic 
under the protection o f France. ~

Palmerston's despatch had put an end to any hope o f a rapprochement, 

but Seymour prevented the r i f t  worsening. When he received a despatch 

from Palmerston warning that the Portuguese Government would be respon­

sib le " i f  the Torch o f C iv il War should again be l i t  up",2^  he did 

not give a copy to Saldanha, as he had been instructed, but merely 

read i t  to him, judging that that would be less o ffen s ive .2^1

At the other end o f Europe, the Porte also looked to the British  

Government fo r  advice and support. The position o f the Porte was an 

invidious one, observed Lord Cowley, the British  representative in 

Constantinople during the prolonged absence o f Stratford Canning.

With a republican Government in a country that is  never 
w ell with Turkey on one side, and a powerful, envious, 
and not over scrupulous neighbour, the determined enemy

2 3 8 . Palmerston to Seymour, No 3 5 » 28  February 1848: ib id  63/68O.
2 3 9 * Seymour to Palmerston, No 116, confidentia l, 16 March 1848: ib id

63/ 683.
240. Palmerston to Seymour, No 4 4 » 16 March 1848: ib id  63/680 .
2 4 1 . Seymour to Palmerston, No 12 8 , 24 March 1848: ib id 63/683.



124

o f every thing revolutionary on the other, . . . the anxiety 
to the Turkish Ministers is  hardly to he wondered at. They 
foresee the diplomatic struggle to which they may he sub­
jected, and they dread the anger o f the party that Succumbs, 
should the struggle unfortunately take place.

Reschid Pasha, the Grand V iz ie r , and Aali Pasha, the Foreign Minister, 

appealed to Cowley fo r advice which, despite not knowing his Govern­

ment's intentions, Cowley fe l t  compelled to give in order to prevent

242the Porte va c illa tin g  between France and Russia. When Canning reached 

Constantinople towards the end o f June, he found that "the Sultan looks 

to England as his sheet anchor in the midst o f the storm extending to 

his dominions". I t  was an opportune moment, Canning judged, to strengthen 

the t ies  between Britain and Turkey.2^

Palmerston must have sensed the opportunity to establish an Anglo- 

Turkish entente as c learly  as Canning, but he did not respond to the 

overture. He to ld  the ambassador that a closer understanding with the 

Porte was unnecessary as neither France nor Russia "entertain at present 

any intentions hostile to Turkey".2ẑ  I t  seems a strangely unPalmers- 

tonian decision, fo r  Palmerston rarely le t an opportunity escape i f  he 

thought Britain could p ro fit from i t .  But there was a good reason fo r 

his caution on th is occasion. Europe was in turmoil a fte r the March 

revolutions. Palmerston did not want to complicate matters further by 

s tirr in g  up a quarrel with Russia over the Near East.

Signs o f the reluctance o f both Britain and Russia to upset the 

balance in the Near East could be discerned as early as March. When 

the French f le e t  sailed from Toulon Brunnow warned Palmerston that 

i t s  a rriva l o f f  Greece could destabilise the eastern Mediterranean.2^

The follow ing month Palmerston consulted the Russian Government before

242. Cowley to Palmerston, most confidential, 26 March 1848: ib id78/728. .
243. Canning to Palmerston, separate and confidential, 1 July 1848:

ib id  78/7 3 3 . .
244. Palmerston to Canning, No 86, 2 August 1848: ib id  78/7 3 1 .
2 4 5 . Brunnow to Palmerston, 23 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/BR/2 1 2 .
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sending a despatch to Constantinople encouraging the Porte on its
P/l f\

course of moderate reform. q However the mutual suspicion and jealousy

was not far beneath the surface. In May, a fter Cowley had returned

to England, the Sultan dismissed Reschid Pasha. Nesselrode declared

2A7
that Russia had had nothing to do with the Sultan's decision,

but Palmerston was not convinced. "Brunnow", he wrote to Bloomfield,

has been preaching to me ever since the French Revolution 
the importance o f keeping things quiet in Turkey, and now 
the Russians bring about a change the obvious and gegessary 
consequence o f which is  disturbance and commotion. ^

Despite his suspicions, on th is occasion Palmerston was prepared to

give Russia the benefit o f the doubt, partly perhaps because he knew

that Canning, who had great influence with the Porte, would soon

reach Constantinople. But the episode reveals how l i t t l e  he thought

of Russian assurances when the interests o f the two Powers in the

Near East were at stake.

Six years a fte r  1848 Anglo-Russian r iva lry  over Turkey led to war 

between the two Powers. But o f more immediate concern to the British  

Government was the poss ib ility  that the February Revolution would 

encourage revolution in Ita ly  and that th is could lead to a general 

war. In it ia l  reports from Ita ly , however, indicated that the news 

from France would have the opposite e ffe c t to what had been feared. 

Dawkins, at Milan, wrote that a fter the f ir s t  fee lin g  o f amazement 

had passed, "the great majority o f those who have anything to lose" 

began to fear a revolution in northern Ita ly . They were s t i l l  hostile 

to the Austrians, but Dawkins believed that i f  the Government offered 

some concessions i t  "might s t i l l  ra lly  round i t  a great number of 

persons who . . . out o f regard for order & dread o f the spread of 

anything like communist opinions, would give the ir support to the

246. Palmerston to Bloomfield, No 9 5 » 14 A p ril 1848: PRO FO 65/3 4 4 *
247. Bloomfield to Palmerston, 30 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/BL/19O.
248. Palmerston to Bloomfield, copy, 29 May 1848: ib id GC/BL/2 3 0 .
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Authorities."2^  Metternich, however, had no intention o f making any

concessions. He thought the propertied classes would now rea lise the
250

dangers o f the forces with which they had been f l ir t in g .

Elsewhere in Ita ly  the reaction to the February Revolution was

equally favourable to the authorities. In Tuscany there was less popular

251agitation fo r  reform. In Sardinia there were some demonstrations

in favour o f the Republic in Genoa, but on the whole the public fee lin g

252was "loya l and firm ". The Sardinian Government, Abercromby told

Russell, hoped to be able to restrain the popular h o s t ility  towards 

253Austria. Indeed, during the f ir s t  week of March i t  seemed lik e ly

that i t  would be France rather than Austria that Sardinia would be

figh ting. The Sardinians were convinced that the new Republic would

embark on an aggressive war and that they would "have to stand the

f ir s t  attack that may be made on the side of I t a ly . "  They looked to

254.
Britain fo r support and advice. Meanwhile, in order to defend herse lf,

255Sardinia mobilised f iv e  o f her eight divisions. J

The advice which Palmerston gave the Sardinians was not to their 

lik ing. Whilst advocating a policy o f "s tr ic t  and r ig id  neutrality" 

towards France, he thought i t  advisable, as he had previously told  

Metternich, that they should "concert with the Austrian Government 

measures fo r jo in t action in the event of the French Govt. . . . making 

an attack upon the te rr ito r ie s  o f the King o f Sardinia".2^  Such advice

249. Dawkins to Palmerston, No 2 2 , 6 March 1848: PRO FO 7/356 (q PP,
LVII, 5 0 3 ). —

250. Metternich to Lutzow, confidential, 12 March 1848s Klinkowstroem,
V II, 604.

2 5 1 . Townley to Minto, 16 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12077 f57.
252. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 3 3 , 2 March 1848, No 3 6 , 4 March 1848, 

and No 4 0 , 8 March 1848: PRO FO 67/151 (q PP, LVII, 482, 484 and 
5 0 4 ).

2 5 3 . Abercromby to Russell, 16 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B.
2 5 4 « Abercromby to Palmerston, 2 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/ab/116  (q Dip. G.B..

9 3 ). Cf San Marzano to Revel, 2 March 1848: Dip. Sard., 61 -  2 .
2 5 5 « Abercromby to Minto, 5 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12083 f f l6 l  — 2 .
256. Palmerston to Abercromby, No 1 9 , 13 March 1848: PRO FO 67/148 (q Bip.

G.B., 106 -  7 ). Cf Revel to San Marzano, 14 March 1848 (2  despatches): 
Dip. Sard.. 68 -  70 and 74 -  5 ? I t .  Prob., 78.
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vías unrealistic, fo r  the mutual suspicion and antipathy of the Sardinian

and Austrian governments was so great as to preclude any co-operation.

A more probable defensive alliance fo r  Sardinia was with Rome and
257

Tuscany, which Abercromby reported was a poss ib ility . I t  was an

association which Palmerston wanted to encourage, fo r  he believed that

"the more Ita ly  can unite its  separate parts into one common system

258Commercial and P o lit ic a l the b e tte r ."  Abercromby also saw advantages

in i t :  i f  the Sardinian Government could o ffe r  i t s  people the prospect

of union with Rome and Tuscany, he observed to Russell, i t  might be

259able to resist the growing clamour fo r  war with Austria.

The problem, as most British  observers realised, was that the I t a l ­

ians were only united in the ir moderation by fear of French aggression 

and respect fo r  Austrian strength. When they realised that the Republic 

was sympathetic to the ir cause, Normanby predicted, there would be a 

revolt in Milan, and the Sardinian Government would be forced by domestic 

pressure to assist the Lombards. I f  that happened, the "best thing" 

would be fo r  the Ita lians to gain an "unassisted success", fo r i f  they 

were defeated or checked "nothing in the world w il l  prevent the French 

from crossing the Alps". The result o f such intervention, Normanby 

wrote, would be a European war.^ ^

News of the f a l l  o f Louis Philippe reached northern Ita ly  at a 

time when the governments there were seeking to avert a revolution.

I t  reached southern Ita ly  when the Neapolitan Government, assisted 

by its  B ritish  mediator, was trying to se ttle  a revolution which 

had broken out two months ea rlie r . At f i r s t  the news seemed to have

2 5 7 » Abercromby to Palmerston, No 4 1 » secret and confidential, 8 March 
1848: PRO FO 67/151 (q PP, LV II, 507).

258. Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 21 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/ab/269 
(q Dip, g .b . , 114 -  15).

259. Abercromby to Russell, 8 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,  334).
2 6 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, 1 March 1848: Bd. P. Gc/NO/129.
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a benefic ia l e ffe c t , fo r i t  alarmed the Neapolitans su ffic ien tly  to 

make them agree to the outstanding S ic ilian  demands.2^1 But when Minto 

reached Palermo, he found that the terms to which Ferdinand had agreed 

were no longer acceptable. Encouraged by events in France, the S icilians 

now wanted the whole o f the constitution o f 1812 and would no longer 

tolerate being ruled by Ferdinand, wanting one o f his sons instead.

By a mixture o f threats and persuasion, Minto got the S icilians to

2 62accept Ferdinand but he could not make them move on the constitution.

The King, he thought, should accept the revised proposal. " I f  he does 

not he loses S ic i ly . "2'^

The situation in Naples had deteriorated during Minto's absence.

There were anti-Jesuit and anti-Government r io ts  and clashes between
P C A

rio ters  and troops. ° The trouble could have been crushed easily ,

the B ritish  charge d ’ a ffa ires  judged, but "the Ministry were paralyzed
268by fear and thought more o f Guizot than the ir Duty." I t  was against 

th is background that Ferdinand, conscious that the revolution in 

France had got out o f hand a fte r  Louis Philippe had shown signs o f 

weakness, rejected the new proposal. " I  deplore th is disastrous termin­

ation o f a l l  your labours", Napier wrote to Minto, " . . .  but they 

266w il l  have i t  so ." ' Negotiations between the Neapolitan Government 

and the S icilians were broken o f f  and the la tte r  began to press fo r 

the ir complete independence.

The collapse o f the mediation convinced Minto that the continued 

union o f S ic ily  and Naples was impossible. As he prepared to leave 

for England, he advised his colleagues to support the„cause o f S ic ilian

2 6 1 . Minto to Palmerston, No 4 1 , 7 March 1848: PRO FO 44/5 (q PP,
LVI, 4 3 2 ). —

2 6 2 . Minto to Palmerston, No 4 3 , 13 March 1848: PRO FO 44/5 (q PP,
LVI, 451 -  3 ).

2 6 3 . Minto’ s Journal, 14 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12669 f 60 .
2 6 4 . Napier to Palmerston, No 86, 11 March 1848: PRO FO 70/2 2 2 .
265. Napier to Minto, 16 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12077 ff68 -  7 3 .
2 6 6 . Napier to Minto, 22 March 1848: ib id  f f 87 -  8.



independence. The S ic ilians, he wrote, "generally fe e l they must 

look for the ir protection to one o f the great Powers: Their eyes 

are naturally turned towards England} hut i f  we discard them the
p fn

alliance o f the French Republic w i l l  probably be sought and obtained."

In Minto's opinion, the question was not whether Britain wanted to 

gain S ic i ly ’ s gratitude, and consequently a strategic advantage in 

the central Mediterranean, but whether she could afford to le t France 

do so. On 7 March Russell had argued that as long as the balance 

o f power was maintained, the t e r r ito r ia l stipulations o f the treaties 

o f 1815 did not matter. ’ Minto's suggestion that the British  Govern­

ment should support S ic ilian  independence rather than the continued 

union o f Naples and S ic ily  was the f ir s t  attempt, as yet unauthorised, 

to put that principle into practice.

Minto's mission to Ita ly , o f which the S ic ilian  mediation was the 

climax, produced a mixed reaction in Britain. Croker, w riting in the

Quarterly Review, declared that i t  was "beyond a l l  doubt the prime

269incentive to the disturbance in that portion o f Europe". D israeli,

speaking in the Commons in August, was less condemnatory, but he did

observe that Minto's e ffo r ts  were at best in e ffec tive  and at worst270counter-productive. Palmerston, replying for the Government, ignored

D israe li's  challenge to prove that the mission had been successful

and merely explained at length that i t  was not gratuitous interference.^"^

In private, however, Palmerston was prepared to argue that Minto had

achieved some ben efic ia l results. I f  he had not gone to Ita ly , he

wrote in March, "there would by this Time have been nothing but Republics

2 6 7 . Minto to Palmerston, No 56, 6 April 1848: PRO FO 44/5 (q PP,
LVI, 5 1 0 - 1 1 ).

2 6 8 . See above p. 119.
2 6 9 . Quarterly Review, LXXXIV, 300 -  1.
270. Hansard, Cl, 149 -  51.
271. ib id , 164 -  8.
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from the Alps to S ic i ly ."  I t  was not a claim that could he proved

one way or the other, hut not even Palmerston's colleagues were convinced

hy i t .  " I  dare say he /~MintoJ  has done an enormous deal o f good

everywhere", wrote Clarendon, "hut I  don't happen to perceive the

273benefic ia l resu lts". Minto had done his best, hut the problem 

had been beyond h is, and probably anyone's, solution.

272

272. Palmerston to Minto, 28 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 f 113 (q 
Ashley, I I ,  57).

2 7 3 . Clarendon to Normanby, 17 April 1848: Nor. P. 0/156.
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Chapter I I I ;  Chartism and Ireland

In the previous chapter, the reaction to the French revolution 

o f the British  Government and o f the British  electorate, as re flected  

in Parliament and the press, was discussed. That reaction, as we have 

seen, was marked hy alarm and distrust. But there was a powerful 

body o f opinion in Britain which did not view the February Revolution 

in th is ligh t. For the English Chartists and the Ir ish  Repealers, 

the f a l l  o f Louis Philippe and the formation of the Second Republic 

was not a catastrophe but a great socia l and p o lit ic a l advance which 

heralded the dawn of a new age, during which the aspirations o f the 

Chartists and the Repealers would be fu l f i l le d .  As a resu lt, the f ir s t  

challenge to the British  Government in 1848 came not from across the 

Channel, as ministers had feared, but from two sections o f the British  

pub l i  c .

i )  CHARTISM AND THE FRENCH REVOLUTION

According to Thomas Frost, the news o f the abdication o f Louis

Philippe reached London whilst a meeting o f the Fraternal Democrats

was in progress. "The e ffec t was e le c tr ic a l" , he recalled.

Frenchmen, Germans, Poles, Magyars, sprang to the ir fe e t, 
embraced, shouted, and gesticulated in the wildest enthusiasm. 
Snatches o f oratory were delivered in excited tones, and 
flags were caught from the walls, to be waved exu ltingly, 
amidst cries o f ’ Hoch.* EljenJ Vive la RSfrubliquej* Then 
the doors were opened, and the whole assemblage descended 
to the street, and, with linked arms and colours fly in g , 
marched to the meeting-place of the Westminster Chartists, 
in Dean Street, Soho. There another enthusiastic fratern ization  
took place, and great was the clinking o f glasses that night 
in and around Soho and Leicester Square.

1. T. Frost: Forty Years* Recollections: L iterary and P o lit ic a l (London
1880), 128 -  9-
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The deta ils o f Frost’ s account are in doubt, but i t  gives a v iv id  

picture o f the enthusiasm with which the Chartists received the news. 

"The Revolution is  accomplished", exulted the Northern Star in its  

late editions on the 26th. "Amidst a hurricane of blood and f i r e ,  

the monarchy o f Louis Philippe has perished." The revolution was an 

example fo r  the people of England, i t  continued. I t  was time fo r  the 

working-classes to unite and demand the ir rights, namely the Charter. 

"Hurrah fo r the people o f Paris !" i t  concluded. "Vive la  République!"^ 

The news o f the revolution gave a massive and timely boost to the 

Chartist movement. There were a number of well-attended meetings 

throughout the country, especia lly in industrial areas, to which the 

Star gave copious coverage. At these meetings, which seem to have 

followed a sim ilar pattern, there was much cheering fo r the Charter 

and the Republic and singing o f the M arseillaise. The speakers would 

then read extracts from the newspapers, using them to demonstrate the 

weakness o f the authorities and the strength o f the popular cause, 

and exhort the ir listeners to agitate fo r the Charter.^ Shorn o f the 

rhetoric, the aims o f the Chartists remained re la t iv e ly  moderate.

The lesson which i t  was thought could be learnt from France was not 

that of revolution but o f the ir r e s is t ib i l i t y  of mass protest. The 

f a l l  of the monarchy was not seen as an objective which Britons should 

try  to emulate, but as a warning which the ruling classes would be 

wise to heed. The strength o f the Chartist movement lay not in its  

vehemence but in the extent and justice o f i t s  cause, and that strength 

could only be harnassed i f  i t  was concentrated. "Organise, organise,

2 . The meeting o f the Fraternal Democrats was not un til the evening 
o f the 28th (Northern Star, 4 March 1848, 1 ), by which time the 
news o f the revolution had been known in London fo r three days.

3 . Northern Star, 26 February 1848, 4 » Of D. Goodway: London Chartism 
1838 -  1848 (Cambridge 1982), 68.

4. Northern Star. 11 and 18 March 1848, 4 ; R.G. Gammage: History o f 
the Chartist Movement, 1837 -  1854 2nd edn., (London 1894 )* 293 -  
3 01 .
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organise", urged the Northern Star; "so that we can bring a l l  our

concentrated power to bear on one given point -  the weak spot o f
5

corruption -  and then i t  must give way."

I t  was d i f f ic u lt ,  however, to separate the message from the language 

that was used to put i t  forward. The Northern Star preached moderation 

in an excited and sometimes extreme manner. At Chartist meetings the 

speakers were encouraged by the ir enthusiastic reception into using 

language that was lik e ly  to inflame the ir audience, and there was a 

tendency to make vague threats towards the authorities. At a meeting 

o f the Fraternal Democrats, fo r example, Ernest Jones warned that
g

"a republic is  a plant not peculiar to France". Moreover, in private

there was tendency to discuss a l l  kinds o f plans fo r revolution and

future governments of England. Some o f these plots may have been
7

formulated by agents provocateurs, as Thomas Cooper believed, but 

the majority were probably the results o f the dreams o f sincere Chartists 

who allowed the ir excitement to get the better o f them. The Chartists 

may have been aiming at reform, but the language they adopted, both 

in public and private, was sometimes that o f revolution.

Until recently, l i t t l e  work had been done on the reaction o f the 

Government and the "respectable" classes to the Chartist agitation
g

in 1848. The studies o f David Goodway and David Large have gone some 

way to remedying th is and they make some useful points, but both tend 

to look at events from the viewpoint o f the Chartists and consequently 

exaggerate the fear o f the "respectable" classes. Large has suggested 

that the r io ts  in Trafalgar Square, Manchester and Glasgow were regarded

5 - Northern Star, 4 March 1848, 4 * Cf Labourer. I l l ,  14O -  2 and 183 -  6; 
Howitt’ s Journal, I I I ,  1 6 2 - 3  and 191 * Westminster Review, XLIX,
483 -  5 0 3 .

6 . Northern Star. 4 March 1848, 1 .
7 - Cooper, 303 -  8.
8. Goodway, 68 -  9 6 ; D. Large: "London in the Year o f Revolution, 1848" 

in J. Stevenson (e d .):  London in the Age of  Reform (Oxford 1977 )»
177 -  2 0 3 .
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as "omens o f approaching Chartist-inspired revolution". An examination

o f press opinion, however, indicates that this was not the case. The

rio ts  were regarded as socia l disturbances, not p o lit ic a l demonstrations.

The crowds that assembled in London, wrote The Times on the 9th, were

composed o f "a few dozen ruffians and rogues . . . screened and sheltered

10by a gaping crowd o f sight-hunters." In th is instance, whether or

11not the crowds were composed in th is manner is  o f less importance 

than the general b e lie f  that that was how they were composed. The 

Gentleman's Magazine, a fter describing the r io ts  in Trafalgar Square, 

Manchester and Glasgow, concluded: "The lower orders had been no doubt 

inflamed by the speeches o f a parcel o f low demagogues; but i t  was

12evident that plunder, not p o lit ic s , was the object o f the r io te rs ."

The members o f the Government shared the general assumption that

13the r io ts  were not manifestations o f p o lit ic a l protest. For the 

authorities th is was an important d istinction  to make. I f  the disturbances 

were the result o f hooliganism, and not p o lit ic a l d isa ffection , then 

the use o f force to restore law and order was not p o lit ic a l repression.

I t  is  possible that ministers deliberately misrepresented the nature 

o f the trouble in order to ju s t ify  the ir po lic ies , but there is  no 

evidence o f th is and, because the views expressed in private were the 

same as those expressed in public, i t  would mean that ministers sought

9

9 . Large, 183 -
10 . The Times, 9 March 1848, 4 *
11. Until more work is  done on the r io ts  o f 1848 the composition o f 

the crowds w il l  remain unclear. Certainly they had more p o lit ic a l 
content than The Times suggested, but preliminary work on the 
events in Trafalgar Square reveals that, although the meeting was 
harangued by G.W.M. Reynolds in favour o f Chartism, i t  was not 
basica lly  a p o lit ic a l demonstration (Goodway, 7 1 j Large, 18 3 ).

12 . Gentleman's Magazine, XXIX, 416 -  1 7 « Cf MH, 8 March 1848, 4 ?
MP, 9 March 1848, 4 ; DN, 9 and 14 March 1848, 2 ; Glasgow Herald, 
10 March 1848, 2 ; MG, 11 March 1848, 6; MC, 15 March 1848, 4.

1 3 . G. Grey to Russell, 7 and 8 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,  
186 -  7 ; Grey's Journal, 12 March 1848: Grey P. C3/1 4J Palmerston 
to Rormanby, No 1 0 6 , 14 March 1848: PRO FO 27/7 9 7 «
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to deceive each other as well as the public. The precautions that

were taken, such as the swearing in o f Special Constables,  ̂ were

to cope with the widespread disorder that seemed to be breaking out

rather than to prevent revolution. However the reco llection  o f the

events in Prance ensured that no one was too complacent. Vihen Morpeth

described the trouble in Trafalgar Square as "a set o f r i f f - r a f f

throwing stones at Policemen, lamps & windows", Princess Lieven remarked

15that that was how the revolution started in Paris.

The Government's main concern with respect to the Chartists during

March was less the ir direct impact on Britain than the poss ib ility

that they might receive encouragement and support from the French

Republic. On 3 March three groups o f Chartists, including the Fraternal

Democrats, agreed to present a jo in t address to the "HEROIC CITIZENS"

o f France, as represented by the Provisional Government. In the address,

the Chartists congratulated the people of Paris on the "glorious service"

they had rendered mankind. "By your courage and magnanimity, your

heroism and devotion to princip le, you have consecrated the sacred

right o f insurrection; the last resource o f the oppressed -  the last

argument against repression." A fter praising the humanity and moderation

shown during the revolution, the Chartists continued:

Should kings and oppressive governments, unmindful of the 
lessons o f the past, dare again to league against France,
. . . assure yourselves, c itizens, that the nations w il l  
not, th is time, follow  the banners o f their tyrants. No! 
they w il l  march on your side, fo r  your cause is  th e ir 's .
You are the advanced guard o f Freedom's arny, and we can 
assure you that the British  people w i l l  never sanction a 
fra tr ic id a l war against the ir brethren o f France.

Accept our fraternal salutations, and our earnest wishes 
that the French Republic may triumph over a l l  i t s  enemies, 
and become a model fo r the im itation o f the world. 3

The Provisional Government received many such addresses from foreign

1 4 » Large, 183 -  4 *
15 . Morpeth's Diary, 8 March 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f l 2 .
16 . Northern Star, 4 March 1848, 1 .
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deputations, appealing either d irec tly  or in d irec tly  fo r  support fo r 

the ir cause, and i t  became the practice fo r  a senior o f f ic ia l  to re­

ceive them at the HStel de V ille  during which, usually in the presence 

o f a vociferous crowd, he would make a b r ie f,  extemporized speech

thanking the deputation fo r its  good wishes and expressing reciprocal

17fee lings fo r whatever cause was being presented. As fa r as the Prov­

isional Government was concerned, the object o f such receptions was to 

placate the minority communities in Paris. But fo r  the listen ing dele­

gation and its  supporters, the rep lies could be represented as French 

support fo r the ir cause, and as many o f the rep lies were ill-considered 

and vague they sometimes seemed that way to foreign governments. The 

reply o f Garnier-Pages to the Chartist address was a typ ica l example. 

"Take care to t e l l  the English Chartists that, in the Provisional Govern­

ment you have found the l iv e l ie s t  sympathy", the Northern Star reported 

him as saying. ". . . T e ll them we admire their principles and respect 

the ir party; and that from such the regeneration o f society is  to be 

expected.

The Northern Star was understandably delighted with the reply.

The British Government, in contrast, was furious about what i t  regarded

as the countenance given to the Chartists' misrepresentation o f its  

1 9attitude. The Chartists had implied that the British  Government

had been prevented from declaring war on the Republic by the refusal

o f the British  people to support such a step. In fa c t, the British

Government had never intended to attack the Republic. I t  decided to

make its  d issatisfaction  known, in the hope that i t  would "check any

20
further Proceedings o f the same Kind". On the 11th two more Chartist

1 7 . Jennings, 48 -  9 *
18. Northern Star, 11 March 1848, 5 *
1 9 . Russell to Normanby, 9 March 1848: Nor. P. P/23/24.
2 0 . Palmerston to Clarendon, 9 March 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 2 4 -
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delegations v is ited  the Hfttel de V il le .  Lamartine received them himself,

in order, he to ld  Normariby, to be "quite sure there was nothing that

21could offend the English Govt." His speech, which stressed the links

between the two countries and his desire fo r a close understanding 
22between them, was a model o f moderation. But the British  Government

remained unhappy, partly i t  would seem because Lamartine's speech

received less publicity than that o f Garnier-PagSs. I t  made an o f f ic ia l

protest about the la tte r , ca lling i t  an unwarranted interference in

23B rita in 's  internal a ffa irs . In reply, Lamartine apologised i f  any

offence had been taken where none had been meant. He stressed the

d iff ic u lt ie s  o f making an impromptu speech in front o f an often noisy

and unruly crowd, and reassured Normanby that " a l l  his colleagues

were . . . animated by an unanimous desire to cu ltivate the English

A lliance, and not in any way to in terfere in the internal a ffa irs  o f

the British  Empire."  ̂ The British  Government was sa tis fied  with Lamartine's

apology, but i t  was anxious to avoid a recurrence o f the disagreement

especia lly as i t  knew that a delegation o f Ir ish  Confederates was

25about to v is i t  Paris. "The best way would be i f  Lamartine & his 

colleagues would give up these public receptions", observed Russell.

P". . . I t  was only permissible in the f i r s t  days o f the new Republic."

*  *  *

During the f i r s t  week o f A pril the attitude o f the "respectable" 

classes in Britain towards the Chartists underwent an important change. 

Instead o f being largely  unconcerned with the movement, they became 

determined that i t  should be defeated. The reason fo r  the change was 21 22 23 24 25 26

2 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, 11 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/134.
2 2 . A. de Lamartine: Trois Mois au Pouvoir (Brussels 1848), 9 0 - 2 .
2 3 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 10 5 , 14 March 1848: PRO F0 27/797.
24. Normanby to Palmerston, No 16 2 , 15 March 1848: ib id 27/0O4 (q NJ,

I ,  225 -  6).
25. See below pp. 158- 63 .
2 6 . Undated note by Russell: Nor. P. P/23/25.
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that the Chartists had suddenly become regarded as a serious threat.

At the end o f March the Northern Star announced that i t  was arranging

a mass ra lly  on Kennington Common on 10 A p ril a fte r  which the meeting

would march to the Houses o f Parliament to present the monster petition

that xifas being signed throughout the country. The very scale o f the

proposed demonstration would have aroused public interest even in

normal times, but the widespread anxiety that the announcement caused

was probably the result o f the general European situation. The news

o f the revolutions in Germany and Ita ly  made the public more aware

than i t  had been that the revolutionary phenomenon was not confined

to Prance and that i t  could spread to countries previously regarded

as safe. Pew people thought that England was in a revolutionary condition,

but in the circumstances no one fe l t  certain. "There was more genuine

alarm in London on that day than I  ever remember to have existed",

27wrote G.C. Lewis o f 10 A pril. However the alarm among the propertied 

classes manifested i t s e l f  not in panic but in a determination to prevent 

a successful revolution. The press did not deny the right o f the Char­

t is ts  to petition  Parliament, but strongly opposed the procession 

which was seen as an attempt to coerce the Government. Newspapers 

o f a l l  p o lit ic a l complexions urged the Government to take a strong 

and resolute stance, whilst doing what i t  could to a llev ia te  the distress 

which gave credence to an otherwise doomed p o lit ic a l movement. "When 

the cause is  good, i t s  defence should be prompt, energetic, and decisive", 

declared The Times on 6 A pril. "This is  not the time to play with
P 3

public safety and tamper with sed ition ."

I t  has long been known that the Government took great precautions 27 28

27. Lewis, 172 .
2 8 . The Times, 6 , 7 and 8 A pril 1848, 4 ; Standard, 6 A pril 1848, 2 ;

MC, 7 A p ril 1848, 4; MP, 7 and 8 A pril 1848, 4; M , 7 and 8 A pril 
1848, 2 -  3 ; MH, 8 A p ril 1848, 45 8 A pril 1848, 6; Spectator,
8 A pril 1848, 347 -  8.



139

to prevent a revolution on 10 A p ril: over 7 ,0 0 0  troops were brought 

into the cap ita l, more than 4,000 police were on duty on the day of 

the meeting, at least 8 5 ,0 0 0  Special Constables were sworn in, Govern­

ment o ffic es  and important public buildings were barricaded and ga rr i-

29soned, and the Queen le f t  London for Osborne. But how fa r was the

Government motivated into taking these steps by it s  own fears and 

how far by the pressure o f public opinion? Several historians have 

asserted that the general anxiety o f the propertied classes persuaded 

the Government to take these precautionary me a s u r e s . I n  that case, 

i t  should be possible to demonstrate that the Government adopted its  

arrangements a fte r  the popular anxiety began to show. A study o f the 

press and contemporary le tters  and diaries reveals that i t  was not 

un til about the 51k that the public began to take a close interest 

in the Chartist ra lly . Before that date the main concern had been 

with the problems o f Ireland and the consequences o f the March revolu­

tions. However the Cabinet f ir s t  discussed its  response to the Chartist 

threat on 1 A pril.

The reports reaching the Home O ffice towards the end o f March

suggested that the danger from the Chartists was not great. The Chartists

and Repealers were restless, Palmerston to ld  Minto, but the Government

would be " fu lly  a match fo r them. The Country is  sound at Heart,

and there is  a Gallant public sp ir it  that w il l  shew i t s e l f  at the

31f i r s t  Intimation o f rea l Danger." Ministers were more concerned 

about the number o f foreign revolutionaries who seemed to be coming 

over to Britain. "Have you heard o f any Prenchmen in Dublin?" Sir 

George Grey asked Clarendon on the 31st. "London seems very fu l l  o f 29 30 31

2 9 . Gammage, 312 -  1 3 ; Goodway, 72 -  4 «
3 0 . Goodway, 7 2 ; Large, 185 -  6; S.J. Reid: Lord John Russell (London 

1 8 95 ) ,  116.
3 1 . Palmerston to Minto, 28 March 1848: N.L.S. Mss. 12073 f 115 (g Ashley, 

I I ,  57 -  8 ). Cf Hobhouse's Diary, 25 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss.
43752 f 3 .
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op
them". The consuls at the Channel ports were instructed to prepare 

l is ts  o f foreigners embarking fo r B r ita in .^  However the reports 

o f the consuls merely confirmed the independent information reaching 

the Home O ffice that there was no great in flux o f fo re ign e rs .^  Never­

theless, at a Cabinet on 1 A p ril, someone suggested introducing an 

A lien B il l .  Russell observed that the alarm was such that Parliament 

would probably agree to one, but that "he was not so much afraid o f 

foreigners as o f our own people". S ir George Grey then reported that 

the Chartists were using revolutionary language and that i t  seemed 

probable that the procession from Pennington Common would be armed.

"Our general impression in regard to England was that there was no

immediate danger o f an outbreak," noted Hobhouse, "although that i t

35is  contemplated by certain parties there can be no doubt." Morpeth

was less sa tis fied  with the results o f the Cabinet: " I  do not think

36we are quite preventive enough." Over the next few days the Government

made its  arrangements. On the 2nd the Home Secretary ordered several

37regiments to move qu ietly  into London, "as a precaution". Pour 

days la ter the Cabinet decided to ban the procession.

Thus, by the time public opinion was fu lly  alerted to the danger 

o f 10 A p ril, the Government had agreed upon a l l  the precautionary 

measures i t  was to take. There were several important points s t i l l

3 2 . G. Grey to Clarendon, 31 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 12 . Cf
Mrs Hardcastle: L ife  o f John, Lord Campbell. Lord High Chancellor 
o f Great B rita in : Consisting o f a Selection from his Autobiography. 
Diary and Letters (London 1881), I I ,  2 3 6 . ~~ " ~  ”

3 3 . Bidwell to Bonham, No 1 0 , confidentia l, 31 March 1848: PRO FO 27/817. 
I t  was d if f ic u lt  to get th is information once they had arrived 
(Porter, 4)«

3 4 . Bonham to Palmerston, No 27, 11 A pril 1848: PRO PO 27/817; G. Grey 
to Clarendon, 31 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 12 . I t  seems lik e ly  
that most foreign revolutionaries who took refuge in England before 
1848 le f t  in March to jo in  the continental revolutions (Porter, 14).

3 5 * Hobhouse's Diary, 1 April 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f l 2 — 1 3 .
3 6 . Morpeth's Diary, 1 A p ril 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 2 4 .
3 7 . G. Grey to Clarendon, 2 April 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 1 2 .
3 8 . Russell to Clarendon, 6 April 1848: ib id  Jrish Box 4 3 ; Morpeth's 

Diary, 6 A p ril 1848: C*H.A. J19/8/17 f 2 6 .
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to be settled , such as where to station the troops and where to stop 

the procession, "but these were administrative matters rather than 

questions o f policy. There were some doubts whether the precautions 

would be adequate, which may have been the result o f the general 

apprehension. On the 7"th, fo r example, the Cabinet discussed whether 

to ban the meeting as well as the procession, and Palmerston expressed

39doubts as to the Queen's safety at Osborne. But the Cabinet on

8 A p ril, at which Wellington, who had been put in command o f the

troops in London, explained his plans, seemed to reassure the ministers

that a l l  that could be done to prevent a successful revolution had

been done. Much o f the advice Wellington gave had already been proffered

by Colonel Rowan and Mr Mayne o f the Metropolitan Police, observed

Hobhouse, but "the authority o f 'the Great Man' . . . gave weight

to i t  & we a l l  listened & looked on re s p e c t fu lly ."^  The general fee lin g

among the Cabinet on the eve o f the meeting was that there might be

41some figh ting, but that any trouble would not get out o f hand.

I t  is  now agreed that the Government's massive precautions fo r

10 April were unnecessary. The authorities had prepared to meet a

revolution, but the Chartists had never planned anything other than

a peaceful mass protest. The Government must have been aware o f th is ,

David Large has argued, because i t  was well-informed about the a c t iv it ie s  
42

o f the Chartists. An examination o f the diaries and le tters  o f the 

members o f the Cabinet, however, reveals that they did expect figh ting 

on the 10th. Moreover, the language o f the Chartists created the 

impression that they too expected a clash. " I t  may be that sacrifices

3 9 * Hobhouse's Diary, 7 April 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 2 3 ; Palmerston 
to Russell, 7 A pril 1848: PRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,  187).

4 0 . Hobhouse's Diary, 8 A pril 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 28 -  9
(q Dorchester, VI, 214). Cf Grey's Journal, 8 A pril 1848: Grey P. 
C3/ l4 i Hardcastle, I I ,  2 3 6 .

41. G. Grey to Clarendon, 9 A pril 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 1 2 ; Morpeth's 
Diary, 9 A p ril 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 2 7 ; Hardcastle, I I ,  236.

4 2 . Large, 187 -  8 .
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-  bloody sacrifices  -  may be demanded by the confident and se lf-re ly in g

oppressor", declared the Northern Star;

but, should i t  be so, the hot blood flowing in the veins 
o f freemen, w il l  contend fo r the prize and the honour of 
martyrdom, and the greater the number o f victims the more 
profuse w i l l  be the seeds o f freedom, fo r from every drop 
o f the martyrs' blood w i l l  spring ten thousand patriots 
to avenge the martyrs' death.

The Government realised that there was no reason fo r  a revolution, but 

the memory o f the events in France, where a p o lit ic a l demonstration 

had escalated, made i t  anxious to be able to meet an accidental explo­

sion as w ell as a deliberate confrontation.

I t  is  also important when assessing the necessity o f the Government's 

measures to note the way in which Chartist attitudes changed once i t  

became clear that the authorities were prepared to use force. "Every 

hour the strength o f our adversary, and our own weakness, became more 

and more apparent", recalled Harney in 1850.^ The Star might speak 

boldly about the deaths o f martyrs being avenged, but few Chartists

were w illin g  to die fo r  the ir cause. O'Connor lost his nerve when he

45learnt o f the scale o f the Government's preparations, and Thomas 

Frost remembered the great sense o f r e l ie f  on Kennington Common when 

i t  was announced that no attempt would be made to defy the ban on the 

procession.^ The Chartists had not started out with any intention o f 

provoking a clash with the authorities, but the scale o f the Govern­

ment's preparations made them determined to avoid even an accidental 

con flic t. To that extent, therefore, the Government's measures acted 

as a deterrent. I t  is  clear, however, that the Government was not 

b lu ffin g  and the troops would have been used i f  necessary.

The events o f 10 A pril are well known and need not be described

4 3 . Northern Star. 8 A pril 1848, 4 *
4 4 « Schoyen, 164.
4 5 - Read and Glasgow, 130 -  4 «
46. Frost, 13 8 .
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here.^  The reactions to the events, however, are important. Historian^

sympathetic to the Chartists have tr ied  to demonstrate that 10 April

vías not the fiasco i t  is  often assumed to have been and that the
A 8

movement continued at least un til the summer o f 1848. ' Their arguments

are not always convincing, but they have some value and are useful

corrective judgements. But what is  important as fa r as th is study

is  concerned is  not whether the Chartists were dec is ive ly  beaten on

10 A pril but whether they were thought to have been.

O’ Connor claimed that 10 A p ril had been a great success. He wrote

on the 15th that 400,000 people had attended the meeting, that the

movement had gained much publicity , and that the excessive precautions

49o f the Government virould make people wonder what i t  was afraid of.

A week la ter he asserted that by agreeing to abandon the procession

50he had fo iled  a Government plot to massacre the Chartists. Few

people were fooled by such bold assertions. "The Chartists have made

a pretty hash o f i t " ,  wrote Roebuck, who was not unsympathetic to

the ir cause. "F. O’ Connor is  a rogue, a l ia r ,  and a coward -  a precious 

81compound."

Outside Chartist c irc les , the b e lie f  that 10 A p ril had been a 

triumph fo r the B ritish  constitution, and consequently a severe blow 

to would-be revolutionaries, was widely and strongly held. There was 

a vague fee lin g  that a l l  the elaborate precautions had been unnecessary, 

but few c r itic is ed  the Government’ s preparations as excessive. I t  

was better to be over-prepared than not to be prepared at a l l .  The 

Protectionist and the Peelite press g loried  in the v ic to ry  o f law

4 7 - For descriptions o f the day see Gammage, 313 -  16; Goodway, 7 6 - 7 *  
Large, 1 9 1 - 2 .

48. Goodway, 79 -  9 6 ; Large, 193 -  2 0 1 ; Campbell, 46 -  64; J. S av ille : 
"Chartism in the Year o f Revolution 1848" The Modern Quarterly 
V III (1952  -  3 ) ,  23 -  3 3 .

4 9 « Northern Star, 15 A p ril 1848, 1 .
5 0 . ib id , 22 A p ril 1848, 1.
5 1 . Roebuck to Black, 16 A pril 1848: R.E. Leader: L ife  and Letters 

o f John Arthur Roebuck P.C., Q.C., M.P. (London 18 97 )»  2 0 3 .
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and order. The Times estimated that only 1 0 ,0 0 0  Chartists had assembled 

on the Common, whilst 1 5 0 ,0 0 0  Special Constables had been sworn in to 

oppose them. The Times* calculations are somewhat spurious -  apart from 

almost doubling the number o f Special Constables, the general estimate

o f the number o f Chartists was between 15 and 3 0 ,0 0 0 , and doubt has
52

recently been placed on figures as low as these -  but i t  was widely 

agreed that the Chartist turn-out was low and that the number o f people 

who had ra llied  behind the authorities had been impressive, and this

was seen by the Protectionist and Peelite press as proof o f the sound-

53ness of the British  constitution. The Whig and Radical press also 

welcomed the fa ilu re  o f the Chartist demonstration, which i t  regarded 

as an attempt to intimidate the Government. I t  did not deny the right 

o f the Chartists to agitate fo r reform, but i t  objected to the way 

in which they were pursuing their demands. However, whereas the Protec­

tion ists  and the Peelites regarded the absence o f any trouble as proof 

that the Chartists were an unrepresentative minority, the Whigs and 

the Radicals saw the fact that the Chartists had been able to disrupt

the l i f e  o f the capita l fo r  a whole day as proof o f the existence o f 

54a wider problem. But what that problem was and how i t  could be solved 

was a matter on which there was no settled  opinion.

The Government was overjoyed that the day had gone o f f  without 

bloodshed. Palmerston called i t  "the Waterloo o f Peace & order . . . 

men o f a l l  Classes & Ranks were blended together in Defence o f Law

5 2 . Goodway, 136 -  8. The crux o f Goodway's argument is  a report that 
the Government asked the newspapers to print the number as 15,000. 
But, given the various p o lit ic a l a ff i l ia t io n s  o f the Victorian press, 
i t  seems unlikely that the Government could have exerted such in flu ­
ence, and as the source o f this assertion was a journalist who was 
sympathetic to the Chartists i t  must be treated with some scepticism. 

53 - The Times, 11 A pril 1848, 4 ; Standard. 11 A pril 1848, 2 ; MC, 11
A pril 1848, 4; MH, 11 and 13 A pril 1848, 4; MP, 11 and 15 A pril
1848, 4 ? The Economist, 15 A pril 1848, 421 - 4 »

54. DN, 11 and 12 A pril 1848, 2 -  3 ? MG, 12 and 15 A pril 1848, 4 and
6; York Courant, 13 April 1848, 5 » ILH< 15 A pril 1848, 239 — 4 0 ;
Spectator. 15 A p ril 1848, 3 6 9 .
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& P r o p e r t y . S i r  George Grey was the hero o f the hour. According

56to his biographer, i t  was the high point o f his career. However i t

was accepted that the Chartists had not been f in a lly  defeated. "Things

passed o f f  beau tifu lly  here yesterday," Palmerston to ld  Clarendon,

"but the Snake is  skotched not k illed , and we must continue on our 

57guard." The Home O ffice continued to monitor the a c t iv it ie s  o f the 

Chartists, whilst the Cabinet, and Russell in particular, considered 

ways o f appeasing the discontented elements in society.

During the weeks follow ing the Chartist ra lly  Russell received sev­

era l le tte rs , including one from Normanby, advocating some measure o f 

58electora l reform. They were not without e ffe c t . On 24 A pril Russell

wrote to Clarendon that any immediate concession might precipitate

a revolution, but that i f  there was never any reform a revolution 

59was inevitable. Two months la ter, opposing a motion introduced by

Hume, who wanted an extension of the franchise to a l l  householders,

a secret b a llo t, trienn ia l Parliaments and equal e lectora l d is tr ic ts ,

and who cited the Chartist agitation  as proof that Parliament needed

reforming,^0 Russell hinted that in the future some extension o f the

61franchise might be desirable. The rest o f the Cabinet, however, 

was less enthusiastic than the Prime Minister. Nothing was done in 

1848, and during the la ter years o f the administration Russell's 

proposals fo r e lec tora l reform were often received with apathy or

5 5 . Palmerston to Normanby, 11 A pril 1848: Nor. P. P/20/29 (q Ashley, 
I I ,  8 0 ).

5 6 . M. Creighton: Memoir o f Sir George Grey, Bart., G.C.B. (London 
1901 ), 79-

5 7 - Palmerston to Clarendon, 11 A pril 1848: Clar. P. Box 0524. Cf 
Grey to Clarendon, 14 April 1848: ib id  Ir ish  Box 41; Clarendon 
to Normanby, 17 A pril 1848: Nor. P. O/156.

58. Macaulay to Russell, 23 A p ril 1848 (q Walpole, I I ,  91 - 2 ) ,  Banner- 
man to Russell, 26 A p ril 1848, and Normanby to Russell, 29 April 
1848: PRO 30/22/7B.

5 9 - Russell to Clarendon, 24 April 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 .
6 0 . Hansard, XCIX, 879 -  9 0 6 .
61. ib id , 915 -  3 3 .
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h o s t ility , especia lly from Palmerston.

One o f the more gra tify in g  aspects o f 10 A p ril fo r the Government 

was that the foreign revolutionaries who were supposed to he in London 

did not appear. I f  they had, wrote Palmerston, the Special Constables 

"would have mashed them to j e l l y . E v e n  so, on the afternoon o f the 

11th the Cabinet decided to introduce an A lien B i l l ,  although some 

ministers remained doubtful about the wisdom of such a controversial 

s te p .^  The b i l l ,  declared Lansdowne that evening when introducing 

i t  in the Lords, was a precautionary measure which would give the 

Government power to expel undesirable aliens. I t  did not challenge 

the principle o f giv ing refuge to foreigners, he said, but i t  was 

only prudent to have a law on the statute book to deal with foreign
65

revolutionaries who were trying to subvert the B ritish  constitution.

I t  was an argument subsequently used by Russell and G. Grey in the 

Commons, where they emphasised that i t  was only a temporary measure 

-  i t  was planned to last two years -  and that i t  would be o f more 

value with respect to Ireland than to England.^

The b i l l  received less opposition than the Government seems to 

have expected. Most Whigs, Peelites and Protectionists agreed that
frj

some such measure was necessary. Indeed, some Protectionists c r i t i -
ro

cised the b i l l  because they thought i t  did not go fa r enough.0 But 

what opposition there was, and i t  came mainly from the Radicals, was

62 . Prest, 303 -  6, 324 -  5 and 331 -  6. Palmerston was consistently 
doubtful about e lectora l reform. He had resisted in Cabinet what 
he fe l t  were the extreme parts o f  the 1832 Reform B i l l  (Bourne, 
Palmerston. 503 -  2 3 ) ,  and he blocked any Reform B i l l  whilst he 
was Prime Minister (R idley, 63 1 , 755 -  8 and 7 7 9 ).

6 3 . Palmerston to Normanby, 11 April 1848: Nor. P. P/20/29 (q Ashley.
I I ,  8 0 ).

64. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 11 April 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 3 6 ; Morpeth's 
Diary, 11 A p ril 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 D2 9 *

65. Hansard, XCVU'I, 136 -  8.
66. ib id , 508, 5 6 0 - 1 ,  855 -  6 and 864.
67. The Times, 12 A p ril 1848, 4 ;

MG, 10 May 1848, 4 -
68. Hansard, XCVIII, 2 6 6 - 7  and 274 -  8.

Standard, 12 A p ril and 12 May 1848, 2 ;
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strong and vociferous. The h i l l  was attacked as imprudent and unnecessary:

i t  was imprudent because i t  gave the Government powers i t  might abuse;

i t  was unnecessary because any would-be revolutionaries would find

l i t t l e  support fo r the ir e v i l  designs. "The late panic appears to have

produced one o f the common e ffec ts  o f intoxication on the M inistry",

observed the Morning Chronicle:

they are seeing double, more than double; the few foreigners 
who appeared among the Chartists on Kennington-common, have 
multiplied as fast as F a ls ta ff 's  men in buckram, and bid 
fa ir  to grow into a regular band o f conspirators, duly commi- 
ssioned by Ledru-Rollin to co-operate with the Chartists . . .

But despite the Chronicle's rid icu le and the impassioned opposition

from the Radicals, on 11 May the b i l l  was passed by 146 to 29 votes.

According to Tallenay, the newly arrived representative o f the

French Republic, the B ritish  Government quickly regretted introducing

the A lien B i l l  and planned to seize the f ir s t  opportunity to repeal

"cette lo i exceptionnelle et tr§s impopulaire."^0 In fa c t, i t  remained

in force u n til i t  lapsed in 185O but i t  was never used.^1 This may

have been due in part to the Government's wish to avoid the controversy

which would have occurred i f  i t  had tr ied  to u t il is e  the b i l l 's  provisions,

but an equally probable explanation is  that the danger from foreign

revolutionaries, which the b i l l  was designed to counter-act, never

materialised. There were s t i l l  reports o f foreign revolutionaries

coming over to intrigue with the Chartists -  Brunnow to ld  G. Grey

that a party o f French republicans planned to s a il up the Thames and

rendezvous with the Chartists in Whitechapel^ and a local o f f ic ia l

at Folkestone reported that a large number o f suspicious looking

foreigners had just arrived.1 -  but these usually proved to be un-

6 9 . ib id , 268 -  71, 397, 562 -  72, 574 -  7 , 579 -  84, 852 -  4 and 
857 -  6 0 ; IM , 15 A pril 1848, 239 -  4 0 ; MC, 19 April 1848, 4.

7 0 . Tallenay to Lamartine, 13 May 1848: DD, I I ,  2 0 8 .
Y 1 Poi*"fc©i>f 3 *
72. Le Marchant to Mayne, 15 April 1848: PRC MEPO 2/4.
7 3 . Faulkner to G. Grey, 7 June 1848: ib id .
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founded.^ In fa c t, the danger from foreign revolutionaries had never 

been great, i f  i t  had existed at a l l .  The introduction o f the Alien 

B i l l ,  though in i t s e l f  unobjectionable, was one o f the few measures 

taken by the Government as a result o f an unfounded panic.

I t  is  easy to stigmatise the British  Government's response to the 

Chartist agitation  as alarmist and excessive. The strength o f its  

protest about Garnier-Pag’&s' speech, the precautions i t  took fo r  10 

A p ril, and its  fear o f foreign agitators suggest that i t  took the 

Chartist threat more seriously than i t  deserved. Because there was 

no revolution in England in 1848 and because the Chartist movement 

collapsed a fte r its  humiliating fa ilu res o f that year, historians 

tend to view the Chartists in a less menacing, i f  more re a lis t ic , 

ligh t than they appeared at the time. However Sir George Grey and 

his colleagues, and the public in general, did not regard the absence 

o f a revolution as proof that the Government's response had been 

excessive; rather they saw i t  as proof that the response had worked.

The Government's perception o f the danger from the Chartists may 

have been at fau lt, but given that perception its  firm response was 

only to be expected and a l l  that the electorate could desire.

i i ) IRELAND AND THE FRENCH REVOLUTION

The impulse given to the Chartist movement by the February Revo­

lution encouraged i t  along the road o f reform. In Ireland, in contrast, 

the news from France had a more profound e ffe c t . I t  transformed the 

more radical part o f the Repeal movement from a reforming into a revo­

lutionary organisation.

A l l  sections o f the Repeal movement welcomed the revolution and 

saw i t  as creating a climate o f opinion in which Repeal could be

7 4 . Medlicott to Mayne, 17 A p ril 1848; Memorandum by Inspector Haynes, 
12 June 1848: ib id .
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achieved. They also realised the value o f unity to the Ir ish  cause.

"In  the present condition o f Europe," declared Freeman's Journal,

"no just and constitutional demand made hy a unanimous Ireland could

or dare he r e f u s e d . H o w e v e r  the deep division  over tactics continued

to divide the 0 'Connellites from the Young Irelanders, fo r the former

s t i l l  refused to consider armed rebellion . Freeman's Journal urged
V f)

a rev iva l o f the campaign o f monster meetings, but without Daniel

O'Connell's spell-binding oratory i t  seems doubtful whether such a

campaign would have got very far. The 0 'Connellites were w illin g  to

work with the Young Irelanders, but only on the ir own terms. John

O'Connell even expressed to Normanby his concern about the a c t iv it ie s

o f Smith O'Brien and Mitchel, and spoke o f "his great desire to jo in

with the Govt, in any step which might pacify Ireland, & res ist with
V $

a strong hand any treasonable intentions." The demarche went no

further because the price o f O'Connell's co-operation was a "modification"

to the Union, but i t  revealed the gu lf between Old and Young Ireland.

The best that Young Ireland could hope fo r  was the neutrality o f Old

Ireland, wrote Duffy la ter, "but neutrality at such a moment meant 

79so much."

The Confederates welcomed the news o f the revolution with great 

re jo ic ing. They had expelled Mitchel and his followers fo r urging 

the immediate use o f violence. The French revolution, however, led 

them to believe that the time fo r using force was near at hand. In 

an a rt ic le  in the Nation en titled  "Ireland 's Opportunity", Duffy 

declared:

Ireland 's opportunity, thank God and France, has come at

7 5 - Freeman's Journal. 1 March 1848, 2 . Cf Nowlan, 18 3 .
7 6 . Freeman's Journal. 4 March 1848, 2 .
7 7 - Nowlan, 184•
78. Normanby to Palmerston, 4 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/13O.
7 9 - Puffy, 5 4 1 .
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la st! Its  challenge rings in our ears like a c a ll to "battle, 
and warms our "blood like wine. . . . We must answer i f  we 
would not "be slaves for ever. We must unite, we must act, 
we must leap a l l  "barriers, "but those which are divine; i f  
needs "be we must d ie, rather than le t this providential 
hour pass over us unliberated.

He continued to urge caution, arguing that the people o f Ireland should

wait until England was engaged in a foreign war before ris ing against

the ir oppressors. But he was convinced that they would not have to
8o

wait long, and in the mean time they should prepare for battle.

Huffy' s enthusiasm was shared by the rest o f the Confederate leadership 

in Dublin. "The men who, a few weeks before, had fea r less ly  resisted 

anarchy, now as fea r less ly  embraced revo lu tion ."^  The composition 

o f the Provisional Government, and especia lly the inclusion o f Ledru 

R ollin , gave them hope that they could expect help from the new Republic,^
O

and Lamartine's Manifesto encouraged that hope. Steps were taken

to e ffe c t a reunion with the M itchelites, whom i t  was hoped would

be sa tis fied  when they saw the Confederates taking a c t io n .^

The decision o f the Confederate leadership to adopt the cause o f

revolt resulted from more than a vague fee lin g  that somehow the m ilitary

balance in Ireland had changed as a result o f the events in Prance.

"There w i l l  be an outbreak sooner or la ter. Be sure o f that", wrote

Duffy to Smith O'Brien towards the end o f February.

But unless you provide against i t ,  i t  w i l l  be a mere democratic 
one, which the English Government w il l  extinguish in blood; 
or i f  by a miracle i t  succeeds i t  w i l l  meanndeath and ex ile  
to the middle as well as the upper classes. ^

In Duffy's opinion, the leadership o f the Confederates was necessary 

in order to channel the Ir ish  revolution, which he believed was in ev it­

able, towards productive ends. Smith O'Brien was even more cautious.

8 0 . Ration, 4 March 1848, 152 -  3 (partly  q Duffy, 537).
8 1 . Duffy, 5 3 8 .
8 2 . Clarendon to Normanby, 23 March 1848: Nor, P. 0/154; Duffy, 534.
8 3 . See above pp. 110 -  11.
84. Duffy, 541 -  2 .
85. Duffy to Smith O'Brien, no date: Gwynn, 1 5 8 - 9 -
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Writing from London, where he lacked thG stimulus o f iiis colleagues, 

he argued that the Repeal movement should avoid the tim id ity o f the

O'Connellites, which would never succeed, and the extremism o f the
86M itchelites, which i f  successful would lead to anarchy. He believed 

that the movement could only triumph i f  i t  gained the support o f the 

gentry and avoided any appeal to relig ious b igotry, and consequently 

he distrusted Mitchel. Duffy and his friends, fea rfu l o f being pre­

empted by Mitchel, were disturbed by Smith O'Brien’ s caution, but they
o7

agreed to go along with him.

Smith O'Brien's position as leader o f the Confederates might have 

become untenable had i t  not been fo r the increasing extremism of Mit­

chel. Mitchel saw the revolution in Paris as the triumph o f an angry 

people over a cruel oppressor. I f  i t  could work in Prance, he argued, 

why could i t  not work in Ireland? He chastised his countrymen for

remaining patient fo r so long, and he blamed the Confederation for

88not providing the leadership the people needed. He decided that i f  

the Confederates would not provide the leadership, he would himself.

He began w riting a series o f open le tters  to Clarendon in which his

8Qavowed aim was to s t ir  up the Ir ish  people against English rule.

He wanted to provoke the authorities into some brutal act o f repression 

which would unite the people against them. He was convinced that once 

figh ting began the Ir ish  would win, and he assured his readers that 

as by-products the Chartists would seize power in England, the British 

Empire would collapse, and help would arrive from the United States 

and Prance. ^

Mitchel’ s language appalled the Confederates. They shared the

86. Smith O'Brien to Duffy, 1 March 1848: ib id , 160 .
87. Duffy, 542 -  3 and 547 ,
8 8 . United Irishman. 4 March 1848, 5 7 *
89. ib id , 18 and 25 March, and 8 A p ril 1848, 89, 104 and 136 .
9 0 . ib id , 18 March 1848, 88.
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assumption that the Chartists provided, a formidable threat to the

91ruling classes in England, and the hope of support from Prance and

the United States. But they believed, correctly , that Mitchel did

not realise that the people o f Ireland were not ready fo r an immediate

insurrection, and they argued that careful preparation was needed

i f  an insurrection was to be successful. "Method is  like the cold

s tee l, silen t and sure," wrote Duffy la ter; "and method was what he

92altogether re jected ." The Confederates looked upon M itchel's plans 

as id ea lis t ic  and impracticable; Mitchel looked upon the plans o f the 

Confederates as so cautious as to be almost cowardly.

Clarendon had l i t t l e  d if f ic u lty  in keeping track o f the progress 

o f the Repeal movement. lost o f i t s  a c t iv it ie s  were described in the 

Repeal newspapers, and these accounts were supplemented by the reports

o f the Government’ s spies and informers, who were put on the a lert

93soon a fter the news from Prance arrived. Within a few days Clarendon

was reporting that there was increased agitation in Dublin, but l i t t l e

94-chance o f an immediate rebellion . As the weeks passed, however, 

his anxiety grew. The excitement did not decrease and the language 

o f the Young Irelanders got worse. There were persistent reports 

that there would be an uprising on St. Patrick 's day, J and by the 

end o f March Clarendon’ s le tters  had assumed almost an hysterical 

tone. "Mo Tipperary Landlord ever reed, more threatening notices than

I do", he wrote to Russell, "or more warnings as to when & how I  am

96to be assassinated." He to ld  Lord Grey that he would not wish his

9 1 . Duffy, 540 .
9 2 . ib id , 550.
9 3 . Clarendon to Russell, copy, 27 February 1848: Ciar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 

Book Vol.2  f 134. Clarendon la ter boasted that he had known "everything 
that passed in Dublin in 1848" (q Porter, 157 n147 ).

94* Clarendon to G. Grey, copy, 1 March 1848, and Clarendon to Russell, 
copy» 3 March 1848: Ciar. P. Ir ish  Letter-Book Vol.2 f f 139 and 
142 -  4 -

9 5 . Clarendon to G. Grey, copies, 8 and 11 March 1848: ib id  f f 151 and 155.
9 6 . Clarendon to Russell, 30 March 1848: FRO 30/22/7B (q Maxwell, I ,  289).
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l i fe s ty le  in Dublin on his worst enemy, "even Mr. M itchell [_ s icJ " .
Although Clarendon was greatly  disturbed by the revolutionary aspect

o f a ffa irs  in Ireland, the policy he advocated remained that o f coercion

mixed with conciliation . His resentment about the general attitude

o f the Ir ish  Catholics occasionally broke out -  in May he to ld  G.C. Lewis

that they had behaved "almost to a man . . . like cowards & tra ito rs "

and that i f  i t  came to a figh t " i t  is  clear that . . .  we have only
g8

the Protestants to re ly  upon" -  but he was usually careful to distinguish

between those who were disaffected because o f the ir p o lit ic a l views,

like Smith O'Brien and Mitchel, and those who were d isaffected because

the economic and socia l situation gave them l i t t l e  hope in the existing

order o f things. The former provided the more obvious threat, and

K.B. Nowlan has described the coercive measures which Clarendon wanted

99to introduce to deal with them. But the la tte r  provided the more 

serious problem, fo r they gave a strength to the former which Clarendon 

believed they would otherwise lack. In ordinary times, Clarendon 

wrote to Wood,

I  shd say that Ireland must get on as she cd . . . but we
are not liv in g  in ordinary times, fo r the events o f the
last 6 weeks have materially altered our position & loosened
our tenure in this country. Every steamer that arrives
bringing the news o f some fresh & easy popular triumph
adds to our d if f ic u lt ie s  by increasing & spreading d isaffection .

People who previously had no sympathy with the Repeal cry were now

"gravely balancing on wch. side i t  w i l l  be best fo r them to incline"

because "they have not the energy to be loyal & don't see the ir own

interest in i t  su ffic ien tly  to be so ." They needed to be shown there

was some value in the connection with England, and the best way to

do that was to spend more money on a llev ia tin g  the distress.

The great object is  to inspire hope & with i t  comparative

9 7 - Clarendon to Grey, 10 A pril 1848: Grey P. 81/2.
9 8 . Clarendon to Lewis, 4 May 1848: Clar. P. Box c532.
9 9 * Nowlan, 196 -  7.
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content fo r  the next 5 months. Let us get over them & we 
shall have weathered the storm. We cannot expect to escape 
unscathed from the hurricane wch. is  desolating Europe & 
i f  we can save our honor & the in tegrity  o f our Empire at 
the cost o f a ^ J t le  money surely we shall not have made 
a had bargain.

The Cabinet treated Clarendon's requests fo r conciliatory measures

with growing impatience. At the end o f March Russell submitted to his

colleagues a package o f reforms dealing with more financial assistance

for Ireland and tenant rights. The former were opposed by Wood and
101Grey, the la tte r  by Palmerston and Lansdowne. Wood in particular

resisted any attempt to get more money from the Treasury. "There is

no use in talking o f money", he to ld  Clarendon in May, " I  have none,

& shall have to borrow to pay my way, & that is  not very creditable 

102in peace tim e." The memory o f the defeat o f the Budget continued

to haunt him. "We have had one pretty severe lesson this Session,"

he reminded Russell, "& we cannot afford to try  any more experiments

103o f the same kind." Russell became depressed by the problems of

I r e l a n d , w h i l s t  the rest o f the Cabinet regarded Clarendon’ s le tters

with increasing scepticism and distaste. Lord Grey characterised them

as "most peevish & unreasonable, . . . containg. no useful practical

suggestns." He also added, " I  fear much that Ld. John is  hardly equal

105to the emergency."

Clarendon's appeals fo r  greater coercive powers usually had a more 

favourable reception. The da ily  press in England on the whole supported 

the Government on th is subject. Repeal o f the Union, i t  was asserted, 

would ruin Ireland. Smith O'Brien and Mitchel must be either unscrupulous

1 0 0 . Clarendon to Wood, 30 March 1848: Hal. P. A4/57/2.
101. Nowlan, 197 -  8.
102 . Wood to Clarendon, 8 May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 3 1 .
103 . Wood to Russell, copy, 9 April 1848: Hal. P. A4/56/3.
10 4 . Lady John Russell to Lady M ary Abercromby, 31 March 1848: MacCarthy 

and Russell, 9 6 - 7 .
10 5 . Grey's Journal, 9 A p ril 1848: Grey P. C3/14 » Cf Hobhouse's Diary,

25 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 2* Morpeth's Diary, 7 A p ril 
1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 2 7 .
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and unthinking demagogues or out o f the ir minds to advocate i t .  Be­

sides, there was no Broad Basis o f support fo r the Repeal cry. I t  was 

on Behalf o f the s ilen t majority and in the interests o f the whole o f 

Ireland that the Government resisted the Repeal agitation , and many 

newspapers urged that tougher measures Be taken to suBdue the unrest. ^^' 

Only the Daily News, which had as l i t t l e  sympathy with the Repeal cry

as anyone, doubted the value o f coercion and advocated a policy o f 

107conciliation . Nevertheless, despite th is Broad measure o f support 

for a strong lin e , the Government was careful not to propose any re­

pressive leg is la tion  which might Be thought excessive. I t  was on this

ground, Sir George Grey informed Clarendon in A p ril, that the Cabinet

108rejected the request fo r the suspension o f Habeas Corpus. As long

as there was no danger o f an imminent revo lt, as despite Clarendon's

reports the Cabinet continued to Believe, ministers in London preferred

109what Nowlan has called "a policy o f watchful in ac tiv ity ". I t  was a 

marked contrast to the policy they had adopted towards the Chartists 

in the f i r s t  week o f A pril.

*  *  *

On 2 March Clarendon informed Russell that he was "eager fo r  the 

time when . . .  we may with advantage or rather propriety recognize 

the Republic." This desire to Be on good terms with France had less 

to do with the diplomatic advantages fo r Britain , which Clarendon 

acknowledged, than with his anxiety to avert the dangers that might 

result i f  the two countries were on Bad terms. " I  am anxious that 

there should Be no fratern ization  with this country", he wrote, " . . .

1 0 6 . The Times. 14 and 29 March 7848, 4; MH, 15 March 1848, 4 ; MG,
15 and 22 March 1848, 4 ; MC, 16 and 23 March 1848, 4 - 5 ; MP,
28 and 30 March 1848, 4 ; ILN, 15 A pril 1848, 244.

107 . DN, 20 and 27 March 1848, 2 .
1 0 8 . G. Grey to Clarendon, 3 A pril 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 12 .
1 0 9 . Nowlan, 1 9 4-
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fo r i f  once a b e lie f  however i l l  founded got abroad here that Ir ish

rebellion  would attract French troops i t  rea lly  would be d if f ic u lt

110to preserve tra n q u illity ."

Palmerston immediately took steps to make Normanby aware o f the

danger which Clarendon foresaw, especia lly  as he had seen reports

that the Confederates had already sent a message to Ledru Rollin

and were planning to send a deputation to Paris. He instructed Normanby

to t e l l  Lamartine "that we take fo r  granted . . . that a l l  Communications

from such Quarters w i l l  be declined, as inconsistent with the friend ly

Relations which the present Govt’, wishes to Establish between the 

111Two Countries." In reply, Lamartine assured the ambassador "that 

o f course we need not have a doubt the Govt, would repudiate any 

demonstration which was inconsistent with their sincere dispositions 

towards England." Alluding to Ledru R o llin 's  former links with the 

Repeal movement, he remarked "that some individual might receive 

communications which would be o f no importance; but even these should 

be discouraged."^^

However i t  liras not Ledru Rollin  but Lamartine himself who f ir s t  

caused offence to the B ritish  Government with respect to Ireland.

On 17 March he received a deputation from the Ir ish  community in Paris, 

led by a M. Leonard, during which, according to the account in the 

Moniteur. "the fla g  o f Ireland" was presented to the Provisional 

Government and Lamartine made a b r ie f speech in which he praised 

the a c t iv it ie s  o f O'Connell and expressed the hope that the Ir ish  

people would achieve the ir constitutional independence in the same 

way as they had achieved the ir re lig ious f r e e d o m . T h e r e  is  l i t t l e

1 1 0 . Clarendon to Russell, copy, 2 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 
Book VoL.2  f 1 4 2 .

11 1 . Palmerston to Normanby, secret, 3 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/11.
11 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, 4 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/13O.
1 1 3 . The Times, 20 March 1848, 5 *
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doubt that Lamartine's conduct had been incautious, although i t  should

be noted that he expressed approval o f Old rather than Young Ireland.

But there were understandable reasons fo r his actions. The 17th was

the day o f a large demonstration, during which, i t  was rumoured, the

114.Provisional Government would be overthrown. Lamartine himself was

uncertain whether i t  could survive, te ll in g  Normariby the follow ing

11 5day: "nous sommes sur un Volcan." He may have thought to defuse

the h o s t ility  o f the crowd at the HfJtel de V il le  by using language

that reinforced his revolutionary credentials. But whatever the domestic

consequences o f his actions, the diplomatic repercussions were grave.

Normanby was appalled when he read the account o f the reception

in the Moniteur. He went to the HÜtel de V il le  to demand "a prompt

and satisfactory Explanation". He thought Lamartine's speech was

"evidently too much o f an expression o f an opinion upon our internal

concerns", but he was more concerned about the acknowledgement o f

the fla g , which vías a de facto acknowledgement o f Ir ish  nationality.

He told  Lamartine he "knew o f no such thing as an Ir ish  fla g : and

that i f  i t  was offered to place i t  by the side o f the French Colors

i t  could only be as a rebel f la g . "  Lamartine, surprised by Normanby's

tone, quickly assured the ambassador

that he had seen no such fla g : that he had paid no attention 
to any such circumstance: that the Government had accepted 
no fla g : that he had answered the deputation himself, and 
had not made the slightest allusion to i t .

Normanby insisted that the denial be printed in the Moniteur. and

Lamartine agreed, saying "he would do his best to give me complete
A A /f

satisfaction  on the subject."

114- Normanby to Palmerston, 17 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/139.
115- Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 18 March 1848: Nor. P. P/14/65 

(q NJ, I ,  246).
1 1 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 1 7 1 » 18 March 1848: PRO FO 27/805 

(q NJ, I ,  243 -  6).



The British  Government accepted Lamartine's explanation about the

fla g , but i t  made an o f f ic ia l  protest about his speech which i t  too

117saw as interference in B rita in 's  internal a ffa irs . There was strong

118criticism  of Lamartine's speech in the English press, and Palmerston

warned that i f  the Republic continued its  practice "o f giving in this

manner direct encouragement to p o lit ic a l agitation within the United

Kingdom . . .  a Cry w i l l  soon arise in this Country fo r  the withdrawal

119of our Embassy from Paris ." Lamartine understood why the British

Government objected to his speech, but he was mystified by the importance

i t  placed upon i t .  The Provisional Government, he to ld  Normanby,

did not, as a body, consider themselves answerable fo r 
casual expressions used by an individual member in replying, 
without premeditation, to one of the numerous addresses 
presented: that, in their relations with Foreign Countries, 
they were individually and co lle c t iv e ly  determined to adhere 
to the principles o f his Circular, not to in terfere in 
any respect with the internal concerns of other Countries.

This was where the British  and French Governments d iffered . The British

Government, as Normanby explained, f e l t  that because the addresses

were presented to the Provisional Government, the rep lies "must be

120taken as the opinions o f that Provisional Government". "The fact

is " ,  Normanby complained to Palmerston, " . . . he has no proper sense

121of the responsib ilities o f his position ."

I t  seems doubtful whether the British  Government would have made 

such a strong protest about Leonard's reception but fo r the knowledge 

o f the existence o f a deputation o f Confederates, led by Smith O'Brien, 

which le f t  fo r Paris on the evening o f the 22nd. The deputation's 

aim, as with the Chartist delegation a fortnight ea r lie r , was to

117 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 1 1 7 » 22 March 1848: PRO FO 27/797.
118. MP, 23 March 1848, 4» BN, 30 March 1848, 2 .
119- Palmerston to Normanby, 21 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/19 (q Ashley 

I I ,  76 - 7 ).
1 2 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 187, 23 March 1848: PRO FO 27/805 

(q NJ, I ,  250 -  4 ).
12 1. Normanby to Palmerston, 22 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/144*
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congratulate the French people on the ir revolution and to attempt to

122
gain a declaration o f French support fo r their cause. As fa r as 

the B ritish  Government was concerned, however, th is avowed intention 

disguised a more s in ister purpose. The Ir ish  were going to Paris, 

wrote Hobhouse a fte r  a Cabinet on Ireland, "to  concert plans with

Ledru R ollin  fo r the invasion o f Ireland i f  she can exhibit the re-

123quisite 'n a tion a lity ’ . "  "You must endeavour to defeat them", Clar-

124endon to ld  Normanby.

Given that the B ritish  Government believed that Smith O'Brien and 

his friends had gone to Paris to plot an insurrection, i t  was only 

natural that i t  should arrange to have them watched. The idea o r ig i­

nated with Clarendon, and Palmerston instructed Normanby to make the
125

necessary arrangements. Normanby was not inexperienced in matters

of espionage. "Almost everything o f that kind was t i l l  la te ly  done

by Klindworth", he to ld  Palmerston on 26  March. But Klindworth had

been forced to fle e  because o f the revolution, and Normanby was forced

to employ a new man, ^ ^  He wanted the "best-nosed dog . . . put upon 

127the scent." Unfortunately, he had not succeeded, as he quickly 

began to suspect. " I  hear the Ir ish  Traitors are arrived", he reported 

on the 29th: " -  my f ir s t  attempt at 'espionage' under the new regime
-1 pO

did not answer very w ell, fo r I  suspect they arrived yesterday." 3

His agent was even su ffic ien tly  indiscreet to a lert Meagher to the

129
fact that they were under surveillance. Moreover, he seems to have

12 2 . Gwynn, 164 and 168; Nowlan, 190 .
12 3 . Hobhouse's Diary, 25 March 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 2 -  3.

Cf Palmerston to Normanby, 27 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/2 2 .
12 4 . Clarendon to Normanby, 23 March 1848: Nor. P. 0/154.
12 5 . Clarendon to G. Grey, copy, 23 March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 

Book Vol.2  f f l 72 -  3 ; Palmerston to Normanby, 25 March 1848:
Nor. P. P/20/2 1 .

126 . Normanby to Palmerston, 26  March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/146.
127. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 30 March 1848: Nor. P. P/14/82.
128 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 29  March 1848: ib id  P/14/8O.
129. Normanby to Palmerston, 5 April 1848: Bd. P. GC/no/15 1 .
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reported, what he thought Normanby wanted to hear rather than the truth.

Fortunately fo r the B ritish  Government, the success or fa ilu re  of

Smith O'Brien's mission did not depend on the e ffic ien cy  o f its  agent.

The B ritish  continued to he apprehensive about what sort o f reply

Lamartine would give the Ir ish  deputation. The unsatisfactory conversation

Normahby had had with him on the 23rd made them wonder whether he

would use some ill-considered words which the Confederates could

131interpret as support. Palmerston urged Lamartine to be "very cautious"

about what he said; "anything of any Kind said to them about Ir ish

a ffa irs  w i l l  be liab le  to much misconception & misrepresentation 

132here". He stressed that Smith O'Brien and Meagher had been indicted

on a charge o f sedition and reminded Lamartine that in his Manifesto

he had promised that the Republic would not undertake any "propagande

133sourde ou incendiaire". But although Normanby continued to warn 

Lamartine about the danger o f making an ill-considered reply, he did 

not want to go a step further and ask him not to receive the deputation.

He knew that, because o f the precarious position o f the Provisional 

Government, Lamartine would not have f e l t  able to accede to such a 

request, "and had i t  been refused one must have been prepared fo r  the 

consequences." H Besides, Anglo-French relations would have been 

damaged just by making the request, fo r i t  would show that the British

130

13 0 . On 31 March, fo r example, he reported that Smith O'Brien had 
quarrelled with the rest of the deputation and that the Ir ish  
were disappointed by their reception (Normanby to Palmerston,
31 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/149). Evidence from Confederate sources 
however, reveals that the Ir ish  were impressed and encouraged 
by what they saw of the revolution (Gwynn, 167) and give no hint 
o f a quarrel. Even Palmerston had his doubts about the informant 
(Palmerston to Normanby, 4 A pril 1848: Nor. P. P/20/2 6 ).
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Government did not trust the assurances Lamartine had given already.

As the day of the reception o f the deputation approached, the British

135became more confident that Lamartine would keep his promise. Lamartine 

even sketched out his reply fo r Normanby, which Normanby passed on 

to Clarendon with the observation, "Nothing can be more satisfactory". 

Such optimism was not misplaced. Lamartine "has kept his word with 

me", Normanby added in a postscript to his le tte r  to Clarendon, "and
136

is  said to have given the Ir ish  deputation a good slap in the face ."

The speech was "more elaborate" than the sketch Lamartine had given, 

he observed a fte r  reading the fu l l  text in the Moniteur, "yet in a l l

the material points o f d istinct discouragement o f any support or

countenance from hence to these d isloya l men, M. Lamartine courageously

137and e ffec tu a lly  kept his promise to me". Dressed up amidst the

rhetoric o f the g lo ries  o f the Republic and good wishes fo r a l l  mankind

was a direct refusal to assist the cause o f Repeal:

Je l 'a i  déjà d it à propos de la Suisse, a propos de l 'A l l e ­
magne, à propos de la Belgique et de l ' I t a l i e .  Je le repute 
à propos de toute nation qui a des débats intérieurs à vider 
avec elle-même ou avec son gouvernement. Quand on n'a pas 
son sang dans les a ffa irs  d'un peuple, i l  n 'est pas permis 
d 'y  avoir son intervention ni sa main. . . .

Nous sommes en paix et nous désirons rester en bons rapports 
d 'é ga lité , non avec t e l le  ou t e l le  partie de,la  Grande-Bretagne, 
mais avec la Grande-Bretagne toute entière! ^

The Ir ish  were disappointed and angered by Lamartine's reply: they

were disappointed because he had made no public avowal o f sympathy

for their cause, although in private he and Ledru Rollin  seem to have

139been more forthcoming in th is respect; they were angered because 

his speech gave the impression that the delegation had asked fo r m ilitary

13 5* Clarendon to Russell, 30 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR. I ,
2 2 2 ) ;  G. Grey to Clarendon, 1 A p ril 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 1 2 ; 
Hobhouse's Diary, 1 April 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 14 .

136 . Normanby to Clarendon, 3 A pril 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 2 0 .
1 3 7 » Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 3 1 , 5 April 1848: PRO FO 27/8O6 

(q NJ, I ,  282 -  3 ).
13 8 . Lamartine, Trois Mois, 135 -  8.
13 9 « Duffy, 5 6 9 ; Nowlan, 191*
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aid, which was not the case.140 In la ter l i f e  Duffy and Mitchel were

141highly c r it ic a l o f the reply. However at the time, fo r the "benefit

o f their readers, they interpreted i t  in the way most favourable to

the Repeal cause. The United Irishman said it s  meaning was that Ireland

would receive no m ilitary aid " t i l l  we are able to declare war against

14-2the English government". The Nation offered an even more optim istic 

interpretation:

His answer was a l l  that Ireland could expect. She needs 
no foreign assistance to attain her independence. Freedom 
is  a useless g i f t ,  but a noble acquisition. What she needed 
was the recognition o f her nationality. France has recognised 
i t ,  in ranking her with Poland, Belgium, Switzerland, and 
I t a ly .143

However the Nation was not so sa tis fied  with the reply to emphasise

i t .  I t  preferred to stress the report, subsequently repeated by Smith

O’Brien in the Commons, that the deputation had been offered , and had

refused, the assistance o f 5 0 ,0 0 0  armed Frenchmen.144

The British  Government was immensely gratefu l and not a l i t t l e

145re lieved when i t  received a copy of the speech. Clarendon had 

extracts translated and placarded throughout Ireland, and he was 

g ra tif ied  by the anti-French fee lin g  i t  provoked.14  ̂ When Sir George 

Grey forwarded the report that Smith O'Brien had received the promise 

o f 50,000 Frenchmen, Palmerston noted at the bottom o f the le t te r :

"This must be an Invention o f the Ir ish ". H English public opinion 

was, on the whole, also pleased with the reply. Some people would

1 4 0 . Smith O 'Brien's memorandum, no date: Gwynn, 168.
14 1 . Duffy, 568; J. Mitchel: The Last Concruest o f Ireland (Perhaps) 

(London n .d .) ,  1 67.
14 2 . United Irishman. 8 April 1848, 136 .
14 3 . Nation, 8 A pril 1848, 2 3 2 .
1 4 4 . ib id , 2 3 2 ; Hansard, XCVIII, 75 -  6. Neither the Nation nor Smith 

O'Brien said where the o ffe r  came from.
14 5* Palmerston to Normanby, 4 April 1848: Nor. P. P/20/25 (q Ashley, 

I I ,  77); Russell to Clarendon, 4 A p ril 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 
4 3 j Grey's Journal, 8 A pril 1848: Grey P. C3/1 4*

146. Clarendon to Normanby, 17 A pril 1848: Nor. P. 0/156 .
1 4 7- G. Grey to Palmerston, 6 April 1848: Bd. P. GC/GR/2429.



have preferred i f  Lamartine had refused to receive the deputation, 

hut few were unhappy with what he had said. Lamartine's speech was

148

"exce llen t", Charles G reville observed. "He gave a lecture to the Ir ish

much stronger than any they have had here; and i f  his speech does no

149good i t  w i l l  certa in ly do no harm."

Smith O'Brien remained in Paris fo r several days a fter his recep­

tion at the H'&tel de V ille  -  during which time he dined with Lamartine,

to which Normanby turned a blind eye as Palmerston had just had Guizot 

1 50to dinner, and v is ited  a number o f Paris clubs where he had a 

rapturous reception 5 -  before returning to London to speak (fo r  

what proved to be the last time) in the Commons on the evening of 

10 A pril. His task on that occasion was to oppose further coercive 

measures fo r  Ireland, but he spent a large part o f his speech ju s ti­

fying his tr ip  to Paris. He denied that he had gone " fo r  the purpose 

o f en listing French a id ", as had been reported. I f  he had, he said, 

"believe me I  should have come back accompanied by a tolerably large 

legion o f troops". But the Commons on the evening of 10 April was 

not the place to make such provocative statements. Jubilant a fter

the defeat o f the Chartists, most M.P.s greeted his speech with loud

152laughter and iron ic cheers. Freeman's Journal praised Smith O'Brien’ s

1 53"manly" avowal o f the Repeal cause. y The reaction in the English

1 54press, however, was as hostile as that of the Commons. " I  cannot 

help thinking that that seedy looking Patriot O'Brien is  somewhat

148 . Hansard, XCVIII, 147; Standard. 5 A pril 1848, 2 ; MC, 6 April
1848, 4.

149 « GM, 165. CP 5 A pril 1848, 2 ; The Times. 5 April 1848,
4; MP, 6 A pril 1848, 4 ; MH, 6 April 1848, 4; York Courant. 6 
A pril 1848, 5 *

150 . Normanby to Clarendon, 6 April 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 2 0 .
1 5 1 . Palmerston to Normanby, 4 April 1848: Nor. P. P/20/2 6 .
1 5 2 . Hansard. XCVIII, 73 -  80 (partly  q Mitchel, 168 -  9 ).
153 . Freeman's Journal, 12 April 1848, 2 .
154 . MC, 12 April 1848, 4 ; The Times, 12 April 1848, 5 ; York Courant,

13 April 1848, 5 ; ILN, 22 April 1848, 2 6 0 .
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crazy," wrote E.J. Stanley, "though not too crazy to he transported."

K.B. Nowlan has argued that the "obvious fa ilu re " o f the mission

to Paris "did not produce any real change in the general pattern o f

developments in Ire land ."156 In essence he is  correct. The Confederates
fc

continued to d r ift  towards rebellion , eventually be provoked into

a premature ris ing by the suspension o f Habeas Corpus in the last 

1 57week of July. J But there was a noticeable change in the attitude

o f the Government. Clarendon found encouragement in Smith O'Brien's

1 58dejected appearance when he arrived in Dublin, and the Cabinet

159detected signs o f improvement in the condition o f Ireland. Not 

a l l  doubts disappeared -  Normanby continued to watch the Ir ish  in 

Paris"' ^  and the Government maintained its  coercive policy -  but 

there was increasing confidence that i f  a revolt did break out i t  

would be crushed. There were over 30,000 troops in Ireland, supported 

by 1 0 ,0 0 0  police, Palmerston told  Normanby shortly before the insurrection. 

"This Force would make an Example o f the Pikemen, and R ifle  Corps and 

nobody can doubt that Rebellion would soon & e ffec tu a lly  be put down".

The ris in g , when i t  came, was even more o f a fiasco than the author­

i t ie s  had dared hope. Within a week o f the outbreak Clarendon was 

able to report that the rebellion  was over. " I  hope the French people 

have viewed th is insurrection on its  ridiculous side", he wrote to 

Normanby, "& that they fe e l proper contempt fo r the swaggering helpless 

harmless /~sic 7  who are always ready to invoke foreign aid fo r what

155

155* E.J. Stanley to Normanby, 11 A pril 1848: Nor. P. 0/389.
156 . Nowlan, 1 9 2 .
157 . For the history o f the remainder o f 1848 in Ireland see Duffy, 

590f f ;  Gwynn, 171 -  2 7 3 ; Nowlan, 201 -  17.
15 8 . Clarendon to Russell, copies, 13 and 14 A pril 1848: Clar. P. 

Ir ish  Letter-Book Vol.2  f f 2 l 0 and 212.
159 « Grey's Journal, 16 April 1848: Grey P. C3/14 » G. Grey to Wood,

24 A pril 1848: Hal. P. A4/58/1.
16 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, 15 A p ril, 5 May and 11 June 1848: Bd. P. 

GC/NO/156, GC/NO/163 (q NJ, 1 » 363 -  4 ), and GC/NO/178.
161. Palmerston to Normanby, 21 July 1848: Nor. P. P/20/5O.
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1 62they cannot do hy themselves." ' As Clarendon hinted, the Confederates

had asked the Republic fo r m ilitary assistance, and, according to

163huffy, Cavaignac expressed "warm sympathy" with the ir cause. This,

however, seems unlikely. Normanby was seeing Cavaignac almost da ily  

164at this time 4 and received no hint o f such a meeting, whilst Palmer­

ston had no hesitation in assuring Clarendon that the Ir ish  would get

1 65no support from France. Given his preoccupation with the internal 

s ta b ility  o f the Republic and his anxiety to cement an understanding 

with Britain over Ita ly , i f  Cavaignac did meet a representative of 

Young Ireland i t  is  doubtful whether he offered anything more than 

vague platitudes.

No episode reveals more c lea rly  than that o f the Confederate de­

putation to Paris how l i t t l e  the British  Government trusted the Pro­

visional Government when the security o f the British  constitution was 

at stake. I t  was worried about the danger from republican and revolu­

tionary propagandism, and i t  was alarmed when, despite the promises 

in the Manifesto, Lamartine made pronouncements which could be in ter­

preted as encouraging unrest in Ireland. I t  did not deny Lamartine's 

right to have strong views on B rita in 's  internal a ffa irs  -  a fter a l l  

i t  had strong views on the Republic's internal a ffa irs  -  but i t  objected 

when those views, which i t  considered unfounded and dangerous, were 

made public in such a way that they could be interpreted as the views 

o f the Provisional Government. I t  is  unlikely, however, that the British  

Government would have made so much o f this principle but fo r its  re­

cognition that French support, whether rea l or imagined, encouraged 

unrest in Ireland.

An equally important question is ,  why did the Republic not give

1 6 2 . Clarendon to Normanby, 14 August 1848: ib id  0/158.
163 . Duffy, 696 .
164. See below pp. 225 -  3 1 .
165. Palmerston to Clarendon, 28 July 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 2 4 .



as much support to the Ir ish  cause as the Repealers expected? Lawrence 

Jennings has shown that the formation o f Lamartine's foreign policy 

was influenced greatly  by his reluctance to take an unpopular step 

with the Paris clubs.1 Support fo r the Ir ish  cause was not as strong 

as fo r the causes o f Polish or Ita lian  independence, but i t  was a 

popular cause and i f  Lamartine had adopted i t  he could have counted 

on the trad itiona l h o s t ility  to England in Prance. I t  might seem 

surprising, then, that he should have courted unpopularity by publicly 

denying any recognition o f the Ir ish  fla g  and by his hostile reply 

to Smith O'Brien, Of course these actions were prompted by intense 

pressure from the B ritish  Government, but why did Lamartine submit 

to that pressure? especia lly when, as W.A.I. Portescue has observed,1'^ 

the Provisional Government received no compensation such as the recog­

n ition  o f the Republic. I t  was not because he doubted the a b ility  

o f the Republic to assist the Irish . The Provisional Government,

Gamier-Pag^s wrote la ter, had had the power "de verser sur la Grande-

Bretagne des calamites inouies, et de d£cha‘?ner sur e lle  des temp^tes
168

de feu et sang." The reason was that the Provisional Government 

believed that the Republic's foreign policy could be furthered most 

e ffe c t iv e ly  by being on good terms with the British  Government. However 

by the time o f Smith O'Brien's reception the in i t ia l  cause o f that 

b e lie f ,  a wish to dissuade Britain  from uniting with the Northern 

Courts against the Republic, had disappeared. The overthrow o f the 

governments o f Austria and Prussia by revolution, and the retreat o f 

Russia behind her fron tiers , had removed the danger o f a monarchical 

coa lition . Lamartine continued to pursue his objective o f a close

166. Jennings, 44  -  7 0 .
167. W.A.I. Portescue: "Alphonse de Lamartine as a Po litic ian  and 

In te llec tu a l, 1831 -  1869" unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation, University 
o f London 19 7 4 » 2 1 2 .

168. L.A. Garnier-Pag^s: Histoire de la Revolution de 1848 (Paris 1866 -
1872), v i i ,  215.
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understanding with Britain , hut now i t  was out o f preference rather 

than fear. The resu lt, as we shall see in the next chapter, was to 

make the Republic’ s foreign policy less cautious and consequently 

less to the lik ing o f the British  Government.

i i i )  THE AFTERMATH

The "fia sco " o f 10 A pril and the "fa ilu re " o f the Ir ish  deputation

to Paris marks an important turning-point in B ritish  thinking in 1848.

Whatever the ir rea l importance, the B ritish  electorate, and to a lesser

extent the B ritish  Government, saw these events as being o f the greatest

significance. At a time when other governments were being toppled

by revolutionary movements, the B ritish  Government had withstood the

twin challenges o f Chartism and Young Ireland. By the end o f the year

the contrast between Britain and the continent seemed s t i l l  more apparent.

Other countries were s t i l l  in turmoil, whereas Britain had returned

to her normal peace and s ta b ility . Several leading newspapers, re flec tin g

on the events o f 1848, ascribed B rita in 's  success to the benefits

o f her constitution. The trouble with the Chartists and the unrest

in Ireland proved that a l l  was not perfect, but B rita in 's  immunity

from serious disorder was seen as proof o f the value o f constitutional
16 9monarchy. Moreover, the fa ilu re  o f the soc ia lis t doctrines in

France seemed to vindicate the la isser-fa ire  theories which dominated

socia l and economic thinking in Britain. "France has been to England

a salutary warning", Clarendon wrote to the King o f the Belgians.

She has made t r ia l  o f every wild thing & o f a l l  those unsound 
principles which are so attractive to the unthinking masses 
& which were not without the ir numerous adherents among our­
selves. The result has been fa ilu re  more rapid & ruin more 
complete than the sternest opponents o f such doctrines could 
have anticipated & I  am convinced that i t  has given a blow

1 6 9 . ILN, 30 December 1848, 417 -  18» Spectator. 30 December 1848, 
1244 ; MC_» 1 January 1848, 4 » The Times. 1 January 1848, 4 »
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to the democratic sp i^ jj o f England from which i t  w i l l  not 
quickly recover . . .

At the same time, amidst these comforting re flection s, there was also 

a fee lin g  o f r e l ie f .  "Whatever may have been the d if f ic u lt ie s  o f 1848," 

wrote Sir George Grey on New Year's Eve, " I  fe e l we ought to he thank­

fu l fo r escaping as w ell as we have done. We seemed at one time to he 

threatened with the propaganda o f 1793 & the rebellion  o f 1798 both

«.171at once."

In some respects, the r e l ie f  expressed by Sir George Grey, which 

is  also discernible among many in the ruling classes a fte r 10 A p ril, 

contradicts the repeated professions o f confidence in the British  

"system". I f  the leaders o f society were so convinced of the benefits 

o f their balanced constitution and their la isser-fa ire  theories, why 

were they so thankful when the "subversion" o f the Chartists and Young 

Ireland fa iled? The obvious answer would be that the ruling classes 

were not as self-confident as they made out, and that the declarations 

to the contrary were meant to inspire confidence among the timid and 

fear among the d isaffected. There may have been an element of this 

before the meeting on Kennington Common, but the self-confidence 

found expression at less troubled times and in private le tters  and 

conversations when there was l i t t l e  advantage to be gained. I t  could 

be that the ruling classes were deceiving themselves as well as trying 

to deceive others, but this would imply self-deception on such an 

extensive scale as to be almost inconceivable. There is ,  however, 

an explanation which reconciles the fear o f subversion with the s e l f -  

confidence o f the ruling classes.

This explanation hinges upon early Victorian England's conception 

o f the causes o f revolution. Revolutions, i t  was thought, could be

170 . Clarendon to King Leopold, copy, 20 December 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  
Letter-Book Vol.3  f 197•

171. G. Grey to Clarendon, 31'December 1848: ib id  Ir ish  Box 12 .
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caused when the majority o f the inhabitants o f a country or part of 

a country found the regime under which they were liv in g  in tolerab le.

Such revolutions might be c lass ified  as "natural", fo r  they were 

assumed to be inevitable without essential changes to the character 

o f the regime, and in such circumstances many Britons sympathised 

with the revolutionaries fo r the blame fo r the unrest lay with the 

relevent government which had made the conditions in tolerable. The 

insurrections in S ic ily  in January and in Lombardy and Venetia in 

March were generally accepted in Britain to have been such "natural" 

revolutions. On the other hand, revolutions could be "unnatural" i f  

they were caused by the actions o f a clique rather than a popular 

movement. The coup d’€tats o f Napoleon Bonaparte in 1799 and o f Louis 

Napoleon in 1851 were obvious examples o f th is , and the British public 

regarded such revolutions with distaste fo r they were assumed to 

have perverted the course o f h istory. The d istinction  between a "natural" 

and an "unnatural" revolution was not always clear -  the February 

Revolution in France, fo r example, was regarded by many Tories as 

"unnatural", but by most Whigs and Radicals as "natural" -  but i t  was 

a d istinction  which, i f  possible, the British  ruling classes liked 

to make, fo r  upon i t  depended the po lic ies which they f e l t  should be 

pursued. Put simply, they thought that a "natural" revolution should 

be met by conciliation  and that an "unnatural" revolution should be 

met by repression.

Most members o f the British  ruling classes had few doubts that i f  

Britain was threatened by a revolution in 1848, i t  was by an "unnatural" 

revolution. The distress which existed among the lower classes was 

recognised as producing the circumstances in which p o lit ic a l discontent 

flourished. But i t  was assumed that nothing could be done to a llev ia te  

the distress without v io la tin g  the laws o f economics and a ffecting
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personal lib e r t ie s , and moreover that nothing need he done fo r , through 

the action o f those laws, trade and industry would pick up, thereby 

easing distress. The important thing was to prevent the temporary 

socia l discontent becoming p o lit ic a l d isa ffection , and to that end 

those individuals who were in corrig ib ly  disaffected had to be prevented 

from exploiting the situation. However the extent to which the dis­

affected could be controlled was lim ited, fo r  the question impinged

upon personal lib e rtie s  which were assumed to be inseparable from the

172economic freedoms which had made Britain great, and the Government 

was careful not to adopt any measure which might be thought excessive. 

But such powers as were availab le, which in the exceptional circum­

stances o f 1848 were greater than normal, were used and the Government

173was prepared, i f  necessary, to resort to force.

The repressive po lic ies which the British Government adopted at

home were in marked contrast to the polic ies which Palmerston advised

other governments to adopt. Early in March, to give but one example,

Stratford Canning, en route to Constantinople, was instructed to v is it

several central European capitals to preach the benefits o f constitu-

174tional government as the best way to solve unrest. The reason for 

the difference was that Palmerston thought that the other countries, 

unlike Britain , were threatened by ’’natural" revolutions. He shared 

the assumption o f most British  po litic ians that Britain was more ad-

1 7 2 . For a recent discussion o f this see B.J. Porter: Britain , Europe 
and the World 1850 -  1982 : Delusions o f Grandeur (London 1983),
3 - 7 .

173 . Even these lim ited repressive powers were viewed with suspicion
by the more ardent advocates o f la is s e r - fa ire . such as the opponents 
o f the Alien B i l l ,  who argued that they were unnecessary and who 
had always suspected that the Tory and Whig aristocrats who domin­
ated the Government were more reactionary than they made out.

174 » Palmerston to Canning, No 1 , 10 March 1848: PRO FO 3O/117* Canning's 
mission is  reminiscent o f that o f Lord Minto to Ita ly , but because 
o f the circumstances Canning encountered in Germany i t  proved far 
less e ffe c t iv e . Cf Gillessen, 7 - 1 2 .



171

vanced, soc ia lly , economically and. p o lit ic a lly , than the rest o f Europe, 

and consequently that i f  continental governments wished to share Bri­

ta in 's  s ta b ility  and prosperity they should adopt her course o f la isser- 

fa ire  economics and moderate reform.

Continental statesmen were sceptical about the difference which 

Palmerston perceived between the revolution which threatened Britain 

and those which threatened the rest o f Europe. They suspected that 

he had one standard fo r Britain and another fo r  everyone else. This 

may be so, but a l l  the evidence suggests that Palmerston believed 

in the difference he discerned. He genuinely f e l t  that the discontent 

in England and Ireland was caused by a vociferous and unrepresentative 

minority, possibly encouraged by foreign agitators, whilst the unrest 

on the continent re flected  the views o f an oppressed and resentful 

majority. I t  was a sim plistic and over-optim istic interpretation of 

the state o f Britain and o f the state o f the continent, but i t  was 

not without foundation. The Chartists and Young Ireland were potent 

challenges to the authorities, but they lacked the mass support which 

was necessary fo r  them to be successful.

The "v ic to ry" o f the Government in 1848 created confidence and 

s ta b ility  among the British  ruling classes, but i t  did not provide a 

permanent solution to the problems presented by the Chartists and Young 

Ireland. Chartism died in 1848, but the demands fo r  an extension o f 

the franchise continued and gained greater respectab ility , culminating 

a fte r  Palmerston's death in the passing o f the 1867 Reform B il l .  In 

Ireland, the Young Ireland movement collapsed a fte r the fa ilu re  of 

Smith O'Brien's insurrection, but Ir ish  nationalism resurfaced in the 

1860s as Fenianism. However Russell's Government did not expect its  

repressive po lic ies to provide a permanent solution. Its  aim was to 

prevent the revolution with which i t  f e l t  i t  was threatened, and to 

that extent i t  was successful.
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Chapter IV: Palmerston, Lamartine and the March Revolutions

i )  BRITAIN AND THE MARCH REVOLUTIONS

Towards the end o f the second week o f March a series o f revolutions 

began to sweep through Europe. During the previous fortnight there 

had been rio ts  in Munich, Cologne and Berlin, and an abortive ris ing 

at Breslau, as w ell as the unrest in England and Ireland and the 

continued uncertainty in Prance. But i t  was on the 13th, with the 

outbreak o f revolution in Vienna and the f a l l  o f Metternich, that 

the March revolutions rea lly  began. On the 15th figh ting broke out 

in the streets o f Berlin which only subsided when Frederick William 

promised his subjects a constitution. The same day, a provisional 

government was formed in Budapest. On the 18th the inhabitants of 

Milan rose in revolt and a fte r f iv e  days' figh ting expelled the occupying 

Austrian army. On the 22nd the Venetians proclaimed the formation 

o f the Republic o f St. Mark, and in Poznan the Poles began to attack 

the authorities. On the 24th the Germans of Schleswig and Holstein 

established a provisional government at K iel in defence, they said, 

o f their rights which the Danish Government was trying to overthrow.

The unrest continued throughout A pril and into May, and although 

would-be revolutionaries met with a varying degree of success no 

country was completely immune.

The news o f the revolutions shook the p o lit ic a l world in London.

"A tenth part of any one o f the events would have lasted us fo r as

many months, with sentiments of wonder and deep in terest", wrote

G reville on 25 March; "but now we are perplexed, overwhelmed, and

carried away with excitement, and the most stupendous events are
-]

become like matters o f every-day occurrence." I t  was almost impossible

1. GM, VI, 158.
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fo r anyone to keep track of the progress of a l l  the revolutions, le t 

alone make "balanced forecasts about what would happen next. Indeed 

the unexpectedness o f the revolutions in Berlin and Vienna made many 

wonder whether i t  was possible to predict future events at a l l .  One 

event, however, caught the imagination of the B ritish  public: the
I

f a l l  of Metternich.

The resignation o f Metternich, wrote The Times, was the end of an

era, the f a l l  o f "the last beam of the old system". But, i t  wondered,

would his departure be a "great . . . deliverance" to Austria and
2

Europe, or would i t  leave a "rea l . . . void"? Others had few doubts.

"The f a l l  o f Metternich", wrote Hobhouse, " is  the rise o f Germany,

and the freedom of I t a l y . P a l m e r s t o n ' s  only regret was that i t

had not happened ea r lie r , "and then many bad things . . . might have

been prevented".^ Newspapers o f a l l  p o lit ic a l persuasions welcomed
r

Metternich's departure. Some o f these a rt ic le s , declared Fraser's

Magazine, were a "disgrace to British  journalism", yet i t  too condemned

Metternich's po lic ies as "inim ical to the constitutional lib e rtie s

of the Austrian people and the nations under their sway".^

As with Louis Philippe and Guizot, d is like o f Metternich's po lic ies

was not translated into d is like o f Metternich himself when he and

his w ife arrived in London in A pril. Princess Metternich did not like

England and was disgusted by the manner in which the English seemed
7

to re jo ice at what was happening on the continent. Her husband, 

however, was fascinated by London and the way in which small numbers

2 . The Times, 21 March 1848, 5 *
3 . Hobhouse's Diary, 20  March 1848: B.L. Add, Mss. 43751 f l 38 (q Dor­

chester, v i ,  211).
4. Palmerston to Westmorland, copy, 23 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/WE/l91.
5. DN, 21 March 1848, 3 ; ME, 22 March 1848, 4; T a it 's  Edinburgh Magazine.

xv, 276 -  7.
6. Fraser' s Magazine, XXXVII, 4^4 — 7 *
7. Princess Metternich's Journal, April 1848s Klinkowstroem, V II I ,  18.
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o f policemen could control large crowds. He also enjoyed the conversations

he had with leading po litic ians. He kept up a regular correspondence

with Wellington and an occasional one with Aberdeen in which he gave
9

his views on the state of Austria, Germany and Ita ly . He even received
10

Palmerston, although, perhaps w isely, they did not discuss p o lit ic s .

But i t  was D israeli whom he seems to have inspired most. " I  never

heard such divine ta lk ", D israeli to ld  his w ife early in 1849 a fter

seeing Metternich at Brighton,

-  he gave me the most masterly exposition of the present 
state o f European a ffa irs , & said a greater number of wise 
& w illy  r s ic , w ily? _ 7  things than I  ever recollected having 
from him on the same day. He was indeed quite b r il l ia n t ,
& his eyes someti^s laughed with sunny sympathy with his 
shining thoughts.

There was a strong s im ila r ity  between Metternich and D israeli: both

tended to philosophise about p o lit ic s , both condemned the revolutions,

and both opposed Palmerston’ s foreign policy. Several o f D israe li's

speeches on foreign a ffa irs  were influenced by his conversations with
12Metternich and were recognised as such by contemporaries. D israe li’ s 

talks with Metternich did not a lte r his general views o f foreign 

a ffa irs , but they seem to have made him a more vigorous opponent 

o f the French Republic and of Palmerston.

Reaction to the European revolutions in general was mixed. The 

Duke o f Newcastle saw them as the w il l  of God. Palmerston discerned 

more earthly causes. The revolutions, he instructed Bloomfield to t e l l  

Nesselrode, were the result of "a blind disregard . . .  of public

8. Metternich to Countess Sandor, 28 May 1848: ib id . 167.
9 . See, fo r example, Metternich to Wellington, 22 May, 24 June, 14 

July, 13 August and 18 November 1848: Well. P. 158/66, 158/134 -  7, 
159/12 -  1 3 , 159/70 and 160/74 -  7; Metternich to Aberdeen, 24 
August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43280 f f 60 -  3.

1 0 . Palmerston to Normanby, 2 May 1848: Nor. P. P/20/34.
11 . D israeli to his w ife , 7 January 18 4 9 : Dis. P. a/i /a/2 4 2 .
12 . Morpeth's Diary, 16 August 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/18 f f 32 -  3 ; Monypenny 

and Buckle, I I I ,  180 -  4 » GiHessen, 2 4 - 5 *
13 . Newcastle to Stanley, 10 April 1848; Der. P. Box 147/1*
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opinion".1̂  The only sure way to prevent revolution was the British

way o f remedying " ju s tly  complained o f grievances" and introducing

"such improvements into the Legislation of the Country, as experience

and attentive observation, and mature re flec tion , have pointed out

to he desirable", by which a l l  classes would become attached to the 

1 5constitution. I f  the rest o f Europe had adopted the course advocated

by Britain before 1848, Russell declared in March 1 8 49 »

we should have been spared the scenes o f the past year, 
and instead o f a transition from the most complete and 
absolute despotism to a wild and rabid democracy, we should 
have seen the peaceful progress o f improvement, the intro­
duction o f constitutional modes o f government, and a b ^ te r  
state o f things in Europe, generally, than now exists.

Russell's disillusionment with the way the March revolutions had 

gone is  understandable, and i t  was shared by many people at the beginning 

o f 1849» At the time, however, most people in Britain welcomed the 

revolutions. There was disquiet in some quarters, with certain Protect­

ion ist journals, convinced that the disorder was the result o f a wide-

17spread conspiracy, anxiously anticipating some manifestation in England.

But such views were not widely held. I t  was assumed that the revolutions

in Germany and Ita ly  were d ifferen t from that in France. The revolution

in France had gone too far by embracing republicanism and socialism,

whereas those in Germany and Ita ly  were in favour o f constitutional

monarchy. Attitudes towards the insurrections in northern Ita ly  were

18complicated by the Sardinian attack on Austria, but upon the whole

1 9the press applauded these "natural" revolutions. 7

14 . Palmerston to Bloomfield, No 7 0 , 28  March 1848: PRO FO 65/3 4 3 .
15* Palmerston to Bloomfield, No 9 5 » 14 A p ril 1848: ib id  65/3 4 4 *
16. Hansard, C III, 3 7 8 .
17 . MP, 22 March 1848, 4» Standard, 3 June 1848, 2 ; Quarterly Review.

LXXXIII, 2 2 9 . ' ”
18. See below pp. 1 9 8 - 9 *
1 9 * The Times. 17 and 30 March 1848, 4 ? DN, 21 March 1848, 3 ; ILN.

1 April 1848, 2 0 7 ; The Economist, 1 A p ril 1848, 365 -  8; Fraser's 
Magazine, XXXVII, 487» Gentleman's Magazine, XXIX, 4 1 4 *



Lamartine was overjoyed by the March revolutions. He saw them as

ju stify in g  the policy of non—aggression he had been advocating since

February. By not giving the Northern Powers an excuse to combine against

the Republic, he argued, they had been prevented from u tilis in g  the

revolution in Paris to frighten the rest o f Europe into submission.

Instead, the shining example o f lib erty  and equality in France had

encouraged other nations to fo llow  her lead. There was no need fo r

the Republic to go to war to revolutionize Europe because Europe
20was being revolutionized without it s  assistance. The rest o f Europe,

however, wondered whether the Republic would continue its  pacific  policy.

21Might not the weakness of central Europe tempt France across the Rhine?

Would the Provisional Government go to war to divert attention away
22from the "in to lerab le d istress" in  France? In Paris there was ta lk

of a "general scramble" fo r te rr ito ry  during which Britain would seize
23

Egypt. No one could be certain what the Republic would do now there

was no longer the threat o f a monarchical coa lition , but the creation

o f armies on the Rhine and the Var made some fear the worse. The

formation o f these armies, observed the York Herald, " is  but the

embodiment o f a fee lin g  by which the Government appears to be carried

away; i t s  words and phrases are o f peace, whilst i t s  acts a l l  point

2 dto war, although no Power dreams o f attack." H

The British  Government continued to regard Lamartine as the best

insurance against war. I t  was thought that as long as he remained

in o ffic e  the "war party" in the Provisional Government would be
25

restrained. '  But by the beginning o f Kay there was no longer the 20 21 22 23 24 25

2 0 . Lamartine, Ilis to ire , I I ,  275 ~ 6; Jennings, 36  -  8.
2 1 . Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 1 5 6 , 23 May 1848: PRO FO 65/349.
2 2 . GM, V I, 165 .
2 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, 31 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/no/1 4 9 »
24. York Herald, 25 March 1848, 5 -
25. Normanby to Palmerston, 24 April 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/161; Palmerston 

to Normanby, 2 May 1848: Nor. P. P/20/34; Clarendon to Lansdowne, 
copy, 12 May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter-Book Vol.2  f f 242 -  3.
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trust in him that there had been two months ea rlie r . His speeches
2 S

on foreign a ffa irs  were regarded with increasing d issatisfaction ,

and the alliance he established with Ledru Rollin  was seen as a sign
21

of his p o lit ic a l weakness and growing extremism. " I  wish I  could 

keep up the illu s ion  that Lamartine w i l l  be found equal to his position", 

wrote Normanby on 3 May.

There is  a great charm about him:- he is  the most good 
natured very vain man I  ever knew, & one may say almost 
anything to him without affronting him;- but I  am losing 
my confidencepin his having steadiness to establish any 
settled  Govt.

29The promotion o f Jules Bastide, a sincere republican whom Normanby

described as "slow", "d u ll", "straight forward enough in his dealings"

but formerly "very A n ti-E nglish ",^  was seen as a further step in

the wrong direction . When Bastide became Foreign Minister, upon Lamartine

31entering the Executive Commission, he assured anxious diplomats

that the Republic would continue to desire peace and friend ly  relations

with other countries and would respect "toutes les nationality's, . . .

32tous les gouvernements et . . . tous les d ro its ." Normanby was sceptical 

the tone o f the Note " is  good, and the promised line conciliatory", 

he observed, but certain appointments at the Foreign Ministry and the

language o f members o f the Government "prevent one's placing im plic it 

confidence in the ir p ro fessions."^  These doubts contrast markedly

2 6 .

2 7 .

2 8 .
2 9 .
3 0 .

Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 0 4 , 7 May 1848, and No 3 0 9 , 10 May 
1848: PRO FO 27/807 (q JJJ, I ,  367 -  8 and 372 -  3 ); The Times.
12 May 1848, 4. -------------
Normanby to Palmerston, 10 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/165; Palmerston 
to Normanby, 16 May 1848: Nor. P. P/20/3 5 ; Russell to Normanby.
19 May 1848: Nor. P. P/23/27; GM, VI, 182.
Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 3 May 1848: Nor. P. P/14/105. 
Lamartine., H isto ire . I I ,  7 - 8 ;  Jennings, 24 and 123 -  4.
Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 11 May 1848: Nor. P. P/14/1O9. A fter 
closer contact with Bastide, Normanby came to like and trust him, 
though he never thought greatly  o f him as a statesman (see below
P. 2 2 0 ).

3 1 . Lamartine, however, s t i l l  formulated foreign policy (Jennings, 9 9 ).
3 2 . Circular Note to the diplomatic community in Paris, 12 May 1848:

DD, I I ,  183 -  4 -
3 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 2 4 » 14 May 1848: PRO FO 27/8O8.
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with Normanby's ready acceptance o f Lamartine's assurances at the 

end of February.

Suspicions about the trustworthiness o f the French Government came 

to the fore in the second week o f May. But i t  had been six weeks ea r lie r , 

with the invasions o f Belgium by over a thousand Belgian republicans 

resident in France and their French sympathisers, that the influence 

o f the extremists on the Republic's foreign policy seemed most apparent. 

Lamartine had disavowed a l l  intention o f propagandism, but the aim of 

the invasions, which had come to nothing, was to revolutionise Belgium.3  ̂

The question the British  and Belgian Governments asked was, how deeply 

was the Provisional Government involved?

The British  Government had been reassured about French intentions

with respect to Belgium by the report on 27 February that the Republic

35would under no circumstances annex its  neighbour. The Belgian Govern­

ment was more doubtful. Although pleased by the Provisional Government's 

announcement, i t  was disturbed by Ledru R o llin 's  language on the subject 

which, Howard de Walden was to ld , "was very essen tia lly  d ifferen t from 

that o f M. Lamartine." Ledru Rollin  was reported to have said that the 

Provisional Government would support the Belgian people i f  they exhibited 

a desire to jo in  the Republic. The Belgian Government was convinced that 

he intended " to promote, by agitation o f Republican princip les, the re­

sult desired, . . . the destruction o f the neutrality and nationality 

o f Belgium."34 35 36

Given these suspicions, i t  is  not surprising that the Belgian Govern­

ment was quick to accuse Ledru Rollin  o f complicity in the invasions.

A fter the f i r s t  attack, the Belgian ambassador in Paris complained to

3 4 . Jennings, 55 -  6.
3 5 . See above p. 10 0 .
3 6 . Howard de Walden to Palmerston, No 2 9 , confidentia l, 18 March 1848s 

PRO FO 10/137 .
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Lamartine about Ledru R o llin 's  involvement. A fter the second, the

Belgian Government obtained evidence that the attackers had received

38arms from the French authorities. Lamartine denied th is second charge.

He to ld  Normanby that any guns must have come from the Paris clubs

over which he had no control, although he admitted that the orders

o f the ministers might not have been "very lo ya lly  executed by some

39o f their subordinates." The follow ing day he repeated the denial 

in even stronger terms. "He pledged his own honor, and that o f the 

Provisional Government, that they were quite irreproachable upon the 

subject o f these expeditions: that they had no connivance with their 

ob jects." His only regret, he said, was that the Provisional Govern­

ment lacked the means to prevent such a tta ck s .^

Despite Lamartine's denials, the Belgian Government remained con-

41vinced o f the Provisional Government's involvement. Lamartine's 

refusal to make public his denial served to confirm its  suspicions.^

But i t  was thought advisable to take the subject no further. As Howard 

de Walden observed to King Leopold on 1 A p ril, the invasions had not 

destabilised Belgium, as the ir backers had hoped, but had led to 

strong demonstrations o f loya lty and nationality. To cast doubt on 

Lamartine's assurances would not improve Belgium's position, and 

might damage his standing within the Provisional Government where 

he advocated peace and moderation.^ Besides, as d'Hoffschmidt remarked, 

there was l i t t l e  point in continuing to protest when a l l  Lamartine

3 7 - Ligne to d'Hoffschmidt, very confidential, 27 March 1848: Ridder,
I ,  261 -  2.

38. Howard de Walden to Palmerston, No 3 6 , 30 March 1848: PRO FO 10/137 . 
3 9 » Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 1 0 , secret, 31 March 1848: ib id 27/805.
4 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 2 1 , 1 A pril 1848: ib id  27/8O6 (q NJ,

I ,  284 -  5 )* Of Ligne to d'Hoffschmidt, 1 A pril 1848: Ridder, I ,
297 -  3 0 0 .

4 1 . Howard de Walden to Palmerston, No 3 7 » 1 April 1848: PRO FO 10/138 .
42. Ligne to d'Hoffschmidt, 1 April 1848: Ridder, I ,  297 -  3 0 0 .
4 3 « Howard de Walden to Palmerston, 1 A pril 1848: Bd. P. GC/HO/7O3.

For the e ffec ts  o f the invasions on Belgium see Gooch, 8 2 - 3 .

37
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• -, 44did was issue denials.

In Brita in , the reaction to the accusations of the French Government's

involvement was mixed. The Daily Hews accepted Lamartine's assurances 

at their face value; The Times did not. J The B ritish  Government's 

views are more d if f ic u lt  to assess fo r  there is  no conclusive evidence.

I t  seems prohahle, however, that i t  accepted Belgian complaints against 

Ledru R o llin '^  and that i t  saw Lamartine's denials as proof that he 

had known nothing o f his colleague's a c t iv it ie s . Such a judgement 

would have f it te d  in with the Government's ex isting "belief that Ledru 

Rollin  was a dangerous propagandist and that Lamartine was his dupe.

I f  this was it s  view, i t  was close to the truth. As far as can "be 

judged, Lamartine was not involved in the attempt to revolutionize 

Belgium, "but Ledru R ollin , and s t i l l  more the Preiet de Police and
AH

the commissary o f the D^partement du Nord, had encouraged the invaders.

But whatever the truth about Lamartine's involvement, the a ffa ir  

had damaged his standing in the eyes o f the British . At "best, he had 

shown an ignorance and powerlessness which "boded i l l  fo r his continuation 

as head o f the French Government. At worst, he had "been revealed to 

"be dece itfu l, dishonest and engaged in intrigues against other countries. 

The B ritish  preferred to "believe the former, "but some residue o f the 

la tte r  must have remained to cloud British  hopes over more important 

questions such as the war in northern Ita ly .

Unlike Lamartine and Palmerston, Nesselrode was appalled "by the 

news o f the revolutions in Berlin and Vienna. Metternich's downfall, 

he to ld  Meyendorff, was one o f the worst things that could have happened.^8

44. D'Hoffschmidt to Ligne, 2 April 1848; Ridder, I ,  321 -  3.
4 5 . DN, 5 A p ril 1848, 2 ; The Times, 1 A pril 1848, 4 - 5 .
4 6 . A fter the f ir s t  invasion, for example, Palmerston agreed to protest 

to Lamartine about Ledru R o llin 's  involvement (Van de Weyer to
d'Hoffschmidt, confidential, 27 March 1848: Ridder, I ,  259 -  6 0 ).

4 7 . Jennings, 5 4 ; Quentin-Bauchart, 190 -  1 .
48. Nesselrode to Meyendorff, 21 March 1848: Nesselrode, IX, 70.



Bloomfield reported that he had never seen the Chancellor "so depressed

. . .  or so completely overcome as he has been hy the news from Vienna."

He regarded the Austrian revolution as "the fa ilu re o f a l l  his schemes

and the destruction o f a l l  his p o lit ic a l combinations." Russia, he

to ld  Bloomfield, stood alone against "the storm with which She considers

Herself to be threatened from the West." In an e ffo r t  to overcome this

iso la tion , he urged that Britain and Russia should forget the ir other

disagreements, "as they had lost a l l  importance in the presence o f the

great events which have la te ly  been accomplished", and should come to

49an understanding on European a ffa irs . Palmerston replied that i t  was 

impossible to come to an understanding with Russia because British 

public opinion was strongly attached to the cause o f Polish indepen­

dence, and pursuing th is line he advised the Tsar to establish a sepa­

rate Polish state under one o f his sons which, Palmerston claimed, might 

prevent a Polish uprising. ^  Nesselrode listened patiently to Palmerston’ 

advice, but said that the Tsar would never consider such a plan.^1 Re­

buffed by Britain and deprived o f her normal a l l ie s ,  fo r the moment 

Russia retreated behind her fron tiers , leaving the rest o f Europe to 

cope with the revolutions as best i t  could.

Palmerston’ s re jection  o f an understanding with Russia was the 

result o f more than a refusal to become involved with a government 

which, in his opinion, was not su ffic ien tly  lib e ra l. I t  was part of 

a deliberate policy not to become entangled in European a ffa irs . The 

Government's position, he informed the Queen a fte r she had complained 

that she was not being kept adequately informed, "has been one rather

4 9 » Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 64, 20  March 1848: PRO FO 65/348.
5 0 . Palmerston to Bloomfield, copies, 4 and 11 A pril 1848: Bd. P.

GC/BL/227 and GC/BL/228  (q Ashley, I I ,  79).
5 1 . Bloomfield to Palmerston, 22 April 1848: Bd. P. GC/BL/187. A week 

la ter, Nesselrode to ld  Bloomfield "that the subject was one which 
we had better avoid discussing as there was no probability o f the 
Imperial Government changing the ir opinions respecting i t . "  (Bloom­
f ie ld  to Palmerston, No 13 1 » 2 May 1848: PRO FO 65/3 4 9 )-
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of observation than o f action". Given the confused state of the conti­

nent, the Government wanted to remain "as free as possible from unnece­

ssary engagements and entanglements" in order to retain its  freedom 

o f action. This did not mean, however, that the British  Government 

did not plan to make its  fee lings known about European a ffa irs . ,TVie

have nothing to do," Palmerston to ld  Normanby, "though we may perhaps

53have something to Say on these matters." But given that the Vienna 

settlement seemed destroyed, what would be the objectives which would 

guide B rita in 's  observations?

At the end o f March Russell drew up some proposed guidelines about 

future B ritish  policy which he sent to Palmerston and Lansdowne. As 

usual, the principal objective was the maintenance o f the general peace 

and the balance o f power in Europe. But Russell recognised that specific  

po lic ies had to be adapted to the altered circumstances. The British 

Government, he declared, should try  to "maintain peace as long as 

possible . . .  by enacting, & not by foregoing our influence in Europe." 

I t  should support Belgian in teg r ity  and independence, "so long as 

the Belgians are themselves w illin g  to uphold i t " ;  i t  should favour 

the development o f a single German state as the best barrier to French 

and Russian expansionism; i t  should try  to persuade Austria to abandon 

northern Ita ly ; in the event o f a Polish insurrection, i t  should en­

courage Russia to re-establish an independent Polish state; and i t  

should "withdraw altogether from any contest regarding the Spanish 

succession, expressing our wish to the Spanish Government that they

w il l  not form with any foreign country a closer a lliance than they

54are prepared to form with England.

Palmerston and Lansdowne expressed broad agreement with the ideas

5 2 . Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 18 A p ril 1848: QVL, I I ,  2 0 3 .
5 3 . Palmerston to Normanby, 30 March 1848: Nor. P. P/2 (yk3 .
5 4 « Russell to Palmerston, 25 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/191.
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Russell enunciated, although both f e l t  he had undervalued B rita in 's  

commitment to Belgium. Palmerston also made another proviso. He fe l t

that Britain should not drop her objections to the Montpensier marriage. 

Compared with the ir agreement to support the lib e ra l movements on 

the continent, the disagreement between Russell and Palmerston over 

Spain did not seem too important. However i t  was Palmerston's attitude 

towards the Spanish Government that was to cause a major international 

and domestic incident in the spring o f 1848.

i i )  THE EXPULSION OP SIR HENRY BULWER

On 16 March Palmerston wrote a despatch in which he instructed 

S ir Henry Bulwer to t e l l  the Spanish Government, at a suitable moment, 

that its  method o f ruling vías unjust, that i t  did not represent the 

Spanish people, that i t  was useless fo r  i t  to depend upon its  army,

and that i f  i t  did not mend its  ways there would probably be a revolu-

56tion . There was nothing unusual about Palmerston giving such advice.

I t  was part o f his desire to persuade other governments to reform

57before i t  was too la te . The tone on th is occasion was more peremptory 

than usual, but that probably re fle c ts  his frustration about Spanish 

p o lit ic s  and i t  is  clear that he did not intend that Bulwer should 

communicate the despatch d irec tly  to the Spanish Government. Unfort­

unately, Bulwer exceeded his instructions.

The despatch reached Bulwer a fte r  he had spent two weeks urging

the Spanish Government to institu te reforms without apparently making 
58any impression. Convinced that reform was necessary to prevent a 

republican revolution, he decided to use the despatch to take a stronger

5 5 * Palmerston to Russell, copy, 30 March 1848: ib id  GC/RU/104O; Lans- 
downe to Russell, 30 March 1848: PRO 30/22/7B,

56. Palmerston to Bulwer, No 2 8 , 16 March 1848s PRO P0 72/739 (q PP,
LXV, 2 2 3 ). Cf Bourne, Victorian England. 293 -  4.

5 7 - See above pp. 15 -  1 7 » 117 -  18, 122 -  3 and 174 -  5 «
58. Bulwer to Palmerston, 16 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/447.

55
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q^ne. He sent a, copy o f i t  "to "the Due de Sotomayor, "the Spanish, foreign 

M inister. ^  Sotomayor, infuriated "by the arrogant tone o f the despatch, 

returned i t  and enclosed an angry note asking what right Britain had 

to in terfere in Spain’ s internal a ffa irs?  Bulwer acknowledged receipt 

o f the note hy restating what had keen said in the despatch. His reply, 

he told  Palmerston, "might have keen more k r ie f and more severe; kut 

I  thought i t  better on the whole to answer temperately and I  venture 

to think conclusively the Tirade which may hardly ke worthy o f so 

much n o t ic e ."^

Bulwer may have tried  to pull hack from a quarrel, kut Palmerston 

had no such intention. He approved Bulwer's actions and wrote a despatch, 

a copy o f which Bulwer was instructed to give to Sotomayor, in which 

he stated at length that a fte r  a l l  the assistance Britain had given 

Spain in the past she was en titled  to give advice and that i f  Spain 

had done as much fo r Britain he would have taken the advice in the

61friend ly  sp ir it  in which i t  had keen sent. ' Sotomayor’ s note, he 

observed in an accompanying le tte r  to Bulwer, was "very impertinent".

I f  he had the temerity to return the second despatch, Bulwer should

"take i t  back to him, & make him understand that we cannot stand such
62

rudeness"." Unlike Bulwer, who was in close contact with the Spanish 

opposition parties in an attempt to prevent them "jumping at once into 

republicanism and ga llic ism ",'^  Palmerston did not think that Britain 

should become iden tified  with Narvaez's opponents.^ But he too expected 

the overthrow o f Narvaez's Government and welcomed the prospect.

C ““  .
5 9 - Bulwer to Palmerston, No 6 3 , 10 A pril 1848: PRO FO 72/741 (a PP 

LXV, 223 -  4 ). — ’
6 0 . Bulwer to Palmerston, No 66, 11 A p ril 1848, enclosing Sotomayor 

to Bulwer, 10 A p ril 1848, and Bulwer to Sotomayor, 12 April 1848*
PRO PO 72/741 (partly  q PP, LXV, 225 -  9 ).

61 . Palmerston to Bulwer, No 4 4 , 20 April 1848: PRO PO 72/739 (q PP
LXV, 229 -  3 0 ). — '

6 2 . Palmerston to Bulwer, copy, 20 A p ril 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/58O.
63. Bulwer to Palmerston, confidential, 16 March 1848: ib id  GC/BU/448.
64. Palmerston to Bulwer, copy, 18 A p ril 1848: ib id  GC/BU/579.
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The despatch o f 20 April was even more tactless than that o f 16 

March. In his contempt fo r the Spanish ministers, Palmerston had com­

p lete ly  miscalculated their response. He believed they would hack 

down i f  given a demonstration o f British  resolve. To make matters 

worse, he had sent the despatch against Russell's wishes. The Prime 

Minister had agreed that Bulwer's actions should he approved, hut fe l t  

that the long tirade about Spanish ingratitude should he omitted. " I  

cannot hut think", he had written, "that in the present circumstances

of Europe, an ir r ita t in g  correspondence with the Sp. Govt, is  unadvis-

65ab le ." Palmerston, however, was unrepentent. "You were perhaps Right 

about my Draft to Bulwer", he confessed a fte r sending the despatch, 

" . . .  hut i t  did not seem to me that any real Harm could result from 

sending i t  as written and I  could not resist the Temptation o f giv ing 

them a Rowland fo r their O liver. As usual, Russell preferred to 

ignore Palmerston's disobedience rather than risk his alienation.

Bulwer's correspondence with Sotomayor broke upon the British  public 

with the receipt o f the Spanish newspapers. The reaction was predomi­

nantly hostile to Palmerston. The Protectionist and Peelite press was 

indignant about Palmerston's attempted in te rfe ren ce .^  Even Whig and 

Radical papers found i t  d if f ic u lt  to defend the Foreign Secretary's 

actions: the Spectator called the dispute "as gratuitous, as p ro fit less , 

as detrimental, and as d iscreditable, as he could have con tr ived ."^  

Palmerston's colleagues were dismayed by his behaviour -  G reville

thought that i f  Russell did not force Palmerston's resignation, the

69rest o f the Cabinet would.' Peel and Graham were appalled by i t ,  65 66 67 68 69

65. Russell to Palmerston, 19 A pril 1848: ib id  GC/RU/196.
66. Palmerston to Russell, 21 April 1848: PRO 30/22/7B.
6 7 . MC, 27 A p ril 1848, 4; The Times, 27 April 1848, 4; MH, 29  A p ril 

1848, 4.
68. DN, 26  A p ril 1848, 1 -  2 ; ILN, 29  A p ril 1848, 276; Spectator. 29 

April 1848, 405 -  6.
69. G reville  to Clarendon, 28 April 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 2 1 . Cf Grey's 

Journal, 27 A p ril 1848: Grey P. C3/14; Normanby to Clarendon, 1 
May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 2 0 .
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the la tte r  "being "astonished, that Ld. Grey qu ietly  submits to such 

Vagaries."70 71 72 73 And Lord Stanley resolved to bring the matter up in

71Parliament as soon as possible.

Stanley's speech on 5 May was extremely e ffe c t iv e . He claimed that 

Palmerston was motivated by "two ruling and fixed ideas" when dealing 

with foreign governments:

The one, an exaggerated and overstrained jealousy o f the 
influence . . .  o f Prance in the other Courts o f Europe • 
and the world; and the other, a morbid desire fo r in terfering 
and intermeddling, with a view, no doubt, in his judgement, 
to the promotion o f B ritish  in terests, with those purely 
internal concerns o f other countries which I  hold i t  to be 
the f ir s t  duty o f a B ritish  Minister most sedulously to 
abstain from disturbing.

Palmerston's policy o f meddling, he went on, had fa iled  elsewhere,

fo r example in southern Ita ly . But he had not learnt from his mistakes.

Instead, he had sent a despatch which seemed almost designed to be

offensive and would certain ly be counter-productive. Lansdowne made

a weak reply. He denied that Palmerston's advice had not produced

ben efic ia l resu lts, and he said that the problem with Spain had arisen
72because Bulwer had exceeded his instructions.

The Cabinet recognised that Stanley had scored a success and realised

that Lansdowne*s defence would not stand up to examination. The relevent

papers, which the Government had decided to publish, would show that

whilst Bulwer had not been ordered to send a copy o f the despatch

to Sotomayor, the Government had approved his actions when he had 

73done so. The Times was quick to take up the "downright contradiction"

7 0 . Peel to Graham, 28 A pril 1848: Gra. P. Bundle 1 0 5 ; Graham to 
Peel, 30 A p ril 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 40452 f f 272 -  3 (q Parker,
Peel, I I I ,  4 9 5 )*

7 1 . Stanley to J.W. Patten, copy, 29 April 1848: Der. P. Box 178/1.
7 2 . Hansard, XCVIII, 671 -  99 -
7 3 . Grey's Journal, 5 May 1848: Grey P. C3/14; Hobhouse's Diary,

6 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 52 -  3 . Lansdowne la ter confessed 
that he had not read the relevent despatches before he spoke on 
the 5th "and had not a notion how fa r Palmerston had committed 
himself in approval o f Bulwer" (GM, V I, 178).
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o f what Lansdowne had said and what the printed papers revealed. Other 

opposition papers followed suit.  ̂ Stanley took up the contradiction 

in Parliament and made what Grey admitted was "a very e ffe c t iv e  &

75damaging speech". Lansdowne's stumbling reply impressed no one.

Lansdowne's colleagues, however, did not blame him fo r the Government's
r-t S’

embarrassment. They blamed Palmerston. They were determined that

the Foreign Secretary should not get them into such trouble again.

At f ir s t  Grey thought that the c r is is  would lead either to Palmerston's

resignation or the break-up o f the Government, o f which a lternatives,

77he confessed, "the former wd. have given me in fin ite  satis factn ."

But i t  quickly became apparent that neither o f these events would 

occur. Despite the strong language in the ir newspapers, the Protectionists 

and the Peelites did not attempt to capita lise on their success in 

Parliament by pressing fo r Palmerston's dismissal, for the problem 

remained that Russell's Government, which they wanted to sustain,
rjO

could not survive without him. Moreover, the Whigs and the Radicals

79seemed to be ra lly in g  behind the Foreign Secretary,' thus making

any attempt to oust him more d i f f ic u lt .  Caution, therefore, seemed

not only advisable but necessary. Freed from pressure from the opposition,

at a Cabinet on 10 May those ministers who a few days ea rlie r  had

been furious with Palmerston did not press fo r his resignation. Instead,

they insisted that in future he should show Russell a l l  despatches

before they were sent.80 I t  was not a very e ffe c t iv e  deterrent, for

7 4 * The Times, 8 May 1848, 4 ; Standard. 9 May 1848, 2 : MC, 10 May 
1848, 4; MP, 10 May 1848, 4. ~  ^

7 5 * Mansard, XCVIII, 744 -  51; Grey's Journal, 7 (8?) May 1848: Grey P.
C3/1 4 .

7 6 . Grey's Journal, 7 (8?) May 1848: Grey P. C3/14; Bedford to Clarendon, 
12 May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 3 ; Clarendon to Lansdowne, copy,
12 May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter-Book Vol.2  f 2 4 2 ; GM, VI, 178.

7 7 - Grey's Journal, 7 (8?) May 1848: Grey P. C3/14.
78, See above pp. 3 2 - 3  and 5 2 .
7 9 - MG, 6 May 1848, 6; M , 9 May 1848, 2 .
8 0 . Grey's Journal, 10 May 1848: Grey P. C3/ l4 ; Hobhouse's Diary,

10 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 5 6 .
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the Cabinet had no way o f enforcing its  decision. Besides, Palmerston

should have done th is anyway.

* * *

The uproar caused by the despatch o f 16 March seems to have sur­

prised Palmerston. He instructed Bulwer to stick  to the le tte r  o f his 

instructions in future in order to avoid a repetition  o f the "monstrous 

c la tte r" he had caused.^ There was also a change o f policy towards 

Spain: pressed by Russell, Palmerston agreed to drop his objections

to the Montpensier marriage, although without conceding anything on

82the principle o f his opposition, and Bulwer was to ld  "to  keep in t ir e ly

83aloof from the struggle o f contending Parties". Unfortunately, at 

the same time as the British  Government tr ied  to pull back from the 

quarrel, the Spanish Government took i t  a step further. Is tu ritz  

informed Palmerston that he had been ordered to ask fo r  Bulwer's 

reca ll. " I  to ld  him he might ask i f  he pleased," Palmerston wrote 

to Bulwer, "but would get nothing fo r asking but a plump and positive 

r e fu s a l" .^

The Spanish Government was infuriated by Palmerston's attitude.

I t  had looked fo r a public apology fo r Bulwer's behaviour, and instead 

had been snubbed. I t  responded in the only way i t  believed possible.

On 19 May, a fte r  a r io t in Madrid in which several o f Bulwer's friends 

were implicated and a b r ie f but vio lent press campaign against him, 

Sotomayor sent the minister his passports and told  him he must leave 

Spanish s o il within forty-e igh t hours. The Spanish ministers, observed 

Palmerston on learning the news, "seem to have done an offensive

8 1 . Palmerston to Bulwer, copy, 8 May 1848: Bd. P. Gc/BU/581.
82. Russell to Palmerston, 8 May 1848: ib id  GC/RU/l9 7 : Palmerston to 

Russell, 9 fey  1848: PRO 3O/22/7C (q LGJR. I ,  136).
83. Palmerston to Bulwer, No 54» 19 fey  1848: PRO PO 72/739 (q PP.

LXV, 282).
84. Palmerston to Bulwer, copy, 8 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/581.
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thing in an offensive manner."  ̂ The follow ing day he announced, "very 

lacon ica lly", Bulwer's expulsion to the House of Commons. He added, 

on prompting from Russell, that this did not mean that friend ly  relations 

"between Britain and Spain had "been interrupted.

The opposition immediately "began to calculate how they could best 

exploit the situation. Lord Ellenborough fe l t  that opinion among 

Protection ist, Pee lite and Radical M.P.s was such that i t  might be 

possible to force Palmerston's resignation -  "a great gain" -  and 

bring down the Government, thereby leaving o ffic e  open to a coa lition
Q«y

of Protectionists and rank and f i l e  Peelites. George Bankes, a 

Protection ist, and Lord Lincoln, a P ee lite , prepared a motion o f censure 

which, Arbuthnot to ld  Bedford, " a l l  the Protectionists would support

. . . and i f  Hume and the Radicals did so likewise, the Government

88would be beaten." The leaders of the opposition were more cautious.

They were uncertain of their ground: "anything like a vote of censure",

89wrote Aberdeen to Stanley, "would be c lea rly  premature". There were

also the old doubts about the advisab ility  o f turning out the Whigs,

at least on the part o f the Peelites. A week ea rlie r  Graham had "severely

c r itic is ed " Palmerston's behaviour when speaking to G reville , but had

said "that he and Peel did not want to turn the Government out, nor 
90

embarrass them". Most important o f a l l  was the reaction outside 

Parliament. Whereas at the end o f A pril the newspapers were, on the 

whole, c r it ic a l of Palmerston, the expulsion o f Bulwer had caused 

sympathies to sh ift . There was no doubt that Britain had been "snubbed

85. Palmerston to Russell, 22 May 1848: PRO 30/22/7C (q LCJR, I ,  137).
86. Hansard. XCVIII, 1262 ; Hobhouse's Diary, 23 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 

43752 f 7 1 .
87. Ellenborough to Stanley, 24 May 1848: Der. P. Box 137/7 - Ellenborough's 

calculation about a coa lition  o f Protectionists and some Peelites 
seems to have been based principally on wishful thinking.
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89. Aberdeen to Stanley, 25 May 1848: Der. P. Box 135/7 - Of Bedford 

to Clarendon, 26  May 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 3 ; OM, VI, 184 -  5.
9 0 . GM, VI, 179-

89
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by a third-rate p o w e r " , b u t  whose fault had the national humiliation

92
•been? The Times and the Morning Chronicle blamed Palmerston, but 

most Whig and Radical papers ra llied  behind him and condemned the 

Spanish Government,^ whilst even the Morning Herald had doubts about 

Palmerston's c u lp a b ility .^  National pride had been hurt by Bulwer's 

expulsion. I t  was fe l t  in many quarters that to c r it ic is e  the Govern­

ment too severely would be to exacerbate the injury. As G reville

observed, "the outrageous conduct o f the Spanish Government" made i t

95"impossible to attack either Palmerston or Bulwer."

At a Cabinet on the 24th the ministers tr ied  to decide what line 

to take on the a ffa ir .  Russell spoke "very strongly & said his speech 

in parliament would be that Narvaez wished to murder Bulwer but Soto- 

mayor would not consent & sent him away to save his l i f e . "  The rest 

o f the Cabinet recoiled  against such a vio lent and unfounded attack.

Grey and Wood f e l t  that Bulwer was at least partly responsible fo r 

his expulsion, and even Palmerston was unhappy about some o f the actions 

o f his subordinate. The Cabinet decided to publish the relevent corres­

pondence which, Hobhouse judged, "might give some excuse i f  not altogether 

ju s t ify  the transmission o f Palmerston's advice to the Spanish Cabinet. 

Three days la ter Palmerston to ld  his colleagues that he had refused 

to receive the Comte de Mirasol, whom the Spanish Government had 

sent to explain it s  actions. This caused some murmuring o f discontent.

"C. Wood & Campbell said there was a strong fee lin g  in the country

9 1 . 2 7 May 1848, 340.
9 2 . MC, 24 and 26  May 1848, 4 — 5 » The Times. 24 and 29  May 1848, 4.
9 3 . DN, 24 and 29 May 1848, 3 and 2; York Herald. 27 May 1848, 5;

MG, 31 May 1848, 4.
9 4* MH, 26 and 30 May 1848, 4 *
95. gm, v i , 194.
9 6 . Hobhouse's Diary, 24 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 72 -  4. For 

Palmerston's views on Bulwer's conduct see Palmerston to Bulwer, 
copy, 12 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/582. To the Queen, however, Palm­
erston defended Bulwer, and ascribed his expulsion to Orleanist 
intrigues (Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 12 June 1848s RvP, 77 -  8).
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against our Spanish proceedings and that we should take care to make

a good case.” Palmerston retorted that "he could not consent to wrangle

with a man without any o f f ic ia l  character & who would in a l l  probability

only t e l l  him a pack o f lie s  which he should be obliged f la t ly  to

contradict." I t  was decided to in vite  Is tu r itz  to make in writing

the explanations that Mirasol had brought. I f  those explanations were

unsatisfactory, Palmerston declared, "we should demand an apology &

in case i t  was refused hint to Is tu r itz  that he had better return

to Spain". The rest o f the Cabinet agreed and the meeting broke up

97in seeming unanimity.

Beneath the surface, however, there were strong undercurrents of 

anti-Palmerston fee lin g  in the Cabinet. The majority, wrote G reville

on the 30th, f e l t  "more or less disgusted and alarmed at Palmerston's

98proceedings". As usual, i t  was Lord Grey who f e l t  most strongly.

He believed that Russell did not appreciate the seriousness o f the

deterioration in Anglo-Spanish re lations, and warned him that the

Government would face a vote o f censure which i t  might not survive.

But, he continued, whatever the result o f the vote, the debate i t s e l f

w i l l  certa in ly be most damaging. Me shall be blamed not 
merely fo r the recent correspondence, but fo r the general 
system o f intermeddling, o f which that correspondence is  
only the climax. The last insult o f the Spanish Govt, w il l  
probably be admitted to be indefensible, but we shall be 
to ld  i t  is  the natural result o f our own previous misconduct,
& that our past errors render i t  impossible fo r  us to resent 
th is insult as fo r  the honor o f the country we ought . . .

He warned that in any debate in the Lords he would be unable to take

part in repelling the attacks on the Government, "& further that i f

I  am taxed with disapproving o f what has been done, I  shall be compelled

99by silence at least to admit i t . "

9 7 . Hobhouse's Diary, 27 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 80 -  1.
98. GM, VI, 185. Cf Mood to Russell, 28  May 1848: PRO 30/22/7C (q Malpole, 

I I ,  45); Clarendon to Lewis, 6 June 1848: Clar. P. Box c5 3 2 .
9 9 . Grey to Russell, 28 May 1848s PRO 30/22/7C (partly  q Walpole, I I ,  44).
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Grey was pleased with his le tte r . The follow ing morning he showed 

i t  to Lansdowne, probably in an attempt to recruit his support. Lans- 

downe, however, thought Grey had gone too far. He agreed that Palmerston 

had behaved badly, but thought that he had learnt his lesson and that 

i f  Grey remained silen t in any debate in the Lords i t  would make his 

own task o f expounding the Government's case, "d if f ic u lt  enough already 

as i t  is  to th is a f fa ir " ,  even more d if f ic u lt .  He urged Russell to 

speak to Grey as soon as p o s s i b l e . G r e y ,  meanwhile, seems to have

101been discouraged by Lansdowne’ s attitude. As his biographer observes,

he was probably w illin g  to move against Palmerston, and thereby risk

the break-up o f the Government, i f  he could re ly  on the support o f

the bulk o f the Cabinet, but he was not prepared to do so on his own.

When he saw Russell he spoke in "very temperate terms", remarking

that "matters cannot any longer go on as they have done." Russell

replied that the most important thing was to get over the immediate

c r is is , and that once that had been done i t  would be possible to deal 
102with Palmerston. Grey, and the Foreign Secretary's other c r it ic s ,

allowed himself to be sa tis fied  by th is piece o f procrastination.

At the next Cabinet on Spain there was no sign o f internal discord,

and the discussion went so smoothly and quickly that Hobhouse wondered

103whether the subject had been considered su ffic ien tly  thoroughly.

There was even a b e lie f  in Government c irc les  that they would triumph 

in the debate in the Commons.

Considering the excitement and speculation that Bulwer's expulsion

10 0 . Lansdowne to Russell, 28  May 1848: PRO 30/22/7C.
10 1 . Job, 411 -  13 .
10 2 . GM, V I, 189 and 192 -  3 .
10 3 . Hobhouse's Diary, 31 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 85 -  6.
104 . Clarendon to Palmerston, 29 May 1848r Bd. P. GC/CL/485; Palmerston 

to Clarendon, 30 May 1848: Clar. P. Box 0524; Morpeth's Diary,
31 May 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/17 f 4 9 » Hobhouse's Diary, 3 June 1848: 
B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 89 -  9 0 ; GM, VI, 187 -  8 .
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had caused, the dehate on 5 June was an anti-climax. The Times com­

pared i t  to a "sham figh t" in which there was "a good deal of oratorica l 

display and g lit te r in g  evolution" and from which Palmerston emerged 

"completely unscathed hy the bloodless fra y ."  Outside Parliament

the reaction was more hostile to the Foreign Secretary. Most Whig and

107Radical journals continued to support him, hut not a l l  of them. The

Spectator complained that Palmerston was

so proud o f saving his country, that he is  always contriving 
to put her in a condition to he saved. A less ostentatious 
patriotism, which should spare her the p er il and forego the ^g 
excitement and credit o f the salvation would he more welcome.

Opposition papers were even more c r it ic a l.  Their tone varied from the 

Morning Herald, which thought the whole dispute had got out o f hand, 

to the Standard, which condemned Palmerston's "pettish  feminine dispo­

s it ion ". But they were agreed in believing that the Foreign Secretary 

should stop what Blackwood's called his "constant meddling with the

institu tions o f foreign states . . . and o f everlastingly tendering

109unsolicited and unpalatable advice."

The press was v ir tu a lly  unanimous in it s  opinion as to what B rita in 's  

next step should he in it s  dispute with Spain. Better to break completely 

with Spain, declared The Times on 16 June, than to conduct diplomatic 

relations "without dignity, discretion or success", whatever the dan­

gers o f the r i f t  leading to a closer understanding between France and
110 111

Spain. The Cabinet, prompted by Palmerston, also took this lin e,

1 os
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and within a couple o f weeks Is tu r itz  and Mirasol had returned to 

Madrid. For the moment, Palmerston was w illin g  to liv e  with th is un­

satisfactory state o f a ffa irs . Convinced that i t  was "hardly possible

that a Barbarian like  Narvaez can long continue to govern such a Country" 

112as Spain, he was happy to wait until a more amenable government 

appeared. Bulx-rer, in contrast, wanted to force the issue. He suggested 

that a squadron o f the Royal Navy be sent to Cadiz to demand "sa tis -  

faction on every point", and he hinted to Normanby "that I  should 

. . . use my influence with the present Govt, here to get through 

the ir means a change o f Ministry in Spain". Palmerston refused 

to consider these dangerous and irresponsible schemes. I t  "would never 

do" to encourage the French Government to in terfere in Spain, he ob­

served on the second occasion. "We want them to keep the ir Hands out

o f Spanish a ffa irs , & we must not suppose that we can make Hands into

115Cats Paws fo r  our advantage." B rita in ’ s position at Madrid was 

bad enough without encouraging the French to try  to resume the ir pre­

dominant position there. Fortunately fo r Britain , the French Government 

showed no such inclination.

"When the Queen considers the position we had in Spain," wrote

Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston on 15 June,

& what i t  ought to have been a fte r the Constitution o f the 
French Republic when we had no r iv a l to figh t & ought to 
have enjoyed the entire Confidence & friendship o f Spain,
& compares this to the state into which our relations with 
that Country have been brought, she cannot help being struck 
how much matters must have been mismanaged.

The Queen blamed Bulwer fo r the mismanagement; she would have been

nearer the truth i f  she had blamed Palmerston. Bulwer had been pre-

11 2 . Palmerston to Normanby, 16 June 1848: Nor. P. P/20/41.
113 . Bulwer to Palmerston, 12 July 1848: Bd. P. GC/BU/455.
114 . Normanby to Palmerston, 21 September 1848: ib id  GC/NO/2 1 3 .
115 . Palmerston to Normanby, 24 September 1848: Nor. P. P/20/65.
116. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 15 June 1848: Bd. P. RC/F/365 

(q QVL, I I ,  211 -  1 2 ).
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cip ita te and tactless in his dealings with the Spanish Government, 

hut the policy he had been pursuing was essentia lly  that o f the Foreign 

Secretary. That policy was a continuation o f the strong anti-Narvaez 

line he had adopted since the Montpensier marriage, and i t  hack-fired 

disastrously. He was able to remain in o ff ic e ,  despite the trouble 

he caused and the manner in which he flouted Russell's authority, 

because o f the p o lit ic a l balance, which dictated that neither o f the 

opposition parties was anxious to force his resignation, and because 

o f what was seen as the over-reaction o f the Spanish Government, which 

diverted much public anger in Britain away from him. But although 

Palmerston remained Foreign Secretary, the a ffa ir  had weakened his 

standing both with the electorate and with his colleagues. His moderate 

and prudent response to the continental revolutions was overshadowed 

by the anger at the unnecessary quarrel he had provoked with Spain.

I t  restored him to his accustomed position o f the Whigs' enfant te r r ib le .

i i i ) THE BEGINNING OF THE ITALIAN PROBLEM

On 20 March Russell wrote to Clarendon: "Metternich's f a l l  may

make us easy on the side o f Lombardy, where the ch ief danger o f Euro-

117pean war was to be apprehended." The same day, in Vienna, Count

Ficquelmont, the new Austrian Foreign Minister, spoke o f the Austrian

Government's willingness to grant Lombardy and Venetia meaningful

reforms and o f his hope that the British  Government would use its

118influence in Ita ly  to help maintain peace. Neither man knew that 

events had already occurred in northern Ita ly  to dash such hopes.

Two days ea r lie r  revolution had broken out in Milan and the Milanese 

had appealed to the Sardinians for assistance.

117. Russell to Clarendon, 20  March 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 .
118 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 5 7 » 20  March 1848: PRO FO 7/347 (partly  

q PP, LV IIt 549 -  5 0 ).
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The news o f the events in Milan caused great excitement in Turin. 

Abercromby soon heard rumours that the Sardinian Government planned 

to go to the aid o f the Lombards. He argued strenuously against such 

a step, saying that "any attack . . . upon the Territory o f Austria 

. . . would inevitab ly bring on a general war in Europe which would 

be_ 7  equally fa ta l fo r  the interests o f I ta ly  and fo r  those o f the

119House o f Savoy", and warned that such an attack might alienate Britain.

The Sardinian ministers refused to lis ten . I t  was "quite impossible",

Balbo to ld  him, " fo r  the Govt, to restrain the ardour o f the People

120beyond a week unless some fortunate turn was given to a f fa ir s ."

Such a "fortunate turn" seemed to come on the 23rd when the Sardinian

Government learnt that the Austrians had evacuated Milan. But rather

than reducing the war fever, i t  led to the Sardinian Government annou-

121ncing that i t  was sending an army into Lombardy. The Government,

Balbo and Pareto explained, "were nearly at the end o f the ir resources

to controul the fran tic  enthusiasm o f the People". I f  i t  had done

nothing and had allowed a Republic to be proclaimed at Milan, there

would probably have been a revolution in Sardinia. The King and his

ministers had decided that i t  was preferable "to  take the in it ia t iv e ,

and by placing themselves at the head o f the movement to endeavour

to arrest the further effusion o f blood, and to stop the progress of
122Republican ideas."

Abercromby was extremely disappointed by th is decision. " I  have

1 1 9 « Abercromby to Palmerston, 21 March 1848s Bd. P. GC/ab/ i 23 (a 
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used every argument in  my power, short o f o f f ic ia l  protest, to endeavour

to arrest th is mad design," he to ld  Palmerston, "but as you see with

no e f fe c t ."  I t  did not take him long, however, to sh ift the blame

onto the Austrians. I f  they had offered the Lombards some reforms, he

wrote on the 25th, there would have been no insurrection and therefore

no Sardinian invasion.^2  ̂ War could be averted, he added a week la ter,

i f  the Austrians recognised that they had lost Lombardy and Venetia 
125

" fo r  ever". Reports from Vienna, however, did not encourage such

speculation. Austria must figh t, Picquelmont to ld  Ponsonby, and he

12 6expressed the hope that Austria might win. The Sardinian attack

seemed to confirm the doubts the Austrian Government had long held

about Charles A lbert's  good intentions, and even Abercromby began to

get suspicious. Whilst not questioning the explanations the King and

his ministers had given, he suspected that "they were not indisposed

to allow these circumstances to turn to the ir advantage." Charles

A lbert, he judged, would accept the crown of Lombardy i f  i t  was offered 
127

to him. But whatever the King's personal ambitions, Abercromby 

thought i t  would be useless to try  to stop him. Rather the British  

Government should support him in the course he had adopted, whatever 

i t s  dangers, in an attempt "to  prevent him from being wholly over­

whelmed, or becoming a prey to French republican rapac ity ."12^

Whatever the adv isab ility  o f the British  Government supporting

123. Abercromby to Palmerston, 23 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/l26  (q 
Pip. G.B.. 123 ).

12 4 . Abercromby to Palmerston, No 56, 25 March 1848: PRO FO 67/151 
(partly  q PP, LVII, 567 -  8 ).

125 . Abercromby to Palmerston, 3 A pril 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/132 (q Dip. 
G.B., 1 4 3 — 4 ).

126 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 7 7 , 2 A p ril 1848: PRO FO 7/348 (q PP, 
LVII, 65O -  1). Ponsonby did not share Ficquelmont's optimism 
(Ponsonby to Palmerston, 2 A pril 1848: Bd. P. GC/PO/563).

1 2 7 . Abercromby to Palmerston, No 6 2 , 27 March 1848: PRO FO 67/151
(q Dip. G.B., 134 ~ 5 )* . , .

1 2 8 . Abercromby to Palmerston, 25 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/127 (q 
Dip. G.B., 130 -  1).



198

Charles A lbert, there was l i t t l e  likelihood that i t  would do so openly. 

On the whole, the British  press favoured the cause o f the Ita lian  in­

surgents,12  ̂ hut there was no such support fo r  the Sardinian invasion 

o f Lombardy. Charles A lbert, declared the Morning Post, was "a dis­

turber o f order", "a hypocrite", "a Jacobinical monarch" and "an am­

bitious p lo tte r". Other newspapers were less abusive in their tone,

but equally c r it ic a l o f what they saw as an opportunist attempt at

130self-aggrandizement. In the House o f Lords, Aberdeen, Stanley and

131Brougham spoke strongly against the King, and i t  was noticeable

that Lansdowne, replying fo r  the Government, simply explained the
132

reasons Charles Albert had given fo r  his actions. Only the most

133optim istic Radicals tr ied  to defend him.

Of a l l  the leading newspapers, only the Daily News welcomed the

prospect o f the break-up o f the Austrian Empire into its  constituent

134nationa lities. The rest dreaded such an event. "England can have 

no wish to see Austria weakened or abased", The Times pronounced,

" fo r  no event could more fa ta lly  tend to the ultimate subjugation 

o f the continent by one or other o f the r iv a l Powers Russia and 

PranceJ  which may threaten its  independence." I t  was feared that

12 9 . The Times, 5 May, 22 June and 14 July 1848, 4 - 5 ; DN, 8 May 
1848, 2 ; ILK, 10 June 1848, 3 7 2 ; Spectator. 1 July 1848, 621 . 
Extreme Tory journals, on the other hand, condemned i t  as they 
condemned a l l  revolutionary causes (Blackwood's Edinburgh Maga­
zine . LX III, 733 -  4 0 ; Quarterly Review, LXXXIII, 227 -  4 9 ).

1 3 0 . The Times. 31 March 1848, 4 ; MC, 3 and 20 A pril 1848, 4; MH, 5 
A pril 1848, 4; ILN, 8 April 1848, 2 2 8 ; MP, 3 August 1848, 4 ; 
Fraser's Magazine. XXXVII, 487 -  8.

131 . Hansard. XCVII, 1194 -  5 and 1 1 98 , XCVIII, 140 -  3 .
1 3 2 . ib id , XCVII, 1196 -  7 > Following a conversation with Palmerston, 

however, Revel reported: "Si Lord Palmerston ne nous a pas app­
rouvés, . . .  i l  n 'a cependant pas d it le moindre'mot qui pHt
s 'in terpreter comme blâme ou mâme un regret de cette détermina­
tion  du Roi" (Revel to Pareto, 31 March 1848: Dip. Sard.. 92 -  3 ).

133 . BN, 6 A p ril 1848, 2 .
13 4* ib id , 21 March 1848, 2.
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i f  the Austrian Empire collapsed, a power vacuum would he created in 

central Europe into which Russia and/or France would he drawn. A 

sim ilar danger was envisaged i f  Austrian influence was excluded from 

Ita ly . Might not one oppressor he replaced hy another, France? The 

answer seemed to he the creation o f a Kingdom o f Northern Ita ly , con­

sisting o f Sardinia, Lombardy and Venetia, which would provide a buffer

between France and Austria and would he strong enough to resist the

136influence o f e ither. A lternatives to the Kingdom of Northern Ita ly  

137were suggested, hut whatever the deta ils those newspapers which 

favoured the withdrawal o f Austria from the peninsula advocated some 

degree o f Ita lian  unification to prevent French expansion there.

This apprehension about possible French expansion into Ita ly  was 

also re flected  in the desire that the Austro-Sardinian war he brought 

to a speedy and satisfactory conclusion. By satisfactory most papers 

meant the liberation  o f northern Ita ly , but speed was thought to be 

essential. I t  was assumed that the French Republic had not intervened 

on behalf o f the Ita lians only because the Ita lians seemed able to 

achieve their own lib erty . I t  was feared that i f  the Ita lians suffered 

a reverse, the French would move in and the war would spread to the 

rest o f Europe where i t  might eas ily  become a struggle between repub-
A O

lican and monarchical principles.

A ll  the arguments discussed by the B ritish  press were considered

13 5* MC, 24 March 1848, 4; MH, 30 March 1848, 4; The Times. 12 April
TS48, 4 - 5 . ------------

136 . Spectator. 27 May 1848, 501 -  2 ; DN, 29 June 1848, 2 ; Edinburgh 
Review. LXXXVIII, 143 -  63 .

137• The Times consistently argued that the Ita lians should be satis­
fied  with the liberation  o f Lombardy and its  union with Sardinia 
(The Times. 12 A p ril, 5 May, 22 June and 14 July 1848, 4 - 5 ) ,  
whilst the Morning Chronicle favoured the idea of an Ita lian  Con­
federation under the leadership o f the Pope (MC, 19 May 1848, 4 ). 

1 3 8 . MG, 1 A p ril 1848, 6; DN, 6 A pril 1848, 2 ; The Times. 17 A p ril and 
5 May 1848, 4 j Spectator, 1 July 1848, 621 .



2 0 0

■by Palmerston as he tried  to form British  policy towards northern 

I t a l y . T h e  plans he had formed a fte r  the February Revolution140 

had been overtaken by events. Now that war had broken out he thought

i t  would be fu t ile  to  try  to stem the "general crusade" against Austria.

He instructed Abercromby "not to encourage aggression or encroachment 

or annexation, but on the other hand we need not v io len tly  oppose 

things which we have no power to prevent."142 B rita in 's  attitude was 

to be that o f "passive Spectators."14^

Adopting the rftle o f spectator, however, did not mean that Palmerston 

viewed the contest without having some preference about what he wanted 

to happen. He believed that Austria 's Ita lian  possessions were a 

source o f weakness rather than strength to her. I f  she gave up Lombardy 

and Venetia and established her fron tier in  the Tyrol, "Austria w i l l  

be withdrawn from an exposed position and w il l  be much more secure 

against a ttack ."144 In order to prevent French expansion into Ita ly  

he too favoured the creation o f a Kingdom o f Northern Ita ly  under 

Charles A lbert, which he also thought "would be most useful in preserving 

peace" by providing a buffer between France and Austria .14  ̂ Europe, 

he observed at the end o f March, was undergoing "great Changes". I f  

one o f those changes was "the Establishment o f a good State in Northern

141

1 3 9 . The Cabinet had strong views on Ita ly  -  fo r  example Russell 
thought Austria should abandon Lombardy and Venetia (Russell
to Palmerston, 25 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/191) whilst Clarendon 
condemned the "unpardonable blockheads" in Turin who endangered 
European peace (Clarendon to Normanby, 17 A p ril 1848: Nor. P. 
0/156) -  and Palmerston consulted his colleagues regularly (e g 
Hobhouse's Diary, 10 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f 5 6 ) ,  but* 
B ritish  policy towards northern Ita ly  at th is time seems to have 
been formed primarily by Palmerston.

140 . See above pp. 126 -  7.
141 . Palmerston to Abercromby, No 3 8 , 8 May 1848: PRO FO 67/148 (q PP

LVII, 775). —
1 4 2 . Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 28  March 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/270 

(q Dip. G.B.. 1 3 7 ).
1 4 3 . Palmerston to Normanby, 31 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/24 (q Ashley, 

I I ,  7 8 ).
1 4 4* Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 28 March 1848: Bd. P. GC/PO/809.
145 . Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 15 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/272 

(q Dip. G.B.. 186 -  7 )*
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I ta ly " ,  he would not he displeased.146 I t  might he "another Corner 

o f f  the Treaty o f Vienna", hut he fe l t  that some such change was
147

inevitable and necessary to restore s ta b ility  in northern Ita ly . 

Palmerston's hopes fo r  I ta ly , therefore, were extremely " lib e ra l" .

He wanted $  see the peninsula free o f French and Austrian influence 

and a sign ifican t measure o f Ita lian  unification  under a constitutional 

monarchy. These wishes were not the result o f any a ltru is t ic  concern 

fo r the well-being o f the Ita lian s , fo r  Palmerston believed that the 

new Ita ly  would be receptive to B ritish  ideas and influence and would 

be a useful aid to the maintenance o f the balance o f power, and Britain 

gave no practical assistance to the Ita lians . But the B ritish  Government's 

moral support fo r the Ita lian  cause was s ign ifican t.

Palmerston saw the war in northern I ta ly  as a struggle between 

liberalism  and a foreign despotism in which his sympathies were on 

the side o f the former. The attitude o f the French Republic towards 

the contest, however, complicated the picture and modified his outlook.

On 27 March Lamartine to ld  a delegation led by Mazzini that the cause 

o f I ta ly  was that o f France, and that i f  I ta ly  was threatened the 

sword o f France would be at her disposal.1̂ 8 In his Manifesto Lamartine 

had promised that the Republic would assist nationalities struggling 

fo r the ir independence. I t  seemed that the f i r s t  nationality to receive 

aid would be the Ita lians.

In Sardinia, the a c t iv it ie s  o f the French were looked upon with 

suspicion and apprehension. Even Charles A lbert's  pa trio tic  declaration 

that I t a l ia  farci da se seemed to have no impact on French policy.

"The fee lin g  throughout Piedmont o f alarm at the p oss ib ility  o f a 

French invasion, under the pretext o f assisting the cause o f I ta ly ,

1 4 6 . Palmerston to Normanby, 31 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/24 (q Ashley,
I I ,  7 8 ).

1 4 7* Palmerston to Normanby, 30 March 1848: Nor. P. P/20/23.
148. Jennings, 38.
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gains strength every day", Abercromby reported on 18 May. "With the 

exception o f a few Republicans, nobody looks upon the a rriva l o f the 

French otherwise than as the signal fo r the loss o f the Ita lian  cause, 

fo r the spoliation o f property, and the loss o f lib e r ty ."  ^  A series 

o f incidents enhanced the impression that the French might intervene 

whatever the Sardinian Government said. The Sardinian Government pro­

tested about the formation o f the French Army o f the Alps, saying in

response to Lamartine's assurance that the army would not cross the

1 50fron tier unless invited that i t  would never be invited, and i t  ob­

jected to the appearance o f the Toulon f le e t  o f f  the coast o f Genoa on
15-j

the grounds that i t  might spark o f f  a revolution there. I t  was par­

t icu la r ly  angry about the invasion o f Savoy by Savoyard workers and 

French republicans from Lyons. "The Sardn. Govt.", wrote Abercromby,

have nothing by which they can pos itive ly  f ix  upon the 
Govt, o f France direct participation in th is aggressive 
& revolutionary movement but as far as I  can make out, 
they strongly suspect, that the projects and intentions 
o f th is band o f vagabonds were not unknownt-to, and not 
disapproved o f by the 'meneurs' at Lyons. 5

Abercromby himself had no doubt that a republican conspiracy, inspired

by and under the control o f France, was "going on to a great extent

in Piedmont, Lombardy & in the R iviera o f Genoa", and that the invasion

of Savoy was a premature manifestation o f that phenomenon.

Normanby viewed the behaviour o f the Republic towards Ita ly  with

almost as much concern as Abercromby. He defended Charles A lbert's

decision to invade Lombardy as preferable to the spread o f "that per-

nicious contagion", republicanism, into Ita ly . J He asked Lamartine

149* Abercromby to Palmerston, confidential, 18 May 1848: Bd. P.
GC/AB/14O (q Dip. G.B., 187 -  9 ).

150 . J. Bastide: La République Française et l ' I t a l i e  en 1848. Récits.
Notes et Documents Diplomatiques (Brussels 1858). 2 2 ; Jennings.42.

151 . Bixio to Lamartine, 29 March 1848: DD, I ,  4 9 1 » Jennings, 42.
152 . Abercromby to Palmerston, 5 April 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/134 (q Dip.

G.B., 147 -  8). Cf Jennings, 5 2 - 3 .
153 . Abercromby to Russell, 4  April 1848: FRO 30/22/7B (q LCJR, I ,  334 _ 5).
154 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 26 March 1848: Nor. P. P/14/7 5 «
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about the rftle o f the Army o f the Alps, and was concerned about the

intentions o f the Toulon f le e t ,  finding the language o f the Provisional
15 6Government on the subject "a l i t t l e  suspicious". He sought an explan­

ation about the invasion o f Savoy and a reassurance that i t  would not 

happen again, and came away with a "strong . . . conviction o f the

157utter helplessness o f the Government to control the popular impulse".

I t  was the Provisional Government's susceptib ility  to public pressure,

rather than any doubts about its  good intentions, that worried Normanby.

On 24 A p ril Lamartine to ld  him that he personally was "very unwilling

to do anything at a l l "  with respect to I ta ly ,  but that i f  the Ita lians

suffered a reverse the Provisional Government would find i t  impossible

158to res is t the popular demand fo r  intervention. Lamartine was "deter­

mined to maintain peace i f  possib le," Normanby reported three days 

la ter. But "the great majority o f the Republican Party & a l l  the Army 

o f every party are dying fo r an excuse to enter I t a ly . "  The republicans, 

he continued, saw war as a "sa fety  valve" fo r the Republic's internal 

problems; the army saw i t  as a chance to win glory.

Normanby's b e lie f  in Lamartine's good intentions was shaken by the 

la t te r 's  ambitions with respect to Savoy and Nice. As early as 6 A pril 

Normanby had written that i f  the Republic went to war i t  would not 

be sa tis fied  without a return to its  natural fro n tie rs .1 0̂ A month 

la ter Lamartine assured him that i f  the Republic intervened in Ita ly  

i t  would be without the "s ligh test desire fo r  conquest". But, he went 

on, i f  a Kingdom o f Northern Ita ly  was created, Prance "might w ell

155 . Normanby to Phlmerston, No 2 2 7 , 3 A p ril 1848, and No 253, 13 A pril 
1848: PRO PO 27/806  (partly  q PP, LVII, 62 6 ).

156 . Normanby to Palmerston, 22 A pril 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/159.
1 5 7 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 242, 8 A pril 1848: PRO PO 27/8O6 (q NJ 

I ,  306 -  7 ). ~ ’
158 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 274, confidentia l, 24 A p ril 1848: PRO 

FO 27/8O6 (partly  q PP, LVII, 7 3 8 ). Cf Normanby to Palmerston,
No 2 8 8 , confidentia l, 1 May 1848: PRO PO 27/8O7.

159- Normanby to Palmerston, 27 A p ril 1848: Bd. P. GC/N0/ l6 2 .
160 . Normanby to Palmerston, 6 April 1848s ib id  GC/NO/152.

155
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expect some small compensation in the way o f security" and he alluded

"1 6”1to the annexation o f Savoy and Nice. Normanby found this revelation 

d if f ic u lt  to reconcile with Lamartine's professions o f peace and lack 

o f desire fo r conquest. He concluded, rather ten ta tive ly , that Lamar­

tine was against annexing Savoy and Nice, hut that i t  was being forced

1 62upon him by his more extreme colleagues. In fa c t, Lamartine was one

o f the principal advocates o f the annexation. The reluctance to allow

the creation o f a strong state in northern Ita ly , which was a feature

a French foreign policy in the nineteenth century, was enhanced in

Lamartine by a deep d is lik e o f Charles A lbert. On 19 and 20 May the

newly formed Executive Commission considered whether the Republic

should intervene in Ita ly  to prevent the aggrandizement o f Sardinia.

The idea was rejected by three votes (Arago, Garnier-Pag^S and Marie)

164to two (Lamartine and Ledru R o llin ).

Palmerston knew nothing o f the Executive Commission's discussions,

but he was fu lly  aware o f the p oss ib ility  o f French intervention in

Ita ly . He urged Lamartine not to do so, warning that i t  would "bring

on in a l l  Probability that general War in Europe which he himself

1 65as much as H.M.'s Govt, would deprecate", and tried  to reassure

him that the unification o f northern Ita ly  would not threaten the

166security o f France. But he had l i t t l e  expectation that Lamartine 

would heed his advice. A fter a l l ,  Normanby's reports seemed to show 

that i f  the French Government ordered its  army into Ita ly  i t  would 

not be out o f preference, but because o f the pressure o f public opinion.

16 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 8 8 , confidential, 1 May 1848: PRO 
FO 27/8 0 7 .

162 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 9 2 , 3 May 1848, and No 298, 5 May
1848: ib id .

16 3 . Jennings, 82 -  6.
164. Garnier-Pages, VI, 394 -  6; Jennings, 1 0 3 - 4 «
165. Palmerston to Normanby, No 1 9 5 » 2 May 1848: PRO FO 27/798; I t .

Prob., 9 6 . ,
166 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 2 6 3 » 20 June 1848: PRO FO 27/798.
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In such circumstances, Palmerston calculated that the war must he 

brought to an end before something happened which inflamed French 

public opinion.

At the beginning o f May Palmerston advised the Austrians and the 

Ita lians to make peace, emphasising to both the dangers that would 

result i f  the French marched into Ita ly . The terms he recommended
1 67

specified the liberation  o f Lombardy and its  union with Sardinia. 

Palmerston’ s reference to Lombardy but not to Venetia could be taken 

to mean that he was ready to compromise Ita lia n  lib e rty  in order to 

achieve a quick peace. Such an interpretation, however, would ignore 

his conviction that there could be no permanent peace in  the peninsula 

unless Ita lian  demands were sa tis fied . The liberation  o f Lombardy 

was a sine quâ non. I f  the Austrians did not accept that, there could 

be no hope o f a negotiated settlement. The future o f Venetia was more 

problematical, and Palmerston was happy to le t the belligerents work 

out a satisfactory compromise.

The response from Turin and Vienna to th is overture gave grounds 

fo r  optimism. The Ita lian s , as Palmerston probably expected, remained 

obdurate. They were fu lly  a live  to the danger o f French intervention, 

Abercromby reported, but the only peace they would consider would be 

the liberation  o f the whole o f northern Ita ly . "Any attempt . . .  at 

h a lf measures would be useless".1^  From Vienna, however, came signs 

o f compromise. The Austrian Government had decided to send Baron 

Hummelauer to London to request B ritish  mediation. By the more con­

c ilia to ry  o f the plans Hummelauer was bringing, Ponsonby wrote, Austria 

was w illin g  to accept the "to ta l unconditional abandonment" o f Lombardy

1 6 7 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 85, confidentia l, 8 May 1848: PRO FO 
7/343 (q PP, LVII, 775 -  6 ); Palmerston to Abercromby, No 4 0 ,
8 May 1848: PRO FO 67/148 (q PPf LVII, 776); I t .  Prob.. 9 6 - 7  

and 10 4 .
168. Abercromby to Palmerston, confidential, 18 May 1848: Bd. P. 

GC/AB/140 (q Dip. G.B., 187 -  8 )-
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and the establishment in Venetia o f an independent Ita lian  state within 

the Austrian Empire.1^  There was s t i l l  a sizeable gu lf between the 

Ita lians and the Austrians, but they were closer together than they 

had been.

iv )  THE HUMMELAUER MISSION

The mission o f Baron Hummelauer was born out o f despair. Picquelmont 

had been driven from o ffic e  by Viennese students who found his po lic ies 

too reminiscent o f Metternich, and fo r the moment Austria 's foreign 

policy was in  the inexperienced hands o f P ille rs d o r ff. P ille rsd o r ff 

lacked Picquelmont's intense suspicion o f Palmerston and believed 

that Prance was about to intervene in northern Ita ly . Above a l l ,  he 

was convinced that Austria 's finances could not sustain a long war. 

Encouraged by Stratford Canning's assurances that the B ritish  Government 

wanted to see Austria continue as a major Power, he sent Hummelauer 

to London to ask fo r B ritish  mediation in northern Ita ly . Hummelauer's 

instructions were very broad: i f  possible, he was to get mediation on 

the basis o f an independent Lombardo-Venetian kingdom within the Empire, 

sim ilar to Hungary; i f  that was impossible, he could agree to the 

complete independence o f Lombardy, as long as the Lombards took a 

proportional part o f the Austrian national debt, and the establishment 

o f Venetia as a separate state under an Austrian archduke.1^°

Palmerston f ir s t  received Hummelauer on 24 May. He to ld  the Baron 

that Britain could not accept the f i r s t  plan as the Ita lians would 

never accept such a basis fo r mediation. He persuaded Hummelauer to 

propose the second plan which he promised to submit to the Cabinet. 1^ 1

1 6 9 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 154 and No 155 » 12 May 1848: PRO PO 
7/349 (partly  q PP, LVII, 813 and 8 2 6 ).

1 7 0 . I t .  Prob.. 97 -  107 . „ / /
1 7 1 . Palmerston to Russell, copy, 24 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/1041;

I t .  Prob., 1 0 4 - 5 *
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Taylor has argued that Palmerston favoured Hummelauer s second 

plan. Given a choice o f accepting th is proposal, "which did not grant 

to Ita lian  nationalism a l l  that i t  wanted , or re jecting i t , which 

would grant "those demands at the price o f opening the door to French 

influence", Palmerston "did not hesi^tate to throw over Ita lian  nation­

a lism ".1^2 Palmerston's own report o f his conversation with Hummelauer, 

however, reveals that he was undecided as to the line Britain should 

take. He admitted that " i t  would he a good Bargain" i f  a speedy peace 

could he obtained on the basis o f Hummelauer's second plan, hut he 

added "that perhaps the best arrangement fo r the general Interests 

o f Europe would he that the Venetian Territory should be added with 

Lombardy to Piedmont, so as to make a respectable State in the North 

o f I t a ly . " 173

Palmerston's indecision is  understandable: he recognised the danger 

o f French intervention, which Hummelauer had stressed during their 

conversation, but at the same time he remained convinced that there 

could be no s ta b ility  in  northern Ita ly  un til Ita lian  demands were 

sa tis fied  and those demands included the liberation  o f Venetia. Fortu­

nately he did not have to make that decision on his own. Russell 

declared that he did not think Venetia could be separated from the 

rest o f I t a ly ,17̂  whilst i t  was about th is time17  ̂ that Abercromby's 

le t te r  o f the 18th, announcing that the Ita lians would accept no 

settlement which did not free Venetia, arrived. On the afternoon o f 

24 May Palmerston submitted Hummelauer's plan to the Cabinet which, 

whilst recognising that i f  Britain could se ttle  the dispute i t  would 

"add greatly  to her influence" in  Ita ly , resolved that Britain would

1 7 2 . I t ♦ Prob. t 108.
1 7 3 . Palmerston to Russell, copy, 24 May 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/1041.
174. Russell to Palmerston, 24 May 1848s ib id  GC/RU/198.
1 7 5 . Precisely when Abercromby's le t te r  arrived is  unclear. Palmerston 

mentioned i t  at the Cabinet on the afternoon o f the 24th, but he 
seems not to have known o f i t  when he wrote to Russell.
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only mediate on the basis that " Ita ly  proper to the south o f the Alps

1T 6should be independent o f Austria". The Cabinet recognised that i t

was pointless to propose terms which the Ita lians would not accept.

What is  equally sign ifican t, however, is  the evident lack o f discussion

about French intervention. The Cabinet knew of the danger, but in

the absence o f any evidence that intervention was lik e ly  i t  did not

allow i t  to dominate it s  calculations.

Hummelauer was disappointed by the Cabinet's decision. In a le tte r

to Palmerston, which he claimed Palmerston encouraged him to w rite,

177he stressed the im possib ility o f Austria 's relinquishing Venetia.

178But, a fter further consultation with Russell and possibly with the 

C a b i ne t , Pa l me r s t o n  confirmed the ea rlie r  decision. I t  was based, 

he explained, on two princip les: "what arrangement would . . .  be best 

for the true interests o f Austria; and . . . what . . . may be looked 

upon as p ractica lly  a tta inable." In the opinion o f the B ritish  Govern­

ment, Austria had lost Lombardy and would find i t  d if f ic u lt  to retain 

Venetia. In such circumstances, Palmerston declared, the only bases

176. Iiobhouse's Diary, 24 May 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 ff74 -  5.
177 . Hummelauer to Palmerston, confidential, 26  May 1848: PRO FO 7/36O 

(q PP, LVII, 84O -  l ) ;  I t . Prob. , 107 -  8.
» 178 . A large part o f Palmerston's discussions with Russell concerned 

the Ionian islands. Russell wanted to get rid  o f them in order 
that Britain could concentrate her resources in the Mediterranean 
on the defence o f Gibraltar and Malta (Russell to Grey, 16 March,
9 and 15 May 1848: Grey P. 122/3). He suggested o fferin g them to 
Austria to compensate her fo r the loss o f Venetia (Russell to Palm­
erston, 3 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/2 0 0 ) .  Palmerston successfully 
opposed the idea, arguing that Britain had just spent a lo t o f 
money improving the defences o f the islands, thereby making i t  
d if f ic u lt  to ju s t ify  their transfer to the electorate, and that 
i t  was foolish  to abandon a position which in the event o f war 
would have to be recaptured. He added that Austria would probably 
not want the islands and that the islanders would certain ly not 
want to be Austrian (Palmerston to Russell, copy. 4 June 1848:
Bd. P. GC/RU/1044, and 8 June 1848: PRO 3O/22/7C).

179* There were Cabinets on 27 and 31 May. The main topic o f conver­
sation was Bulwer's expulsion (Hobhouse's Diary, 27 and 31 May 
1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f f 80 -  1 and 85 -  6 ), but i t  is  not 
improbable that Ita ly  was also discussed.
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on which the B ritish  Government would mediate were the independence

of Lombardy and o f "such portions o f the Venetian Territory as may

be agreed upon between the respective Parties".

The phrase "portions o f the Venetian Territory" is  ambiguous. I t

could mean, as Palmerston assured Hummelauer i t  meant, as l i t t l e  o f
181

Venetia as Austria found necessary. Or i t  could mean, as he assured

Russell i t  meant, "the whole" o f Venetia, " fo r  the Ita lians w i l l  agree 
182

to nothing less". The ambiguity was deliberate. I f  Britain proposed

terms which either side considered "a sort o f preliminary Pledge",

Palmerston wrote, ". . . we should no longer be in that free and impartial

position which is  necessary to make mediation successfu l."1̂  But which

interpretation did Palmerston favour? Taylor judged that he wanted to

leave Venetia under Austrian ru le, and that in his le tte r  to Russell

"he liras try ing to make a rea l concession appear . . .  a meaningless

form o f words".1^  I t  seems more probable, however, that i f  he had a

preference, i t  was that the whole o f Venetia should be liberated fo r

he s t i l l  believed that that was essential fo r  a lasting settlement.

The ambiguity in the le t te r  o f the 3rd did have it s  domestic uses.

The Queen was disturbed by what she regarded as the excessive sympathy

18So f her Government fo r Charles A lbert. She welcomed Hummelauer's 

mission and the "concilia tory views" he brought.1®̂  She thought his 

second plan "most Equitable", and observed that she could not see ,rWhy

180 . Palmerston to Hummelauer, 3 June 1848: PRO PO 7/361 (q PP LVII
891 -  3 ) ;  I t .  Prob., 110. ~ ’ '

181. I t . Prob. . 111.
18 2 . Palmerston to Russell, 8 June 1848: PRO 30/22/7C (q LCJR I  ^8 ')*

I t .  Prob.. 110 -  11. ------* ’
183 . Palmerston to Russell, copy, 4 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/l04A
184. I t . Prob. . 111.
185. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 21 and 22 May 1848s Bd. P. RC/F/354 

and RC/p/356; RvP, 7 4 -
186 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 23 May 1848: Bd. P. RC/p/358 (q RVP

7 5 ) .  ---- ’
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18*7Charles Albert ought to get any additional te rr ito ry ". I t  was not 

surprising, then, that she disliked the Cahinet's decision. The le tte r  

toned down that decision, enabling Palmerston to argue, as he had 

done with Hummelauer, that Austria might be able to keep almost a l l  

Venetia. The Queen was not misled. She characterised the le t te r  as 

"a mere refusal to do any thing for Austria, & a recommendation that

whatever the Ita lians ask fo r , ought to be given, fo r wh. a Mediation

. „188 is  hardly necessary."

Palmerston thought that Austria would be well-advised to accept 

the terms Britain had proposed. He told Ponsonby that P ille rsd o r ff 

and his colleagues ought

to dismiss from the ir minds those feelings o f anger /""towards 
Charles Albert_/ by which they are now not unnaturally swayed, 
and /"ought_/ to endeavour to found their conduct . . . upon 
a longsightgd consideration o f future events and o f lasting 
interests. 7

However the reports from Innsbruck, where the Austrian Court and Govern­

ment had moved to escape the turbulence o f Vienna, revealed a change 

in the Austrian outlook. On 9 June Archduke John to ld  Ponsonby that

Austria 's retention o f Venetia " is  necessary in order to protect Trieste,

190which is  the key to our Illy r ia n  Provinces!" The threat o f French 

intervention, which had encouraged P ille rsd o r ff to send Hummelauer, 

seemed to the Austrian Government to be diminishing. Wessenberg, the 

new Foreign Minister, found that the French Government was not as 

sympathetic to the Ita lian  cause as had been assumed. 7 But perhaps 

the most important factor influencing Austrian thinking was her improved

187. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 25 May 1848: Bd. P. RC/f/359  (q QVL. 
I I ,  206  -  7).

188. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 4 June 1848: Bd. P. RC/f/362 (q QVL,
I I ,  211).

189. Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 1 0 2 , 20 June 1848: PRO FO 7/344 (partly 
q PP, LV II, 957 -  8 ).

190 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 1 9 9 , 9 June 1848: PRO FO 7/350  (partly  
q PP, LVII, 949).

191 . I t .  Prob., 123 -  4 i Jennings, 112 .
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m ilitary position in northern Ita ly . On 19 June Ponsonby reported

that Radetzky's army now numbered 5 5 ,0 0 0  men, and that with the 1 5 ,0 0 0

men who were on their way to jo in  him he was "confident in his being

able to obtain very great advantages over Charles A lbert." In these

circumstances the Austrian Government decided to seek a m ilitary

solution. " I f  the ir expectations are rea lized ," Ponsonby continued,

the ir condition w i l l ,  they think, be extremely improved, 
and peace may be made upon better terms than can now be 
had; I f  they f a i l ,  they think they shall not even then 
be much worse0as to peace than they would be were i t  now 
considered.

Palmerston did not accept the Austrian Government's assessment of

the diplomatic and m ilitary situation. He admitted that the French

Government did not view the creation o f a Kingdom of Northern Ita ly

with as much favour as the B ritish , but he believed that French public

191opinion would not allow i t  to abandon the Ita lian  cause. His views

on the course o f the war were s t i l l  more fo rce fu l. He to ld  Ponsonby:

"nothing has hitherto happened which seems calculated to shew that

lapse of time is  not against the Austrians, and in favour o f the I t a l -  

194ians". But whatever his thoughts about the Austrian Government's

reasoning, he had to accept its  conclusion.

Palmerston responded to th is disappointment by turning to the

Ita lians. He instructed Abercromby not to oppose a settlement based

upon Austria 's retention o f Venetia should the Sardinians and Lombards

195seem inclined to accept such a compromise. But he did not expect 

that such a compromise would be acceptable to the Ita lians. He refused 

to urge the Sardinians to abandon the Venetians, as advocated by the

192 . Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 2 1 6, 19 June 1848: PRO FO 7/35O (partly  
q PP, LV II, 978 -  9 ).

193 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 3 July 1848: Bd. P. GC/PO/814.
194» Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 1 1 5 » 12 July 1848: PRO FO 7/344 (q PP,

LV III, 5 2 ).
195. Palmerston to Abercromby, No 6 2 , 28 June 1848: PRO FO 67/148 

(partly  q PP, LVII, 983 -  4 )? I t .  Prob., 116 -  1 7 .
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Queen, 7' on the grounds that

i f  the King o f Sardinia should . . . not he inclined to such 
an arrangement, he would not he led to i t  by any advice to 
that e ffe c t . . . hut the fact that such advice had been 
given would become known and would he made use o f hy parties 
and persons adverse to British  in terests, for the purpose 
o f creating among the Ita lians a prejudice against England, 
and o f thus diminishing the influence o f Great Britain in p 
Ita ly , and the means o f the British  Government to do good. *

Even i f  Charles Albert was w illin g  to abandon the Venetians, which

seemed unlikely, Palmerston doubted whether he would dare do so because

of the reaction i t  would cause in Sardinia and Lombardy. "Mediation

on our part is  therefore at present out o f the question," he wrote

to Abercromby, "and one or other o f the contending Parties must be

1 98licked before they come to an agreement."

Palmerston's assessment o f the diplomatic situation was accurate:

Charles Albert had no intention o f abandoning the Venetians unless

compelled to do so, whilst the French Government s t i l l  feared that i t

might be forced to intervene. His judgement o f the m ilitary situation,

however, was fa r less re liab le . He remained convinced that the Ita lians

would defeat the Austrians, and there was evidence to support this

b e lie f.  The f a l l  o f Peschiera, fo r  example, was greeted in Radical

199circ les  as the beginning o f the end fo r Austria in Ita ly . But there

196

196 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 28 June 1848: Bd. P. RC/p/369 (q RvP, 
8 2 ).

197 . Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 29 June 1848: RvP, 82 -  3, This pro­
voked the Queen into launching a tirade against B ritish  policy in 
Ita ly  -  "abetting wrong . . . f o r  the object o f gaining influence"
-  and Palmerston to respond with a long ju s tifica tion  (Queen Vic­
to ria  to Palmerston, 1 July 1848: Bd. P. RC/F/371 (q QVL, I I ,  215 -  
16); Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , copy, Bd. P. RC/FF/10 (q Lome, 
102 -  1 3 ) ;  RvP, 8 3 - 9 ).

198. Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 13 July 1848: Bd. P. Gc/AB/274
(9  Bip« G.B.. 254 -  5). On the other hand, Minto, who had growing 
doubts about French intentions, to ld  Revel: " je  désirerais certaine­
ment vo ir  les Autrichiens chassés de toute l ’ I t a l ie ,  mais s i vous 
n'avez pas le moyen de remporter promptement quelque v ic to ire  dé­
c is iv e , je  vous conseille de bien examiner les propositions qui 
vous sont fa ites  avant de les refuser" (Revel to Pareto, 3 July 
1848: Bip. Sard., 171 )•

199. DN, 7 June 1848, 2; M ,  10 June 1848, 3 7 2 .
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were signs, apart from Ponsonby's reports, that the Austrian position

was better than i t  had been. On 12 A p ril The Times emphasised the

strength o f Radetzky’ s army; by the end o f June i t  was convinced that

the Austrians could defeat the Ita lian s .200 The Manchester Guardian

consistently stressed that the war was not going as w ell fo r the I t a l -
201ians as other papers made out. Even Abercromby, whose sympathy fo r

the Ita lian  cause could not be doubted, admitted that a l l  was not w ell.

On 20 A p ril, a fte r  describing the r i f t s  among the Ita lians , he wrote:

"The longer the struggle lasts . . . the less chance King Charles

202Albert has o f succeeding in his ob ject." I t  was far from clear that 

the tide o f the war had turned, but i t  does seem that Palmerston allowed 

his sympathy fo r the Ita lians to a ffec t his judgement o f the m ilitary 

situation in northern Ita ly . I t  was not un til 28 July that he ordered 

a B ritish  m ilitary observer to Charles A lbert’ s headquarters to assess 

the "e ffic ien cy , numbers and prospect" o f the Ita lian  fo rces .20'* By 

that time, however, i t  was too late.

2 0 0 . The Times. 12 A pril and 22 June 1848, 4 -  5.
2 0 1 . MG, 1 and 5 A pril and 14 June 1848, 4 and 6.
2 0 2 . Abercromby to Palmerston, Wo 89, 20  A p ril 1848: PRO FO 67/151 

(q Dip. G.B.. 163 -  5 )* cf  Abercromby to Palmerston, No 1 2 1 , 
confidentia l, 24 May 1848: PRO FO 67/152 (q Dip. G.B.. 200  -  1).
I t  is  sign ificant that when, the follow ing year, Palmerston 
published a large number o f despatches to ju s t ify  his Ita lian  
policy, these were not amongst them.

2 0 3 . Palmerston to Abercromby, No 7 5 , 28  July 1848: PRO FO 67/148 (q PP, 
L V III, 9 3 ).
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Chapter V: The Formation o f the Anglo-French Entente

i )  THE JUNE DAYS

By the end o f May, the problem of the war in northern Ita ly  had 

assumed a predominant position in Anglo-French relations. But before 

i t  could come to a head, figh ting broke out in Paris which, in the 

eyes o f the B ritish  public, temporarily overshadowed a l l  other events 

on the continent.

The outbreak o f figh ting on the morning o f 23 June came as l i t t l e

surprise to B ritish  observers o f French a ffa irs . Two days ea rlie r

Henry G reville  had written that no one "has the least fa ith  in the

duration o f the present form o f government, and many believe i t  to

be already a l'a gon ie . " 1 2 3 Soon a fte r  the February Revolution the British
2

press had predicted further s t r ife  in France. Events since then had 

confirmed this assessment. The .jourriees o f 16 and 17 March, 16 A pril 

and 15 May, which were reported in d e ta il, seemed to show that there, 

was a struggle fo r power in Paris between moderate republicans, symbo­

lised  by Lamartine and often characterised as defenders o f law, order 

and property, and the soc ia lis ts  and communists, who were usually 

described as vio len t extremists and anarchists under the leadership 

o f dangerous demagogues like Louis Blanc and Ledru Rollin . The socia l 

and economic problems o f the Republic were seen as exacerbating the 

contest, but not a ltering it s  basic character. Some sort o f decisive 

clash was thought to be inevitable.^

The British  press professed l i t t l e  doubt as to which way the contest 

would go. The problem was to guess what would happen a fte r the Red

1. H. G rev ille , I ,  276.
2 . See above p. 9 9 *
3 . ILN, 22 A p ril and 20 May 1848, 255 -  6 and 318 -  1 9 ; MC, 18 May 

1848, 4 ; The Times. 18 May and 2 June 1848, 4 - 5 » Spectator. 17 
June 1848, 5 7 4 ; B ritish  Quarterly Review, V II, 524 -  5 ; Fraser’ s 
Magazine. XXXVII, 6 1 1 - 1 3  and 729 -  3 2 .
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Republicans had been defeated and "their former a l l ie s j  "the moderate 

republicans, had been discredited. Normanby was uncertain which party 

would emerge triumphant. The Legitim ists, he wrote on 5 June, had 

gained some support, but would not agree to the terms that were necessary 

to make them acceptable to the majority. The Orleanists s t i l l  had a 

large fo llow ing, but Louis Fhilippe was too unpopular to return to 

the throne. "But", he continued, "there is  a third party not numerous 

but intriguing active ly  merely upon the deficiencies & unpopularity 

o f either o f the other solutions, & th is is  fo r a Republic with a 

Buonaparte at the head o f i t . " ^  The rapid rise to p o lit ic a l power 

o f Louis Napoleon Bonaparte is  one o f the most remarkable aspects 

o f 1848. His a rr iva l on the p o lit ic a l stage in Paris in early June 

was noted with great in terest in Britain , but few people knew what 

to make o f the future Emperor. Many, remembering his escapades at 

Strasbourg and Boulogne, thought he was an irresponsible adventurer 

who would quickly disappear back into obscurity. But the extent o f 

his support seemed to challenge th is uncomplimentary interpretation.

What was clear, was that his emergence destabilised Parisian p o lit ic s  

s t i l l  further.^

Whilst the outbreak o f figh ting in Paris came as l i t t l e  surprise, 

the extent and fe roc ity  o f the struggle caused widespread astonishment.

There was never any question where the sympathies o f most B ritish  

po litic ians and newspapers lay, but as the con flic t progressed admiration 

began to be expressed, i f  only in private, fo r  the courage and determination

4. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 5 June 1848: Nor. P. P/14/132.
5 . For Louis Napoleon’ s a c t iv it ie s  in 1848 see A. Lebey: Louis-Napoleon 

Bonaparte et la Revolution de 1848 (Paris 1907 -  1908). and F.A. Simp- 
son: The Rise o f Louis Napoleon 3rd edn., (London 1950 ; ,  271 -  319.

6. Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 8 8 , 11 June 1848, and No 3 9 7 » 16 June 
1848: PRO FO 27/809  (q NJ, 1 » 355 -  6 and 478 -  81); Russell to 
Queen V ictoria , 14 June 1848: QVL, I I ,  211; Palmerston to Normanby,
16 June 1848: Nor. P. P/20/41? Standard, 15 June 1848, 2 ; The Times.
15 and 16 June 1848, 4 - 5 ? MP, 19 June 1848, 2 ; York Herald, 24 
June 1848, 4 »
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with which the insurgents resisted the overwhelming force brought ag­

ainst them. "What a p ity ", wrote the Queen, "that so much courage &
7

enthusiasm shd. he wasted in so wretched a cause."1 "Thank Heaven", 

observed Clarendon amidst the unrest in Dublin, "we have no people 

who w i l l  figh t as those devils o f ouvriers have been doing fo r  3 days
g

at Paris ." There was a general fee lin g  that the insurrection was not 

the fau lt o f the majority o f the insurgents. Prince Albert voiced the 

opinions o f many when he blamed i t  on "Lamartine, Ledru Rollin  & Louis

Blanc etc. etc. who have deceived these people by their insincere pro-
q

mises & fa lse theories." The expectations o f the Parisian workers, i t  

was argued, had been raised by the promises o f p len tifu l food and fu l l  

employment which the Provisional Government had made during the f i r s t  

days of the Republic. But those promises had not been kept, as the Bri­

tish  press had predicted they could not be, and in their disappointment

the workers, provoked by the closure o f the National Workshops and en-

10couraged by Red Republican agitators, had turned to violence.

I t  is  possible, with hindsight, to see the defeat of the insurrection

as the end o f the radical stage o f the French revolution o f 1848. Some

contemporary British observers also regarded i t  as such: Prince Albert

wrote that i t  had "given the death-blow to the workers' movement and to

11Communism, and also to the Red Republic." The majority, however, were 

more pessimistic. The Times hoped that the revolt would be the fin a l 

battle between the forces of law and order in France and those of

7 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 26  June 1848: Bd. P. RC/F/368.
8. Clarendon to G. Grey, copy, 27 June 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 

Book Vol.3  f 15 .
9 - Prince Albert to Peel, 28 June 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 40441 f 3 4 7 .
10 . MC, 26  and 27 June 1848, 4 and 5 » BN, ^6 and 28 June 1848, 2 ; I d ,

27 and 28 June 1848, 4 -  5 » The Times, 30 June and 1 July 1848,
5; MG, 1 July 1848, 6; Spectator, 1 July 1848, 62 1 ; The Economist.
1 July 1848, 734 -  5 ? Fraser's Magazine. XXXVIII, 121 -  5. “

11 . Prince Albert to Prince William of Prussia, 4 July 1848: K. Jagow 
(ed .): Letters o.f the Prince Consort 1831 -  1861 (trans. E.T.S. Dug- 
dale ),  (London 19389 , 14^*
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anarchy and revolution, but i t  doubted whether i t  would be. The

Northern Star, which supported the insurgents and emphasised the bru-

13t a l i t y  o f the French army, also did not believe that the army's 

v icto ry  would be fin a l. I t  even found comfort in the defeat o f the 

workers. The "sham" Republic o f Lamartine had been revealed as unwork­

able. "There is  no longer ground fo r compromise; the future o f France 

must be the v ile s t  and most cruel despotism, or the -  Red R epublic ."^  

The Northern Star condemned General Cavaignac, who had been given 

emergency d ic ta tor ia l powers during the figh ting and who was confirmed 

as head o f the French Government a fter the suppression o f the insurrec­

12

tion , fo r  his reactionary tendencies. The bulk o f the British  press 

applauded him fo r the same reason. There were well-founded doubts about

whether he could solve France's enormous socia l and economic problems,

but he was seen as a man dedicated to the maintenance o f law and order,

15which i t  was thought France needed desperately. The Morning Post and

the Manchester Guardian urged him to dispense with the National Assembly

16and assume d ic ta tor ia l powers. "Si cet homme-ïà'n'était pas un répub­

lica in  fanatique," wrote Princess Lieven, "quel rôle magnifique i l  

pourrait jouer.' Car la France toute entière est monarchique."^

The British  Government greeted Cavaignac's accession to power more

cautiously. In May Palmerston had written that "France seems to want

1 2 . The Times. 26 June 1848, 4 * Cf MC, 28 June and 3 July 1848, 4; ILN,
1 July 1848, 415 -  16; T a it 's  Edinburgh Magazine. XV, 484 -  8.

13 . Northern Star, 1 July 1848, 4 »
14* ib id , 8 July 1848, 4 *
15. MH, 30 June 1848, 5 ; The Times, 1 and 7 July 1848, 5 - 6 ; Spectator. 

8 and 15 July 1848, 646 and 66 9 ; ILN, 8 July and 5 August 1848, 7 
and 70» Fraser's Magazine, XXXVIII, ¿43 and 359 -  6 1 ; T a it 's  Edin­
burgh Magazine, XV, 488.

16 . MP, 26 and 27 June 1848, 4 ? H» 28 June 1848, 4.
1 7 « Princess Lieven to Aberdeen, 25 August 1848: Jones Parry, I I ,  298.

I t  was rumoured in Britain that Cavaignac would invite  Thiers to 
form a government (Hobhouse's Diary, 27 June 18481 B.L. Add. Mss. 
43752 f 1115 The Times, 27 June 1848, 5). But Cavaignac resisted 
pressure from the monarchists and formed a government o f moderate 
republicans (De Luna, 176 -  8).
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a bold sold ier to cut the Knot which C ivilians cannot u n tie ."18 But

was Cavaignac the right soldier? Clarendon hoped so, but was doubtful.

Charles G reville  was unhappy about the way in which he insisted on
20

the appointment o f Carnot, a staunch republican. Abercromby was
21

fea rfu l that he might seek to avert c iv i l  war by invading Ita ly .

Palmerston thought th is unlikely, but he found his reassurance not
22in Cavaignac but in the atrocious state o f French finances. Palmerston 

was convinced that Cavaignac*s position was only temporary, and he 

to ld  Hobhouse that he doubted whether the Republic could last much 

longer.^8 However i t  was not the f i r s t  time he had made th is p red ic tion .^  

The B ritish  Government shared the general happiness at the defeat 

o f the Red Republicans and was not sorry to see the f a l l  o f Lamartine, 

whom i t  had begun to consider unreliable. But what line would Cavaignac 

adopt? Would he be a new Napoleon, who would embark on a series o f 

ruinous wars? would he be a new Washington, who would give respectab ility  

to the Republic? or would he be a new Monck, who would pave the way 

to the restoration o f the monarchy?

Normanby f e l t  that none o f these analogies f it t e d  Cavaignac. "His

plain m ilitary mode o f expressing him self", he to ld  Clarendon, ". . .

2 5puts me in mind o f the Duke o f W ellington." I t  was not an inapt 

comparison fo r both were dedicated to and id en tified  with the maintenance 

o f law and order. There was, however, an important d ifference. Well­

ington, though revered by large sections o f the British  public, no

18. Palmerston to Normanby, 16 May 1848: Nor. P. P/20/35.
19- Clarendon to G. Grey, copy, 30 June 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 

Book Vol.3  f f 16 -  17 .
2 0 . G reville  to Normanby, 30 June 1848: Nor. P. 0/505.
2 1 . Abercromby to Palmerston, 30 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/AB/151 (q j j p>

G.B., 243 -  4 )*
2 2 . Palmerston to Normanby, 4  July 1848: Nor. P. P/20/4 5 * Of Aberdeen 

to King Leopold, d ra ft, 28 June 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43051 fl68.
2 3 . Hobhouse*s Diary, 8 July 1848• B.L. Add. Mss. 43752 f l 2 4 .
24. See above pp. 9 4 - 5 *
2 5 . Normanby to Clarendon, 23 August 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 2 0 .

19
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longer played a prominent part in p o lit ic s . Cavaignac, on the other 

hand, had just reached the apex o f his p o lit ic a l career. I t  was more 

than a matter o f courtesy, therefore, that Normariby v is ited  Cavaignac 

on the morning o f 26  June to congratulate him on his v icto ry  over 

the insurgents. I t  was a preliminary attempt to gauge the General’ s
2 g

attitude towards Britain. The result was encouraging.

Normariby had hoped to be able to avoid becoming entangled in the

June Bays. His task, as he saw i t ,  was to report what he saw and heard

27o f the figh ting, and this he did in great d eta il. Unfortunately, 

i t  proved impossible fo r him to remain detached from events. He was 

in furiated by the presence o f B ritish  sightseers in Haris who, he 

complained, "come over fo r a lark whenever they hear o f a row here"
2 g

and who had to appeal to him when they got into trouble. More serious 

was an accusation by Flocon, the Minister o f Commerce, who to ld  the

National Assembly on the 23rd that the insurrection "was got up by

29Foreign Gold." Circumstantial evidence seemed to support Flocon's 

claim, fo r B ritish  sovereigns were found on some o f the re b e ls .^

There was an alarming upsurge in Anglophobia, and Normariby decided 

to take up the subject with Bastide. Bastide accepted Normanby's 

assurance that the British  had not been involved in the insurrection"^ 

and urged him to make an o f f ic ia l  complaint so that he could give 

complete satisfaction  by publishing an o f f ic ia l  denial, which was

2 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 18, 26  June 1848: PRO FO 27/809 (0 NJ 
I I ,  6 7 ). — *
NJ, I I ,  29  -  5 5 .
Normanby to Palmerston, 28 June 1848s Bd. P. GC/NO/189 (mostly 
q NJ, I I ,  79 -  8 0 ). The name omitted in NJ is  George Smythe, a 
friend o f D israeli, who was noted fo r  his scandalous behaviour 
(e .g . Blake, 168 -  70 and 234 -  5 ).
Normanby to Palmerston, 23 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/183 (q NJ, I I ,  33). 
Normanby to Palmerston, 27 June 1848s Bd. P. GC/NO/188 (q NJ, I I ,
59 -  6 0 ).
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duly done.^

Bastide's anxiety to give Normanby fu l l  satisfaction  on the question 

o f the sovereigns was early proof that there would he no sudden change 

in French policy towards Britain with the departure o f Lamartine. 

Cavaignac's accession to power and Bastide's increased influence in 

the formation o f foreign policy did not lead to the Republic adopting 

a more bellicose line. Rather the reverse. Both Cavaignac and Bastide 

wished to avoid war i f  at a l l  possible and wanted to cement an under­

standing with Britain. ̂  Normanby found i t  easier to work with them 

than i t  had been with Lamartine. He had already lost his early distrust 

o f Bastide, finding him more dependable than L a m a r t i n e a n d  he came 

to admire Cavaignac. He found the General's honesty and in tegrity  

refreshing a fte r  the intrigues o f Ledru Rollin  and the equivocalness 

o f Lamartine, although he thought him sometimes s ligh tly  naive. J 
Cavaignac's impatience occasionally proved awkward, but Normanby put 

th is down to his m ilitary background.^^ I t  seemed as i f  the Republic's 

foreign policy would be more conservative and more stable than i t

had been, and that, because troops had been withdrawn from the Army

37o f the Alps in order to maintain s ta b ility  in France, the chances
■ 3 Q

o f intervention in Ita ly  had diminished.

3 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 1 7 » 26  June 1848, and No 4 2 2 , 29 June 
1848: PRO FO 27/809, and No 4 3 3 , 3 July 1848: PRO FO 27/81O (q NJ, 
I I ,  5 5 - 6 ,  81 -  2 and 86 -  7 ). Bastide's denial is  printed in '
bb, 11, 1 1 4 0 -1 .

3 3 . Be Luna, 340 -  1; Jennings, 123 -  5.
3 4 * Normanby to Palmerston, 11 June 1848: Bd. P. GC/NO/178. Normanby 

expressed his regret when i t  seemed Bastide might be moved from 
the Foreign Ministry (Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 28  June 1848: 
Nor. P. P/14/148, q NJ, I I ,  69 -  7 0 ).

35» Normanby to Palmerston, 1 August and 21 September 1848: Bd. P. 
GC/NO/201 and GC/NO/2 1 3 .

3 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 26 August 1848: Nor. P. P/14/194-
37. Be Luna, 350» Jennings, 1 67 - 8.
3 8 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 8 July 1848: Nor. P. P/14/155.
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i i )  THE FIRST ITALIAN CRISIS

On 8 July Normanby wrote about the war in northern Ita ly : " I t  is  

possible -  I  am afraid more than possible -  that the Ita lians may be 

beat".  ̂ I t  was an opinion that was shared by the French Government.

Ten days la te r , at a reception given by Cavaignac, Bastide to ld  Normanby 

that he "could not but foresee the p oss ib ility  o f some great reverse 

on the part o f Charles A lbert" which would make i t  d if f ic u lt  fo r  the 

French Government "to  res ist a strong expression o f the popular wish" 

fo r intervention in Ita ly . But, he continued, "both the General and 

he were more than ever averse from such an enterprize", especia lly as 

i t  seemed lik e ly  that in  any war Germany, in the form o f the Frankfurt 

Diet, would side with Austria. He said he wanted "to  ta lk  these matters 

over with me, to see i f  we could h it upon any means by which we might 

prevent so incalculable an e v i l . O v e r  the next few days Bastide 

and Normanby had several conversations about northern Ita ly , whilst 

the situation there deteriorated. On the 22nd, a fte r  the news o f the 

entry o f Austrian troops into the Papal States reached Paris, Bastide 

to ld  Normanby that the French Government wanted to establish a "cord ia l 

understanding" with B rita in , which would lead "to  some common action 

on the subject." When Normanby asked fo r c la r ific a t io n , Bastide said 

Britain and France should o ffe r  to mediate between the belligerents 

on the bases o f the unification  o f Lombardy and Sardinia, which he 

considered a fa it  accompli, and the establishment in Venetia o f an 

independent, lib e ra l state under an Austrian archduke, "Such a settlement 

to be placed under the guarantee, more or less e x p lic it , o f England 

and France." Normanby suggested that perhaps Venetia as w ell as Lombardy 

should be united with Sardinia, but Bastide declared that,

39* ib id .
4 0 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 6 1 , confidentia l, 19 July 1848: PRO 

FO 27/8 1 0 .
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with a l l  the ir desire to avoid war, there were two extremes 
which i t  would be very d if f ic u lt  fo r  them to admit without 
opposition, the restoration o f Lombardy to the dominion o f 
Austria on the one side, and the union into one powerful 
state under King Charles Albert o f a l l  the Principa lities  
into which the North o f Ita ly  has hitherto been divided.

Bastide had in itia ted  the discussions on northern Ita ly  by expressing

anxiety about the possible consequences o f an Austrian victory . But

by opposing the union o f Sardinia and Venetia he had revealed another

o f the French Government's fears. I t  was determined to oppose the

creation o f a Kingdom o f Northern Ita ly  under Charles A lbert. Such

a state, i t  argued, would not be sympathetic towards the Republic

and would be a potential threat to southern France. I t  would also be

a barrier to French expansion into Ita ly , although Bastide did not

admit th is as one o f his motives fo r opposing it s  creation.^2 Normanby

had suspected that the French Government would oppose the union o f

Venetia and Sardinia a fte r  the conversation on the l8 th ,^  and he

knew that his Government favoured the very thing to which the French

Government objected. But, arguing that the unification  o f the whole

o f northern Ita ly  was "not necessary to Ita lian  independence", he

fe l t  Britain  should agree to Bastide's proposal.^

The French proposal was the same in essentials to that submitted

by Hummelauer in May which the British  Cabinet had rejected. On 21

July, during a conversation with Tallenay, Palmerston repeated that

rejection . He was w illin g , he said, to support the plan i f  the Ita lians

were prepared to accept i t .  But he doubted whether they would, "unless

worsted in B a ttle ", and he believed that " i f  i t  were established i t

would not produce permanent Tranqu illity & P e a c e . A  week la ter

4 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 6 9 » 22 July 1848: ib id  (partly  q PP
L V III, 8 2 - 3 ). ~

4 2 . I t .  Prob., 130 -  1 ; Jennings, 142 -  6.
4 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 6 2 , 19 July 1848: PRO FO 27/810.
4 4 » Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 24 July 1848: Nor* P* P/14/163.
4 5 * Palmerston to Normanby, 21 July 1848: ib id  P/20/4 9 *
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he sent Normanby a despatch accepting the principle o f jo in t mediation,

but re jecting the bases proposed by B astide .^

The week's gap between Palmerston's le t te r  o f the 2 1st and his

despatch o f the 28th is  s ign ifican t. I t  resulted from the intervention

o f Queen V ictoria . The Queen opposed any understanding with the Republic.

Discussions about a jo in t policy on Ita ly , she wrote on the 24th, "can

lead to no good ".^  When Palmerston submitted the draft o f his despatch

to her, she complained strongly to Russell. She characterised Palmerston's

acceptance o f the principle o f jo in t mediation as a willingness to

establish "an entente cordiale with the French Republic, fo r  the purpose

o f driving the Austrians out o f the ir dominions in Ita ly " . Such an

agreement, she declared angrily, "would be a disgrace to th is country.

Russell, however, defended Palmerston. He to ld  the Queen that Britain

would be better able to restrain the French by binding them to a mediation.

The Queen had to give way, but she insisted that the understanding with

the Republic should not "appear as a league . . . against a fr iend ly

Power, struggling to preserve . . .  a te rr ito ry  granted to her by a

49Treaty to which we were a party."

The Queen was mistaken i f  she thought that her opposition would

halt the negotiations between Britain and the Republic. Rather i t  led

Palmerston to by-pass what he called the "strong German Predilections
50

in high Quarters here" by conducting the discussions through unoff­

ic ia l  channels. Having rejected the idea o f leaving Venetia under 

Austrian control, he suggested the partition  o f the province with 

the line o f the Piave as the fron tier. He emphasised, however, that

46. Palmerston to Normanby, No 3 0 6 , 28  July 1848: PRO F0 27/799 (q PP, 
LV III, 93 -  4 ). ~

4 7 * Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 24 July 1848: Bd. P. RC/F/377 (q QVL.
1 1 , 2 2 0 - 1 ).

48. Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 25 July 1848: QVL, I I ,  2 2 1 .
4 9 » Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 27 July 1848; ib id , 222 — 3 .
5 0 . Palmerston to Normanby, 28 July 18481 Nor. P. P/20/53 .
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i f  the Ita lians rejected th is plan Britain would not coerce them and

51nor would she support French claims fo r compensation. But Palmerston 

had misunderstood the French Government's position. I t  was not the 

liberation  o f Venetia hut the aggrandizement o f Sardinia to which i t  

objected. Disappointed by the British  response, Bastide announced that

" i t  would be better to await the turn which events must now take within

52the next few days." " I  am glad that Bastide prefers leaving matters 

alone fo r the present, & waiting to see the Turn o f M ilita ry Events", 

Palmerston wrote in  reply.

My own B e lie f s t i l l  is  that the Ita lians w il l  drive the 
Austrians out, unless indeed Germany should take the matter 
up as a National Quarrel and side with Austria; but i f  
Germany does that, France could not be restrained from 
taking Part with Ita ly , & that would be a European Con flict; 
and then I  should back France & Ita ly  to win. 3

The discussions about jo in t mediation seemed to have got nowhere, 

with Bastide repeating his opposition to the aggrandizement o f Sardinia 

beyond Lombardy and Palmerston stressing his conviction that the 

Ita lians would defeat the Austrians. However there had been an important 

step forward. The exchange between London and Paris was based on the 

assumption that the two countries would co-operate over northern Ita ly  

in order to avert French intervention. The disagreement between Palm­

erston and Bastide was not about how much o f I ta ly  should be liberated, 

but about what should happen once the liberation  was achieved. Both 

admitted that there was a poss ib ility  o f an Ita lian  defeat, hence the 

readiness to discuss jo in t mediation. But by emphasising his opposition 

to the aggrandizement o f Sardinia, Bastide seems to have been working 

on the assumption that i f  the war continued the Austrians would be

5 1 . Palmerston to Normanby, 24 July 1848: ib id  P/20/51. This idea 
seems to have originated in Turin, from where Abercromby reported 
that Charles Albert might accept such a compromise (Abercromby
to Palmerston, confidential, 13 July 1848s ib id  P/20/52. Cf Revel 
to Pareto, confidentia l, 31 July 1848: Dip. Sard., 187 — 9 )»

5 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 27 July 1848: Nor. P. P/14/I65.
53 . Palmerston to Normanby, 28 July 1848: ib id  P/20/53 .
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defeated just as much as Palmerston was.

* * *

On 22 July, near the v illa g e  o f Custozza, Radetzky's army began 

its  long-awaited counter-attack. A fter three days' figh ting the Ita lians 

f e l l  back in  disorder towards Milan. The decisive battle which Palmerston 

had hoped would liberate Venetia looked lik e ly  to lead to the Austrian 

reconquest o f Lombardy. On 29  July Pareto informed Abercromby that 

the Sardinian Government had decided to send Albert R icci to Paris. 

R icc i's  instructions, Pareto stressed, were not to ask fo r  French 

assistance, but to discover whether such assistance would be forthcoming 

i f  the request was made. Abercromby was h orrified . He urged the Sard­

inian Government to abandon the Lombards and Venetians, who had "shewn 

but very t r i f l in g  enthusiasm or publick sp ir it  in the Ita lian_/  cause", 

and open direct negotiations with the Austrians rather than ask fo r 

French intervention. The follow ing day Pareto to ld  Abercromby that 

the Sardinian Cabinet had decided to fo llow  his advice. I f  they could 

get "an honorable armistice . . . preparatory to negotiations fo r  a 

d e fin it ive  Peace, they would withhold any application fo r French Inter­

vention." Abercromby agreed to v is it  Radetzky's headquarters to see 

whether i t  would be possible to conclude such an a rm is tice .^  However 

the Sardinian Government kept its  options open: i t  s t i l l  sent R icci 

to Paris.

Abercromby's interview with Radetzky and his Chief o f S ta ff, Prince 

Schwarzenberg, was not a success. The minister emphasised the "great 

probability" o f French intervention unless an armistice was arranged.

The Austrian generals replied that they too wished to avert French

5 4 . Abercromby to Palmerston, No 1 7 3 » 29  July 1848: PRO FO 67/153 

(q PP, L V III, 107 -  8).
55. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 1 7 5 » 30 July 1848: PRO FO 67/153

(q PP, LV III, 1 1 4 ); Abercromby to Palmerston, 30 July 1848: Bd. P.
GC/XB/154  (q Bin. G.B., 267 -  8).
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intervention because o f the possible consequences, "but they were 

prepared, and ready to accept them, should they unfortunately be

rea lized ." The only possible basis fo r an arm istice, Abercromby was

56to ld , was the status quo ante beHum. A separate attempt by the

Comte de Reiset, the French charge d’ a ffa ires  at Turin, to secure

a ceasefire in  order to evacuate the c iv ilia n  population o f Milan

57before the Austrians attacked was equally unsuccessful. The attempts

to stop the bloodshed had foundered on Austrian intransigence and not,

58as Taylor asserts, upon the fa ilu re  o f Abercromby and Reiset to 

agree on terms. Unable to get the "honorable armistice" i t  had sought, 

the Sardinian Government decided to ask fo r  French intervention.

In i t ia l ly  Bastide was not too worried by the news o f the Austrian 

success. Unaware o f the scale o f the Ita lian  defeat, he hoped that 

the Austrian Government, having allowed its  army to recover some o f 

its  pride, would be ready to relinquish Lombardy.^ But on the evening 

of the 31st news arrived from Turin o f R icc i's  mission. Cavaignac 

and Bastide immediately went to the British  embassy where they had 

a long discussion about the c r is is  with Normanby. The General made 

i t  clear that he did not want to intervene in Ita ly , but he said that 

i f  the Austrians tried  to reconquer Lombardy and the Ita lians appealed 

to the Republic fo r assistance, there would be such an upsurge of 

pro-Ita lian  fee lin g  in France that "no Government established here 

would long be able to res ist the demand fo r  armed intervention".

Trying to exploit Cavaignac's reluctance and hoping that the news 

from Ita ly  might prove exaggerated, Normanby replied "that Austria

might, even a fte r  these successes, be ready to lis ten  to some proposition

5 6 . Abercromby to Palmerston, No 17 6 , 4 August 1848s PRO FO 67/153 
(q PP, LV III, 132 - 3 ).

5 7 . G.A.H. de Reiset: Mes Souvenirs (Paris 1901 -  1902 ) ,  I ,  148 -  52.
58. I t . Prob. , 135* . „ 0 ,
5 9 . Pareto to Revel, 4 and 5 August 1848: Dip. Sard.,, 1 9 5 - 6  and 197•

60 . Jennings, 147 -  8.
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of jo in t mediation on the part o f England and Prance." Cavaignac agreed, 

and he le f t  Normanby "with the conviction that at any rate no hostile 

step would he taken without previous communication with Her Majesty’ s 

Government.

On 2 August, at a Cabinet called to consider the aftermath o f the 

Ir ish  insurrection, Palmerston outlined to his colleagues the situa­

tion in northern Ita ly  as far as i t  was known. He then read Hormahby' s 

account o f his conversation -with Cavaignac and Bastide. "We a l l  agreed 

no time was to he lo s t", wrote Hobhouse that evening,

& that we should propose to Prance to mediate between the 
Austrians & Piedmontese. The question was, what line of 
separation would sa tis fy  the Austrians. Venice and her 
te rr ito ry  o f course must be given up, and the Adige made 
the boundary -  but would that be enough?

Palmerston was hopeful; Russell, Grey and Wood had doubts. I t  was 

decided that Palmerston should sound out Dietrichstein and Tallenay 

about the bases fo r a jo in t mediation. Unable to agree among them­

selves, the Cabinet had postponed a decision. "We were in a hurry

to get away being satiated with Ir ish  a ffa ir s ,"  lamented Hobhouse,

62."and yet th is sad defect may lead to a general war."

Palmerston had been instructed to sound out the Austrian and French 

representatives about the terms fo r a mediation. But the Cabinet had 

approved jo in t mediation in princip le, and Palmerston, conscious of 

the danger o f delay, informed Normanby o f the decision. " I  am very 

sorry fo r  the Turn which a ffa irs  have taken north o f the Po", he wrote,

61. Normanby to Palmerston, No 489, 1 August 1848: PRO PO 27/811 (partly  
q PP, LV III, 1 0 5 ). There was support fo r the jo in t mediation from 
an” unexpected source. The Sardinian representatives in Paris agreed 
to postpone any discussion o f French intervention un til the British  
response to the proposed mediation was known (Jennings, 149 -  5 2 ).

62 . Ilobhouse’ s Diary, 2 August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f f6  -  7. For 
the doubts o f Grey, Wood and Russell, see Grey’ s Journal, 2 August 
1848* Grey P C3?1 4 ; Wood to his w ife , 2 August 1848: Hal. P.
A4/43/4; Londonderry (D israeli reporting a conversation with Russell),
34 -  5 -
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I  had hoped better things, and did not expect that the 
Austrians would he so Strong, or the Milanese Troops so 
ligh t heeled -  But in th is world we must deal with Things 
as we find them, and make the best o f what happens. . . .
The Austrians not only hold almost a l l  the Venetian Province, 
but some o f Lombardy. Out of Lombardy they may be got by 
negotiation, and I  think that from the f i r s t  they may have 
made up the ir minds to that. But out of the Venetian Prov­
ince they can be got only by Force and who is  to Force them? 
Evidently now not Charles A lbert. I f  any Body does i t ,  i t  
must be the French; but that is  on many accounts undesirable, 
and i t  would be better to leave the Austrians there than 
drive them out by such means; . . .  I  am therefore fo r  o ffering 
to the Two Parties to se ttle  matters at once by adopting 
as the ir Boundary the Line which has separated the Two Prov­
inces which is  nearly the Line o f the Adige . . .

I f  England & France were conjointly to propose such an 
arrangement to the Two Parties one can hardly doubt that i t  
would be accepted; and i f  Modena & Parma were added to North 
Ita ly  i . e .  Sardinia and Lombardy_ 7  to which I  apprehend 
Austria would not object that State would become a very resp­
ectable & prosperous l i t t l e  Kingdom.

As to Venice i f  i t  was rea lly  Ita lian ized  . . . the Vene­
tians would have no great Cause to complain, and they might 
be as w ell governed and,as prosperous as i f  they formed Part 
o f an Ita lian  Kingdom.

The bases fo r the mediation which Palmerston suggested were broadly 

those discussed by the Cabinet. I t  was thought to be essential to 

secure Lombard independence, because i t  was assumed that neither the 

French nor the Ita lians would submit to Austria regaining the province. 

There were also grounds fo r  hoping that the belligerents would accept 

th is solution: the Austrians had suggested such a plan in May, and 

Palmerston believed that Custozza would make the Sardinians more reason­

able than they had been in June. The most controversial part o f the 

plan seemed to be the proposed union o f Sardinia and Lombardy, which 

the French might now oppose. On 5 August, however, Normanby reported 

that Cavaignac and Bastide accepted the broad points o f the plan and 

fo r the moment were prepared "to  overlook minor d i f f ic u lt ie s " .^

Palmerston believed that Austria would read ily  accept the mediation

63 . Palmerston to Normanby, 3 August 1848: Nor. P. P/20/54.
64. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5 0 2 , 5 August 1848: PRO F0 27/811 (partly  

q PP, L V III, 1 1 9 ).



in order to avert French intervention and put an end to a h itte r  and 

costly war. He received an unpleasant surprise from Dietrichstein.

"D. was proud o f the success o f old Austria as he called her", Palmerston

told  the Cabinet on the 4th. " . . . When P. talked o f the line o f the

65Adige D. said . . .  I  do not know that Piedmont w i l l  get that now!" J 

I t  was a clear warning that Austria might want to retain Lombardy, 

hut i t  was a warning which the Cabinet chose to ignore. Palmerston 

thought that the Austrian Government would prove more amenable than 

its  ambassador, and no one seems to have questioned th is assumption.

I t  was decided to  propose to France jo in t mediation on the basis o f 

the separation o f Lombardy and Venetia, with the former jo in ing Sardinia. 

The mediators would recommend the line o f the Adige as the fron tie r , 

but would be ready to accept the line o f the M incio .^

The Cabinet reached its  decision on the afternoon o f the 4 th, but 

i t  was not u n til the 7th that Palmerston was able to inform Normanby 

o f i t  o f f i c i a l l y . ^  The delay was almost disastrous. The French ministers 

were extremely nervous and the Sardinians increasingly impatient.

On the 7th the Sardinian Government asked fo r French in terven tion .^

The Sardinian request placed Normanby in an embarrassing position.

He knew that the British  Cabinet had agreed to propose jo in t mediation 

and he had informed Cavaignac and Bastide o f that fa c t. But u n til he 

received o f f i c ia l  confirmation, no announcement o f the agreement, which 

Cavaignac declared was essential to appease French public opinion, 

could be made. He went to see Cavaignac, whom he found "in  a great

65. D ietrichstein, however, told  Wessenberg that he had expressed 
no opinion ( i t .  Prob., 140 -  0 *

66. Hobhouse*s Diary, 4 August 1848s B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f8.
67 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 3 1 9 » 7 August 1848: PRO FO 27/799 (q PP, 

LV III, 120 -  1).
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state o f excitement". The General said that the only thing that could

ju s t ify  him not sending troops across the Alps was "being able to say

openly that there was such a certain prospect o f a perfect understanding

on the subject between Prance and England as gave every chance o f a

pacific  settlement.""^0 "We are," wrote Normanby, " . . .  upon the verge

71of an European War".

The reason fo r  the delay was not the fa ilu re  o f the Cabinet to reach 

agreement on the 2nd, although that had not helped, but the need to 

consult the Queen before sending such an important despatch. " I  am not 

surprised at the natural Impatience o f the French Govt, to get our o f f i ­

c ia l Communication, but I  have not been able to get i t  o f f  sooner",

Palmerston wrote on the 7th. "The Queen is  in the Is le  o f Wight, and

72I  did not get back my Draft from Her t i l l  late last n igh t."1 I t  is  

unclear whether the Queen deliberately delayed returning the d ra ft, 

but i t  is  not impossible. She had agreed to the principle o f jo in t 

mediation on the 3rd, but she was unhappy about the terms. She was 

convinced that Palmerston was trying to establish a Kingdom of Northern 

Ita ly , fo r  which, she had observed to Russell a week ea r lie r , " a l l  

considerations of ancient alliance with Austria, of the peace o f Europe, 

the regard fo r trea ties , e t c . , etc. are to be sacrificed  . She was 

disturbed to discover that Palmerston had once thought of proposing 

the line o f the Piave,"^ and, though reconciled to the union o f Lombardy

and Parma with Sardinia, she resented Palmerston's assumption that
7 f)

Modena would also be annexed by Charles A lbert. Yet, as she had 

accepted the principle o f jo in t mediation, i t  is  d if f ic u lt  to know

7 0 .
7 1 .
7 2 .
7 3 .
7 4 . 
7 5 - 
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what she hoped to gain by holding back the despatch. The delay may 

simply have been due to the re la tive  remoteness o f Osborne House. But 

whatever the reason, the fa ilu re  o f the despatch to reach Paris before 

the Sardinian request was made almost led to war between Prance and 

Austria. Fortunately, on the morning o f the 8th, before the French 

had to make the ir reply, Normanby was able to inform Cavaignac that 

the crucial despatch had arrived.

*  *  *

Palmerston was pleased to  think that Britain  had helped to avert

a major European war. He was even optim istic that Austria would accept

the proposed mediation. " I  wish we could have got Venice too ," he wrote

77to Abercromby, "but that is  now impossible." Other members o f the

Government were less happy. Russell to ld  Hobhouse that he did not

think Austria would want to give up Lombardy, a fee lin g  that was shared

by Morpeth and G reville . Clarendon admitted that the mediation was

useful in  controlling the "martial ardour" o f France, but he fe l t

that a more certain guarantee o f peace was the appalling state o f the

Republic’ s finances and Cavaignac’ s need to keep a large force in France

79to control the Red Republicans. He also feared the possible consequences 

o f associating closely with the Republic. " I  should be sorry", he wrote 

to Reeve, " i f ,  when catching at the shadow o f France, we lost the sub- 

stance o f /~the j  Russian a lliance". No member o f the Government 

thought they had been wrong to o ffe r  jo in t mediation, but many probably 

shared Grey's regret that the Government had refused to mediate on the

7 7 . Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 7 August 1848: ib id  GC/ab/275 
(q Dip. G.B.. 275 -  6).

7 8 . Morpeth's Diary, 4  August 1848: C.H.A. J19/8/18 f 2 6 ; Hobhouse's 
Diary, 8 August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f 12; G reville  to Clar­
endon, 11 August 1848: Clar. P. Box c52 1 .

7 9 . Clarendon to Normanby, 14 August 1848: Nor. P. 0/158; Clarendon 
to Lansdowne, copy, 18 August 1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter—Book
Vol.3  f f 1 l 8 -  19 . Palmerston had expressed a sim ilar opinion a 
month ea r lie r  (see above p. 218 ), but now he did not doubt French

8 0 . Clarendon^toSReeve, 17 August 1848s Laughton, I ,  2 0 2 .
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same terms in May.w'

In some respects, the doubts that were now being expressed were 

simply the result o f second thoughts. The ministers had been rushed 

into a decision, and now the danger was passed they could consider 

the subject more calmly. I t  seems reasonable to assume, however, that 

they were also influenced by the hostile public reaction to the annou­

ncement o f the proposed mediation. When news o f Custozza f i r s t  reached

London there was widespread speculation that the French would march

82into Ita ly . But when the o ffe r  o f mediation was announced, only a
83

few papers welcomed i t  as a way to prevent a major war.

The Protectionists were the most vehement in the ir criticism . "Every 

where that Great Britain in terferes, she espouses the cause o f re vo lt" , 

declared the Morning Post. " . . .  But the present Ministers seem not 

to care how much they disgrace th is country, so as they but promote 

the cause o f Liberalism. In that cause they care not what acts of 

tyranny they perpetrate."84 The Standard urged the Queen to take action 

"No Crown in Europe, except, perhaps, that o f Russia, w i l l  be safe 

i f  Lord Palmerston be allowed to prosecute his absurd career. He must 

be got r id  o f at any p r ic e ."85 The Peelite papers were equally pro- 

Austrian. The Morning Chronicle welcomed the mediation, but d isliked 

the terms.8  ̂ The Times was more c r it ic a l.  I t  attacked Palmerston fo r 

re jecting Hummelauer's plan whilst the Ita lians were winning, but ad-
O nr

opting i t  when the tide o f war turned. But it s  main doubt was over

81.
82.

8 3 .
84.

Grey's Journal, 16 August 1848: Grey P. C3/14.
MP, _ 3  August 1848, 4 ;  M i  4  August 1848, 2; The Times. A A„m,„+ 
1848, 4 ; MC, 5 August 1848, 4 ; MG, 5 August Ï848, 6:“ SpectaW  
5 August 1848, 741 -  2 . 4 ’ ’ s t a t o r ,
MC, 6 August 1848, 4 » York Herald. 12 August 1848, 5.
MP, 10 August 1848, 4. Çf MH, 17 August 1848, 4; Blackwood's
burgh Magazine. LXIV, 288 -  9 . "
Standard. 9 August 1848, 2 .
Me, 9 August 1848, 5.

8 5 .
86.  _
87. The Times, 8 August 1Ö4 Ö* 4 » UbIlt:x' I“ * «10 ^

point (MC, 9 August 1848, 5 ? MP, 10 August 1848, 4 ).
1848, 4. Other papers quickly seized upon this
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the right o f Britain and Prance to propose the separation o f Lombardy 

from Austria. I t  agreed that Austria would be better o f f  without Lom­

bardy, but i t  f e l t  that no country had the right to put pressure on 

her to abandon the province should she want to keep i t .  The danger o f 

French intervention, which The Times fe l t  was over-rated, could have 

been met by exerting British  influence in Paris and by using B rita in 's

trad itiona l links with Austria and Russia "to  discourage and oppose

88the scheme o f French intervention south o f the A lps."

The attitude of the Radicals also gave the Government reason fo r

concern. The establishment o f an independent Ita ly  was essential fo r

European peace, the Daily News declared.

We do not say that th is can be done at once, or that we 
are to make war to construct i t .  But we must preserve what 
we can o f it s  precious fragments, and use English influence 
to the utmost to keep intact and togethergthe elements o f 
Ita lian  freedom and Ita lian  independence.

I f  Palmerston tr ied  to appease the Tories by minimising the concessions

that would be demanded from Austria, he ran the risk  o f alienating

those Radicals who expected him to champion Ita lian  liberalism . I t

was hardly surprising, then, that D israeli should fe e l able to write

90g le e fu lly : "Palmerston is  in an awful mess".

I t  was almost inevitable that there would be a debate in Parliament 

about the proposed mediation. Aberdeen confessed to being "delighted" 

by Austria 's success. " . . . I t  w i l l  be too bad i f  England and France 

should s t i l l  in s is t on giving Lombardy to the King o f Sardinia."^1 

Even the Duke o f Wellington showed signs o f s tirr in g  against the Govern- 

ment, "bemoaning its  "v e llé ité  révolutionnaire” . But the main debate 

would be in the Commons, and here D israeli was determined that his

88. The Times, 10 August 1848, 5 »
89. DN, 17 August 1848, 3 . Cf ILN, 12 August 1848, 86; Spectator. 12 

August 1848, 7 7 7 -
9 0 . Londonderry, 4 4 *
9 1 . Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 16 August 1848: Jones Parry, I I ,  2 9 7 «
9 2 . Wellington to Metternich, copy, 13 August 1848: Well. P. 159/7 2 .
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speech should "make a n o ise ".93 He prepared his speech carefu lly ,

94v is it in g  Metternich to get his views on the mediation. He wanted 

to embarrass the Government on a subject where he f e l t  i t  was partic­

u larly  vulnerable and also to prove to his c r it ic s  among the Protect­

ion ists that he was irreplaceable. The result was a b r illia n t  oratorica l 

display on the evening o f 16 August in which he revealed his wit and 

his perceptiveness, and also his prejudices.

D israe li's  speech can be divided into three parts. He began by 

attacking Minto's mission, which he described as "more interesting 

than successful". He then offered some te ll in g  observations on the 

proposed mediation. He said that there was no need to mediate as the 

war had been brought to an end, that therefore Austria would probably 

re ject the o ffe r  and that Britain and Prance had no right to impose 

a settlement. The principle o f nationality, which Palmerston seemed 

to be invoking when assisting the Italians, was "dangerous" and "sen ti­

mental", and liab le  to lead to complications over Schleswig-Holstein 

and Hungary. F ina lly , he said that i t  would be "preposterous" to reward 

Charles Albert with Lombardy fo r his perfidious attack on his neighbour. 

But i t  was the third part o f his speech, where D israeli discussed 

B rita in 's  relations with Prance, which proved most controversial. The 

avowed object o f the proposed mediation, he observed, was to prevent 

French intervention in Ita ly . But the French Government said i t  did 

not want to intervene and, given the internal condition of the Republic, 

i t  seemed incapable o f doing so should i t  so desire. The avowed object, 

therefore, could not be the rea l one. In fa c t, D israeli claimed, Britain  

had been ensnared by the Republic, which planned to p ro fit from its  

association with Britain in order to pursue a more disruptive rftle 

in the world. " I  protest against the attempt to  regulate the world

9 3 . D israeli to his w ife, 16 August 1848s Dis. P. A/l/A/229. 

9 4 * Londonderry, 4 3 .
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■by a contrived concert with the Jacobin party", D israeli announced.

I  sty le them the Jacobin party; . . .  I  recognise the same 
features as o f yore, I  observe the same character and system; 
i t  is  the old leaven, and I use the same name. I t  is  the 
system that commences with ’ fr a te rn ity ',  and ends with assass­
ination; i t  is  the system that begins by preaching universal 
charity, and concludes by practising general spoliation. I  
do not care who the individual may be -  whether i t  be M. Ledru 
R ollin , or whether i t  be the gentleman who shakes hands with 
M. Ledru Rollin . I  cannot recognise such persons as the French 
nation, or as that France with which I  would wish my country 
to be in alliance and cordial understanding . . .

I f  Palmerston wished to deter French aggression in Ita ly , he concluded,

he could do so by asserting "the principles o f public justice in a

manner which becomes a B ritish  M inister". He would then find that "no

bandits, whatever may be the ir position, w i l l  cross any mountains or

invade any capita ls, when they know that England is  prepared to uphold

95the principles o f public law."

Palmerston started his reply slowly. He launched into a long, descrip­

t iv e  account o f Minto's mission, which contrasted with D israe li's  

sparkling attack and which did not e ffe c t iv e ly  answer the charge that 

i t  had been unsuccessful. Turning to the mediation, he ignored D israe li's  

observations, merely asserting that i t  was not "an impertinent in ter­

ference, without object, and incapable o f leading to any resu lt."

He was more convincing and confident when he discussed B rita in 's  relations 

with France. D israe li's  remarks, he said, seemed designed "to  rouse 

the b it te r  jealousy o f a great nation, and, by wounding its  pride, to 

dare i t  to do that which the hon. Gentleman said he wished i t  should 

not do". He admitted that French intervention could eas ily  lead to a 

European war, but he emphasised that i t  was in order to prevent such 

a catastrophe that the British  Government had agreed to propose jo in t 

mediation. In order to preserve the peace o f Europe, he declared,

we shall be happy to combine with the French Government in 
endeavouring to extinguish the f i r s t  sparks o f war, wherever

95 « Hansard, Cl, 147 “  6 3 .
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they may show themselves, and thus to prevent a conflagra­
tion  spreading throughout Europe. Notwithstanding the hon. 
Gentleman's sneers, then, I  think that th is is  conduct o f 
which any Government o f England may ju stly  fe e l  proud.

In conclusion, he defended the French ministers from D israe li's  "taunting 

sneers". Rather than "turning the people loose . . .  to occupy them­

selves with the a ffa irs  o f other countries," they were "anxiously, w isely,

earnestly, and courageously employed in establishing order . . . and I

96think such a course o f conduct does honour to the men so engaged".

Fhlmerston's speech was warmly applauded in Government c irc les . I t  

was "one o f the most able & effectual speeches I  ever heard in Parlia­

ment", wrote Hobhouse, "& by a strain o f sober statement & conclusive 

inference completely obliterated the impression made by D israe li's  

r i d i c u l e . The Times was less impressed: Palmerston's defence o f

his Ita lian  policy had been an "elaborate" but "vain e ffo r t  to shake

98o f f  the grasp and the sting o f his eloquent antagonist." However

The Times was in a minority. Most newspapers f e l t  that Palmerston had

got the better o f the exchange. The general impression was that D israeli

had spoiled his observations on Ita ly  by his vio len t d iatribe against 

99France.

Charles G reville  was more perceptive than most when he observed 

that Palmerston had "contrived to slide undetected over the weak points, 

and to sa tis fy  the House o f Commons without giv ing them any information 

whatever."100 D israeli had asked some awkward questions about the 

objectives and the timing o f the mediation which Palmerston had fa iled

96. ib id . 163 -  74-
97 « Hobhouse's Diary, 16 August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f f 15 -  16 

(q Dorchester, V I, 224 — 5 )* Of Russell to Clarendon, 16 August 
1848: Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 4 3 *

9 8 . The Times. 17 August 1848, 5 »
99. DN, 17 August 1848, 3 ; MH, 17 August 1848, 4 ? MC, 18 August 1848, 

4 7  ILN, 19 August 1848, 102 ; Spectator, 19 August 1848, 789? The 
Economist. 19 August 1848, 936 -  7 -
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to answer. I t  was not that Palmerston had no answers, merely that he 

did not want to give them as he knew they would he unpopular. Thanks 

to D israe li's  incautious remarks about the French Republic, which 

attracted attention away from the proposed mediation, he was able to 

do this without creating an outcry. But he must have known that he 

would not be so lucky again.

237

i i i ) THE FIRST MONTH OF THE ENTENTE

The c r is is  in northern Ita ly  was not the only problem which demanded 

the attention o f the Foreign O ffice at the beginning o f August. At the 

Cabinet on the 4 "th, when called upon to explain what was happening on 

the continent, Palmerston asked: "With which shall I  begin: Lombardy, 

S ic ily , l _ o v J  Holstein?"101 The Cabinet considered the problems o f 

Lombardy and S ic ily  in some de ta il, but the discussion on Schleswig- 

Holstein seems to have been perfunctory, with the rest o f the Cabinet 

listen ing impatiently whilst Palmerston read a number o f despatches.

Yet the Schleswig-Holstein question was poten tia lly  as dangerous as 

the war in northern Ita ly .

The Schleswig-Holstein question does not form a major part o f this 
102

study. I t  did not dominate Anglo-French relations as did the war 

in Ita ly , but at the end o f July i t  assumed a temporary significance.

The complexity o f the dispute over Schleswig-Holstein is  w ell known.

1 0 1 . Hobhouse's Diary, 4  August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f 8 .  _
102 The best account o f Britain and the f i r s t  Schleswig-Holstein c r is is  

is  Holgar H jelholt: B ritish  Mediation in the Danish-German Conflict 
18A8 -  1850 (Copenhagen 1965 )»  which considers the subject from a 
diplomatic standpoint. There is  no study o f B ritish  public opinion 
on the question, K.A.P. Sandiford's Great Britain and the Schleswig- 
Holstein ™ =  6* : a study in diplomacy, p o lit ic s , and
m b lic  opinion (Toronto treating the c r is is in  1848 as back-
r-round fo r  the better known cr is is  m  the 1860s. Anglo-German re la ­
tion- which are an in tegra l part o f the question, are discussed in

,0 _ rg and W,E. Mosse: The European Powers and the German 
Oresti 0^184.8 -  71: with Special Reference to England and Russia (New 
York 1 9 6 9 )» 1°  "
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The British  Government's attitude towards i t ,  however, was re la t iv e ly  

simple. Palmerston summed i t  up in a le tte r  to the Queen in mid-April 

when he said he was anxious to bring an end to the war between the 

Danes and the Germans fo r which, in his opinion, "no adequate reason 

appears to ex is t; which might bring Prussia into co llis ion  with Russia 

and which, in consequence o f the British  guarantee o f Schleswig [_ to 

Denmark_ 7  in 1 7 20 , might even involve your Majesty in embarrassment."10  ̂

At f ir s t  Palmerston had no specific  thoughts about what the peace 

settlement should be, merely wanting to end the war before i t  could 

escalate. But as he became disenchanted with the Frankfurt Diet he 

began to favour the Danes. I t  was probably no coincidence that that 

sympathy was shared by the bulk o f the British  electorate, although 

not by the Queen and Prince Albert.

In i t ia l ly  the Danes tried  to exclude the French Republic from the 

problem. When i t  arose the Danish Government appealed fo r  help to a l l  

the guarantors o f the treaty o f 1720 except France. By excluding the 

Republic, however, the Danes offended Lamartine who, despite being 

sympathetic to the ir cause, informed Moltke, the Danish minister in 

Paris, that i t  "was not a matter with which the Provisional Government 

could in te r fe r e ."10̂  But as Franco-German relations cooled,10  ̂ Franco- 

Danish relations improved, and at the beginning o f June Bastide declared

that i t  was France's duty to defend the Danes against the high-handed

„ 106 
behaviour o f Germany.

Given th is increasing French support fo r Denmark, i t  was hardly 

surprising that when, towards the end o f July, an armistice which 

had been arranged by Denmark and Prussia collapsed because General

10 3 . Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 18 A pril 1848; RvP, 7 2 .
104. Normanby to Palmerston, No 2 7 9 f 26 A pril 1848: PRO FO 27/8O6;

L.C. Jennings: "French Diplomacy and the F irst Schleswig-Holstein 
C risis" French H istorical Studies V II ( 19 71 )» 207 ~ 9 «

1 0 5 . See below pp. 249 -  5 0 »
106 . Jennings, 13 0 .



239

Wrangel, the commander o f the German forces who also had the hacking
107of the Frankfurt Diet, rejected the terms, the Danes should appeal 

to the French Government to confirm its  guarantee o f Danish possession 

o f Schleswig. Bastide's reaction was to consult Normanby. Calling 

any German annexation o f Schleswig a "monstrous in ju s tice", Bastide 

said " i t  would he impossible to acquiesce qu ietly  in the apparent 

pretensions o f the German Central Authority at Frankfort." He wanted, 

he said, to t e l l  Moltke "that France would res is t any attack upon 

Jutland at a l l  hazards", hut thought i t  preferable that Britain and 

France should make a combined protest to Frankfurt and Berlin against 

any such proceeding.

Bastide's intention seems to have been to convince the British  

Government o f the need fo r a jo in t Anglo-French policy over Schleswig- 

Holstein in order to prevent unilateral French action. Such an argument 

had worked over northern Ita ly  -  although when Bastide f ir s t  broached 

the subject the jo in t mediation had not yet been arranged -  and Bastide 

must have hoped that i t  would work again. The result would be to trans­

form the lim ited understanding on northern Ita ly  into a more general 

entente, with a consequent increase in the prestige and effectiveness 

o f the Republic.

Over the follow ing week Normanby became convinced o f the seriousness 

o f the French threat. On 1 August he to ld  Cavaignac that he f e l t  certain 

his Government "would be ready to consider the question o f any combined 

diplomatic remonstrance which might bring to reason the parties to 

th is renewed wanton aggression." In return, Cavaignac promised that

he would not reply to Moltke's request u n til he had heard from London.10^

110But despite Normanby's attempts to hurry him along, there was no

10 7 . H je lh o lt, I ,  166 -  7 8 .
108 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 7 7 » 25 July 1848: PRO FO 27/8 1 0 . Of 

Normanby to Palmerston, No 486, 31 July 1848: ib id .
1 0 9 « Normanby to Palmerston, No 488, 1 August 1848: ib id  27/8 1 1 .
110 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 5O4, confidentia l, 5 August 1848, and 

No 5 0 9 » 6 August 1848: ib id .
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word from Palmerston on the subject except a vague, dismissive message

111saying he s t i l l  hoped that the armistice might "be maintained. On

8 August Cavaignac announced that he could wait no longer and tha t,

having examined into the Treaty of 1 7 2 0 , the French Govern­
ment found the pretensions o f the German Diet quite incon­
sistent with the guarantee therein given as to Schleswig, 
and t}jL^ they had written in that sense to Berlin and Frank­
fo r t .

" I f  I  had had anything o f an answer from you to give Cavaignac

Normanhy complained to Palmerston, a fte r  learning o f the harmful e ffe c t

the French declaration had on Franco-German relations, " . . .  I  could

113have prevented Moltke from extracting that note from him".

The b revity  o f Palmerston's reply to the French overture re fle c ts

his b e l ie f  that the chances o f French intervention were s ligh t and

that a jo in t protest was neither necessary nor desirable, fo r  i t  is

evident that he was not as happy about the state o f the armistice

114as he had implied. But he was prepared to exploit the French attitude. 

Throughout the discussions on Schleswig-Holstein Palmerston had used 

the threat o f Russian intervention to exert pressure on the Germans.

The communications from Paris gave him another lever. On 1 August he 

sent Normanby's despatches o f 25 and 31 July to Westmorland with the 

instruction to use them in his conversations with Prussian ministers 

to emphasise the danger "that this Sleswig Holstein Question, i f  not 

speedily and reasonably settled , would bring on a European War."11^

111 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 3 0 9 , 28 July 1848: ib id  27/799.
112. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5 7 4 » 8 August 1848: ib id  ¿7/811.
11 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 26  August 1848: Nor. P. P/14/194. 

Normanby was particu larly concerned about Franco-German relations 
because o f the possible repercussions on the Ita lian  question 
(see Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 9 August 1848: ib id  P/14/176).

114 . On 23 July, fo r  example, Palmerston warned the Germans that unless 
they became more reasonable, "the English Govt, must re tire  in 
disgust from a negotiation in which i t  w i l l  become evident to a l l  
the world that one o f the Parties has no desire or intention to 
come to an agreement" (Palmerston to Westmorland, copy, 23 July

1 1 5 . Palmerston^t©^Westmorland, No 1 6 5 , 1 August 1848: PRO FO 64/383.
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The Prussian ministers were duly impressed and, arguing that the problem 

lay not with them hut with the Frankfurt Diet, they asked that the 

despatches he sent to the Central Power, as the government in Frankfurt 

was now known. In Frankfurt, however, the B ritish  Government was 

faced hy a more stubborn and unpredictable adversary. On 3 August

117the Diet approved Wrangel's decision not to accept the armistice.

Fortunately, the ministers o f the Central Power thought o f a way to

sa tis fy  the other Powers without antagonising the Diet. The Prussian

Government received permission to continue negotiations fo r  an armistice,

118but not on the bases previously suggested. On 27 August a new 

armistice was signed by the Prussian and Danish representatives at 

Malmo*, and the B ritish  Government agreed to mediate between the b e l l i ­

gerents.11^

The desire o f the French Government to help solve the Schleswig-

Holstein question did not cease with the resumption o f the armistice

negotiations. On 24 August Cavaignac spoke to Normanby about Britain

and France reaching "a mutual understanding" on the subject, and he

enquired whether Britain would be ready to admit France to the mediation.

Normanby tr ied  to discourage him. A mediator should be neutral, he

observed, but the recent declaration o f support fo r  Denmark showed

120
that the Republic was not. Palmerston approved o f what Normanby 

had said. But, he went on, the French Government

116. Westmorland to Palmerston, No 294, 7 August 1848: ib id  64/289. 
Phlmerston had already done th is (Palmerston to Cowley, No 7,
4 August 1848: ib id  30/107 ).

117 . Cowley to Palmerston, No 2, 3 August 1848, and No 6, 4 August
1848: ib id  30/109.

11 8 . H je lh o lt, I ,  193 .
119* This caused a c r is is  in Frankfurt. The Diet rejected the arm istice, 

thereby precip itating the f a l l  o f the Leiningen ministry. Within 
a fortn igh t, however, finding that i t  could not continue the war 
and under intense diplomatic pressure, the Diet reversed its  decision 
(F. Eyck: The Frankfurt Parliament 1848 -  1849 (London 1 9 68 ) ,  294 -  
3 1 0 ; G illessen, 61 -  6).
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might exercise a very useful and salutary influence in th is 
matter even without taking part formally as Mediator, i f  i t  
were to recommend in the f i r s t  place strongly to the two 
Parties, hut more especia lly to the Govt, o f Prankfu^^ to 
conclude an Armistice upon terms fa ir  to both sides.

In other words, whilst Britain  gained prestige by being an unbiassed

mediator, the Republic would sustain the odium o f putting pressure

on one o f the belligerents in order to help ensure the success o f

that mediation.

The disagreement between Britain and Prance over Schleswig-Holstein 

helps to c la r ify  the d ifferen t interpretations o f the jo in t mediation 

in northern Ita ly . The French Government saw the mediation as the f i r s t  

step towards a more general entente with Britain . But when Cavaignac 

and Bastide sought to extend the understanding to another major European 

dispute, Schleswig-Holstein, they found that the British  Government 

had a more lim ited interpretation. Palmerston regarded the jo in t 

mediation as necessary but not desirable in  i t s e l f .  He had only agreed 

to i t  because he saw no other way to avert French intervention in 

Ita ly . However he did not believe that i t  was necessary to include 

the Republic in the Schleswig-Holstein mediation. He knew that the 

French Government would not risk  a European war in order to honour 

a treaty obligation which guaranteed the retention by the Danish crown 

o f an obscure duchy which was part German. For Cavaignac and Bastide, 

the proposed jo in t mediation in northern I ta ly  was the means to an 

end; fo r  Phlmerston, i t  was an end in i t s e l f .

*  *  *

The French had reason to be unhappy with Palmerston’ s attitude 

towards them over Schleswig-Holstein. However French su scep tib ilities  

were soothed by the settlement o f a question which had troubled Anglo- 

French relations since February: that o f B ritish  recognition o f the

121 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 3 6 2 , 29  August 1848: ib id  27/799
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Republic. On 28  February Palmerston informed Normanby that the British

Government could not send him "formal Credentials to a govt, professedly

Provisional & Temporary. . . . Whenever a permanent govt, shall have

been established, then w i l l  be the time fo r  deciding as to renewed 

122Credentials". But what was a "permanent govt."?  In mid-May Palmerston

declared that the ra tific a tion  o f the Republic by the newly elected
123

National Assembly did not f u l f i l  the necessary conditions. The French

Government, however, was increasingly unhappy about this state o f a ffa irs .

Normanby was to ld  that "any apparent hesitation /"in  recognising the

Republic/7" would be apt to be misconstrued /""by the French public/7",

and that i t  might add to the d if f ic u lt ie s  of restraining the warlike

124passions o f a large portion o f the people."

Palmerston's position was made worse by the attitude o f other govern­

ments. At the end o f February he had tr ied  to concert B rita in 's  position

125on recognition with that o f other countries, and to a large extent

12 6he had been successful. ' But with the ra t ific a t io n  o f the Republic 

the unanimity that had been achieved began to disintegrate. On 29 May 

Bastide announced that Belgium had recognised the Republic and that 

Spain was about to do so, whilst Prussia and Sardinia were wavering. xco 

This placed Palmerston in a dilemma: should he jeopardise B rita in 's  

favoured position with the Republic fo r the sake o f a principle which 

the rest o f Europe was ignoring? He found i t  d if f ic u lt  to maintain his

1 2 2 . Palmerston to Normanby, 28 February 1848: Nor. P. P/20/1O (q Ashley
I I ,  7 3 ).

123 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 2 2 1 , 15 May 1848: PRO FO 27/798.
124. Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 4 2 , 19 May 1848: ib id  27/808 (cr NJ T 

424 -  6). ~  ’
125. Palmerston to Westmorland, copy, 29 February 1848: Bd. P. GC/WE/189 

(q Ashley, I I ,  7 4 ).
126 . Jennings, 27.
127 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 3 6 6 , 30 May 1848: PRO FO 27/808 (q NJ,

I ,  4 2 3 ). ,
128 . Westmorland to Palmerston, No 2 1 3 , 29 May 1848: PRO FO 64/287; 

Abercromby to Palmerston, No 130 , 7 June 1848: ib id  67/163 (q Dip. 
G.B., 207 -  9 ).



244

position ,12  ̂ and he would probably have been happy to recognise the 

Republic. The Queen, however, refused to hear o f i t .  She refused to 

receive Tallenay u n o ffic ia lly , which Palmerston had hoped would sa tis fy  

the French. Any exception to "the established ru les", she wrote,

" . . . might lead to misconstruction and the most inconvenient prece­

dents."1^0

The discussions about jo in t mediation revived the question o f recog­

n ition . Normanby reported that one o f the subsidiary reasons why the

French Government was "so anxious fo r  common action with us is  that

131i t  would amount to practical recognition on our part". Once the

mediation had been arranged, Cavaignac and Bastide brought forward

the subject more openly. "Their tone about i t " ,  Normanby reported,

132
" is  humble but earnest." They need not have worried. On 4  August 

the Cabinet accepted Palmerston’ s recommendation that the Republic 

should be recognised. Apart from the attitude o f other governments, 

i t  was acknowledged that the proposed mediation would run into unnece-
A 0

ssary d if f ic u lt ie s  i f  the mediators did not have regular relations.

On 7 August Palmerston to ld  Normanby that he would soon receive cred­

entials as an "Ambassador Extraordinary on a Special M ission".1̂

129. A fter several long conversations with Palmerston, Tallenay considered 
his explanations "plus specieuse que rg e lle "  (Tallenay to Bastide,
2 June 1848 (2  le t te r s ):  DD, I I ,  620 -  3 ).

130 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 1 May 1848: QVL, I I ,  2 0 4 ; RvP,
80 -  2 . The Queen was not always so scrupulous over matters o f 
protocol. In August she received von Andrian, who had been sent
by the Central Power, even though he had no credentials (G illessen.
71 -  2 ). 1

131 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 23 July 1848: Nor. P. P/14/162.
132 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 11 August 1848: ib id  P/14/179. This 

le t te r  is  probably wrongly dated, fo r  from its  content i t  seems 
to have been written at least a week ea r lie r . Cf Normanby to 
Palmerston, No 5 0 3 , confidential, 5 August 1848: PRO FO 27/811; 
Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 7 August 1848: Nor. P. P/14/170.

1 3 3 . Hobhouse's Diary, 4 August 1848: B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f 9 ; Palmerston 
to Russell, 4  August 18482 PRO 30/22/7C (q LCJR. I f 298 -  9).

134 . Palmerston to Normanby, 7 August 1848: Nor. P. P/20/57. The "special 
& temporary nature" o f the credentials was the result o f Russell’ s 
pet scheme to reduce diplomatic establishments from embassies to 
missions which, Russell argued, would result in  "more choice o f



Before Normanby's credentials could be sent, however, Palmerston

2 4 5

had to overcome more tough opposition from the Queen. V ictoria  refused 

to sanction Normanby’ s appointment as ambassador, saying that she 

had "the strongest objection against having an Ambassador o f the 

Republic at her Court, at the head o f London Society (who may possibly 

be a very awkward character)." I f  Britain only had a minister in 

Paris, she argued, the French would only be able to send a minister 

to London. The Queen saw an additional advantage in th is arrangement. 

I t  would compel Palmerston to re ca ll Normanby, whom the Queen thought 

was too friend ly  to the French ministers, fo r  Normanby could not be 

expected to remain as a minister where he had once been an ambassador. 

The Queen, Palmerston informed Normanby, was "not to be shaken without 

a Battle in  which Technical Forms & usual Practice would be on her 

side". But Palmerston refused to admit defeat. Arguing that "the Public 

Service would su ffer by any change" in Paris, he asked Normanby whether, 

"under the peculiar Circumstances o f the case", he would "remain fo r  

a Time at least at Paris, with Credentials as Minister on a Special
a  ̂ZT

Mission". The Queen was furious when she learnt o f the request.

She wrote to Russell: "This is  certa in ly not what the Queen intended 

137or expected."

I t  was at th is point that Palmerston received a le tte r  from Paris. 

Cavaignac, Normanby wrote, had remarked that he hoped Normanby would

o f people, less expence, & the business probably better conducted" 
(Russell to Palmerston, 12 August 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/2 1 6 ). Palmerston 
detested the idea, believing that B ritish  prestige would su ffer 
i f  i t  was adopted. Two months ea r lie r  he had written to Normanby:
"You must not attach too much Importance to John Russell’ s Schemes 
fo r abolishing a l l  Embassies . . . you know our Friend is  apt 
sometimes to take wild notions into his Head" (Palmerston to Nor­
manby, 2 June 1848: Nor. P• P/20/38).

135* Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 8 August 1848: Bd. P. RC/f/382  (q QVL, 
I I ,  224 -  5 ).

1 3 6 . Palmerston to Normanby, confidentia l, 8 August 1848s Nor. P. P/20/58.
137 . Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 9 August 1848. enclosed in Russell to 

Palmerston, 10 August 1848: Bd. P. GC/RU/2 1 4 .
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remain in  Paris, to which Normanby replied that he did not want to 

leave. Normanby went on to illu s tra te  the advantages o f being the

doyen o f the diplomatic community, a position which would be lost

1 38i f  the B ritish  representative was not an ambassador. Palmerston

advised Russell to study th is le t te r  carefu lly . The Queen’ s objections

to a republican ambassador were "natural and in te l l ig ib le " ,  he wrote,

but not such as could be "put forward as a ground fo r  the Conduct

o f the Government". The only satisfactory reason fo r  not receiving

a French ambassador would be i f  Britain only had a minister in  Paris,

but as Normanby pointed out that would be "disadvantageous to the 

139public In terest". Russell agreed, and advised that Normanby's 

le t te r  be sent to the Queen with a renewed request that he be accredited 

as an am b assad or.R e lu ctan tly , the Queen gave way. She sanctioned 

Normanby’ s appointment as Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary 

on a special and temporary mission, "on the d istinct understanding 

that there is  to be no Ambassador sent in return to London".^  She 

had been out-manoeuvred and she poured out her anger in a le t te r  to 

Russell. She condemned Palmerston's deceitfulness and asserted that 

his sympathy fo r the Republic was probably the result o f his wish 

"to  g ra t ify  a personal fee lin g  against Louis Philippe, M. Guizot and 

Lord Aberdeen." She concluded with the warning: "The Queen must say 

she is  a fra id  that she w i l l  have no peace o f mind and there w i l l  be 

no end o f troubles as long as Lord Palmerston is  at the head o f the 

Foreign O ffice.

138. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 8 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/ 1 7 3 .
139« Palmerston to Russell, 10 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/22/7 C (partly  q 

LCJR, I ,  299 -  300).
140. Russell to  Palmerston, 10  August 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/2 1 5 .
141. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 11 August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  RC/f/383 (q QVL. 

I I ,  225).
142. Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 11 August 1 8 4 8 : RvP, 92. Two days la ter 

Lady John Russell wrote in her diary: "John’ s d if f ic u lt ie s  about 
Lord Palmerston increase, because the Queen's disapprobation o f 
everything Lord Fhlmerston does increases" (Walpole, I I ,  4 6 ).
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The Queen's fears that the French Government would send an uncouth

republican proved unfounded. Cavaignac selected Gustave de Beaumont,

143an experienced diplomat and an aristocrat. "You w il l  like Gustave 

de Beaumont very much", Normanby to ld  Palmerston. "He is  an old friend 

of mine, very much attached to England, & accepts the Republic but 

certain ly did not wish i t . " ^ ^  London society also approved o f him. 

Princess Lieven decided that whilst his manners were not those o f the 

"grand monde", they were su ffic ien tly  polished "de me fa ire  comprendre 

q u 'i l  n 'est pas rSpublicain du tou t." J Whether the Queen was m ollified  

by Beaumont's good behaviour is  unclear, but her d is like o f republican 

representatives in general remained. In November, when i t  was rumoured
A A 4T

that Bastide might v is i t  England, ^ Palmerston observed that although

the Queen might be persuaded to receive him at Windsor, "She hates

the very notion o f a French Republic, and would be unwilling to Shew

147any C iv il it y  to Bastide".

At f i r s t  sight the question o f British  recognition o f the Republic 

seems o f l i t t l e  importance. I t  acted as an irr ita n t in Anglo-French 

relations, but i t  never became a major source o f disagreement and did 

not prevent Normanby establishing a close working relationship with 

Lamartine, Cavaignac and Bastide. However i t  was important in exacer­

bating the already poor relations between Queen V ictoria and Palmerston. 

The quarrel was not over protocol but over B rita in 's  relationship with 

the French Republic. The Queen believed that the Republic was untrust­

worthy and disreputable, and therefore her Government should have as 

l i t t l e  to do with i t  as possible. Palmerston shared the Queen's d is lik e

143.
144.
145.

146.
147.

Jennings, 12 3  -  4 .
Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 8 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/173. 
Princess Lieven to Aberdeen, 2 5  August 1 8 4 8 : Jones Parry, I I ,  2 9 8 . 
Cf Bedford to Clarendon, 1 6  August 18 4 8 : Clar. P. Ir ish  Box 3; 
Clarendon to Reeve, 17 August 18482 Laughton, I ,  201; Palmerston 
to Russell, 25 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/22/7D; Londonderry, 45. 
Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 9 November 18 4 8 s Nor. P. P/I4 /2 2 7 . 
Palmerston to Normanby, 10 November 1 8 4 8 : ib id  P/20/72.
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of the Republic, although not to the same intensity. But he found i t  

necessary to co-operate with i t ,  and one o f the prices o f the co-oper­

ation was recognition. By recognising the Republic, thereby giving
A A O

i t  what Clarendon called "the brevet rank of a gentleman", the 

B ritish  Government did not solve any problems, but i t  prevented others 

arising and improved the general atmosphere.

*  *  *

On 17 August the Central Power's Foreign Minister told  Lord Cowley,

the B ritish  minister in Frankfurt, that i f  Austria accepted the proposed

mediation, his Government "would wish to participate in the negotiations".

Germany, he said, "was too much interested in the questions that would

149be discussed, not to have a right to do so". The b e lie f that the

a ffa irs  o f northern Ita ly  were o f deep concern to the Central Power

was widespread in Frankfurt. Austria 's v ic to r ies  were seen as v ic to ries

fo r Germany, and in the heightened rhetoric o f German nationalism i t

was argued that the Tyrol was an in tegra l part o f Germany and that

Austria 's retention o f Venetia was essential fo r  the defence o f the 

1 5 0Reich. Cowley was sceptical whether any rea l German interests were

151at stake in I ta ly ,  but the Central Power's desire to be included 

as one o f the mediators was strong.

The question o f the Central Power's admission was complicated by 

the attitude o f Prussia. When informing Normanby o f the Central Power's 

request, Bastide remarked that he had received a confidential communi­

cation from Berlin that i f  the Central Power was invited Prussia would 

not want to be omitted. "Th is", observed Normanby to Palmerston, " is

148. Clarendon to Lansdowne, copy, 1 8  August 1 8 4 8 : Clar. P. Ir ish  
Letter-Book V o l.3 f 119*

149* Cowley to Palmerston, No 41» 17 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 3 0 / 1 0 9  (q PP, 
LVTII, 215).

150. Eyck, Frankfurt Parliament, 287; Jennings, 203 — 4*
151 Cowley to ld  Palmerston: "the new Power cannot endure that the f i r s t

great question which has arisen since it s  creation, should be settled  
without it s  participation" (Cowley to  Palmerston, »0 4 8 , 2, August
1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 30/1 0 9 , q PPf LV III, 2 3 9  -  4 )•
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1 92evidently extremely delicate ground to tread ." The problem hinged

upon the relationship between the Central Power and Prussia. How far

did the government at Frankfurt have control over the government at

Berlin? The lega l aspects o f the case were unclear and were debated

endlessly, but the basic issue was that the Frankfurt Diet, anxious

to promote German unity, wanted more control over Prussian a ffa irs  than

the Prussian Government, intent on preserving Prussian autonorrçy, was

153w illin g  to surrender. Thus the question o f the invitations was part

o f a power struggle: i f  the Central Power was asked to jo in  the mediation

but Prussia was not, i t  would be seen as supporting the pretensions of

the Frankfurt Diet; i f  both were invited , i t  would be seen as encouraging

Prussian independence and consequently opposing German unity.

French attitudes towards Germany had undergone a great change since

March when the revolutions there had been greeted with great enthusiasm.

The suppression o f the Polish insurrection in  May alienated many French- 

154men. More important as far as the French Government was concerned 

was the growing rea lisation  that German unity, as espoused at Frankfurt, 

threatened the rest o f Europe. " L 'unité- allemande est un excellent prin­

cipe . . . "  Bastide wrote at the beginning o f August.

Mais, s i,  sous prétexte d 'unité de fratern ité ’, on veut ab­
sorber le Sleswig, qui est danois, le Limbourg, qui est h o ll­
andais, la Lombardie et Venise, qui sont ita liennes, Posen, 
qui est polonais, e t, peut-être, l'A lsace et la Lorraine, 
l 'u n ité  allemande devient un fa it  q u 'i l  faut combattre . . ."*55

Bastide began to move away from a policy o f watchful apprehension to­

wards the Central Power to one o f active opposition. He hoped to exploit 

Prussian jealousy o f Frankfurt in order to weaken German unity, and

152. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 1 7  August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/ 1 8 3 .
153. For deta ils o f the relations between Prussia and the Frankfurt Diet 

see Eyck, Frankfurt Parliament, passim, and G illessen, 60 -  7 0 .
154. Jennings, 91 -  4 and 131 -  3; R.J. Hahn: "The Attitude o f the French 

Revolutionary Government towards German Unification in 1 8 4 8 " unpub­
lished Ph.D. Dissertation, Ohio State University 1955« 121 -  7 .

155* Bastide to Arago, 5 August 1 8 4 8 : Bastide, 5 0 — 1.



250

■towards th is end he encouraged the Prussian Government to press fo r  

its  inclusion in the m e d i a t i o n . T h e  B ritish  Government was unaware 

how fa r Bastide had gone in encouraging Prussia, hut i t  was clear 

which way he was inclined on the subject. On 23 August he to ld  Normanby 

that he did not want Prussia "to  be sacrificed  any more than did he

1 58Bavaria & the other States to the fancies o f Frankfort professors."

Normanby, however, tr ied  to moderate French h o s t ility  to the Central

Power. "My great ob ject", he explained to Palmerston, " . . . was not

to complicate the Ita lian  Question & increase the chances o f a general

159war by making Germany ready to quarrel with France."

The B ritish  Government did not share the French opposition to the

Central Power. Whereas Cavaignac and Bastide regarded a unified Germany

as a potential threat to France and the peace o f Europe, Palmerston

and Russell, and s t i l l  more the Queen and Prince A lbert, favoured the

creation o f such a state fo r they calculated that i t  would be a useful

16 0a lly  to Britain in  resisting French or Russian expansion. Admittedly

the B ritish  Government began to lose patience with the Frankfurt D iet,

especia lly  over i t s  seemingly irra tion a l and inconsistent behaviour

161over Schleswig-Holstein, but Palmerston did not want to cripple i t  

by encouraging Prussia to reassert her independence. At the same time, 

Palmerston did not want to antagonise Prussia because Prussia was 

proving more amenable than the Central Power over Schleswig-Holstein. 

The requests to jo in  the mediation, therefore, created an awkward 

problem fo r  Palmerston. His solution was simple. The Central Power

156. Hahn, 18 8  -  9 and 213 -  2 2 ; Jennings, 2 1 1  -  1 2 .
157* Westmorland knew that the French minister in Berlin had spoken 

to the Prussian Government about its  inclusion in the mediation, 
but he was to ld  that th is was a private in it ia t iv e  (Westmorland 
to Palmerston, No 323» 4 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 64/2 8 9 ).

158. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 24 August 18 4 8 s Nor. P. P/1 4 /l93.
159. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 2 9  August 18 4 8 s ib id  P/1 4/l98.
160. GiHessen, 1 5  -  1 8  and 28 -  9*
161. ib id , 55 and 58 -  64»
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could not be invited to jo in  the mediation, he to ld  Cowley, because
1 62

i t  was too c losely  attached to Austria to be an "im partial" mediator; 

Prussia could not be invited , he to ld  Westmorland, without i t  seeming

like an "unnecessary s ligh t" to  the Central Power and without precip i-

1 63tating a Russian request to jo in .

There was another reason, apart from the possible complications to 

the German question, which convinced Palmerston that i t  would be better 

not to extend the mediation. Britain and Prance hoped to secure Lombard 

independence from the mediation. Russia, Prussia and the Central Power 

would have d ifferen t objectives. Even before Custozza Bloomfield had

1 64reported that Nesselrode thought that Austria should retain Lombardy. 04

165A fter the battle  Russian support fo r  Austria was s t i l l  more pronounced.

The support fo r Austria from the Central Power and Prussia was less 

obvious, but equally discernible. The Central Power declared that i t

would mediate on the basis o f liberalism  and "the desire f e l t  fo r  the

166unity o f Germany", a worrying assertion in the ligh t o f previous 

claims about the Tyrol and Venetia, whilst the Prussian minister in 

Innsbruck to ld  Ponsonby "that the Mediation should support the establish-
A 67

ment, by Austria, o f a Constitutional Govt, in Lombardy". The d if fe ­

rence between these views and those o f Britain and Prance was too w e ll- 

defined to be overlooked. As Palmerston observed: " i f  there is  a funda­

mental difference o f opinion between the Parties who perform the task 

o f mediation, some other party may be required to mediate between the 

Mediators. "** ^

162. Palmerston to Cowley, No 45, 31 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO PO 3 0 / 1 0 7  (q PPf

163.
164.

167.
168.

L V III, 263).
Palmerston to Westmorland, No 190, 12 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO PO 64/2 8 4 . 
Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 2 1 5 , 18 July 1 8 4 8 : ib id  65/350*

165. Bloomfield to Palmerston, No 233, 8 August 1 8 4 8 , and No 2 4 0  and 
No 241, 22 August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  (partly  q PP, LV III, 2 7 1 ).
Cowley to Palmerston, No 8 5 , 11 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO PO 30/ 1 1 O 
(q PP, LV III, 3 7 2 - 3 ) .
Ponsonby's Journal, 9 September 1 8 4 8 : Grey P. Misc. 7.
Palmerston to Westmorland, No 190, 12 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO PO 64/2 8 4 .

166.
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In -the face o f these arguments, the French Government agreed to 

drop the idea o f extending the mediation. However the question had 

merely been postponed. The appetite o f the other Powers had been whetted. 

They would revive the subject once the belligeren ts had accepted the

Anglo-French o ffe r .

*  *  *

On 15 August the Sardinian Government announced that i t  would accept 

1 69the mediation. But there was a problem. Charles Albert had already

signed an armistice with the Austrians, which in the circumstances

was a m ilitary necessity, by which the Sardinians agreed to evacuate

170Lombardy, Venetia, Parma and Modena. The Sardinian Government feared

that the Austrians might use th is to refuse to relinquish Lombardy.

Palmerston, echoing Abercromby, explained that as the independence o f

Lombardy was subject to the mediation, the stipulations o f the armistice

171did not a ffec t i t .  However i t  did a ffec t the future o f Lombardy

172once freed from Austria. As Normanby observed, the Lombards, having 

been abandoned by Charles A lbert, might no longer accept the union o f 

the ir province with Sardinia.

The French Government, which had never been keen on the aggrand­

izement o f Sardinia, found encouragement from this change. Naively,

Bastide informed Thom that he was no longer happy with the terms that

had been proposed. His aim seems to have been to assure Austria that

the union o f Sardinia and Lombardy was not a precondition to the mediation.

169. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 1 9 8 , 1 6  August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  6 7 / 1 5 3  (q pp 
LVTII, 225 -  7 ). The Sardinian Government warned, however, that i t - * 
would resume the war i f  the mediation did not lead to "une paix 
honorable pour nous et pour l ' l t a l i e "  (Perrone to Revel, 21 August 
1 8 4 8 : Dip. Sard., 21 6 ).

170. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 1 8 9 , 11 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 67/153 
(q PP, LV III, 165).

171. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 196, 13 August 1 8 4 8 , No 197, 13 August
1 8 4 8 , and No 199, 16 August 18 4 8 : PRO FO 67/1531 Palmerston to 
Abercromby, No 8 5 » 21 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 67/149 (g  ̂ 1
298 -  301 , 302, 306 -  7 and 319).

172. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 15 August 18 4 8 s Nor. P. P/1 4/1 8 2 .
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Unfortunately, the Austrian Government interpreted his words as meaning

that the French Government was becoming less enthusiastic about the

173mediation in general. Normanby and Russell also began to consider

alternatives to the Kingdom of Northern Ita ly . Palmerston, however,

remained firm ly attached to the idea. I t  was necessary, he to ld  Russell,

"to  prevent the French from attempting to constitute Lombardy into a 

175Republic". "Lord Palmerston w i l l  have his kingdom of Upper Ita ly

under Charles A lbert," observed the Queen angrily , "to  which every

1T 6other consideration is  to be sacrificed ".

The discussions about the future o f Lombardy presupposed that the

province would be liberated from Austrian ru le. But the French Government

was doubtful whether the Austrian Government would consent to th is

voluntarily. On 7 August Cavaignac spoke to Normanby about giving the

mediation "to  a certain extent an armed character" which could enforce

the proposed settlement, should Austria re jec t i t ,  without recourse

177to unilateral French intervention. I t  is  apparent, however, that

Cavaignac did not believe that i t  would be necessary to employ armed

mediation. A week la ter he to ld  Normanby that " i f  there was but a

demonstration on the part o f England, . . . the whole business would

178be settled  without war". He thought that i f  Britain and France 

were seen to be firm in the ir resolve to secure Lombard independence, 

Austria would not dare to defy them. The armed mediation would be a 

symbol o f the ir determination.

Palmerston disagreed with Cavaignac's premise. He believed that 

Austria would accept the proposed terms. Ponsonby wrote the Austria 's

173. I t .  Prob., 1 4 8  -  50; Jennings, 174 -  5*
174. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 15 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/1 8 2 ; 

Russell to Palmerston, 16 August 18 4 8 s Bd. P. GC/RU/2 1 7 .
175. Russell to Queen V ictoria , copy, 20 August 18 4 8 s PRO 30/2 2/7 C.
176. Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 21 August 1 8 4 8 : QVL, I I ,  227.
177. Normanby to Palmerston, No 511, 7 August 1 8 4 8 , and No 513, 8 August

1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 27/811; I t .  Pro^L, 145? Jennings, 1 “  3; ,  ,
178. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 14 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. . / 1 4 / 1  1.
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acceptance seemed probable, whilst even more encouraging were Cowley’ s

reports o f his conversations with Wessenberg and Archduke John in

Frankfurt. On 5 August Wessenberg declared that

the Emperor would treat on the basis o f the complete inde­
pendence o f Lombardy, and that a l l  that Austria would require 
would be a just partition  o f the public debt, and such a 
fron tier .̂g^would secure her from future attack on the side 
o f Ita ly .

I t  is  understandable, then, that Palmerston should write to Normanby:

"As to armed Demonstration, I  can hardly think a fte r  what we have 

heard from Frankfurt i t  can be n eed ed ".^

Unfortunately fo r  Palmerston's calculations, over the follow ing 

week Wessenberg's attitude changed. Shortly before he le f t  fo r  Vienna 

he to ld  Cowley that although he had "no objection to take f ~sic 7 M. 

Hummelauer's proposition as the basis fo r a fin a l arrangement, . . . 

i t  would probably be thought necessary . . .  to introduce some modi­

fica tion s ."  In view o f the fact that she was the injured party, Austria 

"considered herself en titled  to require indemnities fo r her expences." 

When Cowley asked whether the indemnities would be in the form of

te rr ito ry , Wessenberg would only say that Austria would want a secure
182

fron tier. A despatch from Wessenberg which Koller (who had just 

replaced D ietrichstein ) read to Palmerston on the 1 6 th was, in retrospect, 

s t i l l  more ominous. I t  stressed at length Austria 's desire fo r  peace, 

but mentioned nothing about a willingness to surrender te r r ito r y .1^

179

179* Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 263, 7 August 18 4 8 s FRO FO 7 / 3 5 1  (q PP 
LV III, 161). — ’

180. Cowley to  Palmerston, No 10, 5 August 1 8 4 8 s PRO FO 3 0 / 1 0 9  (q PP 
LV III, 131 -  2 ). Cf Cowley to Palmerston, No 4 , 3 August l8487_and 
No 15, 7 Aiigust 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 3 0 / 1 0 9  ( partly q PP, LV III, 1 3 8  -  9 ).

1 8 1 . Palmerston to Normanby, 9 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/ 55. Cf Revel 
to Pareto, 8 August 1 8 4 8s Dip. Sard.. 199 -  200.

182. Cowley to Palmerston, No 33f 13 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 3 0 / 1 0 9  (q PP. 
LV III, 1 9 3 ).

183. I t .  Prob., 1 4 8 . There were also warnings that Austria might want 
to keep Lombardy from Dietrichstein (see above p. 229), Archduke 
John (Cowley to Palmerston, No 18, confidentia l, 7 August 1 8 4 8 :
PRO FO 30/l09), and Thom (Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 14 August

1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/181).
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The signs that Austria would not accept the loss o f Lombardy were

there. But Palmerston, try ing to reconcile these communications with

the ea r lie r  reports from Ponsonby and Cowley, misinterpreted Austrian

intentions. He s t i l l  believed that Austria would "give up Lombardy

fo r a pecuniary Compensation", and he considered Wessenberg's ta lk

of "modifications" and "indemnities" as meaning that Austria might

want to keep the fortresses o f Mantua and Peschiera as w ell as those

1 84of Verona and Legnago. 4 He fa iled  to rea lise  that Radetzky's success

had made the Austrian Government determined to retain both Lombardy

and Venetia. I t  was a serious misjudgement.

Even had Palmerston recognised Austrian intentions, i t  is  unlikely

that he would have agreed to armed mediation. At the end o f July he

had made i t  clear that Britain would not be a party "to any fo rc ib le

185interference" designed to compel Austria to relinquish Lombardy.

He repeated th is to Beaumont on 12 August, and in Paris Normanby 

emphasised i t  to R i c c i . T h e  furthest he went was to t e l l  Normanby 

that

i f  the Austrians refuse the Terms we & France o ffe r  them, 
we could not object to the French going to assist the Pied­
montese, & I  dare say in that Case our Government would 
formally record its  Consent^hough I  cannot at present under­
take to say i t  would do so.

The problem, he explained to Beaumont, was that he was constrained by

the Cabinet, by Parliament, and by public opinion, which made any

understanding " fo r  prospective objects Impossible, & which would render

18 8i t  d if f ic u lt  even i f  the moment arrived fo r  a Decision." The outcry 

which had resulted from the announcement o f the proposed jo in t mediation 

and the doubts being expressed by his colleagues had convinced Palmerston

1 8 4 . Palmerston to Normanby, 18  August 18 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/62.
1 8 5 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 306, 28 July 1 8 4 8 : PRO F0 27/799 (q PP,

186.
187.
188.

LV III, 94).
I t .  Prob.. 145 -  6 : Jennings, 173 -  4 and 1 7 6  -  7. 
Phlmerston to Normanby, 9 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. p/20/5 5 . 
Palmerston to Normanby, 1 8  August 1 8 4 8 : Ibid P/20/62.
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■that he could not secure su ffic ien t support, either in the Cabinet 

or in Parliament, fo r  armed mediation. The most he dare promise was 

that Britain would not oppose French intervention. But fo r  Cavaignac 

that was not enough. I f  he was to reassure the rest o f Europe he needed 

to he able to show that Britain  supported French objectives and approved 

o f the means they employed.

Cavaignac's anxiety about the repercussions o f French intervention

was enhanced by the thought that, despite the mediation, i t  might soon

be necessary to send French troops into Ita ly . On 9 August he informed

Normanby that General Welden's Austrian d ivis ion  had entered the Papal

States and was marching on Bologna. Austria, he declared, "had no more

right to Bologna than to Lyons", and Normanby began to fear that he

189would send troops to protect the Pope. On the 1 4 th the French Govern­

ment received a request fo r  support from the Pope. I t  responded by

ordering two fr iga tes  into the Adriatic and sending a protest about

19 0the invasion to Vienna. But, Normanby was to ld , a protest might be 

in su ffic ien t. I f  Welden advanced further, or even remained at Bologna,

" i t  would be impossible, with the fee lin g  o f the country on th is subject, 

fo r any Government to confine i t s e l f  to the character o f mediator. " 1 ^1 

Normanby was convinced that Cavaignac and Bastide were not b lu ffing.^  ̂  

I t  seems lik e ly , however, that they were. Although French governments 

were notoriously sensitive about threats to the Pope, on th is occasion 

Cavaignac and Bastide probably exaggerated the chances o f French in ter­

vention in order to convince Palmerston o f the need fo r  armed mediation.1^  

In th is , as we have seen, they were disappointed. But Palmerston did

1 8 9 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 515 and No 516, 9 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 
27/811 (q PP, LV III, 136 and 137)» Jennings, 175 -  6 .

190. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5^9» 14 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 12; 
Jennings, 17 6 .

191. Normanby to Palmerston, No 530, 14  August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 2 .
192. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 14 August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/ 1 8 1 .
193. Jennings, 17 6  -  7*
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add his own protest about the invasion to that o f the French.

Even more worrying fo r the French Government than the Austrian pre­

sence in the Legations were events in Venetia. Like the Lombards, the 

Venetians fe l t  betrayed by Charles Albert when he signed the armistice 

with Austria. Unlike the Lombards, they took some action in conse­

quence: they reversed the ir decision to unite with Sardinia, announced 

that they would never submit to Austrian ru le, and appealed to France 

fo r assistance. Meanwhile, the Austrians, declaring that Venice was

not covered by the armistice, continued the ir inexorable advance on 

1 95the c ity . J

The Venetian request placed the French Government in an awkward 

position. I t  was far more sympathetic towards its  fe llow  republicans 

besieged in Venice than i t  was to the Sardinians, but i t  dare not send

troops unless i t  was certain either that the mediation had fa iled  or

1 96that i t  had British  support. I t  sent a couple o f fr iga tes  to cruise

o f f  Venice, ostensibly "in  order to protect, i f  necessary, the lives

197and property o f French subjects", but probably, as the British  con-

1 98sul in Venice suspected, as a gesture o f support fo r the Venetians.

It  was not a major step, but Cavaignac and Bastide would go no further 

un til they had consulted the British  Government.

Cavaignac spoke to Normanby about the Venetian request on 23 August. 

"The General", Normanby reported, "was very impatient at the non-arrival 

o f any answer from Vienna as to the acceptance of the mediation which 

might cut short th is co lla te ra l question." The continued presence of 

Welden in the Legations aggravated his short temper. He had, he declared,

194. Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 131, 11 August 18 4 8 : PRO FO 7/344.
195. P. Ginsborg: Daniele Manin and the Venetian Revolution o f 18 4 8  -  

42 (Cambridge 1979)» 2 5? -  83; Jennings, 177 -  9-
196. Jennings, 179 — ¿1 .
197. Normanby to Palmerston, No 548, 22 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 2

(q PP, L V III, 234). /
198. Dawkins to Palmerston, No 125, 8 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7 / 3 5 7

(partly q PP, LV III, 388 -  9)*

194
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"forced public opinion upon these subjects as fa r as i t  would go ."

Brushing aside Normanby's observation that the delay might be due to

Wessenberg's absence at Frankfurt, he said he "proposed to send o f f

at once to Vienna requiring within a certain given time a fin a l answer

199whether the Mediation was accepted." Meanwhile, in London, Beaumont 

made yet another attempt to persuade the B ritish  Government to  agree 

to armed mediation which, he argued, would obviate the necessity of 

France going to the assistance o f the Venetians. He believed that Palm­

erston was convinced by th is argument, and he agreed to write a memo­

randum explaining the French viewpoint which Palmerston promised to 

submit to  the Cabinet.

201There was a Cabinet meeting on the afternoon o f the 28th, but 

there is  no evidence whether or not Beaumont's memorandum was discussed. 

I f  i t  was, no decision on what reply to give was reached. However 

some sort o f decision was soon found to be necessary. The follow ing 

day word reached London and Paris that the Austrian Government consi­

dered the proposed mediation unacceptable.

iv )  THE SECOND ITALIAN CRISIS

The news that the Austrians intended to re ject the proposed mediation 

reached the B ritish  and French Governments in the form of despatches 

from Ponsonby and Delacour, the French representative in Vienna, descri­

bing a conversation they had had with Wessenberg on the 22nd. During 

th is exchange Wessenberg had said that the mediation was unnecessary 

and that, as to the proposed terms, the m ilitary situation in northern

199» Normanby to Palmerston, No 550» 24 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 2  
(partly  q PP, LV III, 243 -  4 )» Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 23 
August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/1 9 1 » I t . Prob. , 152.

200. Beaumont to Palmerston, 25 August 1 8 4 8 ; PRO FO 2 7/8 2 5 ; Beaumont to 
de Tocqueville, 26 August 1 8 4 8 : J.P. Mayer (e d . ):  A lexis de Tocque- 
v i l l e :  Oeuvres Complètes Vol.V i l i :  Correspondance d 'A lex is de Tocque­
v i l l e  e i de Gustave de Beaumont (Paris 1967J» I I »  26; Jennings, I 81 -  3.

201. The Times, 29 August 1 8 4 8 , 4.
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Ita ly  had changed to such an extent "that what might have been appli­

cable . . . some time ago, could not possibly be necessarily applicable 

202at this moment." Two days la ter Roller read to Palmerston a despatch 

from Wessenberg which amplified the Austrian position. The Austrian 

Government, Wessenberg declared, had two problems: the war with Sardinia, 

which i t  intended to solve by direct negotiations with the Sardinian 

Government, and the insurgents o f Lombardy and Venetia, whom i t  hoped 

to appease by o fferin g "administrative and constitutional arrangements 

which i t  thinks w i l l  be satisfactory and acceptable to them". For the 

moment, then, the Austrian Government did not need "the fr iend ly  aid 

o f Great Britain and France; but that i f  i t  should f a i l  in its  own 

endeavours i t  w i l l  then have recourse to the good O ffices o f the two 

Powers.

The immediate reaction o f the British  Government was to try  to judge 

why the Austrians had rejected the mediation, fo r once their motivation 

was discovered i t  might be possible to convince them that they were 

wrong. Ponsonby thought that the Austrian Government did not believe 

that the French would intervene i f  i t  rejected the mediation, or that 

i f  they did, Russia, Prussia and the Central Power would come to its  

assistance, with Britain probably joining the monarchical Powers and 

at worst remaining n e u t r a l . T h e  idea that Austria thought that Bri­

tain was lukewarm about the mediation was confirmed by an independent 

source. On 31 August Normanby reported that the representatives o f the 

minor German states

a l l  concurred in saying that the actuating motive o f the 
Austrian Cabinet . . . had been that England was not earnest 
or sincere in her desire fo r the acceptance o f the mediation;

202. Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 272, 22 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/351 
(q PP, LV III, 281 -  2 ); I t .  Prob., 150 — 1.

203. Palmerston to Normanby, No 370, 1 September 18 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO 
(q PP, LV III, 269).

204. Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 274» 23 August 1 8 4 8 , and No 280, 2 7  

August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/351 (q PP» NV III, 282).
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that the public fee lin g  in England was more Austrian than 
Ita lian ; and that though this o ffe r  had been made to gain 
time it s  re jection  was expected. 5

The Bavarian minister in Paris was s t i l l  more sp ec ific : he said that

Ponsonby's language had encouraged the Austrian Government to believe

the "no one" in  Britain but Palmerston himself "cared fo r  the success

of the mediation", and that whatever the Foreign Secretary threatened,

206his colleagues and Parliament would accept the re jection .

Although Ponsonby was strongly opposed to the idea o f coercing

207Austria to give up Lombardy, there is  no conclusive evidence that

he urged the Austrian Government to re ject the mediation. There is

proof, however, that Prince A lbert, exasperated by the fa ilu re  to

restrain Palmerston, was passing on such advice through Meyendorff
208

at Vienna and Leiningen at Frankfurt. Not that the Austrian Govern­

ment needed such private encouragement. There were other, more sign i­

ficant signs o f the trend o f public opinion in Britain. " I  am a fra id ",

wrote Normanby, "those A rtic les  in the ’ Times' . . . have not been 

2 0 9without e ffe c t " .  The Austrian Government must have been aware that

Palmerston could not agree to an armed intervention without antagonising

some o f his colleagues and causing an outcry in Parliament.

There were other factors which affected the Austrian decision. Having

examined the Austrian archives Taylor stressed the b e lie f  that France

210would not intervene i f  the mediation was rejected. Yet i t  is  possible 

to argue that th is b e lie f  was also based upon a calculation about 

B rita in 's  attitude. Cavaignac and Bastide were only reluctant to intervene 

because they f e l t  they could not re ly  on B ritish  support. The French

205. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5^5» 31 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 2  
(q PP, LV III, 267).

206. Normanby to Palmerston, confidentia l, 31 August 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/no/ 2 1 0 .
207. Ponsonby to Palmerston, 17 August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/PO/5 7 6 .
208. Eyck, Prince Consort, 116 .
2 0 9 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 2 9  August 1848: Nor. P. P/14/198.
2 1 0 . I t .  Prob.. 148 -  50*
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ob jective, therefore, was to take a stronger lin e , with British  support,

which would convince the Austrians that they were in earnest. The time

had come, Cavaignac declared on 29 August,

when i t  became absolutely necessary to ascertain whether 
England would take another step in common /~with France_7, 
i t  was obvious Austria was acting upon the supposition that 
we would not, and i t  only required a demonstration on our 
part to bring her to reason.

He suggested sending to Venice an Anglo-French expeditionary force,

or possibly a French force with a declaration o f British  support fo r

its  actions, in order to protect the c ity  "u n til Austria accepted the

proposed mediation". I f  the British  Government agreed, he said, "he

was convinced the whole a f fa ir  would be settled  without any further

d if f ic u lty ."  But Normanby held out l i t t l e  hope o f th is . The British

public, he observed, would view a hostile demonstration in a fa r less

favourable ligh t than an o ffe r  o f mediation. Cavaignac, however, urged

Normanby to consider the a lternative to a jo in t demonstration.

A combination o f circumstances had enabled him to make the 
pac ific  declaration he did the other day without exciting 
a murmur, but he f e l t  convinced i f  Austria refused our med­
ia tion , and England withdrew her cooperation, that he must 
at once march into Ita ly .

Any war between France and Austria, without the controlling influence

o f B rita in , "from its  nature must be one o f Propagandism", and in

such circumstances the Republic could not be expected not to use "those

weapons which the dispositions o f the People throughout Europe placed

in the ir Power." This threat to revolutionise Europe h orrified  Normanby,

but a l l  Cavaignac would say was that i f  Britain joined France in making

2 1 1an armed demonstration such a danger would be averted.

Beaumont judged that Palmerston received the idea o f sending a jo in t 

expedition to Venice favourably. But, he complained to de Tocqueville,

211. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5^1» 29 August 1 8 4 8 ; PRO FO 2 7/8 1 2 . I t
is  partly quoted in PP» LV III, 2 5 8 , but in such a way as to seriously 
d istort Cavaignac's attitude. Cf I t . Prob. ,  1 5 6  — 75 Jennings, 184 — 5•
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Palmerston was over-ruled by his colleagues who, sensitive o f public

opinion which was "profondément pacifique", were frightened o f even
212" la  plus petite  entreprise". Beaumont was wrong when he imagined 

that Palmerston had submitted the idea o f a jo in t expedition to the 

Cabinet. There is  no record o f a Cabinet meeting on 30 or 31 August.

But he was not mistaken as to the difference o f opinion between Palm­

erston and his colleagues.

Palmerston refused to consider Wessenberg's remarks as a fin a l

re jection  o f the mediation. Austria 's rep ly, he to ld  Russell on the

30th, was "evasive". She needed to be pinned down, and he thought the

proposed expedition could do that. However such an expedition had to

have some B ritish  involvement, i f  only a declaration o f B ritish  support,

in order to prevent an over-reaction by Austria and deter Prance from

21 ^trying to  "s e tt le  a l l  matters as the French Govt, might chuse."

Russell rejected Palmerston's argument. " I t  is  my opinion that we

must decline to go further", he wrote.

We should now withdraw therefore, saying only that when our 
mediation can be o f use, we shall be ready to o ffe r  i t .  Prance 
has been applied to by Sardinia fo r  aid, & also by Venice.
We cannot deny her r igh t, but fo r  ourselves we thiipc ourselves 
more useful in maintaining a peaceable attitude.

The follow ing day Revel reported: " i l  n 'y  a absolument rien à espérer
, . „ 2 1 5dans ce pays-ci."

I t  is  easy to c r it ic is e  Russell's attitude. I f  the danger o f French 

intervention was as great as Cavaignac said, and there is  no evidence 

that Russell doubted that i t  was, then the decision not to jo in  the 

expedition to Venice could have led to a major European war. But did 

Russell have a choice? The Cabinet was deeply divided. Wood, having

212. Beaumont to de Tocqueville, 31 August 1 8 4 8 : Mayer, I I ,  34 -  5*
213. Palmerston to Russell, 30 August 18 4 8 s PRO 30/2 2/7 C (q LCJR. I f 

340 -  1); I t .  Prob., 154- . .
214. Russell to Palmerston, 30 August 18482 Bd. P. GC/RU/221.
215. Revel to Perrone, 31 August 1 8 4 8 : Dip. Sard., 2 3 6 .
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heard that " i t  had "been resolved that England & Prance should send

a force conjointly to occupy Venice", to ld  Hothouse and Morpeth that

2 1 6"he could he no party to any such interference". Even had the Cabinet

been united, i t  is  unlikely that Parliament would have countenanced

an attempt to coerce Austria. Already rumours o f Austria 's re jection

of the mediation had begun to reach the press: the Morning Herald and

217the Morning Post applauded the decisionj The Times said that i f

Britain joined an armed demonstration she would be encouraging French

213ambitions rather than restraining them; and Whig and Radical papers,

though s t i l l  firm ly pro-Ita lian , exhibited l i t t l e  willingness to figh t 
2 1 Q

on the ir behalf. As Wessenberg had calculated and Beaumont had 

observed, the strength o f public opinion was such as to persuade Russell 

and the Cabinet to re ject Palmerston's aggressive advice.

I t  is ,  perhaps, a sign o f Palmerston's iso la tion  both in the Cabinet 

and in  the country that, although convinced that the policy he advocated 

was necessary to prevent a European war, he made no attempt to ignore 

Russell's decision. He to ld  Beaumont that while he "very much agreed" 

as to the adv isab ility  o f a jo in t expedition to Venice, the rest o f 

the Cabinet did not and he had to bow to the ir decision. But, he continued, 

fo r the moment that did not matter. Repeating his b e lie f  that the Austrian 

reply was only "a temporary evasion", he urged the French Government 

not to  take any precipitate action with respect to Venice u n til the 

o f f ic ia l  Austrian response to the o ffe r  o f mediation was known. 2 20

216. Hobhouse's Diary, 30 August 1 8 4 8 s B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 ff27 -  8 .
When Hobhouse to ld  Palmerston what Wood had said, Palmerston con­
firmed that the French were pressing fo r  such a step, but he did 
not mention that he supported the idea (Hobhouse's Diary, 1 Sept­
ember 1 8 4 8 : ib id  f 3 0 ).

2 1 7 . MH, 2 September 1 8 4 8 , 4; ME» 2 and 4 September 1 8 4 8 , 4 .
218. The Times. 5 September 1 8 4 8 , 4«
219. MG, 2 September 1 8 4 8 , 6 ; Spectator, 2 September 1 8 4 8 , 8 3 8 ; York 

Herald, 2 September 1 8 4 8 , 5*
220. Palmerston to Normanby. No 370, 1 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 27/800

(q PP, L V III, 269 -  7°)* The Queen disapproved strongly o f Palmerston's 
language to Beaumont (Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 7 September 1 8 4 8 :
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Palmerston's aim was to keep the negotiations going either u n til Austria

changed her mind, as he was sure she would, or until he had persuaded

British  public opinion to accept some sort o f jo in t action with Prance.

"We must try  to moderate the Impatience o f the French G ovt.," he to ld

Normanby, " fo r  i t  would be awkward i f  they went into Ita ly  without

previous Concert with us, and we are not at present ripe fo r  any such 

221Concert." Cavaignac and Bastide remained nervous. The pressure on
222them to do something fo r Venice was growing, they informed Normanby.

They wanted Britain to put pressure on the Austrian Government in order
223

to get i t  to announce it s  decision about the mediation.

On 30 August Delacour received Bastide's despatch of the 23rd deman­

ding a categorical answer whether or not Austria accepted the mediation . 2 2 4  

He immediately asked Ponsonby to support th is demand. Ponsonby refused, 

explaining to Palmerston that he feared that i f  "the Austrians be forced

to give a yes or a no, . . . i t  may be a no, and in that case there

2 2 5w il l  be a disagreeable complication." Undeterred, on 1 September

Bri P. RC/f/391, q RvP, 94)* She cited  i t  to Russell as proof that 
Palmerston in tended^sing the new entente cordiale fo r  the purpose 
nf wresting from Austria her Ita lian  provinces by French arms 
(Queen V ictoria  to  Russell, 7 September 1 8 4 8 : l i i  n i 230 
ston, although unrepentent about his views, to ld  the Queen that his 
aim had been "to  calm the extreme impatience and ir r ita t io n  o f the 
French Government" and that he had used "such arguments as seemed 
to him at the moment best calculated to atta in  the purpose" (Palmer­
ston to Queen V ictoria , 9 September 1 8 4 8 : g £ ,  94 -  5).

Ì U :  K o r S y  io  Palmerston, No 573, 3 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 27/813

223 Normanby to Palmerston, No 575, 4 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 3
/ pp LVIII 307 -  8 ). Palmerston had already done th is , even warning 
the~Austrian*Government that " i f ,  owing to  the ir obstinacy, our med­
iation  should f a i l ,  the French w il l  enter I ta ly ,  and with the consent 
o f England, and we shall not then be content with Hummelauer's Memo­
randum" (Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 31 August 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/PO/8 1 5 , 
cr Ashley I I ,  8 9 . Cf Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 144, 31 August 18 4 8 :
PRO FO 7^344, q ££» LVI11* 2 63 "  4 *̂
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Cavaignac declared written instructions he did everythingthat short o f suppressing your wnv



Delacour asked Wesseriberg fo r  a de fin ite  answer. Wessenberg said that

265

Austria intended to refuse the mediation. Delacour responded by sending

a Note in which he stated that as the mediation had been rejected,

the French Government, having "no longer to consider anything but what

i t  judges necessary fo r  the interests i t  is  charged to defend, w i l l

be regre tfu lly  but inevitably compelled to act according to th is imper- 

.. „226
ious necessity."

Delacour’ s Note shocked Wessenberg. On 2 September he announced 

that the Austrian Government would accept the Anglo-French mediation,

227but "reserved the determination o f the bases fo r future arrangement." 

Subsequent conversations made i t  clear that Wessenberg's attitude to

228northern Ita ly  was unchanged: he defended Welden's presence at Bologna;

229he refused to extend the armistice to Venice; and, when pressed by

Ponsonby about the terms fo r  a future settlement, he made i t  apparent

230that Austria would not relinquish Lombardy. The acceptance o f the 

mediation, therefore, did not s ign ify  any change in Austrian intentions, 

but was rather a ploy to avert French intervention. But why was Wessen­

berg so determined to prevent French intervention now, when ten days 

ea r lie r  he had seemed w illin g  to risk  it?

231The obvious answer, which is  favoured by Jennings, is  the Wess­

enberg had rejected the mediation because he thought that the French 

would not intervene, and that Delacour's Note persuaded him that he

in his power to prevent the success o f the mediation" (Normanby 
to Palmerston, copy, confidential, 8 September 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P.
P/1 4/204).
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had misjudged French intentions and capab ilities. Such an explanation,

212
however, ignores Ponsonby's observation that the Austrian Government

was w illin g  to face French intervention because i t  was confident o f

the support o f Russia, Prussia and the Central Power and the neutra lity

o f Britain . The decisive factor seems to have been Wessenberg's b e lie f

that he had misjudged the attitude o f the British  Government. He knew

nothing o f i t s  refusal to jo in  the expedition to Venice. Instead, because

o f the time i t  took despatches to trave l from London to Vienna, he had

just heard o f Palmerston's condemnation o f the invasion o f the Legations

and the continued threat to Venice. Such language seemed to indicate

that, despite Ponsonby's fee lin gs , the reassurances of Prince Albert

and the leading a rtic les  in the B ritish  press, the British  Government

233would support the French. Wessenberg's subsequent behaviour confirms 

th is interpretation: he instructed Roller to emphasise the revolutionary 

nature o f French policy in an attempt to convince Palmerston that 

B rita in 's  true interests lay with Austria.  ̂ He would not have done 

th is had he not f e l t  that Britain and France were s t i l l  working together 

to the detriment o f Austria. Wessenberg had based his re jection  o f the 

mediation on the b e lie f that France would not intervene without B ritish  

support, and that Britain would not support intervention. But because 

France had threatened to intervene, he assumed that i t  meant that 

Cavaignac and Bastide were confident o f B ritish  support.

I t  is  iron ic that at the same time as Wessenberg was convincing 

himself that his calculations were wrong, events in London and Paris 

were proving them correct. On 2 September, a fte r  learning that Britain 

would not jo in  the expedition to Venice, Bastide to ld  Thom that the 

expedition was being postponed. Two days la ter he said that France

232. See above p. 259»
233. I t .  Prob.. 162.
2 3 4 » ib id , 163 and 166 -  7 *
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would no longer in s ist on the liberation  o f Lombardy as one o f the

2 3 6terms o f the mediation. I t  was a remarkable change to the b e llic o ­

s ity  displayed by Cavaignac and Bastide only a few days ea rlie r . Although
p i c

the General assured Normanby that intervention could not be discounted,

237i t  seems clear, as Jennings and Taylor have judged, that the French 

Government had decided that without B ritish  support i t  would not send 

troops into Ita ly .

Normanby, who knew of the cancellation o f the Venetian expedition 

but not o f the decision to abandon Lombardy, did not believe that the 

French Government had given up a l l  thought o f intervention. On the 5th 

he wrote that the prolongation o f the Austro-Sardinian arm istice, which 

was about to expire, was essential i f  France was to continue on her
O

pacific  lin e. Palmerston shared Normanby's apprehension. "Do not

le t the Austrians delude themselves with the notion that the French

cannot send an army into I ta ly " ,  he instructed Ponsonby. "They could

send 60,000 men in no time, and that force added to the Piemontese

army and ro llin g  up like  a Snow Ball the raw levies o f the Ita lian s ,

would sweep the Austrians clean out o f the Country". He dismissed the

likelihood o f German intervention, arguing that "the only resu lt" of

such an action "would be that an army o f French Propagandists would

revolutionize and annex to France everything west o f the Rhine", and

discounted Russian involvement, saying the Russian Government needed

its  troops to prevent revolution at home.

The moral o f a l l  th is is  that Austria ought to se ttle  a l l  
these Ita lian  matters at once by accepting the conditions 
which England and France have proposed as a Basis fo r nego­
t ia tion ; and she ought to think herse lf lucky . . . that 
her temporary successes j^ th e  Field have enabled her to 
negotiate on such terms.

235. ib id , 160; Jennings, 1 9 2 - 3 .
236. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 4 September 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/202. 
237 I t  Prob 160 -  1} Jennings, 1 9 2 - 3 .
238* Normanby*to Palmerston, copy, 5 September 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/2 0 3 .
2 3 9 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 7 September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/PO/8 1 6 .
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Palmerston, whose intention was c lea rly  to frighten  the Austrian Gov­

ernment into accepting the mediation, need not have worried. The same 

day as he sent this warning the news reached Paris that the Austrian 

Government had accepted the mediation.



Chapter V I: The Anglo-French Entente

i )  BRITAIN AND NORTHERN ITALY

"The Austrian acceptance o f the mediation", wrote Clarendon on 

12 September, " is  a great r e l i e f . "  The r e l ie f  was shared by Claren­

don's colleagues and by the French ministers. But was i t  ju stified?

The situation with respect to northern Ita ly  was unchanged. When 

Wessenberg announced what bases fo r mediation Austria would accept,

there was no mention o f relinquishing te rr ito ry  and only a vague r e f-
2

erence to p o lit ic a l and c iv i l  rights. As fa r as Austria was concerned, 

the only task o f the mediation was to confirm what had already been 

achieved by force o f arms.

Palmerston seemed to ignore the signs emanating from Vienna. When 

communicating with the Austrian Government he returned to the idea 

that Lombardy must be granted its  independence. " I t  must be manifest 

to every impartial observer o f events", he wrote on 1 5  September, "that 

in the present state o f things some very and essentia lly  d ifferen t arr­

angements must be made fo r  the north o f I ta ly  i f  the Peace o f those 

Parts, and indeed o f Europe in general is  to be preserved."^ He used 

Abercromby's reports o f the continuing deep-rooted hatred o f the I t a l ­

ians fo r the Austrians to argue that "no durable peace can be estab­

lished in I ta ly  unless Austria shall consent to abide by her own pro­

posals as made by M. de Hummelauer.

1 . Clarendon to Russell, copy, 12 September 1 8 4 8 : Clar. P. Ir ish  le t te r -  
Book Vol.3 f142.

2. Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 325, 18 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/351 
(q PP, LV III, 440). Cf above p. 2 6 5 .

3. Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 156, 15 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/344
( q PP, LV III, 372). Cf Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 1 62, 22 September 
1 8 4 8 , and No 1 7 O, 26 September 18 4 8 : PRO FO 7 / 3 4 4  (partly  q PP,
LV III, 4 2 0 - 1 ) .

4 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 177» 29 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/344 
(q PP, LV III, 4 6 1 ) ,  enclosing a copy o f Abercromby to Palmerston,
No 2 4 6 , 20 September 18 4 8 : PRO FO 67/155 (q ££» LV III, 442 -  4 ).
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In fa c t, Ponsonby's reports describing Austria ’ s resolve were not 

without e ffe c t . Russell gave up a l l  hope o f securing Lombard indepen­

dence^ and began to consider ways in  which Austrian rule could be made

more palatable to the Lombards. 6 The French, he judged, would accept
7

such an arrangement i f  i t  was supported by Britain . Palmerston was

more optim istic, believing i t  "not impossible" that Austria would change

her mind about keeping such a troublesome province. But i f  she did not,

at least in try ing fo r that, we should do good upon another 
Point, because we may be quite sure that such Discussions 
and arguings would induce her at a l l  Events to deal much 
more lib e ra lly  wit^ her Ita lian  Subjects than She would 
otherwise do . . .

The demand fo r  Lombard independence, therefore, was not a sine gull non 

fo r  peace, as i t  had been in May, but simply a negotiating ploy designed 

to make Austria less obdurate when dealing with her rebellious Ita lian  

subjects.

The problem was that whilst the B ritish  and French Governments were

ready to accept Austria ’ s retention o f Lombardy, the Sardinian Government

was not. The Sardinians, Abercromby reported, not only continued to

in s is t on the liberation  o f Lombardy but also it s  union with Sardinia.^

Moreover, the Sardinian position s t i l l  had it s  supporters in  o f f i c ia l

B ritish  c irc les . Abercromby to ld  Minto that he would resign i f  Britain
10

abandoned the Lombards. Minto shared Abercromby’ s views, but he found 

no one else in the Cabinet that did. He poured out his resentment in 

his journal:

I  believe that we might recover the confidence o f the Ita lian s , 
and ensure order and stable government in the ir country were 
we to take a frank and decided line o f our own in th e ir a ffa irs .

5« Russell to Palmerston, 1 8  and 2 9  September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/ru/223 
and GC/RU/224.

6 . Memorandum by Russell, 9 October 1 8 4 8 s
7. Russell to Palmerston, 1 October 1 8 4 8 :
8 . Palmerston to Russell, 6 October 1 8 4 8 :
9. Abercromby to Palmerston, 22 September

G . B . , 3 7 3  -  5 ) .
10. Abercromby to Minto, 22 September 1 8 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 11769 f15*

PRO 30/22/7D.
Bd. P. GC/RU/225.
FRO 30/22/7D.
1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/AB/ 1 6 3  (q Dip.
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But o f th is I  see l i t t l e  prospect with our present subjection 
to French policy, on Ĵjie one hand, and a timid deference to 
Austria on the other.

Minto, however, had other explanations fo r  the fa ilu re  o f the Government's 

pro-Ita lian  po lic ies apart from what he considered its  irresolu te approach. 

Ponsonby, he judged, had "very i l l  represented the policy o f his govern­

ment", thereby encouraging the Austrians "to  assume a lo fty  tone o f 

defiance", whilst the Government's policy had been "much embarrassed

and obstructed" and on occasion "in  some measure warped" by "the strong

12
German sympathies o f Prince Albert and the Queen".

Minto's suspicions about Ponsonby were shared by others. Palmerston 

opposed his appointment as the British  representative at the mediation

1 1conference on the grounds that he was "too much o f an Austrian partisan."

Nor were these suspicions to ta lly  unfounded. Ponsonby himself confessed

that "In  my obscure way I  do my best fo r  preserving a good understanding"

14between Britain and Austria. He was in furiated by the way in which

Palmerston seemed to ignore his advice and warnings, and in mid-September

he lost his temper. " I t  is  evident that you do not give credit to what

I  have to ld  you respecting th is country", he wrote.

You deceive yourself. I  know much better than you do what is  
the fa c t, & the time w i l l  come when my Dispatches w i l l  prove 
to the world that i t  is  so. . . . You cannot bu lly Austria 
into concessions; They treat here your opinions and Arguments, 
which I  have la id  before them in your very words, as children 
treat opinions and Arguments addressed to them to induce them 
to take a dose o f Rhubarb. . . . Would you have me t e l l  you 
that your arguments are successful and make an impression?
I  should betray my duty, I  should do worse perhaps, I  should 
deceive you.

Palmerston's rep ly was typ ica l. He thanked Ponsonby fo r his observations 

and then went on to recommend that Austria should relinquish Lombardy 11 12 13 14 15

11. Minto's Journal, 8 November 18 4 8 s ib id  11995*
12. Minto's Journal, 14 October 1 8 4 8 s ib id .
13. Palmerston to Russell, 25 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7 D. Cf Normanby 

to Palmerston, secret, 12 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/2 1 8 .
14. Ponsonby to Cowley, 6 November 18 4 8 : PRO FO 519/158*
15. Ponsonby to Palmerston, 15 September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/PO/5 7 9 .
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and preferably Venetia as w ell.

The British  Court was probably less e ffe c t iv e  than Ponsonby in

modifying B ritish  policy over northern Ita ly , but the opposition of

the Queen and Prince Albert to that policy created a great problem

for Russell. The main struggle over policy between the Queen and the

Foreign Secretary had been in late July and August, but the denouement

came in the third week o f September at Balmoral. On the 1 8 th the Queen

showed Russell Palmerston’ s account of his conversation with Beaumont

17and the subsequent correspondence between Palmerston and herself.

Russell was surprised by the language Palmerston had used and gently

chastised h im .^ The follow ing day the Queen returned to the attack.

She to ld  Russell that she "could hardly go on" with Palmerston, "that

I  have no confidence in him, and that i t  made me seriously anxious

and uneasy fo r the welfare o f the country and fo r  the peace of Europe

in general". She complained about his vindictiveness over the Spanish

Marriages, implying in doing so that he was responsible fo r  the f a l l

o f Louis Philippe, and about the support he had shown fo r the Ita lian

libera ls . " I  have proofs", she said,

that he was not always straightforward in his conduct and 
kept back things which he did not like should be known,
. . . that his writings were always as b it te r  as g a ll and 
did great harm . . . and that I  often f e l t  quite i l l  from 
anxiety; that I  wished Lord Clarendon . . . could come over 
and be Secretary o f State fo r Foreign A ffa irs , and Lord 
Palmerston go to Ireland as Lord-Lieutenant.

These remarks came as l i t t l e  surprise to Russell, who had been warned

by Bedford o f the Queen's growing mistrust o f Palmerston. He responded

in a conciliatory and understanding manner, but he made i t  clear that

he would not move Palmerston. Although he declared that "nothing would

be better" than Palmerston going to Ireland, he said "that another 16 17 18

16

1 6 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 22 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/PO/8 1 7 .
17. See above p. 263 and n220.
1 8 . Russell to Palmerston, 18  September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/2 2 3 .
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thing to be considered was the danger o f making Lord Palmerston an 

enemy by displacing him . . . /"and thatJ  at moments like these one 

o f course was anxious not to do anything which would cause internal 

trouble . " 1 9  20

Given the Queen's views on Palmerston, her attempt to move him from 

the Foreign O ffice was only to be expected. What is  surprising is  the 

extent to which Russell countenanced the idea. He had evidently discussed 

i t  with his closest advisers and had found i t  in some respects a ttractive . 

He was annoyed by the belligerence o f Palmerston's language, his refusal 

to lis ten  to the advice o f his colleagues, and his incessant warfare 

with the Court. Whilst he approved o f Palmerston's ob jectives, he thought 

that he was too independent and too tactless. Clarendon would make a 

most suitable replacement. The problem, as he had to ld  the Queen, was 

Palmerston's probable reaction. He would not leave the Foreign O ffice 

vo luntarily , and i f  forced to do so he might turn against the Government 

and e ffe c t i t s  downfall. Whether i t s  demise would be in weeks or months 

was unclear, but i t  would certain ly be doomed. Russell shrank from such 

a course o f action. He preferred to ignore or forg ive what many Prime 

Ministers would have found unforgivable.

Palmerston knew nothing about the Queen's attempt to transfer him 

to Ireland, but Russell's le t te r  o f the 18th warned him o f some danger 

from that quarter. When he rep lied , he refused to rediscuss his conver­

sation with Beaumont, merely declaring "you may depend upon i t  I  knew 

what I  was about". But he did comment on his poor relations with the 

Court. "Unfortunately", he wrote,

the Queen gives Ear too read ily  to Persons who are hostile  
to her Government, and who wish to poison her mind with 
Distrust o f her Ministers; and in  this^gay, She is  constantly 
su ffering under groundless uneasiness.

19. Queen V ic to r ia 's  Journal, 19 September 1 8 4 8 : RvP, 96 -  8 .
20. Palmerston to Russell» 25 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/22/7D.
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In reply, Russell fo r  once tried  to be firm. "That the Queen is  con­

stantly suffering under uneasiness is  too tru e," he wrote, "hut I  own

1 cannot say i t  is  always groundless." He chastised Palmerston fo r 

sending despatches before the drafts had been approved and urged him

to show more consideration to the Queen's views. But he added a sentence 

which revealed to Palmerston that he s t i l l  had the Prime M inister's 

support.

I  confess I  fe e l some o f the same uneasiness /fas the Queen_f, 
but as I  agree with you very constantly in opinion, my only 
wish is  that in future you w i l l  save the Queen anxiety, & me 
some trouble by giving you^^easons before, & not a fte r  an 
important dispatch is  sent.

Fortunately fo r  Palmerston, at this time there was another area of

disagreement with the Court where he had Russell's support. The cause

of the dispute was who should represent Britain at the mediation con-

22ference on northern Ita ly . Having in i t ia l ly  considered Bulwer, on

2 October Palmerston suggested Normanby, ju stify in g  the choice on the

grounds that he was well-informed on Ita lian  a ffa irs  and from his exper-

21ience in Paris he would be able to work c losely  with the French. J 

Russell liked the id e a ;^  the Queen did not, declaring "Lord Ponsonby
2 R

wld. do much b e tte r ."  " I f " ,  she wrote on the 6th,

the object o f our Mediation was only to drive the Austrians 
out o f the ir lawful dominions in Ita ly , by means o f threat­
ening /fthem_7 with French Intervention, Lord Normanby would 
be the best instrument fo r that purpose^as he has throughout 
taken a most vio len t Ita lian  line . . . ;

21. Russell to Palmerston, 1 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/ 2 2 5  (q Walpole,
I I ,  4 6  -  7 ). The follow ing January Russell to ld  the Queen that "he 
had spoken so strongly about Lord P .'s  sending drafts to the Queen
. . . that Lord John was sure Lord P. would immediately resign upon 
i t ,  but that Lord P. had taken no notice o f i t "  (Prince A lbert's  
memorandum, 24 January 1849* WvP, 1 0 5 ). The overa ll tone o f the le t te r , 
however, does not support Russell's assertion and, given what he had 
to ld  the Queen on the I9*h, i t  seems unlikely.

22. Palmerston to Russell, 25 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7 D.
23. Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 2 October 1 8 4 8 : RvP, 101.
2 4 . Russell to Palmerston, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/226.
2 5 . Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  RC/F/394 (q RvP,

10l).
26. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 6 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. RC/F/ 3 9 6  (partly  

q RvP, 102).
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The Queen had gone too fa r , and in doing so she had played into Palm­

erston 's hands. He sent Russell the Queen's le t te r  so that he could see 

fo r himself "the Sp irit in which the Queen treats the matter." The Queen, 

he judged, objected to Normanby "because he agrees with us" and preferred 

Ponsonby "because she thinks he d iffe rs  from us." I t  was "not undeserving 

o f attention", he added, "that Two Days before I  had received the Queen's 

Proposal o f Ponsonby, Roller had made me precisely the same suggestion." 

But with the Queen vetoing Normanby, Palmerston had to consider a lte r­

natives. He suggested Lord Minto. "He would do ca p ita lly ,"  he observed, 

"and would be the best o f a l l . "  ^

As fa r as Palmerston was concerned, Minto would indeed have been 

an excellent choice. Not only was he a strong admirer o f Ita lian  lib e r­

alism, but he was also Russell's father-in-law and close adviser. I f  

the Queen objected to his appointment, as was probable, she would anta­

gonise Russell. Unfortunately fo r  Palmerston's calculations, Minto dis­

liked the idea. He refused to negotiate on the basis o f leaving Lombardy 

under Austrian control -  an arrangement "too l i t t l e  in harmony with the 

progress o f opinion and with national fee lings to hold out the promise 

o f endurance" -  and he foresaw that he would "constantly be in con flic t 

with the passions & policy o f my own Court" and that he would not have 

"the unqualified confidence and support" o f the whole Cabinet.^  With 

Minto's refusal, Palmerston gave way. He selected Sir Henry E l l is ,  an 

uninspiring but unobjectionable choice.

At f i r s t  sight the disagreement over who should represent Brita in  

at the mediation conference seems unimportant, yet another example o f 

the petty squabbling between the Queen and Palmerston. In fa c t, the 

argument was over policy rather than personalities. The Queen favoured 

Ponsonby because he represented the pro—Austrian school. Palmerston 27 28

2 7 . Palmerston to Russell, 6 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7 D.
28. Minto's Journal, 14 October 18 4 8s N.L.S. Mss. 11995*
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advocated Normanby and Minto “because they were pro-Ita lian , and i t  

was apparent he had the support o f the Prime Minister. The Queen had 

gained a minor v ictory hy successfully opposing the appointment of 

Normanby, hut she had done so at the cost of emphasising the gap that 

existed between her views on northern I ta ly  and those o f Palmerston 

and Russell. The Queen and Prince A lbert, however, f e l t  i t  necessary 

to oppose "th is  heartless, obstinate and revengeful man" by a l l  the 

means at the ir disposal. "We have perhaps been o f more use to the 

Austrians than they can suspect", the Prince boasted towards the end 

o f the year, "and have incessantly waged war fo r  them with P ilgerstein  

[ ~ i . e .  Palmerston_7, in which he got many an ugly poke".^

I t  is  doubtful whether the Court's opposition to the Government's 

Ita lian  policy would have been so fru it fu l but fo r  the fact that public 

support fo r the Ita lians was cooling. The attitude o f the Protectionists 

and the Peelites remained unchanged. The Times went so fa r as to argue 

that the mediation was retarding a peaceful settlement because i t  kept 

a live  the fu t ile  hopes o f what i t  judged to be the minority o f Lombards 

who s t i l l  wanted independence."^0 As Parliament was not s it t in g , i t  is  

impossible to judge how fa r the Peelites would have joined the Protect­

ion ists in c r it ic is in g  the Government's Ita lian  policy. However there 

were rumours, which Peel discounted, that Stanley "looked forward to

some movement in the Lords in Concert with Aberdeen on his Ita lian  

31Questions", and i t  is  true that in private the Peelites were increas­

ingly c r it ic a l o f the Government. British  policy in northern Ita ly , 

Aberdeen to ld  Princess Lieven,

has been shuffling, inconsistent, and shabby. . . .  I  hear
great complaints o f the dup lic ity  o f our conduct. This would 29 30 31

29. Prince Albert to King Leopold, 20 December 1 8 4 8 : Eyck, Prince Consort. T
1 1 8 . ~ '

30. The Times. 20 November 1 8 4 8 , 4. Cf Revel to Perrone, 3 October 1 8 4 8 :
Dip. Sard., 284 - 5 «  .

31. Peel to Graham. 26 September 1 8 4 8 : Gra. P. Bundle 1 0 5  (q Parker, 
Graham. I I ,  6 5 )«
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"be quite a new characteristic o f B r it is ^ p o lic y ; tut i n 
these times, i t  is  fa r from impossible.

There were also signs o f disenchantment with the Ita lians among

the Whigs and the Radicals. The Ita lian  cause was s t i l l  popular in

some quarters,~>~> hut there was a growing fee lin g  that the Ita lians

were not ready fo r  their independence. On 9 September, in an a rt ic le

designed to show that the French should not intervene in Ita ly  and

that the Austrians should get out, the Illu stra ted  London News declared:

" I f  the Ita lians merit independence they are powerful enough to win

i t  fo r themselves."  ̂ I t  was not d if f ic u lt  to argue from this premise

that because the Ita lians had been defeated they were undeserving of

the ir lib erty . "P o lit ic a l economy is  better understood in Ita ly  than

in Germany or France", wrote Cobden in November. "But the mass o f the

Ita lians are yet too degraded to enjoy a l l  the lib erty  the educated

35classes would fa in  bestow upon them." I f  the Ita lians could not 

expel the Austrians on the ir own, as i t  seemed they could not, they 

did not deserve their independence and therefore Britain and France 

should not obtain i t  fo r them.

I t  would be wrong to imagine that the opposition o f the Court and 

the trend o f public opinion were the decisive factors in changing the 

Government's attitude towards northern Ita ly . I t  is  true that the views 

o f the Queen and o f the public would have made i t  d if f ic u lt  fo r  the 

Government to pursue a vigorous pro-Ita lian  policy. But the fact that 

i t  did not do so was due to the m ilitary and diplomatic situation with 

respect to northern Ita ly  rather than to domestic factors. I t  was app- 32 33 34 35

32. Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 1 November 1 8 4 8 : Jones Parry, I I ,  302. 
Cf Peel to Aberdeen, 25 October 1 8 4 8 , and confidentia l, 2 9  October 
1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43065 ff342 and 343 -  4» Graham to Peel, 3 
November 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 40452 ff294 -  5»

33. Spectator. 23 October and 4 November 1 8 4 8 , 910 and 1063 -  4? B ritish  
Quarterly Review, V II I ,  524 — 5*

34. ILN, 9 September 18 4 8 , 150.
35. Cobden to Bright, 1 November 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 4 3 6 4 9  f89.



arent that the Austrians would not give up Lombardy voluntarily , that 

the Ita lians could not expel them on the ir own, and that the French 

would not intervene. In such circumstances, the British  Government 

had no choice but to accept Austria 's decision. The most i t  could 

hope to achieve was to make Austrian rule as unobjectionable as possible 

to the Ita lians.

* * *

On 15 September Normanby discussed with Cavaignac and Bastide the 

need fo r the mediators "to  come to an understanding as to the scope 

and lim its o f that mediation." Cavaignac agreed with Normanby that 

i f  the mediation was restricted  to the Austrians on the one hand and 

the Sardinians and the insurgents o f Lombardy and Venetia on the other, 

" i t  was easy to refuse the intervention in that mediation o f any third 

Parties". But, he went on,

i f  we extended our action and agreed to consider the s e tt le ­
ment o f other parts o f the Peninsula which were anxious to 
submit themselves to our guidance, then other Powers might 
say that we were raising European Questions in which they 
ought to have a voice.

The British  Government preferred to keep the mediation lim ited to

37the problems o f northern Ita ly , a decision which Cavaignac read ily
■3 O

accepted. Unfortunately, the other Powers had already begun to show 

an in terest.

On 1 7  September Westmorland reported that the Prussian Government, 

encouraged by the French minister in Berlin, wanted to jo in  the med­

ia tion ."^  Cavaignac told  Normanby that he was w illin g  to disavow the 

m inister's behaviour,^ but Bastide welcomed the request, seeing i t  as 36 37 38 39 40

36. Normanby to Palmerston, No 5 8 9 , 1 5  September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 3  
(q PP, LV III, 385).

37. Palmerston to Normanby, No 396 , 22 September 18 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO 
(q PP, LV III, 422 -  3 ).

38. Normanby to Palmerston, No 610, 23 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 3  

(q PP, LV III, 434).
39. Westmorland to Palmerston, No 341, 17 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 64/2 8 9 .
40. Normanby to Palmerston, No 603, 20 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id  2 7 / 8 1 I.
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another opportunity to widen the r i f t  "between Prussia and the Central 

Power .Around the same time, the Central Power sounded out the Sard­

inians about joining the mediation, having already secured Austria ’ s 

acquiescence.^ I f  Prussia and the Central Power were admitted, how 

could Russia be excluded? The result o f the ir inclusion would be to 

transform the mediation into a General Congress at which the problems 

o f I ta ly , and possibly the rest o f Europe, would be settled  by the 

major Powers.

The idea o f a General Congress had a number o f powerful B ritish  

advocates. The Queen favoured i t ,  declaring that i t  would be "preferable 

to the settlement by the 'Entente Cordiale' with the French Republic",^  

as did Russell and Normanby, the la tte r arguing that the presence of 

Russia would ensure the success of the negotiations which could only 

be achieved i f  Austria made some concessions.^ Palmerston, however, 

was resolutely hostile . He judged that i f  Russia, Prussia and the Cen­

tra l Power were admitted, they would "probably side with Austria on Every 

Question", thereby placing Britain and France "in  a Constant m inority."45 

But th is was not an argument he could use with the Queen. With her he 

argued that i f  the Congress was assembled to consider northern Ita ly , 

i t  would be impossible to prevent the discussions spreading to other 

subjects. ^  With Russell he adopted a d ifferen t lin e. "The D ifficu lty  

may be as to Russia and the Central Power", he wrote: "France may 41 42 43 44 45 46 *

41. Hahn, 226; Jennings, 213.
42. Palmerston to Normanby, No 410, 28 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO 

(q PP, LV III, 448).
43. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 26 September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. RC/F/ 3 9 3  

(partly  q RvP, 100).
44. Normanby to Palmerston, 1 October 18 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/2 1 6 ; Russell 

to Palmerston, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/RU/226.
45. Palmerston to Russell, 26 September 18 4 8 : FRO 30/2 2/7 D (q LCJR, I ,  3 4 2 ).
4 6 . Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , 2 October 1 8 4 8 : RvP, 100. The Queen 

pointed out, quite accurately, that at the Conferences o f London the 
discussions had been successfully lim ited to the question o f Belgian 
independence (Queen V ictoria to Palmerston, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P.
RC/f/394, partly q RvP, 101 ).
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object to Russia, and Russia may object to act with the present Govt, 

of Prance; and both Prance & Russia w il l  object to le t in the Central 

P o w e r . R u s s e l l  disagreed with Palmerston's premise that the Central

Power must be included,^  but confronted by his staunch opposition,

49and the tepidness of French support fo r a Congress, he gave way.

On 10 October Palmerston informed Normariby that, "however dazzling

the Notion / "o f a Congress_7 may at f i r s t  sight appear," the B ritish

Government thought i t  better to keep the mediation restricted  and

lim ited "to  the humbler task" o f restoring peace and s ta b ility  in 

50northern Ita ly .

Palmerston had managed to exclude the governments in St. Petersburg,

Berlin and Frankfurt from the mediation on northern Ita ly , but i t  was

impossible to prevent them expressing the ir views, and those views

served to strengthen the Austrian position. In Palmerston's eyes, the

Prussian Government was the most reasonable o f the three Powers. When

he rejected its  request to jo in  the mediation, he did so not on the

grounds that i t  was too sympathetic to Austria, which he used when

51rejecting the request from Frankfurt, but on the grounds o f the
52

precedent i t  would set. I t  was clear, however, that the Prussian 

Government was more pro-Austrian than pro-Ita lian , and i t  is  lik e ly  

that i t  was more pro-Austrian than Palmerston believed. There were 48 49 50 51

47« Palmerston to Russell, 6 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7 D. A few days 
ea r lie r  Bastide had remarked "that Prussia as w ell as Russia would 
certain ly object to the appearance o f the Central Government 
at a European Congress", and he made i t  clear that he shared the ir 
objections (Normanby to Palmerston, No 625, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO
FO 2 7/8 1 4 ).

4 8 . Russell to Palmerston, 8 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/ru/228.
49. On 1 October Normanby reported that the French Government had to ld  

Berlin that the mediation would not be extended (Normanby to Palm­
erston, 1 October 1 8 4 8 s ib id  GC/NO/2 1 6 ).

50. Palmerston to Normanby, No 439» 10 October 18 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO 
(q PP, LV III, 497 - 8 ).

5 1 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 410, 28 September 1 8 4 8 s PRO FO 2 7/8OO

52.
(q PP, LV III, 448). 
Palmerston to Normanby, No 406, 26 September 1 8 4 8 s PRO FO 2 7/8OO

(q PP, LV III, 444)-
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no such doubts about the attitude o f the Central Power. Early in Octo­

ber Cowley reported that the government in Frankfurt continued to 

in s is t that Austria 's retention o f a secure fron tie r in Lombardy "was 

necessary not to Austria, but to Germany" . I t  was even rumoured that 

the Central Power intended to assemble an army o f 50 *00 0 men in Bavaria 

in order that, i f  necessary, " i t  may make a demonstration in the Tyrol,

or even actually march to Verona in support o f the Austrian cause in 

54Ita ly " .  The main support fo r Austria, however, came not from Prussia 

or the Central Power, but from Russia.

During August Franco-Russian relations had improved as the two 

governments recognised the s im ilarity  o f the ir views about the Central

Power. The Tsar even consented to receive General Le FI& as a represent-

55ative o f the Republic. When the French Government pressurised the 

Austrians into accepting the mediation, however, the nascent rapproche­

ment began to founder. The Tsar, reported Bloomfield, "deprecated in 

the strongest manner the language which had been used by the French 

Agent at Vienna", and threatened to break o f f  diplomatic re la t io n s .^  

Nesselrode was more moderate in his language, but equally resolute 

in his view that Austria should retain Lombardy. ^  At the same time, 

the Russian Government showed a surprising reluctance to become involved 

in the dispute. Nesselrode declared that there was no concert between

53. Cowley to  Palmerston, No 156, 4 October 18 4 8 s PRO FO 3 0 / 1 1 1  (partly
q PP, L V III, 491)• „ ,

54. Palmerston to Cowley, No 133, 31 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 30/108. The 
rumour was strongly denied in  Frankfurt (Cowley to  Palmerston,
No 233, 4  November 1 8 4 8 : ib id  30/113, q PP, LV III, 58 6  -  7 ) and 
Cowley assured Palmerston that the Central Power "has neither 
the means nor the disposition to undertake any such expedition" 
(Cowley to Palmerston, No 229, 30 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 30/1 12,

q pp LV III, 570). I t  is  a sign o f the strength o f the views 
at Frankfurt, however, that such a rumour could be circulated and 
believed. . ?1C- _ 18

5 6 . ‘ Ho 266, confidentia l, 12 September 18 4 8 1

5 7 . Z o r f i e 6 ld3 t5o‘ Palmerston, »0 274, 19 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id .
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58 59Russia and Austria, and viewed with distaste the idea o f a Congress.

The reason fo r this hesitation seems to have been that the Russian 

Government did not rea lise the extent to which the chances o f French 

intervention had dim inished.^ I t  was therefore fea rfu l o f provoking 

a hostile response hy supporting Austria too openly. Palmerston was 

happy to play upon these fe a rs ,^  hut he knew that they were largely 

unfounded. I t  was now evident, at least to the British  and French 

Governments, that i f  war did recommence in  northern Ita ly , Britain 

and France would abandon the Ita lians to the ir fa te , satisfy ing them­

selves, at least as long as Sardinian in teg r ity  was maintained, with 

a vigorous hut prohahly unproductive protest.

*  *  *

Austria ’ s acceptance o f the Anglo-French mediation was the result 

o f pressure put on her hy France, and the issue which had prompted 

France to exert that pressure at that moment was the continued threat 

to Venice. However, the Austrian Government's decision did not solve 

the problem posed hy Venice.

The Austrian position on Venice was simple. The Venetians were re­

bels, Ponsonhy reported paraphrasing Wessenherg, and therefore the Aus­

trian  Government need not "treat with them, as i t  is  w illin g  to treat
62

with a foreign  State at war with Austria." The Austrians seemed to 

he on strong ground, for not only was Venetia Austrian hy the terms o f 

the Vienna settlement, hut i t  was also intended that i t  should remain

5 8 . ib id .
59. Buchanan to Palmerston, Ho 41, 31 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  65/351 (q PP, 

L V III, 590).
60. As late as November Nesselrode spoke o f the French marching into 

Ita ly  in order to liberate Lombardy and o f the danger o f that leading 
to a European war (Buchanan to Palmerston, No 69, 20 November 1 8 4 8 , 
and No 72, confidential, 23 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 65/3 5 2 ).

6 1 . Palmerston to Buchanan, No 61, 30 November 1 8 4 8 , and No 62, 2 Decem­
ber 1 8 4 8 : ib id  65/3 4 6 . n n . . / ,

62. Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 352, 2 October 1 8 4 8 . ib id  7/352 (q PP, 
LV III, 502).
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Austrian by the terms o f the mediation. But i t  seemed advisable that 

the Austrians should not exploit the ir rights fo r i t  might provoke 

a hostile  response from France. Normanby, forgetting fo r the moment 

that i t  had been the threat to Venice which had prompted the French 

Government to demand a de fin ite  answer to the o ffe r  o f mediation, 

wrote that "Austria was clumsy in not getting possession o f i t  before 

she accepted the mediation." Now Austria seemed determined to remedy 

her omission. How would France react?

On 19 September Beaumont to ld  Palmerston that the Republic could 

not countenance the recapture o f Venice whilst i t  was constrained by 

the mediation. He suggested, therefore, that an Anglo-French expedition 

be sent to preserve the status quo in Venetia. Palmerston replied 

that the B ritish  Government would send no troops and that he thought 

the French Government should send none. I f  an expedition was sent, 

he observed, i t  would be placed in an extremely awkward position once 

i t  reached Venice: i f  the Austrians had taken the c ity , i t  would either 

have to retake i t ,  thereby precip itating a European war, or i t  would 

be forced to return home without doing anything; i f  they had not, 

the French would have to sustain the obloquy, once the mediation was 

concluded, o f becoming "the Instrument fo r handing over the Venetians 

again to the ir Austrian liasters", or o f "breaking Faith with Austria 

and separating themselves from England, by insisting upon a d ifferen t 

Arrangement". 4 In the face o f these well-reasoned objections, Bastide

abandoned the idea o f an expedition. Instead, he sent a strongly worded

65protest to Vienna. '  Such a protest, he to ld  Normanby, was necessary 

"to  open the eyes o f the Austrian Government to the truth . " 66

63. Normanby to Palmerston, 15 September 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/211,
64. Palmerston to Normanby, No 431, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO.
6 5 . Jennings, 229 -  30.
6 6 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 617, confidentia l, 28 September 1 8 4 8 :

PRO FO 27/813.
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Palmerston thought the whole problem superfluous. The Austrian

offensive was unnecessary, he to ld  Ponsonby, because

from the very nature o f the proposals made to Austria by 
the two Governments such hostile proceedings can have no 
influence or ultimate resu lts, and can only tend therefore 
to increase without necessity the exasperation now existing 
in Ita ly  against the Austrian Govt.

I t  is  inconceivable that the Austrian Government fa iled  to recognise

th is. Why did i t  precipitate a dispute when the future o f Venice was

not in doubt and when i t  would antagonise Prance? The answer, as Taylor

68has argued, was probably that the Austrian Government hoped to drive 

a wedge between Prance and Britain. The Republic, i t  calculated, would 

rush to the defence o f the Venetians, and in doing so would alienate 

Britain. Thanks to Palmerston's warning, the French did not f a l l  into

the trap. I t  is  possible that Cavaignac and Bastide did not need Palm-

69erston 's warning, but subsequent events make th is tinlikely. A month

la ter, when the idea o f an expedition was once again rejected by Brita in ,

Bastide announced that the French squadron in the Adriatic would prevent
70the imposition o f an Austrian naval blockade.

The Venetian question was complicated by the attitude o f Sardinia.

The Sardinian Government remained anxious to secure Austria 's withdrawal 

from Lombardy. There could be "no real pacification  o f I ta ly " ,  Aber- 

cromby reported, 67 68 69 70

67. Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 18 4 , 2 October 18 4 8 : ib id  7/348 (n PP 
LV III, 4 7 8 ).

6 8 . I t ,  Prob., 1 6 6  -  70.
69. Jennings has suggested that Cavaignac and Bastide never intended 

to send the expedition and that they were using the threat o f i t  
to persuade Palmerston to exert diplomatic pressure on Austria to 
stop her attacks (Jennings, 230).

70. Normanby to Palmerston, No 6 7 8 , 26 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 4  
(q PP, LV III, 548 -  9)» Jennings, 239 -  41. Palmerston’ s private 
comment on the French decision was "that the steps which the French 
are taking about Venice are not s t r ic t ly  within the Limits o f med­
ia tion , but as the French seem determined to make a Demonstration 
there, we may as well say no more about i t 5 and what they are doing 
may not on the whole have a bad e ffe c t "  (Palmerston to Normanby,
28 October 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/67).
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. . . unless large and comprehensive concessions are made 
in favour o f the principle o f Ita lian  Nationality; and i t  
is  equally certain that Sardinia cannot . . . become, with 
honor or safety to herse lf, a„^arty to any peace by which 
that principle is  sacrificed .

On 22 September Perrone, the new Sardinian Foreign Minister, informed 

the B ritish  and French Governments that i t  was v ita l  that the mediation 

should begin as soon as possible, on the bases already agreed by Sard­

in ia , in order to obviate the necessity o f Sardinia resuming it s  war 

with Austria ."^2 However the British  and French Governments had private ly 

accepted that Lombardy must remain Austrian. I f  Austria and Sardinia 

came to the conference with their ex isting attitudes, the mediation 

would collapse and war would be resumed. The aim o f the mediators, 

therefore, was to continue negotiating without making any commitment 

which either side might find unacceptable. For the moment, the Austrian 

Government, uncertain about B rita in 's  position and beset by internal 

d i f f ic u lt ie s ,  was w illin g  to play along. But the Sardinian Government, 

conscious o f Austria 's problems and under pressure at home, was not.

On 6 October Perrone announced that the Sardinian Government had 

decided to send its  f le e t  back to Venice. This was a v io la tion  o f the 

arm istice, but Perrone claimed i t  was merely re ta lia tion  fo r the fa ilu re  

o f the Austrians to return the Sardinian ordnance captured in Peschiera, 

which was also one o f the terms o f the armistice. The Sardinians,

Perrone to ld  Abercromby, "were not throwing down the Gauntlet to Austria, 

but . . . they were merely taking up the one which Austria herse lf had 

cast before them". The chances o f "the successful termination o f the 

jo in t mediation . . . had become so doubtful", he added, that "the 71 72

71. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 2 4 6 , 20 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO F0 6 7 / 1 5 5  

(q PP, LV III, 4 4 2 - 4 ) .
72. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 2 5 2 , 26 September 1 8 4 8 , enclosing 

Perrone to  Abercromby, 22 September 18 4 8 : PRO F0 67/155 (q PP,
LV III, 4 6 6  -  7 ). Cf Perrone to Revel, 12 and 22 September 1 8 4 8 :
Dip. Sard .. 2 5 4 - 5  and 265 -  7-
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73continuance o f a state o f suspense became pos itive ly  p re ju d ic ia l."

Palmerston, predictably, protested against the Sardinian decision.

He admitted that Austria ’ s retention o f the ordnance was "an inexcusable 

breach o f fa i t h " ,^  but he feared that Radetzky’ s behaviour was designed 

"to  goad the Piedmontese into some proceeding which may lead to a 

renewal o f h o s t il it ie s "  and that by sending the f le e t  they were fa ll in g  

into his t r a p .^  However Palmerston based his protest upon a miscalcu­

lation . He assumed that the Sardinian Government, conscious o f its  

m ilitary weakness, was determined to avoid a renewal o f the war. In

fa c t, whilst the Sardinian Government did not want war, i t  feared

7 f)that public pressure in  Sardinia would give i t  no choice. I t  was

resigned to the resumption o f the struggle, and began to sound out

77the French Government about what support i t  might expect.

The French Government was infuriated by the Sardinian intention
rj O

o f ignoring the mediation and resuming the war. The Sardinians seemed 

to be precip itating a war on the assumption that i f  the worst happened, 

the French would save them. Such irrespon s ib ility  was maddening to 

a French Government which would gain nothing i f  the Sardinians won 

and which would be faced with the poss ib ility  o f sparking o f f  a Euro­

pean war i f  they lost. On the other hand, i f  the Sardinians were the 

victims o f aggression, could a French Government abandon them? Bastide 

decided that i t  could not. He summed up the French position in  a le t te r  

to the French minister in Turin: "s i le Piémont veut fa ire  la guerre,

73. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 260, confidentia l, 6 October 1 8 4 8 :
PRO F0 67/155 (q L V III, 500 -  2 ) .

74. Palmerston to Abercromby, No 131, 16 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 6 7 / 1 4 9  
(q PP, LV III, 526).

75. Palmerston to Abercromby, No 132, 1 8  October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 6 7 / 1 4 9
(q PP, LV III, 530). Cf Revel to Perrone, 2 5  October 1848 (2 le t te rs ) 
Dip. Sard., 315-1®*  _ _

76. Abercromby to Palmerston, No 2 7 4 , 1 5  October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 67/ 1 55 
(q PP LVIII 536 -  7 ); Revel to Perrone, 12 October 1 8 4 8 , and 
Perrone to Revel, 1 8  October 1 8 4 8 : Dip. Sard., 292 -  6 and 303 -  4 .

77* Jennings, 2 3 6 .
7 8 . ib id * 235 -  6.
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q u 'i l  la fasse et paye la  peine de sa fo l ie ;  s i on l'a ttaque, nous

le défendrons, nous tiendrons la ligne du Têsin comme si c 'é ta it  ce lle

du Var."*^ However French patience was thin. A month la ter Cavaignac

turned angrily on Ricci at a diplomatic reception and asked "whether

the Sardinian Government had meant to treat the French Army merely

80like  Swiss Mercenaries"? Cavaignac had gone too fa r , as he subse­

quently admitted. ^ 1 But his anger is  understandable. Not only did the 

Sardinians seem to be peculiarly incapable o f accepting that they 

could not count on French support in a l l  circumstances, but Cavaignac 

himself wished to put aside a l l  questions o f foreign policy and concen-
Op

trate on the Presidential elections which were less than a month away.

At the same time as France was quarrelling with Sardinia, Britain 

was quarrelling with Austria. Palmerston f e l t  compelled to protest 

against the repressive po lic ies pursued by Radetzfcy in northern Ita ly . 

Austria, he wrote repeatedly to Ponsonby, was hated by most Lombards.^ 

But having accepted that the province must remain under Austrian ru le, 

he wanted to find ways in which the hatred could be reduced. Radetzky's 

behaviour, however, seemed to be having the opposite e ffe c t , and there­

fore Palmerston condemned i t  in  the strongest term s.^  There was an

added problem: Radetzky's conduct was antagonising the already b e l l i -

85gerent Sardinians.

79* Bastide to Bois-le—Comte, 10 October 1 8 4 8 : Bastide, 121.
80. Normanby to Palmerston, secret, 1 5  November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 5 .
8 1 . Jennings, 2 3 8  -  9-
82. ib id . 243 -  4 . Two days ea r lie r  Cavaignac to ld  Normanby that i t  

would be useless to start the mediation conference un til a fte r 
the elections because then there would probably be a d ifferen t 
government (Normanby to Palmerston, No 722, 11  November 1 8 4 8 :
PRO FO 27/815, q PP, LV III, 590).

8 3 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 1 7 6 , confidentia l, 2 9  September 1 8 4 8 : 
PRO FO 7 / 3 4 4  (partly  q PP» L v m » 46l ) ,  No 194, 9 October 1 8 4 8 ,* 
and No 233, 11 November 18482 PRO FO 7/345 (q PP, LV III, 4 9 4  _  5 
and 588 -  9 )*

8 4 . Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 237, 14 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7 / 3 4 5

(q PP, LV III, 592 -  3 ). Q 0
8 5 . Perrone to Revel, 31 October 1 8 4 8 : DijJ._§ard._, 323 — 4»
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On 20 November Palmerston received a copy o f a proclamation issued

by Radetzky deta iling the repressive leg is la tion  and the confiscation

o f the property o f the leading insurgents. He reacted with what seems

to have been genuine anger. He instructed Ponsonby to t e l l  Wessenberg

that "the moral Feeling o f Mankind, and every sentiment o f generosity

and Justice" would be "revolted" by "a proceeding conceived in the

sp ir it  o f the most odious oppression, and enuntiated by Doctrines

which belong only to the Disciples o f communism, and which are subversive

o f the very Foundations o f Social order". ° A private le t te r  which

accompanied th is impassioned outburst made i t  clear that Ponsonby

should read i t  to Wessenberg. " I f  the Austrians wish to set against

them the fee lings o f every Gentleman in Europe, they are going the

right way to work", Palmerston declared. "No one but a semibarbarous

Robber Chief in  Central Asia would conduct himself in  these days as
„87Radetzky has done."

Even before the receipt o f th is provocative diatribe the Austrian 

Government had shown i t s e l f  resentful about Palmerston's complaints.

On 2 4  November Wessenberg protested about what he regarded as Palmerston's 

o ffic iou s  interference in Austria 's internal a ffa irs , and he asked 

whether Britain  would like to be to ld  how to rule Ireland. And Wessen—

berg, as Ponsonby observed, was a member o f the faction  that was sym-
88

pathetic to Britain. When the despatch o f 20 November arrived there 

was a new Emperor, the youthful Franz Josef, and a new Chancellor and

86.
87.
88.

Palmerston to Ponsonby, No 241, 20 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7 / 3 4 5  
(partly  q I t . Prob. , 1 8 9 ).
Palmerston to Ponsonby, copy, 24 November 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/PO/8 2 1 . 
Ponsonby to Palmerston, No 432, 2 5  November 1 8 4 8 , enclosing Wessenber 
to Palmerston, 24 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7/353. Palmerston responded 
by repeating his criticism s and dismissing the comparison between 
Lombardy and Ireland. " I t  is  indeed a common habit with persons on 
the Continent", he observed, "when they have no good excuse to make 
. . .  to retort the State o f Ireland, although such Foreigners know 
l i t t l e  about Ireland except that discontent exists there, but are 
wholly ignorant o f i t s  nature and causes" (Palmerston to Ponsonby,
No 260, 5 December 1 8 4 8 : ih id 7/345).
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Foreign Minister, Prince Schwarzenberg.

Schwarzenberg did not share the assumption o f Metternich and Wessen- 

berg that imperial Austria and monarchical Britain were natural a ll ie s  

against republican France. He judged Austria 's relations with other 

countries on the basis o f the s im ilarity  o f policy, not the s im ila rity  

o f the p o lit ic a l system. He wished to continue the policy o f trying 

to separate Britain and France over northern Ita ly , but unlike his 

predecessors he chose to court France rather than Britain. He calculated,

correctly , that the French Government was more hostile  to the Sardinians

89than was the British . The approach to Cavaignac's administration

got nowhere -  indeed Bastide warned Normanby what the Austrians were 

90attempting -  but a by-product was that the Austrian Government could

afford to quarrel with Palmerston. On 6 December Ponsonby was given

a copy o f a le t te r  Schwarzenberg had written in which he complained

in the angriest terms about Palmerston's behaviour, accusing him of

trying to destroy the Austrian Empire. Ponsonby defended his superior,

but he advised Palmerston to le t the le t te r  "pass in silence fo r as

no minister ought to have written in that s ty le , perhaps i t  may be as

91w ell that no minister should reply to i t . " '

A .J.P. Taylor has argued that Schwarzenberg had the le t te r  shown 

to Ponsonby because he wanted to provoke a quarrel with Palmerston in 

which, he calculated, Palmerston would say or do something which would 

antagonise his colleagues or the British  electorate and thereby lead 

to his dismissal. This was a mistaken policy, Taylor says, "because -  

whatever the English public might fe e l about Palmerstonian bullying o f 

foreign powers — i t  was not lik e ly  to be turned against him by foreign

89. I t .  Prob.. 175 -  8 .
90. Normanby to Palmerston, secret, 4 December 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/no/228.
91. Ponsonby to Palmerston, 10 December 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/PO/5 8 8 . Ponsonby 

evidently enclosed a copy o f Schwarzenberg's le t te r  (addressed to 
Werner, an o f f ic ia l  at the Austrian Foreign Ministry, and dated
4  December), but th is is  missing (see below p. 2 9 0 ).
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powers "bullying him." Taylor is  probably correct about Schwarzen­

berg's intention, but i t  is  less certain that the British  public would 

have reacted in  the way he suggests. The controversy with Spain ea r lie r  

in the year reveals that although Palmerston could expect some support 

i f  c r it ic is ed  by a foreign government, he could also expect to be 

attacked in the Cabinet, in Parliament and in the press i f  the c r i t ic ­

ism was thought to be ju s t ified , and given the general views on Palm­

erston 's meddling and the widespread support fo r Austria at th is time 

i t  seems lik e ly  that Schwarzenberg's critic ism  would have been judged 

to have been deserved. Palmerston was already in trouble with the 

Court about his complaints about Radetzky's conduct, and on 10  December

Russell had warned him that "we ought to avoid an ir r ita t in g  corres-
93

pondence with Austria ." What is  clear is  that Palmerston was not

su ffic ien tly  confident about the reaction the le t te r  would produce

94to show i t  even to Russell. He decided to suppress i t .

On 22 December Palmerston returned Schwarzenberg's le t te r  to Pon-

sonby with instructions to throw i t  in  the f i r e .  But he could not res ist

one jibe  against his new adversary. The le t te r , he declared, was "very

extraordinary but somewhat characteristic" o f Schwarzenberg.

Characteristic i t  is  because written with that Insolence 
Impertinence & want o f sense which characterize i t s  w riter; 
Extraordinary i t  is  . . . because i t  resembles rather the 
outpourings o f an enraged woman o f the Town, ra ilin g  at a 
Policeman who has caught her picking a pocket, than the 
Remonstrance o f a Statesman or a Gentleman. 5

Schwarzenberg, however, had other ways, apart from his le t te r , o f

92. I t .  Prob., 186 -  92.
93. Russell to Palmerston, 10 December 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/2 3 4 . Russell 

had made a sim ilar observation at the beginning o f the quarrel with 
Spain (see above p. 1 8 5 ).

94. Palmerston seems to have been quite successful in th is . The le t te r  
was known to the Under-Secretaries at the Foreign O ffice , one of 
whom informed Normanby (Eddisbury to Normanby, 1 5  and 22 December 
1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. 0/393 and 0/395)» B̂ t there is  no evidence that the 
Queen, the Prime Minister or the rest o f the Cabinet knew o f i t  at 
the time, although in i860 Prince Albert learnt o f the incident

95. Palmerston7 to ’ ponsonby, copy, 22 December 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/PO/822.

92
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making the British  public aware o f his distaste fo r  Palmerston's meddle­

some po lic ies . Early in the new year he omitted to send to London an 

Austrian archduke to announce the accession o f Franz Josef, although

one was sent to the other major European capita ls. Palmerston dismissed

96the snub; the Queen and The Times were furious, 

i i )  THE SICILIAN QUESTION

The problems o f northern Ita ly  were the most serious to face the

British  Foreign O ffice in 1 8 4 8 . The need to avert a European war and

the poss ib ility  o f creating a new major Power demanded careful thought

and sk ilfu l conduct. But at the same time as the cr is is  in northern

Ita ly  was reaching it s  climax, another problem arose in the south of

the peninsula which also demanded the attention o f the B ritish  Government.

97The fa ilu re  o f Lord Minto's mediation in A pril caused Palmerston 

to rethink the B ritish  Government's attitude towards the Neapolitan

Government and the S ic ilian  rebels. He blamed the fa ilu re  on what he

98regarded as King Ferdinand's unreasonable obstinacy. S ic ily , he regret­

fu lly  concluded, was lost to the King and his sons. Therefore, on 8 May, 

he to ld  Abercromby that the British  Government would not object i f  the

S ic ilian  crown was offered to the Duke o f Genoa, the second son of 

99Charles A lbert. This declaration was based upon the assumption that 

the choice facing the S icilians was either a constitutional monarchy, 

which would be favourable to Brita in , or a republic, which would be 

favourable to France, and that in the former case the Duke o f Genoa

96. Queen V ictoria  to Russell, 22 December 1 8 4 8 : QVL, I I ,  2 4 6 ; The 
Times, 9 January 1849» 4» I t ,  Prob.. 292 -  3 .

97* See above pp. 1 2 7  — 30.
9 8 . Palmerston to Clarendon, 22 A pril 1 8 4 8 : Clar. P. Box 0 5 2 4 .
99» Palmerston to Abercromby, No 41» 8 May 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 6 7 / 1 4 8  (q PP,

LVI, 523). Two days ea r lie r  Palmerston had heard from Napier that 
the S icilians were considering asking Genoa to become the ir king 
(Napier to Palmerston, No 133, 24 A pril 1 8 4 8 ! PRO FO 70/2 2 3 , q PP»
LVI, 522).
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was the only suitable candidate. 100 "We sincerely regret that S ic ily

should be separated from Naples," Palmerston wrote on 15 May, "but

101we do not wish to see i t  either Republican or French."

The B ritish  were probably too suspicious about French intrigues 

in S ic ily . There is  no doubt that the French were alarmed about the

102
increase o f B ritish  influence in S ic ily  and hoped to counteract i t .

103But, despite some suspicions on the part o f Normanby, there is  l i t t l e

evidence that they were trying to establish a republic. They opposed

the election  o f the Duke o f Genoa, but th is was because they regarded

him as the British  candidate and as a further sign o f the attempted

aggrandizement o f S a r d i n i a . M o r e o v e r  they opposed his election  not

by agitating fo r  a republic but by attempting to maintain the link

between S ic ily  and the Neapolitan crown, and when they learnt o f Genoa's

105election  they broke o f f  the ir negotiations with the Neapolitans.

On 29 June Bastide assured Normanby that the French Government, f o l l ­

owing the line Britain had taken towards the Republic, would recognise

the S ic ilian  Government "so soon as the Government should be d e fin ite ly  

1 06established." In rep ly, Palmerston to ld  Normanby "to  express to 

the French Minr. fo r Foreign A ffa irs  the sincere G ratification  of

H.M.'s Govt, at finding that the Two Governments are lik e ly  to act 

in Unison and to have the same Views and Object in Regard to the A ffa irs  100 101 102 103 104 105 106

100. Palmerston to Napier, No 6 7 , 12 July 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 7 0 / 2 1 9  (q PP, 
LVI, 5 7 6 ). Of Revel to Pareto, 29 June 1 8 4 8 s Dip. Sard.. 162~ 3 .

1 0 1 . Palmerston to Abercromby, copy, 15  May 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/AB/272 
(q Dip. G.B.. 186 -  7).

1 0 2 . Jennings, 1 3 8 - 9 »
103. Normanby to E.J. Stanley, copy, 26 A p ril 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/lOla.
104. Bastide to Baudin, 17 June 1 8 4 8 : DD, I I ,  9 7 7 ; Jennings, 142;

F. Boyer: "La marine de la seconde république et la revolution 
s icilienne de fé v r ie r  a ju i l le t  1 8 4 8 " Etudes d 'H istoire Moderne 
et Contemporaine I I  (1948) 196 -  200.

105. Napier to Palmerston, No 195» confidentia l, 14 July 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO
70/225. ,

106. Normanby to Palmerston, No 4 2 4 , 29 June 1 8 4 8 : ib id  2 7 / 8 0 9  (q PP, 
LVI, 570).
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of I ta ly  and S ic i ly " .10^

The election  o f the Duke o f Genoa assumed that the separation of

Naples and S ic ily  was irrevocable. This was not so. By the end of

July i t  was apparent that King Ferdinand, having crushed the rebellion

on the mainland, was preparing to reconquer the other h a lf o f his

dominions. The Neapolitan preparations frightened the S ic ilian s: the

S ic ilian  envoy in Paris "expressed no doubt that they would defeat

them again, . . . but /~he said_/ that the Country would be ruined

for some time by another c o n f l ic t . "10  ̂ The preparations also frightened

the Sardinians. On 30 July Revel read to Palmerston a despatch from

Pareto in which, Palmerston to ld  the Cabinet la te r , i t  was announced

that Genoa would not accept the S ic ilian  crown "unless England declared

109She would protect S ic ily  from the Neapolitans." The British position 

over S ic ily  was collapsing. What, i f  anything, could the British  Govern­

ment do to restore it?

On 2 August Palmerston informed Russell o f Pareto's le t te r  which, 

he observed, "ra ises an important Question upon which we must take 

some Decision."

On the one Hand i t  may be said that seeing that we are at 
Peace with the King o f Naples, . . .  i t  would be an unfriendly 
Thing to in terfere by Force o f arms to prevent him from re­
conquering S ic ily  i f  he is  able to do so; and he asserts that 
he is  able, and that he can & w il l  do so, i f  no Foreign Power 
prevents him.

On the other hand, Palmerston went on, Britain had a moral obligation 

to assist the S ic ilian s: the constitution o f 1812 had been "established

107. Palmerston to Normanby, No 2 7 8 , 4  July 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 7 9 9  (q PP. 
LVI, 5 7 1 ). Greer concludes from this that at th is early stage Bri­
tain and France had an entente on Ita ly  (Greer, 2 4 2 ). Jennings, 
correcting Greer, says the entente was confined to S ic ily  (Jennings, 
138 and n74). In fa c t, Palmerston's reply is  misleading. The under­
standing was lim ited to the question o f recognition.

108. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 2 7  July 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/14/16 5 •
109 . Hobhouse's Diary, 4 August 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 ff8  — 9 . Cf 

Pareto to Revel, confidentia l, 1 7  July 1 8 4 8  and 2 5  July 1 8 4 8 , and 
Revel to Pareto, 31 July 18 4 8 : Dip, Sard., 176 , 182 — 3 and 1 8 5  — 6.
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mainly through the Instrumentality o f England, and under the Protection

of an English Army", w hilst, once Minto's mediation had fa iled , the

British  Government had encouraged S ic ilian  claims fo r  independence.

"A fter a l l  th is ", Palmerston judged,

i t  would surely he foo lish  and Inconsistent, and unworthy 
to hack out in t ir e ly , and to leave S ic ily  to he a Prey to 
the Barbarities o f a Neapolitan Invasion which would produce 
Murder P illage & Conflagration, hut which could not end in 
Conquest; and which moreover might lead to the Declaration 
o f a Republic, and an appeal to Prance fo r  support.

The solution to th is dilemma, Palmerston suggested, was to advise the

Neapolitan Government, "in  Strong Terms", not to attempt the reconquest

o f S ic ily  because the S ic ilians would never submit to its  ru le, and

to "keep our Fleet at Palermo and Messina to give weight to our nego-

. .. „ 1 1 0t ia tion ".

The attempt to maintain S ic ilian  independence by exerting diplomatic

pressure on Naples was only to be expected. But the rfrle o f the British

f le e t  was more controversial. Palmerston was w illin g  to use it s  presence

in S ic ilian  waters to deter a Neapolitan attack, but i t  is  unclear

whether he favoured using i t  i f  the Neapolitans ignored the warning.

What is  clear is  that Russell was opposed to i t s  use as long as the

111Neapolitans attacked no one but the S ic ilian s, w h ilst, follow ing

a conversation with Minto, Revel reported that he had l i t t l e  hope

"que nous puissions obtenir un engagement formel de la part de l'A n g le- 
112

te r re ."  However, like  Palmerston, Russell and Minto were reluctant 

to abandon the S ic ilians. I t  was decided to submit the decision about 

the use o f the f le e t  to the fu l l  Cabinet. 110 111 112

110. Palmerston to Russell, copy, 2 August 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/1 0 4 7 .
Revel judged that he could have persuaded Palmerston to declare 
that Britain would oppose a Neapolitan invasion, but that such
a declaration would be o f l i t t l e  value as "des decisions du Conseil 
ont déjà, en d'autres cas, modifié? les premières assurances de 
ce M inistre" (Revel to Pareto, 1 August 1 8 4 8 : Dip. Sard.. 190).

1 1 1 . Russell to Palmerston, 2 August 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/21 1 .
112. Revel to Pareto, 1 August 18 4 8 : Dip. Sard., 192.
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At the Cabinet on 4 August Palmerston argued strongly that the 

Neapolitan invasion must be prevented. " I f  we did not step in ,"  he 

observed, "Prance would & S ic ily  would become a republic." At the 

same time, he believed that i t  would not be necessary to use the f le e t  

as the Neapolitans would not dare to defy Britain. "Naples", he said 

pointedly, "had but four fr ig a te s ."  Sir George Grey and S ir Charles 

Wood were unconvinced by Palmerston’ s reassurances. The former "shook 

his head & said th is was warlike in terference." Lord Grey, however, 

proclaimed that he favoured intervention. I t  was a surprising declaration 

which Minto subsequently explained by saying that Grey, as Colonial 

Secretary, was concerned fo r  Malta whose security would be jeopardised 

i f  the French gained a base on S ic ily . Grey himself offered no explana­

tion  fo r his unusual b e llic o s ity . Whatever the reason, his intervention 

seemed decisive. Lansdowne and Hobhouse declared that they favoured

intervention, and the remainder f e l l  into lin e. As Morpeth observed,

113" I  think we cannot w ell do otherwise."

The Government probably hoped that its  decision to use the f le e t  

i f  necessary would not become known to the public. Unfortunately, on 

the evening o f the 8th, Lord Stanley, observing that British  policy 

should be not to in terfere "in  such a struggle o f a purely internal 

and domestic character", asked the Government two questions: had i t  

encouraged the S icilians to throw o f f  Neapolitan rule by supporting 

the candidature o f the Duke o f Genoa? and had the B ritish  f le e t  been

used to deter a Neapolitan reconquest o f the island? Lansdowne, replying 

fo r  the Government, admitted that i t  had supported the candidature o f

113. Grey's Journal, 4 August 1 8 4 8 : Grey P. C3/ 1 4 ; Hobhouse's Diary,
4 August 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f f 8 -  9? Morpeth's Diary, 4 
August 1 8 4 8 : C.H.A. J19/8/18 ff26  -  7? Minto's Journal, 2 5  October 

1 8 4 8 * N.L.S. Mss. 11995* This decision, however, had no e ffe c t  on 
the Sardinians, who by now were preoccupied by the war with Austria, 
n Q AllOT1C3+ Pareto to ld  Revel that Genoa had refused the S ic ilian
cro„9n ( S r e t o ^  R e ie i, 9 August , 8 4 8 : R i v a r d , ,  2 0 0 ) .
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the Duke o f Genoa, but despite being pressed by Malmesbury he refused

to say whether Admiral Parker had been instructed to stop a Neapolitan

attack "on the ground that i t  would not be conducive to the public

114in terest to do so ." Lansdowne's refusal to answer seems to have 

been a clumsy attempt to persuade the public that the Government might 

not intervene. The only resu lt, however, was to create the impression 

that i t  had decided to intervene but that i t  did not want to admit i t .

There was support fo r intervention in some quarters in Britain.

The Spectator admitted that technically the Government was wrong to 

in terfere in S ic ily , but i t  f e l t  that the principles upon which i t  

acted -  "a recognition of the people, the encouragement o f moderation, 

and the assim ilation o f Ita lia n  institu tions to the European fashion 

o f the day by establishing lim ited Monarchy" -  could not be bettered. 

"Besides," i t  argued,

those who deprecate English intervention now should be content 
to apply the ir own doctrine absolutely. Let i t  be known that 
we w i l l  on no account in terfere in I ta ly ,  and Prance w i l l  
march in alone . . . How would that suit those who now complain? ^

On the other hand, the Daily News, which was also pro-S icilian , came

down against intervention. "The British  Government", i t  judged, "has
A A f

indeed no right to in terfere , except by counsel and by remonstrance."

The Protectionists and the Peelites were appalled by the Government's 

decision. "Our conduct at Naples", wrote Aberdeen, "seems to be as 

unjustifiable and tyrannical as in the north o f Ita ly . Perhaps i t  is  

s t i l l  worse". 1 Mediation between the King o f Naples and the S ic ilian s , 

as had been undertaken by Minto, was permissible, declared The Times.

"But there is  an enormous distance between a mediation which was desired 

by both parties and an arbitrary and uncalled resistance by fo rc ib le  114 115 116 117

114. Hansard, C, 1193 -
115. Spectator, 12 August 1«4»» 7 °>
116. DN, 11 August 1 8 4 8 , 2.
117. Aberdeen to Princess Lieven, 1 6  August 1 8 4 8 : Jones Parry, I I ,  2 9 7 .
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means to the incontestable rights of the Neapolitan Government." Such 

an intervention would be

u tterly  indefensible on any principle recognized by c iv iliz e d  
nations and by British  statesmen. . . . Let us not deviate 
from the s tr ic t  rule o f non-intervention, and thereby furnish 
a precedent fo r a l l  the other States o f Europe to g ra tify  
either the ir revolutionary sympathies or their plans of 
reaction. Above a l l ,  le t  us not lend the encouragement o f 
our policy to insurrection ab^gd whilst we are crushing 
the same sp ir it  at home . . .

The comparison between S ic ily  and Ireland, to which The Times alluded, 

was not lost on the Ir ish  Repealers. In March the Nation contrasted 

the Government's policy towards S ic ily  with its  policy in Ireland.

I f  i t s  policy was to assist nationalist movements, as i t  was assisting

that in S ic ily , why, asked the Nation, did i t  firm ly repress Ir ish

119nationalism? Clarendon was disturbed by the comparison. "No good

done to Naples", he wrote to Russell a fte r reading the a r t ic le , "can

12 0be worth an injury in flic ted  on ourselves". Russell did not accept
121the comparison between S ic ily  and Ireland, but what was probably

more encouraging to Clarendon was the assurance that Minto was not

122working to separate S ic ily  from the Neapolitan crown. However, whilst 

th is was true in March, i t  was no longer true in August. When Clarendon 

learnt o f the Cabinet's decision to prevent a Neapolitan invasion he 

was furious. "You ask me what I  think o f the Neapolitan question", he 

wrote to Lansdowne,

. . . and I  answer that in my opinion no apprehended Euro­
pean danger can ju s t ify  the course we have pursued and that 
we have established a precedent most perilous to the state 
o f Europe and to our own domestic in terests. . . .  We appear 
en tire ly  to have forgotten Ireland and yet the s im ila rity  
o f circumstances should have kept i t  present to the Govern- 118 119 120 121 122

118. The Times. 10 August 1 8 4 8 , 5 . Cf MC, 10 August 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; MH, 10 
August 1 8 4 8 , 4; MP, 10 August 1 8 4 8 , 4*

119. Nation. 1 8  March 1 8 4 8 , 1 8 5 .
120. Clarendon to Russell, copy, 19 March 1 8 4 8 : Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter- 

Book Vol.2 f f l65 -  6 .
121. Russell to Clarendon, 21 March 1 8 4 8 : ib id  Ir ish  Box 43.
122. Palmerston to Clarendon, 18 March 1 8 4 8 : ib id  Box c524; Russell 

to Clarendon, 19 March 1 8 4 8 : iM d Ir ish  Box 43.
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. 123 ment.

The precedent the Government was establishing was a most dangerous one, 

he to ld  Normanby, "& some o f these days the French may take exactly 

the same course & ju s t ify  i t  by arguments such as we are making use 

o f . ” 12 4

The Government, then, was faced not only by a largely hostile response 

from the public but also by a deep d ivis ion  within it s  own ranks. At 

a Cabinet on the 1 8 th Palmerston, evidently a fte r  consultation with 

Russell, announced

that a fte r the determination o f the Cabinet to t e l l  Admiral 
Parker not to allow the Neapolitan f le e t  to carry troops to 
S ic ily , he had thought over the matter, & considering such 
a step rather strong, he had resolved to wait a l i t t l e  fo r 
events & he now wished to know our opinion. . . . C. Wood 
looked up at me !Hobhouse_ 7  & laughed, Minto mumbled some­
thing, and Lord Lansdowne assented to the policy o f not taking 
any fo rc ib le  means o f interference. . . . The Cabinet agreed 
to a lte r  its  former determination & only to remonstrate strongly 
with Naples. ^

The contrast between th is meeting and the one a fortn ight ea r lie r  was

apparent to a l l .  Lansdowne had changed his opinion, probably at least

partly because o f Clarendon’ s protest. Lord Grey, who had been a staunch

advocate o f intervention, accepted the decision, although i t  seems with 

12  6some regret. Only Minto remained obdurate, and he confined himself

to complaining in his journal that no one had to ld  him why the decision

127
should be reversed. The reason, as Palmerston explained to Normanby, 

was the d if f ic u lty  that would be found in ju stify in g  intervention to 

the public. "We should like to say to the King o f Naples, you shall 

not send your Expedition", Palmerston wrote; 123 124 125 126 127

123. Clarendon to Lansdowne, copy, 12 August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  Ir ish  Letter- 
Book Vol.3 f f l 08 -  9.

124. Clarendon to Normanby, 14 August 18 4 8 : Nor. P. 0/ 1 5 8 .
125. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 18 August 1 8 4 8 s B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 ff17 -  18.
126. Grey's Journal, 18  August 1 8 4 8 1 Grey P. C3/14«
1 2 7 . Minto’ s Journal, 14 October 1 8 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 11995«
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Taut i t  wd. be d if f ic u lt  to find Reasons fo r doing so which 
would be accepted as quite Satisfactory by Parliament & the 
Public: 'th ere fo re^  we propose to make an urgent Represent­
ation to the King against an attack on S ic ily , and in the 
Mean Time to leave him alj-^gthe Benefit o f uncertainty as to 
what our Intentions are.

Unfortunately fo r  Palmerston, the need to convince the Neapolitans

that Britain might intervene conflicted with the Government's need

to regain public confidence by making assurances that i t  would not.

On 23 August Russell to ld  the Commons that Parker had received no in -

129structions to in terfere in the struggle between S ic ily  and Naples.

The e ffe c t o f th is declaration, Minto judged with the benefit o f hind­

sight, was to persuade the Neapolitans that they could go ahead with

130the ir attack on S ic ily .

* * *

On 10 September the Neapolitan f le e t  began to bombard Messina as 

the prelude to an invasion o f S ic ily . What happened next was in complete 

contradiction to the B ritish  Government's decision o f 18  August. A fter 

watching the bombardment fo r several hours Admiral Baudin, the commander 

o f the French f l ee t ,  to ld  Parker that he was going to put an end to 

the figh ting. He asked whether Parker wished to jo in  him in th is , "but", 

reported Napier, " [ ~ heJ  expresses his resolution to act singly in case 

the la tte r  should not deem himself enabled to embrace a sim ilar course." 

A fter consulting Napier, Parker decided that he must assist B aud in .^  

Confronted by the overwhelming strength o f the B ritish  and French 

f le e ts , the Neapolitan commander agreed to an armistice.

Baudin ju s t ified  his intervention on the grounds that he had a moral 

obligation to put an end to the wanton bloodshed being in flic ted  by 128 129 130 131

128. Palmerston to Normanby, 18  August 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/62.
129. Hansard, Cl, 432 -  3.
130. Minto's Journal, 14 October 18 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 11995.
131. Napier to Palmerston, No 2 5 2 , 10 September 18 4 8 : PRO F0 7 0 / 2 2 7  

(q PP, LVI, 720 -  1). To be fa ir  to Napier and Parker, although 
the ir action was contrary to the Cabinet's wishes, they do not 
seem to have been to ld  that they must not intervene.
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the Neapolitans. Cavaignac, Normahby reported, accepted th is explana­

tion , hut regretted that the French Government found i t s e l f  "thus
132

engaged further in  the Question than they had intended." Napier,

however, suspected that Baudin had a more s in is ter motive:

he may have yielded simply to a sincere impulse o f commis­
eration, or he may have judged the present occasion a favour­
able one fo r Cultivating the A ffections o f the S icilians by 
shewing a greater devotion in th e ir cause than the conscien­
tious im partia lity o f S ir William Parker w i l l  allow.

I t  was th is conviction o f Baudin's motives that had prompted Parker

and Napier to jo in  the intervention. O ff ic ia l ly ,  Napier claimed that

134they too had been actuated by considerations o f humanity. In private,

Parker confessed that th is was not so:

altho* I  am aware that I  have exceeded the Latitude o f my 
instructions i t  appeared to me desirable that some respon­
s ib i l i t y  should be assum'd to prevent the S icilians throwing 
themselves in the Arms o f our Neighbours altogether, & becom­
ing a Republic.

135He hoped, he added, that he would not be "severely censured".

Like the French Government, the B ritish  Government f e l t  compelled

to support the actions o f it s  subordinates in southern Ita ly . " I t  would

not have been w e ll" , Palmerston observed, "that the Interference should

136have been purely French." Indeed, Auckland thought i t  "not very 

agreeable" that the French had been the f i r s t  to i n t e r v e n e , w h i l s t  

Minto confessed to fee lin g  "a good deal distressed & m ortified" that
a  -3 O

the attack had been allowed in the f i r s t  place. The problem was 

what to do next?

On 20 September Cavaignac spoke to Normanby about the need fo r  Britain 132 133 134 135 136 137 138

132. Normanby to Palmerston, No 590, 1 5  September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 3 
(q PP, LVI, 710).

133. Napier to Palmerston, No 260, 13 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 70/2 2 7 .
134. Napier to Palmerston, No 2 5 4 , 10 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id  (partly  q 

PP, LVI, 729 -  30).
135. Parker to  Minto, 12 September 18 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 12084 f f 6 l -  4 .
136. Palmerston to Russell, 2 5  September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7 D.
137. Auckland to Russell, 18 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id .
138. Minto to Russell, 16 September 1 8 4 8 : ib id .
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and Prance to agree on a jo in t policy over S ic ily . "The French Govern­

ment", he said,

would not w illin g ly  promote any settlement which would tend 
to the complete separation o f S ic ily  from the Kingdom of 
Naples. What they would wish to propose would he an indepen­
dent constitution upon somewhat the model o f that o f 1 8 1 2 , 
under a Viceroy appointed hy the King o f Naples, hut should 
His Neapolitan Majesty not v io len tly  oppose himself to such 
a modification, they would not in the least object to the 
Throne o f S ic ily  passing to one o f his Sons under a Regency. ^

Such a settlement would he highly desirable to the French Government.

I t  would reaffirm  the Republic's revolutionary credentials, hy assis­

ting an "oppressed nationa lity", without damaging French interests hy 

creating a state which would he more favourable to Britain than to 

France. Moreover, i f  Britain agreed to these terms, i t  would strengthen 

and widen the entente.

The Cabinet's decision o f 1 8  August had made i t  plain that the 

complete independence o f S ic ily  was no longer an immediate goal o f 

B ritish  foreign policy. However Russell and Palmerston fe l t  obliged 

to save something fo r the S ic ilian s: at the end o f August Russell had 

declared that "we must see that the S ic ilians have a l l  the rights ass­

ured to them hy British  influence in 1 8 1 2 " , 1 ^ 0 and on 11 September 

Palmerston had instructed Napier to o ffe r  mediation on terms sim ilar 

to those now suggested hy Cavaignac. I t  is  not surprising, then, 

that Palmerston should consider the French proposal "the best that 

could he made considering the Strength on the one side & the exasper— 

ation on the other." On 26 September the B ritish  Government agreed 

to propose jo in t mediation on the terms suggested hy Cavaignac. H

139. Normanhy to Palmerston, No 601, 20 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 3 
(partly  q PP, LVI, 735 -  6 ). Cf Palmerston to Russell, 20 September 
1 8 4 8 : PRO 3O/2 2/7 D, reporting a sim ilar conversation with Beaumont.

140. Russell to Palmerston, 31 August 18 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/222.
141. Palmerston to Napier, No 7 8 , 11 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 70/219

(q PP, LVI, 703 -  5)- „ n , ,
142. Palmerston to Russell, 20 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/22/7 D.
143. Palmerston to Normanby, No 405i 26 September 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO 

(q PP, LVI, 748 -  9)-
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I t  was not un til 25 October that the Cabinet as a whole had an oppor­

tunity to discuss the intervention and the jo in t mediation. The day 

before, Russell, Palmerston and Minto considered what line they should 

adopt at the meeting.1̂  But things did not go as they had planned.

There was a long inquest about the ea r lie r  decisions on S ic ily  and 

some sharp exchanges. I t  was agreed that i t  had been necessary to approve 

Parker's actions and agree to the mediation, but no one was happy about 

what had been accomplished or the way i t  had been done. The Cabinet 

then discussed what should be done i f  the mediation fa iled . Minto was 

in favour o f resisting a renewed Neapolitan attack, but th is was over­

ruled by the rest. However, according to Hobhouse, Palmerston seemed 

"rather inclined" to the idea. " I  do not think that even when we broke 

up we had a d istinct understanding o f the course which was to be pursued 

i f  the mediation fa iled _/ ," Hobhouse concluded, " fo r  a good deal 

w i l l  naturally depend on the conduct o f our French a l l i e s . " 1̂

The general reaction o f the ministers to the meeting was one of 

d issatisfaction . During the discussion Sir George Grey "more than once
A A £

shook his head & talked o f a parliamentary case". 4  Lord Grey, who 

a week before had confessed that "the proceedings o f our f le e t  . . . 

alarms me much", thought the exchanges "unsatisfactory enough."1̂  

Hobhouse, re flec tin g  on the silence o f Russell and the attitude of 

Palmerston, observed that he "should not be surprised to find that 

our day's ta lk  has had l i t t l e  e ffe c t on our a fte r  proceeding."1̂ ® I t  

was Lord Minto, however, who fe l t  most unhappy. He had expected the 

opposition o f the Grey faction , but he was angry at Palmerston's fa ilu re  

to exhibit more support fo r the S ic ilian s, and he was disappointed by 144 145 * * *

144. Minto's Journal, 24 October 18 4 8 s N.L.S. Mss. 11995.
145. Hobhouse’ s Diary, 2 5  October 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 ff49
14«. Hobhouse's Diary, 25 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  f53.
147 Grev's Journal, 1 8  and 25 October 1 8 4 8 : Grey P. C3/1 4 .
U 8 .  Hobhouse^^Diary, 25 October 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 f 53.

-  53.



Lansdowne's "decis ive" vote against intervention. Minto f e l t  that

the Government had deserted the S ic ilian  cause, and he considered

resigning in protest. He decided not to because he judged that "the

presence o f a warm & zealous friend is  important to Lord John since

r iv a l amhition/fs_ J  begin to manifest themselves in his cabinet".

Instead, that evening he to ld  the S ic ilian  envoys in London that they

14-9should "look fo r no further assistance from us". Two days la ter 

Minto had a long ta lk  with Russell a fte r  which he f e l t  more hopeful.

The Prime M inister's "fee lin gs  and good wishes are with the S ic ilian s", 

Minto wrote, " -  but I  suspect him to be constrained by circumstances 

to y ie ld  to the opinions o f some whose resignation must break up his 

government. ^

Except in  the case o f Minto, the acrimony which existed about th is 

Cabinet meeting did not re fle c t  a disagreement about future policy 

but rather re flected  a consciousness that the policy which had been 

pursued would not be popular with Parliament. The Protectionists were 

furious about the intervention. "Surely we have grossly mismanaged 

the S ic ilian  business", wrote Lord Stanley, "in  which, as i t  seems 

to me, our interference has been unjustifiab le in princip le, & has 

produced the e ffe c t o f protracting the state o f uncertainty, & o f mor- 

t a l ly  offending both the contending p arties ." J Many Peelites were 

equally angry, with Graham, fo r example, believing that "by encou­

raging fa lse Hopes on the part o f the Insurgents, we have embittered

1 52the con flic t and have prolonged i t " .  Peel, who obtained deta ils

153o f the Government’ s intentions from the Queen, was more cautious, 149 150 151 152 153

149. Minto's Journal, 25 October 18 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 11995-
150. Minto's Journal, 2 7  October 1 8 4 8 : ib id .
151. Stanley to Wellington, copy, 24 December 1 8 4 8 : Der. P. Box 1 7 8 / 1 . 

Cf MP, 24 October 1 8 4 8 , 2.
152. Graham to Peel, 3 November 18 4 8 1 B.L. Add. Mss. 40452 f295- Cf 

Aberdeen to Peel, 22 October 18 4 8 : ib id  40455 f452; The Times.
2 7  October 1 8 4 8 , 4; MC, 23 November 18 4 8 , 4 .

153. Peel to Aberdeen, confidential, 29 October 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 
43065 f344-
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tut he too thought the position o f the ministers "very embarrassing".

155On the whole, the Whigs and the Radicals approved o f the intervention.

But even here there were some doubts. Charles G reville  confessed he 

found the Government's policy "incomprehensible", arguing that the 

fle e ts  should have intervened either before the Neapolitans attacked 

or not at a l l .  " I  can understand intervention or non-intervention,"

1 5 6he wrote, "but I  cannot understand either what we do or leave undone".

The Government's position was made worse by it s  recognition that

the mediation would probably f a i l .  At the Cabinet meeting Palmerston

had disagreed when Minto observed that the S icilians would never accept

Ferdinand and Ferdinand would never allow one o f his sons to take his 

157place. But when announcing the Government's acceptance o f the French

1 58proposal he expressed sim ilar doubts. v He hoped that the S icilians

would become more manageable "when they see the ir re la tive  weakness

& that there is  no chance o f active Help from England & France", but

he recognised that the ir desire fo r  independence was undiminished.

To make matters worse, the Neapolitan Government resented the intervention

160o f the B ritish  and French f le e ts , which i t  considered had prevented 

the reconquest o f S ic ily , and was unlikely to view the mediation in 

a friend ly  ligh t. By the end o f the year i t  was apparent that the 

concessions offered by King Ferdinand would not be su ffic ien t to reassure 

the S ic ilians. "Our prospects are lowering with regard to the Settlement 

o f the S ic ilian  question . . . "  wrote Parker on 23 December.

154

Peel to Graham, 2 November 1 8 4 8 : Gra. P. Bundle 105.
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The Attitude assumed by Russia, the improvements in  the 
a ffa irs  o f Austria, & the counsels o f Spain, a l l  tend to 
indispose King Ferdinand to consent to separate his army 
& forego his ancient power over the S ic ilians. He w i l l  grant 
the restoration o f the Constitution o f 1 8 1 2, provided he 
has m ilitary occY^tion to throw i t  over when he finds i t  
convenient . . .

However the fear o f un ilateral French action, which seems to have been 

s k ilfu lly  exploited by the S ic ilian  representatives in London, 1 ^2 en­

sured that the British  Government did a l l  i t  could to keep the nego­

tia tions going. I t  had embarked upon a course o f action which i t  seemed 

could not succeed and which was unpopular with the British  electorate, 

but from which i t  dare not withdraw.

The B ritish  Cabinet's decision in the autumn o f 18 4 8  to allow the 

Neapolitans to regain control o f S ic ily  is  understandable given the dom­

estic  pressures. But the ea r lie r  decision to assist the S ic ilians cannot 

simply be explained by the pro-S icilian  sympathies o f the ministers.

The B ritish  Government sympathised with other lib e ra l movements, but 

i t  did not give them assistance. The fact that Britain could use her 

navy in S ic ily  to intervene e ffe c t iv e ly , which she could not do in , say, 

northern I ta ly ,  gave her the means but not the motive. That motive was 

the fear o f French intentions in S ic ily , and as fa r as can be judged 

that fear was largely unfounded. The objective o f the French Government 

was not to create a republic in S ic ily  but to prevent the island being 

dominated by Britain , just as the British  Government's objective was 161 162

161. Parker to Wood, 23 December 1 8 4 8 : Hal. P. A4/ 1 6 3 .
162. Towards the end o f November, fo r example, the representatives to ld  

Minto and Palmerston that they had reason to hope that the French 
Government would "enforce a continuance o f the Armistice as long 
as possible", which, according to Minto, helped to make Palmerston 
and Russell "quite aware that the French are playing a somewhat 
double game with them" (Minto's Journal, 26 November and 5 December 
1 8 4 8 : N.L.S. Mss. 11995)- According to Normanby and Parker, however, 
i t  was reassuring how closely French views on S ic ily  agreed with 
those o f Britain (Normanby to Palmerston, No 721, 11 November 1 8 4 8 : 
PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 5  (q PPj LVI, 793); Parker to Wood, 23 December 1 8 4 8 : 
Hal. P. A4/ 1 63).
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was to prevent the island being dominated by Prance. Mutual suspicion, 

rather than a mutual desire to assist the S ic ilian s, was the dominant 

motive in the formation o f B ritish  and French policy towards southern 

Ita ly . I f  both Powers had been more trusting, they would have avoided 

a complication which neither had wanted and which was impossible to 

solve without further embarrassment.

i i i ) MINOR PROBLEMS

On 8 A p ril r io tin g  broke out in the town of Jassy in Moldavia. The 

figh ting lasted fo r four days before the authorities were able to restore
A

order. In i t s e l f  the ris in g  was o f l i t t l e  importance, but the situa­

tion  was complicated by the peculiar position o f Moldavia and its  neigh­

bouring p rincipa lity  o f Wallachia. Although s t i l l  nominally part o f the 

Turkish Empire, by the Treaty o f Adrianople both p rin c ipa lities  had been 

given de facto independence and Russia had been given the right to in ter­

fe re , by force i f  necessary, in the ir internal a ffa irs . On this occasion, 

the Russian Government showed no inclination  to in tervene.16“̂  However, 

ten weeks la ter , when a more serious revolution broke out in Bucharest, 

the Russian Government sent 14,000 troops into the p rin c ip a lities  to 

subdue the unrest and pressurised the Porte into assisting its  action. 

A fter some in i t ia l  hesitation, which was encouraged by Stratford Canning,

the Porte agreed, and by the end o f October a jo in t Turko-Russian force

1 65had entered Bucharest and crushed the rebellion .

Nesselrode assured Bloomfield "that nothing but absolute necessity 

would have induced the Russian Government to take the step which they 

have done". I ts  intention, he said, was to shore up the Turkish Empire. 1 6 6

163.

164.
165. 
166.

R.R.N. Florescu: The Struggle against Russia in the Romanian Prin­
c ip a lit ie s  t A Problem in Anglo-Turkish Diplomacy 1.821 -  1 8 5 4  (Monachii

1962), 189 -  90.
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Given the Russian desire not to reopen the Eastern Question whilst

167Europe was in such turmoil, i t  is  lik e ly  that Nesselrode was te ll in g  

the truth. However the B ritish , as usual extremely sensitive about 

possible Russian expansion towards Constantinople, remained suspicious.

The Russians may have a right to intervene, declared Fraser’ s Magazine.

but might they not be tempted to go further than they were entitled?

16 8"The opportunity", i t  judged, " is ,  to say the least, tempting." Canning

was particu larly alarmed, and by 20 November he was asking, in vain,

that Parker's f le e t  be sent into the eastern Meditierranean in order

1 69 'to encourage the Turks to res is t Russian demands. Palmerston was

less suspicious than many o f his countrymen, and even gave muted approval

170to the in i t ia l  intervention. But the presence o f Russian troops in

the p rin c ipa lities  did cause fr ic tio n . Palmerston was convinced that

there could be no permanent s ta b ility  in the p rin c ipa lities  u n til the

171corrupt and in e ffic ien t administration there had been reformed. Ness­

elrode, on the other hand, insisted that there should be no reforms

until order had been completely restored fo r  he did not want to seem
172

to be rewarding rebellion . More seriously, once the insurrection had

been crushed Palmerston began to pester Nesselrode about the fa ilu re

173o f the Russians to withdraw from the p rin c ip a lities . He remained

convinced that the Russians would leave, but he f e l t  that they were

174taking an unnecessarily long time. 167 168 169 170 171 172 173 174

167. See above pp. 124 -  5»
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British  concern about possible Russian expansion in the Near East

was shared by the French Government. Early in  May Lamartine to ld  Thom

that he wished to see Austria remain powerful on the Danube to counter-

act Russian influence. A few weeks la ter Tallenay spoke to Palmerston,

a lbe it only in the most general terms, about the problems o f the Near

East, and he was happy to report that the ir views coincided to a great

extent. However i t  was not un til a fte r the Russian intervention

in the p rin c ipa lities  that the Republic began to take a close in terest.

On 18  July Palmerston assured Bastide that the British  Government would

177co-operate "g lad ly" with France over the p rin c ip a lities . The day 

before, he had instructed Canning to "encourage any fr iend ly  overtures" 

which General Aupick, the French representative in  Constantinople, 

may make towards him.

Canning was less than enthusiastic about establishing an understanding 

between himself and Aupick. Although he liked Aupick personally, he 

regarded him as a potential r iv a l. He was determined that he should 

not be allowed to play a prominent riMe in Turkish a ffa irs . "His assist­

ance might, no doubt, be occasionally o f use", he wrote in September;

"but I  do not yet fe e l the want o f him, and I  had rather have his good 

w i l l  and readiness to second on general terms than be bound up in a 

system o f close co-operation with him". But Canning's suspicions 

about the French in the Near East were based upon more than a vague 

alarm fo r  his own position. In mid-August Aupick to ld  him that three 

French o ffic e rs  had been sent to Wallachia to assess the situation 175 176 177 178 179

175. Jennings, 218 -  19. Lamartine's aim was evidently to assure Austria
that his wish to deprive her o f her Ita lia n  possessions was not the
result o f a desire to destroy her as a major Power.
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there. Whilst declaring no wish "to  insinuate a suspicion o f any u lt­

er io r view ," Canning observed to Palmerston that neither he nor the 

Porte had been to ld  o f the mission before i t  departed , 1 ^0 and he in­

structed the British  consul in Bucharest to report "any thing in  their

181conduct that may seem to be at variance" with the ir avowed objective.

In i t s e l f  the episode was o f l i t t l e  importance, but i t  helped to pre­

served Canning's distrust o f the French.

On 1 8  October Bastide spoke to Normanby "very earnestly" about 

events in  the p rin c ip a lities .

He said he was not apt to seek imaginary dangers or to a tt­
ribute hostile  intentions, but he owned he was uneasy at 
the successful influence which Russia seemed to be exercising 
in  a l l  th is a ffa ir .  That unless some remonstrance on the 
part o f England and o f France could inspire the Porte with 
sounder counsels, the independence o f Turkey was near its  
termination, and we must be prepared to fe e l the inconven­
ience o f the speedy entransj^of Russia into the Mediterranean 
with a l l  its  consequences.

Bastide evidently regarded the presence o f Russian troops in the prin­

c ip a lit ie s  as the beginning o f Russian expansion towards Constantinople. 

Palmerston tr ied  to reassure him. He did not believe that the Russian

invasion was the start o f a drive towards the S tra its . The worst Russia

might intend, he judged, was to increase her hold over the principal­

i t ie s ,  and even th is he thought unlikely. But he agreed that Britain 

and France should "endeavour, by friend ly representations to mitigate

the course which Russia is  pursuing, and to persuade her not to prolong 

the stay o f her Troops in Wallachia. ^  Bastide agreed to fo llow  Palm­

erston's advice and sent appropriate orders to Le F l^  and Aupick,1^  180 181 182 183 184

180. Canning to Palmerston, Ho 71» 17 August 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 78/7 3 4 .
1 8 1 . Canning to Colquhoun, copy, 28 August 1 8 4 8 : ib id  352/3l/2. A fter 
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whilst Palmerston instructed Canning and Buchanan to co-ordinate the ir

attitude on the p r in c ip a lit ies , " in  the sp ir it  o f my despatch to Lord

Normahby", with the ir French counter-parts.1 8  ̂ Le FIS', Buchanan rep lied ,

acquiesced to his orders, hut "evidently conceived the language o f

Your Lordship's instructions might have been more energetick."18^

The willingness o f the British  Government to co-operate with the

French Government over the Wear East re flected  not only a s im ila rity

in outlook on the problem, without which co-operation would have been

impossible, but also a readiness on the part o f the French Government

to fo llow  the British  lead. The same principle held true over the

problem in the Rio Plata. Bastide was uncertain about the importance

187o f the a f fa ir  and bewildered by it s  complexity. He to ld  Normanby 

that "he would do anything he could to get out o f that Rio Plata busi­

ness" ^ 88 and he was ready to fo llow  Palmerston's advice.^8'* The result 

in the Rio Plata, however, was to make French policy confused and in e ff­

ective , and to enable Britain to pursue her own interests with l i t t l e  

consideration to her a l l y .1^°

*  *  *

Britain and France had reached useful understandings on the questions 

o f Moldavia-Wallachia and the Rio Plata. There were other problems, 

however, where the British  and French Governments, although anxious 

to secure an understanding, found i t  d if f ic u lt  to work together. The 

most obvious example o f th is was over Greece, where the r iv a lry  o f 

Britain and France seemed perennial.

The relations between Palmerston and the King o f Greece, Otho, and

1 8 5 . Palmerston to Buchanan, No 32, 31 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  65/3 4 5 ; Palm­
erston to Canning, No 161, 31 October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  78/732.
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190. Cady, 238 -  4 6 .



311

his Government had never "been very cord ia l, hut at the beginning o f

18 4 8  they were at a particu larly low ebb. In March, when Kings and

Princes were being swept from the ir thrones, Palmerston confessed

191" I  should not cry my eyes out i f  Otho were added to the l i s t . "  He

was in furiated with Louis Philippe and Guizot, whom he accused o f

sabotaging the attempts o f the B ritish  Government, and more particu larly

o f i t s  representative in Athens Sir Edmund Lyons, to lib era lise  and

reform the Greek Government. With the formation o f the Republic, however,

he assumed that Prance would stop supporting what he considered a

19 2corrupt and despotic regime.

Lyons had l i t t l e  doubt that Thouvenel, the French charge d 'a ffa ires

193in Athens, would continue the policy instigated by Guizot. In fa c t, 

Thouvenel was to ld  to put an end to the quarrel, which Bastide s t ig ­

matised as "un antagonisme sans but determine, une lu tte vaine, i r r i -  

tante et s te r ile  en d e f i n i t i v e s . ^  But when Thouvenel approached 

Lyons, he found the B ritish  minister unresponsive. Good relations were

"en tire ly  out o f the question", Lyons to ld  Palmerston, as long as the

195French continued to support Otho.

By June the French Government had reached the conclusion that good

relations with Britain over Greece could not be achieved u n til Lyons

19 6
had been recalled . There seemed grounds fo r  hoping that th is would

happen, fo r Tallenay reported that Lyons' re ca ll was being contemplated

197by the Cabinet. There was indeed much d issatis faction  with Lyons 

in British  c irc le s : Normanby, fo r example, observed that i f  "there 

are two ways o f doing a right thing, Lyons is  seldom fortunate enough

191. Palmerston to Westmorland, copy, 23 March 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/WE/1 9 1 .
1 9 2 . Palmerston to Westmorland, copy, 21 March 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/WE/1 9 0 .
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to h it upon the best." Palmerston, however, stuck resolutely to 

the defence o f his subordinate. In response to criticism s from Prince 

Albert he declared:

The Pact is  that the only sin o f Lyons is  that he has been 
the o f f ic ia l  organ o f the advice & complaints o f the English 
Government, and that the lib era l & nationalqParty in Greece 
look up to him with Respect, & Confidence. ^

Stratford Canning even received a rebuke fo r fa il in g  to adopt Lyons’

tone when dealing with the Greek Government. 198 199 200 201 Palmerston was anxious

to establish an entente with Prance over Greece, fo r he believed that

201shorn o f French support Otho would submit to B rita in 's  demands. But 

he refused to pay the price o f Lyons' re ca ll, which the French Govern­

ment viewed as "un excellent acheminement au bon accord . . .  et la 

meilleure preuve qu'on put nous donner de la sincérité des intentions 

exprimées à ce su jet . " 202 203

Despite Lyons' continued presence in Athens, in October there was 

another attempt to establish an entente. During a conversation with 

Beaumont Palmerston launched a long diatribe against Otho, against the 

po lic ies which had been pursued by Louis Philippe, and against the pol­

ic ie s  which were being pursued by the Northern Courts. "H.M.'s Govt, 

cannot but b e lie ve ", he declared in a subsequent despatch to Normanby,

that the Greek Nation may look with Confidence to the present 
Govt, o f Prance fo r the Exertion o f i t s  moral Influence at 
Athens in  Favor o f Law, o f Liberty, and o f Justice; and H.M.’ s 
Govt, are convinced that i f  the French Representative at Athens 
were to receive Instructions to shape his Course so as to pro­
mote the Establishment o f a good Government in Greece^ the In­
fluence o f France would not be exerted in vain . . .

198

198. Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 17 November 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/2 3 2 .
Cf Prince Albert to Russell, 12 January 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/2 2/7A; Hob- 
house's Diary, 28 January 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss. 43751 f775 Canning 
to Palmerston, 19 June 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/CA/163; Queen V ictoria  to 
Russell, 9 August 1 8 4 8 , enclosed in Russell to Palmerston, 10 August 
1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/RU/214.

199. Palmerston to Russell, 13 January 1 8 4 8 : PRO 30/22/7A.
200. Palmerston to Canning, No 79» 25 July 1 8 4 8 : PRO F0 78/731.
201. Tallenay to Bastide, 8 and 12 June 1 8 4 8 : DD, I I ,  7 3 9  -  40 and 806.
202. Bastide to Thouvenel, 16 June 1 8 4 8 : ib id , 937-
203. Palmerston to Normanby, No 429, 3 October 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8OO.
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Queen V ictoria  objected strongly to th is despatch. She d isliked

its  whole tone, but she particu larly regretted the b it te r  personal

remarks about Louis Philippe and Otho.20  ̂ Palmerston admitted that

the despatch was couched in strong terms, but explained that i t  re flected

the depth o f his fee lings and that

in his anxiety to persuade the present Government o f Prance 
to take a fa ir  and juster view o f Greek a ffa irs  and pursue 
a more equitable policy, he could not avoid observations on 
the personal qualities o f the one, and the systematic policy 
o f the other . . . becausepthose observations lay at the very 
root o f his argument . . .  5

Nevertheless, the Queen insisted that the remarks about Otho and Louis
206

Philippe be omitted. A message was sent to the Foreign O ffice to

have the despatch stopped, Palmerston reported on the 1 6 th, "but he

was sorry to find that by some inadvertence & mistake in the Hurry o f

Business that Despatch had contrary to the standing orders . . . been

already transmitted to Paris ." Even so, Palmerston remained unapologetic,

remarking that "when important public Interests are at Stake, essential

207Truths ought not to be withheld". In fa c t, the despatch had less

impact in Paris than Palmerston had hoped and the Queen had feared.

Bastide gave i t  only a cursory glance and expressed a vague wish to
208

put an end to the r iv a lry  in Athens, Knowing that he and Palmerston 

would not agree, he probably wished to avoid the subject.

A month la ter the gap between the British  and French Governments 

over Greece became more obvious. On 2 7  October Lyons reported that 

Thouvenel had tried  to persuade three Greek ministers who wanted to 

resign to remain in o ffic e . For Lyons, th is was proof that Thouvenel

204. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston, 8 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. RC/F/ 3 9 7  
(q QVL, I I ,  236 -  7).

205. Palmerston to Queen V ictoria ,
206. Queen V ictoria  to Palmerston,

(partly q RvP, 103).
207. Palmerston to Queen V ictoria , copy, 16 October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. RC/FF/ 1 4

(partly  q RvP, 103 -  4)* „ „ .
208. Normanby to Palmerston, No 644, 13 October 1848s PRO FO 27/814.

11 October 1 8 4 8 : RvP, 103.
1 4  October 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. RC/F/ 3 9 8
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was sustaining Otho’ s corrupt and despotic regime. Palmerston agreed,

and urged the French Government to instruct Thouvenel to work with

210Lyons fo r  a lib e ra l government in Athens. Bastide retorted that
211

Thouvenel needed no new instructions. " I t  was with great d if f ic u lty

I could make Bastide fe e l that there was necessarily anything wrong

in the intervention o f M. Thouvenel", Normanby wrote the follow ing

day. " . . .H e  then adverted to that which I  have always found in the

mouth o f every Diplomatist o f every Country & o f every Party -  the

212im possib ility o f anyone getting on w ell with Lyons." Palmerston

replied  that i t  was not Lyons but Thouvenel who should be replaced.

" I  presume", he concluded, "Bastide does not wish the French Missions

to keep up th is guerre aux Coups d'Epingles which Guizot took such 
2i i

Delight in ."

*  *  *

Despite the ir deep-rooted d istrust, which was most c lea rly  manifested 

over S ic ily  and Greece, towards the end o f 18 4 8  the British  and French 

Governments were moving, a lbe it slowly and hesitantly, from a lim ited 

entente on northern Ita ly  to a more general understanding on a l l  quest­

ions o f foreign policy. The two publics, however, remained mutually 

d istrustfu l, as a number o f small incidents illu stra ted .

At the end o f October a party o f National Guardsmen paid a good-w ill 

v is it  to London. Their a rr iva l caused consternation. " I  have seen many 

more French uniforms than English on the facade th is morning", Wood 

to ld  his w ife : "& i t  rea lly  is  absurd to see groups of 12 & 2 0  French 

soldiers . . . standing at the street corners & walking about, as i f

2 0 9

209. Lyons to Palmerston, No 117, 2 7  October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  32/1 6 5 .
2 1 0 . Palmerston to Normanby, No 512 and No 5 1 3 , 14 November 1848: ib id

27/801.
211. Normanby to Palmerston, No 733, 16 November 1 8 4 8 : ib id  2 7/8 1 5 .
2 1 2 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 17 November 1848: Nor. P. P/14/232.
213. Palmerston to Normanby, 19 November 1 8 4 8 : ib id  P/20/7 4 .
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at home." Most British  newspapers welcomed the v is i t ,  Believing,

as the Spectator observed, that i t  would promote "mutual good fee lin g

and confidence between French and English." But i t  was rumoured in

some quarters that the Guardsmen were trying to s t ir  up a revolution
215

or were spying out the ground fo r  an invasion. Such fears were not

eased by the fact that the Guardsmen continued to carry the ir side-arms.

Palmerston instructed Normanby to t e l l  the relevent authority that in

future i t  would be better i f  they le f t  the ir weapons in France. " I t  was

quite natural that the French National Guards who are accustomed every

day to see armed men walking about the streets o f Paris . . . should

consider i t  a matter of Etiquette to bring the ir side arms with them,"

216he wrote, "but in th is Country the practice is  d iffe ren t".

In Paris, Normanby was equally alarmed when i t  was rumoured that

1 ,500 Britons would pay a return v is it  fo r  that o f the Guardsmen. " I

am not you know much o f an alarm ist", he to ld  Palmerston, "but one

hears from every quarter that the f i r s t  occasion w il l  be seized by

the Anarchical party to renew the attempts o f June." Normanby feared

that "a mob o f gaping English", v is it in g  the scenes o f the figh ting

in June, might spark o f f  an insurrection, which would probably result

in British  casualties and might lead to an anti-B ritish  outcry. " I  know

there is  no authority to prevent th is / " v i s i t h e  declared, . .

but i t  would be w ell i f  they could be induced to postpone i t  t i l l  they
217

could have a rea l President to stare a t ."

As w ell as the tourists crossing the Channel, there was a small 

but steady stream of French refugees seeking asylum in B rita in . 2 1 8  In

214. Wood to his w ife , 24 October 18 4 8 : Hal. P. A2/4 3/4 .
215. MC, 2 7  October 18 4 8 , 4; Spectator, 28 October 18 4 8 , 1030.
216. Palmerston to Normanby, No 520, 17 November 1 8 4 8 s PRO F0 2 7/8 0 1 .
217. Normanby to Palmerston, 23 November 18 4 8 , enclosed in G. Grey to 

Palmerston, 29 November 1 8 4 8 s Bd. P. GC/GR/2 4 3O. A fter making dis­
creet enquiries, Grey reported that the proposed v is i t  was not un til 
A p ril 1849 (G. Grey to Palmerston, 7 December 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/gr/2431

2 1 8 . I t  seems lik e ly  that some Ir ish  Repealers fled  to Paris a fte r  the 
ris ing in August, but there is  no proof o f th is which would imply 
that -there numbers were small.

214.
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March the refugees had "been monarchists flee in g  the revolution. Now 

they were soc ia lis ts  flee in g  Cavaignac's authoritarian regime. The most 

famous o f these was Louis Blanc, who arrived at the end o f August. The 

British press had l i t t l e  sympathy with his p ligh t, although i t  did not 

deny him the right o f asylum. Louis Blanc's "o ffence", The Times de­

clared on 7 September, " i f  i t  involves not the wilfulness o f murder, 

at least comprises a l l  the gu ilt  o f wholesale and hideous manslaughter". 7 

A fter the in i t ia l  in terest, Louis Blanc settled  down to a routine o f 

dinner parties and writing s e lf- ju s tific a to ry  a rtic les  about his in­

volvement with the Provisional Government. Charles G rev ille , who had

expected not to like  Louis Blanc, was favourably impressed when they 

220met. Roebuck was not: "A more complete charlatan I  never saw", he

to ld  his w ife. "A thoroughly poor creature, dealing in phrases, and

fancying himself a discoverer, because he has revived doctrines that

221have been exploded a quarter o f a century since."

Whatever the extent o f the entente between Britain and Prance, there

was no question o f the B ritish  Government cutting back on its  espionage

a c t iv it ie s . Indeed, because o f the revolution, there was an upsurge in

British  spying. Under the Orleans monarchy Normanby had developed a highly

e ffe c t iv e  network o f informants which provided him with valuable insights
222

into French policy. But, a fter the revolution, Normanby found inform­

ation more d if f ic u lt  to come by: some informants, fo r  example Klindworth, 

had been forced to fle e  because they were c losely  associated with the 

fa llen  monarchy; one employee, named La Garde, had died recently,

2 1 9 .

220.
221.
222 .

223.

MP, 29 August 1 8 4 8 , 4» IE» 1 September 1 8 4 8 , 4; The Times. 1 , 7 
and 12 September 18 4 8 , 4 . The Northern Star, however, defended 
Louis Blanc (Northern Star. 2 and 16 September 18 4 8 , 5 and 4 ). 
GM, VI, 241 -  2.
Roebuck to his w ife , 14 November 18 4 8 : Leader, 2 0 5 .
In January, fo r example, Normanby learnt the deta ils  o f a secret 
agreement between France, Austria and Prussia over Switzerland 
(Normanby to Palmerston, 17 January 18 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/9 8 ). 
Normanby to Palmerston, 26 March 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/1 4 6 .
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thereby saving the B ritish  Government "s ix  hundred a year & a great

22Adeal o f valuable eyesight in making out his confused twaddle"; whilst
2 2 5

other informants seem to have been discouraged by recent revelations 

which enhanced the ir natural fear o f discovery. "A ll information as to

the Army & o f f i c ia l  d e ta il o f that sort is  now much more d if f ic u lt  to

22 6ge t", Normanby reported in March. I t  was possible to recruit people,

especia lly  fo r surveillance work, but they often proved amateurish and 

227unreliable. Nevertheless, in the absence o f any suitable a lternative,

Normanby did occasionally resort to such people, as when the Ir ish  dele-

228gation v is ited  Paris and when a French o ffic e r  offered to spy on the 

refugees in London in order to discover which should be expelled under 

the A lien A c t .^ ^

By the summer, with the situation in France s tab ilis in g , informants 

were more forthcoming and the information they transmitted was more va l­

uable. A Captain Martin sent reports about the French army in A lgeria ,

which Normanby described as "w ell worth what he asks, a Captain o f Cav- 

230a iry 's  pay." The most valuable spy seems to have been one in the
231

Ministry o f Marine: at the beginning o f June he provided deta ils  o f
232

French naval a c t iv ity ; a fortn ight la ter the B ritish  Cabinet consid­

ered a memorandum prepared fo r  Guizot's administration and recently

2 2 4 . ib id . . , ...
225. Klindworth's a c t iv it ie s , fo r example, became known with the seizure 

and publication o f Guizot's papers (see Normanby to Palmerston,
22 A p ril 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/NO/1 5 9 ). , ,

226. Normanby to Palmerston, 26 March 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/NO/1 4 6 .
221 Normanbv to Palmerston, 1 7  A p ril 1 8 4 8 , copy, 26 August 1 8 4 8 , and 

1 December 18 4 8 s Bd. P. GC/NO/1 5 7 , Nor. P. P/14/195 and Bd. P. 
GC/NO/2 2 7 .

2 2 9 ' Hormntyeto PLlmerIton', 29 A p ril 1 8 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/no/l63. The o ff ic e r  
wac? not employed fo r long because Normanby discovered he could not 
sneak E n g l i s h  (Normanby to Palmerston, 11 June 1 8 4 8 : ib id  GC/NO/1 7 8 ). 

230. K o r in b ^ to  Phlmerston, 30 June 1848, and copy, 6 July 1 8 4 8 = Bd. P.

231 m ere^ i3°nonevidence’ thal4theie was only one spy in the Ministry o f 
2 31 • i t  seems unlikely th a t^ e r e  were two.
232. Auckland to Bussell, 4 June 1 8 4 8 . PBO 30/22/7C.
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recirculated alaout naval strategy in the event o f war with Britain;

and in mid-July he sold, fo r 500 francs, the plans o f the improvements

234to the port at Cherbourg. The "leakiness" o f the French m inistries, 

however, did have it s  drawbacks: on 9 August Normanby purchased a copy

of one o f Palmerston’ s despatches on I ta ly ,  which he had le^/nt to Bastide,

235to prevent its  publication.

I t  would be wrong to exaggerate the importance o f the information 

bought by Normanby. Its  quality varied enormously, and i t  tended to 

re fle c t  subjects o f particular interest to the B ritish  Government rather 

than the general a ffa irs  o f France. Most o f Normanby’ s information on 

the la tte r  came from the French newspapers and from his conversations 

with leading po litic ian s, notably Bastide, Lamartine and Mole. There 

were, however, a number o f lacunae which Normanby would no doubt have 

liked to f i l l .  During the f i r s t  ha lf o f the year he had l i t t l e  accurate 

information about the a c t iv it ie s  o f the Paris clubs and the views o f 

the soc ia lis ts  and communists beyond what was generally known. J He 

also seems to have had l i t t l e  insight into or understanding o f the Bona- 

partists. He tended to accept the judgements, which were usually h ostile , 

o f moderate republicans and members o f the former Orleanist opposition, 

and whilst th is bias did not hamper his relations with Lamartine and 

Cavaignac -  indeed i t  may have helped them -  i t  must have affected 

his assessment o f French p o lit ic s . In March, fo r example, he did not 

doubt Lamartine’ s claim that he had saved France from the soc ia lis ts .

233. Palmerston to Grey, 1? June 1 8 4 8 : Grey P. 117/ 6 . A copy o f the 
memorandum is  in PRO 30/22/70.

2 3 4 . Normanby to Palmerston, 13 July 1 8 4 8 s Bd. P. GC/NO/l93; Palmerston 
to Normanby, 14 July 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/47.

235. Normanby to Palmerston, confidentia l, 9 August 18482 Bd. P. GC/NO/2 0 4 .
236. By November, however, Normanby was buying information about the 

Paris clubs from the Vice-President o f Blanqui’ s, although he thought 
he was se llin g  i t  to an English journalist (Normanby to Palmerston,
1 6  November 18 4 8  and 1 December 18 4 8 s ib id  GC/NO/223 and GC/NO/2 2 7 ).

233
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Now, with the run-up to the French Presidential e lections, he barely 

disguised his b e lie f  that Cavaignac would be a much better choice 

than Louis Napoleon.

iv )  THE FRENCH PRESIDENTIAL ELECTIONS

From the end of September British  observers of French a ffa irs  began

to take a close interest in the Presidential elections. Three o f the

f iv e  candidates were viewed with d is lik e and d istrust: Ledru Rollin

and Raspail were regarded as dangerous revolutionaries who would plunge

237France into further ruin and disorder, whilst Lamartine, despite 

continued regard fo r his personal qu a lities , was discredited by his
p tO

former links with the soc ia lis ts . Once i t  became clear that the 

Legitim ists and the Orleanists had fa iled  to agree on a compromise

candidate -  and rumours to the contrary persisted as late as the end
239

of October -  the choice was seen to rest between Cavaignac and Louis 

Napoleon.

In the opinion o f the B ritish  press neither of the favourites would 

make a good President. Cavaignac was d isliked because, despite his 

actions during the June Days and the repressive leg is la tion  he had 

subsequently introduced, he was thought to be "s o ft ” on the soc ia lis ts  

and because i t  was recognised that he was determined, i f  possible, to 

preserve the Republic. On the other hand, however bad Cavaignac may 

appear, Louis Napoleon seemed worse. He was regarded as an ambitious 

adventurer, with only moderate ta lents, who aimed at the Imperial

237« York Herald. 23 September 1 8 4 8 , 5» The Times. 26 September 1 8 4 8 ,
4; MP, 28 September 1 8 4 8 , 4*

238. The Times. 8 September 1 8 4 8 , 4; York Herald. 14  October 1 8 4 8 , 4 ;
MP, 1 November 1 8 4 8 , 4*

239. Peel to Aberdeen, 2 5  October 1 8 4 8s B.L. Add. Mss. 43065 ff339 -  42. 
In the early stages i t  was assumed that any Legitim ist candidate 
would stand a good chance (Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 1 8  July 
1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/1 4/1 60; GM, VI, 226).
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crown. I t  was generally assumed that he would be putty in the hands

of sk ilfu l and unscrupulous po litic ians like Thiers. His name seemed

to be his only asset, and to many Britons that name was inextricably

linked with long, ruinous wars. Cavaignac at least had the merit of

being a lover o f peace and a friend of B r i t a i n . T h e r e  was also a

fear that neither Cavaignac nor Louis Napoleon would accept the result

i f  defeated in the elections, and that consequently France would be

241plunged into further turmoil.

Normanby was perturbed by the language the British  press used when

speaking o f Louis Napoleon. He regarded his v ic to ry  as "so certain ",

G reville  to ld  Clarendon, "that he wishes our papers would not speak

242of him with such unmitigated contempt." His own preference, however, 

was fo r  Cavaignac. Despite the reassurances of B o n a p a r t i s t s h e  

shared the widespread fear that Louis Napoleon's election  might lead
O /! /I

to a European war. Palmerston regarded Louis Napoleon as a p o lit ic a l

nonentity. "His intentions and disposition are no doubt good," he had

written when considering him fo r the S ic ilian  crown, "but he seems

deficien t in those In te llectu a l Qualities which are requisite to enable

245a Sovereign to conduct the A ffa irs  o f a S tate." At the same time, 

Palmerston did not share the general preference fo r Cavaignac. "As to

2 40. MC, 22 September, 28 October and 30 November 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; MH, 23 Sept­
ember, 30 October and 1 November 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; The Times. 23 September,
31 October and 2 9  November 1 8 4 8 , 4 - 5 »  ILN. 23 September 1 8 4 8 , 182; 
DN, 29 September 1 8 4 8 , 2; MG, 11 October and 29 November 1 8 4 8 , 4 and 
6 ; MP, 13 October and 29 November 1 8 4 8 , 4 .

241. Hobhouse's Diary, 15 November 1 8 4 8s B.L. Add. Mss. 43753 ff56  -  7; 
The Economist, 11 November 1 8 4 8 , 1269 -  70» Northern Star. 2 5  Nov­
ember 1 8 4 8 , 4 *

242. G reville  to Clarendon, 4 November 1 8 4 8 : Clar. P. Box c521.
2 4 3 . Normanby to Palmerston, copy, 23 October 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/220.

Cf Malmesbury to Stanley, 19 November 1 8 4 8 : Der. P. Box 1 4 4/ 1 .
2 4 4 . Normanby to Cowley, 7 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO PO 519/l58- This anxiety 

was also expressed by po litic ians as diverse as Cobden, Peel and 
Russell (see Cobden to Bright, 24 October 1 8 4 8 : B.L. Add. Mss.
43649 f 8 l ; Peel to Aberdeen, 2 5  October 1 8 4 8 : ib id  43065 f341? 
Russell to Wood, 21 November 18 4 8 s Hal. P. A4/56/3 ).

2 4 5 . Palmerston to Napier, No 67, 12 July 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 70/21 9.
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the Election o f President", he wrote on 17 November,

one rea lly  does not know what to wish . . .  We know what 
we have got in Cavaignac though . . . Cavaignac o f today 
may not he the same as Cavaignac Elected by the vio lent Rep­
ublicans. What Louis Napoleon might be as President we have 
yet to learn; a l l  we know as a ground fo r  Conjecture is  that 
hitherto his best Friends have considered him a goose. . . . 
There never indeed was a case in which one had so many Things 
to wish against, and so few to wish fo r . . . . The only conc­
lusion one can come to is  that we mustoSfeut our Eyes and 
take what comes & make the best of i t .

247Cavaignac had few illusions about his prospects in the elections.

At the end o f November, however, an event occurred which led him to 

hope that he could snatch v ictory . On 15 November the Pope’ s Prime 

Minister, Count Rossi, was assassinated. Two days la ter the Pope to ld  

the French ambassador that he might have to f le e  from Rome, and he 

sounded out the poss ib ility  o f finding asylum in France. A week la ter 

he le f t  Rome fo r  Gaeta, in Neapolitan te rr ito ry , from where i t  was
Q A O

thought he would sa il to Marseilles. 4 News o f the Pope’ s request, 

"e ither fo r  a refuge in France or at any rate fo r  such assistance as 

should enable him to restore order amongst his subjects", reached Paris 

on the 26th. Bastide, Normanby reported, "said he did not know how i t  

was possible to refuse such a request". The follow ing day Cavaignac 

announced that an expedition o f 3 , 5 0 0  men would s a il from Marseilles.

He said that i t s  purpose was "to  o ffe r  to protect the person o f His 

Holiness, and i f  necessary to give him . . . refuge on board, but, with­

out further instructions, the troops were not to be landed to occupy 

any place in the Papal te r r ito ry ."  He did not discount the p oss ib ility  

o f French troops being used to restore order in Rome, but he said that

2 4 6 . Palmerston to Normanby, 17 November 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/7 3 .
2 4 7 . Normanby to Palmerston, No 699, con fidentia l, 2 November 1 8 4 8 : 

PRO FO 27/815 (q NJ, I I 1 275 -  6 ) ;  Normanby to Palmerston, 11  
November 1 8 4 8 ; Bd. P. GC/NO/222 (q NJ, I I ,  2 9 1 ).

2 4 8 . Jennings, 2 4 6  -  7*
2 4 9 . Normanby to Palmerston, secret, 26 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 5  

(partly  q PP, L V III, 629).
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in such an eventuality "the anxiety of the French Government would

2 50
he that i t  should take place conjointly with England."

Cavaignac's determination to do something fo r  the Pope was less

the result o f an a ltru is t ic  concern fo r his welfare than a calculation

that by assisting him i t  might be possible to secure the votes o f the

powerful Catholic lobby in the forthcoming elections. "Some of the

heads o f the Clergy", Normanby reported, "are said to have boasted

they could dispose o f a m illion votes according as this step was or 

2 S1was not taken." Sensing his fle e tin g  opportunity, Cavaignac seized

i t  with both hands. He lost l i t t l e  time in announcing that the Pope

was coming to France and on the 2 7 th Normanby reported that he was

2 S2far more optim istic about his e lectora l prospects. But whatever 

the domestic consequences, the diplomatic repercussions of his decision 

were grave.

In Britain , the news o f Rossi's assassination and o f the plight o f 

the Pope caused disgust and despondency. The British  press and the Bri­

tish  public was trad ition a lly  anti-Catholic: two years la ter, fo r example,

the question o f "Papal Agression" aroused popular passions in England

253and caused embarrassment to Russell's Government. In 1 8 4 8 , however, 

anti-Catholicism was muted, and the Pope was looked upon with sympathy 

and admiration. The lib era l reforms he had instituted had been widely 

applauded, and the resistance the Papal States had shown to the revolu­

tionary ferment that had swept through Europe seemed to show the merits
2 5 4

o f a wise, firm, constitutional government. The death o f Rossi and

2 5 0. Normanby to Palmerston, No 753, confidential, 2 7  November 1 8 4 8 :
PRO FO 27/815 (q NJ, I I ,  327 -  8 ).

2 5 1 . Normanby to Palmerston, secret, 28 November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 5 .
The Papal Nuncio encouraged such calculations (see Normanby to 
Palmerston, 2 7 November 18 4 8 : Bd. P. GC/NO/2 2 5 ).

252. Normanby to Palmerston, secret, 2 7  November 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 5  
(q NJj 11» 328 -  30); Jennings, 2 4 7 .
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liberalism  irreconcilab le with the reactionary nature o f the Catholic
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the danger to the Pope destroyed this vision . Some newspapers f e l t  that

the Pope had fa iled  to go far enough or fast enough to sa tis fy  the leg-
2 5 5

itimate demands o f his subjects, hut the majority f e l t  that there 

had been no excuse fo r the revolution and that, in the words o f the 

Gentleman*s Magazine, the inhabitants o f Rome had "proved themselves

2 5 6u tterly  unworthy of the ir lib era l and benevolent Pon tiff".

But whilst the Roman revolution might be objectionable, did that

ju s t ify  French intervention? In it ia l ly  The Times thought that i t  did.

The attempt to protect the Pope, i t  declared,

is  a measure ju s tified  and required by the appalling state 
o f Rome; and, as General Cavaignac has carefu lly  guarded 
the object o f th is intervention, . . .  we see no reason to 
regard i t  as a v io la tion  o f those principles of peace and 
neutrality which the French Republic has hitherto fa ith fu lly  
observed.

I t  even urged the British  Government to detach part o f Parker's f le e t

257to support the Pope. Most other newspapers, however, were strongly 

opposed to intervention; Protectionist and Peelite papers argued that

i t  would be dangerous to allow French troops into Ita ly , whatever the

258pretext; Whig and Radical papers feared that, whatever the in i t ia l  

objectives, sooner or la ter the expedition would be used to restore Pa­

pal authority, and that would act as a precedent to Austria and Russia.^ 9  

Once assured o f the Pope's safety, The Times also opposed intervention.

The inhabitants o f Rome "have shouted fo r independence, they have shouted

Church, and some hoped that, in Peel's words, "the best part o f 
his c iv i l  improvements, w il l  be that they w i l l  strike a Blow at 
Superstition and the undue influence o f the Papacy in foreign 
Countries, even in matters o f Religion" (Peel to Aberdeen, 7 Oct­
ober 1847: B.L. Add. Mss. 43065 ff335 -  6 ).

2 5 5 . York Herald, 2 December 18 4 8 , 5; Spectator. 2 December 1 8 4 8 , 1182 -  3 .
2 5 6 . The Times, 27 and 28 November 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; MG, 2 9  November 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; MC,

1 December 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; MH, 1 December 1 8 4 8 , 4 ; Gentleman's Magazine.
XXX, 639-

2 5 7 . The Times, 30 November 18 4 8 , 4 .
2 5 8 . MC, 30 November 1 8 4 8 , 4; MP, 30 November 18 4 8 , 4; MH, 1 December 

T8 4 8 , 4*
2 5 9 . DN, 1 December 18 4 8 , 2 ; MG, 2 December 1 8 4 8 , 6 ; ILN, 2 December 

1 8 4 8 , 338; Spectator, 2 December 18 4 8 , 1150.
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fo r lib e r ty " , i t  declared on 7 December: " le t  them have both, un til

. . . they_ 7  choose between the lawless passions o f a people lost
2 60

to self-government and the regulated despotism o f m ilitary power."

Palmerston d isliked the whole concept o f the expedition. He fe l t

that i t  was too large to be used simply to protect the Pope’ s person,

and he surmised that the Pope would ask that i t  be used to restore his

authority in Rome. "Then what w i l l  the French do?" he asked.

W ill they land, and employ Force moral & Physical to coerce 
the Roman People, and to compel them to submit to Ministers 
& measures which they do not like? I f  they do th is they w il l  
. . .  be adopting the Policy o f Metternich & o f Russia . . .

He was also worried about the precedent that such an action would create,

and he warned that " i t  w i l l  be flung in the ir face by Austria when she

marches to Bologna, and by Russia when the French speak to her about

2 61Wallachia." "To refra in  from wars o f propagandism is  very r igh t", 

Russell observed, "but to use force to prevent other nations from adopt­

ing a form o f government which the in terfering nation has herse lf adopted
2 62is  a practical absurdity which could not stand the ligh t o f day."

On 1 December the news reached Paris that the Pope had fled  from

Rome. Normanby used th is to urge the cancellation o f the expedition.

The Pope was now safe, he argued, and i f  the expedition was sent i t
2 6^

would be seen as an attempt to coerce the Romans. Two days la ter 

Bastide announced that the expedition had been cancelled. He defended 

the orig ina l decision, te ll in g  Normanby that he "must reco llect the 

great anxiety that naturally prevailed in the f i r s t  moments". But, he 

went on, "now that they were sure that circumstances were changed o f

260. The Times, 7 December 1 8 4 8 , 4*
261. Palmerston to Normanby, 29 November 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/7 5 . Of 

Palmerston to Normanby, No 5 4 5 , No 5 4 6  and No 5 4 7 , 2 December 1 8 4 8 s 
PRO FO 27/801.

262. Memorandum by Russell, 2 December 1 8 4 8 s Bd. P. GC/RU/2 3 3 .
263. Normanby to Palmerston, No 7 6 5 , 1 December 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 6  

(q NJ, I I ,  345).
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course the intention would not he persevered in ."

For several days there was uncertainty about where the Pope was 

heading. Cavaignac and Bastide s t i l l  believed that he would land at 

M arseilles, which was probably as in flu en tia l in the ir decision to 

abandon the expedition as the British protests. In Britain , however, 

there were strong rumours that he might seek asylum in Malta. Palmerston, 

who called the Pope's f l ig h t  "an Event o f not much less Importance 

than Louis Philippe's Departure from Paris, or Metternich's from Vienna", 

declared that he "should be glad . . .  i f  he has gone to Malta, because

More & Ferral w i l l  in that Case have ample opportunity o f explaining
265

to him the true state o f Ireland". In fa c t , upon reaching Gaeta,

the Pope decided to remain in Naples. He talked o f paying a b r ie f v is i t
2

to France, but i t  did not materialise.

I t  is  d if f ic u lt  to assess how fa r the fa ilu re  o f the Pope to come 

to France affected Cavaignac's support in the elections. The size o f 

Louis Napoleon's majority -  5,534,520 votes to 1,448,302 -  makes i t  

unlikely that i t  swung the decision away from Cavaignac, but i t  may 

have increased the gap. Normanby judged that i t  had damaged Cavaignac's 

chances, fo r the French public f e l t  i t  had been deceived, but that the 

fundamental reason fo r his defeat was the unpopularity o f the Republic.26'''

Whilst Normanby s t i l l  believed that "the best result with a view 

to immediate prospects both at home and abroad would have been i f  General 

Cavaignac could have been returned", he f e l t  that the best a lternative 

was the election  o f Louis Napoleon by an overwhelming majority. Such 

a v ic to ry , he argued, would prevent the defeated party, the republicans,

264. Normanby to Palmerston, No 770, 4 December 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7/8 1 6 .
265. Palmerston to Normanby, 5 December 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/7 6 . Cf Mor- 

peth1s Diary| 5 December 1 8 4 8 : C*H*A. J1 9/8/19 f30; Clarendon to 
Russell, copy, 7 December 18482 Clar. P. Ir ish  Letter-Book V0 I . 3  

f l 8 2 .
266. Jennings, 2 4 7  -  8.
267. Normanby to Palmerston, No 777» 10 December 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 6  

(q NJ, I I ,  355 -  8 ) ;  Jennings, 2 4 8 .
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trying to reverse the decision by an immediate recourse to arms.

"F ifty  thousand", he observed, "w il l  not choose th is moment to rise 

in arms when the voices o f Five M illions raised against them, are s t i l l

• ■ ..269ringing m  the ir ears."

In Brita in , some people shared Normanby's b e lie f  that the size o f

270Louis Napoleon's v ic to ry  precluded an immediate rebellion . Others

271were less certain. But what most people agreed upon was that Louis 

Napoleon's success was a massive vote against the Republic. Aberdeen, 

fo r  example, although finding the "universal enthusiasm" fo r  Louis Nap­

oleon "quite unaccountable", regarded the vote "as a decided Protest

against the Republick, and as at least an assent to the principle of
2 72

hereditary claims." Because i t  was assumed that the Republic was

dead in a l l  but name, i t  was thought that in the near future the form

o f government in France would change. Peel, contemptuous about Louis

Napoleon's a b il it ie s ,  looked to a return o f the monarchy, although he

was uncertain whether the new king would be a Legitim ist or an Orlean- 

273is t .  Most people, however, regarded Louis Napoleon's success as the
274

f ir s t  step to the return o f the Empire.

Palmerston quite welcomed the prospect o f the return o f the Empire.

"For my own Part", he to ld  Normanby,

I  think that the best Thing fo r France, fo r England, fo r  
Europe . . . would be, that the Buonaparte President should 
be converted into a permanent & hereditary Sovereign o f 
France, & that the Bourbons should be set aside Root & Branch;

268. Normanby to Palmerston, No 7 7 8 , 12 December 1 8 4 8 : PRO FO 2 7 / 8 1 6  
(q NJ, I I ,  359 -  6 4 ).
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and. i f  the same Process could he applied to other Countries 
where that Family reigns I  suspect that the nations concerned 
would have no Cause to regret the change. ^

Not everyone in Britain shared Palmerston's detestation o f the Bourhons

and consequent re la tive  favour fo r Louis Napoleon. In the eyes o f many,

a Napoleonic Empire was synonymous with European war. The vote o f the

French people, declared the Morning Herald, was a vote fo r  an aggressive
on £

foreign policy. On the other hand, i t  was possible to interpret the

vote in a manner less threatening to European peace. For the people o f

France, The Economist to ld  it s  readers, the f i r s t  Napoleon stood fo r

personal security, internal peace and renewed prosperity, and i t  was
2 7 7

fo r these, and not expansionist wars, that they had voted. Such an 

interpretation was at least as va lid  as that put forward by the Morning 

Herald. Neither assessment, however, was based upon conclusive evidence. 

Because few people had any clear idea o f Louis Napoleon's po lic ies  and 

because his v ic to ry  was seen simply as a vote against the Republic, i t  

was hard to judge what would happen next. To most B ritish  observers, 

the situation in  France at the end o f 18 4 8  seemed just as uncertain 

and menacing as i t  had been at the beginning o f the year.

2 7 5 . Palmerston to Normanby, 26 December 1 8 4 8 : Nor. P. P/20/8 1 .
276! MH, 16 December 1 8 4 8 , 4 . Cf Clarendon to Normanby, 26 December 
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Conclusion

The end o f 18 4 8  is ,  in some respects, an unsatisfactory place to 

end th is study fo r i t  does not mark an obvious turning-point in Euro­

pean or British  history. Although the forces o f reaction were c lea rly  

in the ascendant on the continent, the ir triumph was not assured until 

the spring o f 1 8 4 9  -  with Radetzky's v ictory  at Novara, the suppression 

o f the S ic ilian  revolution, and the Russian intervention in Hungary -  

whilst the Schleswig-Holstein question, with it s  attendant problems 

fo r Germany, spluttered on fo r another eighteen months. In Britain , 

Russell's administration staggered on u n til the beginning o f 1 8 5 2 , 

despite the growing discontent o f the opposition parties and the in­

creasing embarrassment o f Palmerston's behaviour at the Foreign O ffice . 

On the other hand, the end o f 1 8 4 8 , or rather the Presidential e lec­

tions a fortn ight e a r lie r , marks an important turning-point in the 

history o f France. As many British  observers had feared, the v ictory  

o f Louis Napoleon was the f i r s t  step on the road to the Second Empire.

Whatever the domestic implications o f Louis Napoleon's e lection , 

there was no sudden sh ift in French foreign policy. The French (and 

B ritish ) abandonment o f the Sardinians and S ic ilians in the spring 

and the use o f French troops to crush the Roman revolution in the 

summer revealed the reactionary nature o f the new regime in France, 

but Louis Napoleon's po lic ies were a log ica l continuation o f those o f 

Lamartine and Cavaignac. Lamartine's Manifesto, with its  denunciation 

o f the Vienna settlement and its  promise o f assistance fo r oppressed 

n ationa lities , was the peak o f the Republic's revolutionary foreign 

policy. What followed was based upon considerations o f re a l-p o lit ik  

rather than revolutionary rhetoric. The promise o f assistance fo r the 

Ita lians at the end o f March was quickly followed by the disavowal of



any attempt to revolutionise Belgium and the discouragement o f the 

Ir ish  delegation. Even the promise to help the Ita lians was gradually 

rescinded: in August Cavaignac and Bastide offered jo in t mediation 

rather than intervene; in September they accepted that Austria should 

retain Lombardy as w ell as Venetia; and at the end o f November they 

were prepared to aid a sovereign, the Pope, who had been overthrown 

by a revolutionary movement. French foreign policy in 18 48  was marked 

by increasing conservatism, and para lle l with th is was the development 

of the entente with Britain. The obvious assumption would be that 

Britain was prepared to reach an understanding with the Republic as 

long as i t  was su ffic ien tly  conservative. In fa c t , the situation was 

far more complex than th is.

When the February Revolution occurred, many people in Britain , 

including some members o f the Government, would have found i t  v ir tu a lly  

inconceivable that an Anglo-French entente could have been established 

by the end o f the year. The Republic was regarded as a pernicious 

force, irreconcilab le with the peace and s ta b ility  o f the rest of 

Europe. The policy developed by Palmerston during March re flected  

th is b e lie f .  He wished to avert war between the Republic and the North­

ern Courts and he sought to prevent the spread o f the revolutionary 

contagion.

The p oss ib ility  o f war between France and the Northern Powers brought 

out the best in Palmerston. He created fo r Britain a rflle which was 

designed to maintain the balance o f power. Depending where the threat 

to European peace seemed to come from, he could combine with the North­

ern Courts against the Republic or with the Republic against the North­

ern Courts. I t  was a d if f ic u lt  manoeuvre which Palmerston performed 

with great s k i l l  and assurance. Yet i t  is  unlikely that i t  was Palmer­

ston's actions which preserved the peace o f Europe. Neither the Northern 

Courts nor the Provisional Government wanted war: the former, conscious



of the lessons o f 1 7 9 2 , did not want to provoke the newly aroused 

revolutionary giant; the la tte r , drawing on the lessons o f 1 7 9 9  and 

1815, feared that war would lead to the overthrow of the Republic 

by a m ilitary dictatorship and the eventual defeat and humiliation 

of Prance. The most that can be claimed fo r  Palmerston is  that he 

encouraged and assisted poten tia lly  antagonistic regimes to fo llow  

the pacific  lines they wished to adopt.

I f  the determination to avert a European war brought out the best 

in Palmerston, the desire to prevent the spread o f revolution brought 

out the worst in him. Reflecting on the disturbed state o f the continent, 

Palmerston concluded that the only way to prevent revolution was to 

sa tis fy  the legitim ate constitutional demands o f the majority o f those 

agitating fo r change. Reform, he argued, was better than revolution. 

Unfortunately, whatever the merits o f th is argument, the manner which 

Palmerston adopted when recommending i t  to foreign  governments was 

often unnecessarily abrasive and provocative. The strident, s e l f -  

confident tone o f superiority combined with the occasional insulting 

observation thrown in to emphasise a point frequently made Palmerston's 

despatches offensive and counter-productive. The Spanish Government's 

fury over Palmerston's despatch o f 1 6  March, which eventually led to 

the expulsion o f Bulwer, is  the most obvious example o f th is , but there 

are other cases in 18 48  as when Palmerston urged constitutional govern­

ment in Portugal and Greece and when he complained o f Radetzky’ s conduct 

in northern Ita ly . Nor was Palmerston consistent in his attitude. He 

objected strongly to interference in B rita in 's  internal a ffa irs , as 

when the Provisional Government received the Chartist and Ir ish  delega­

tions; yet he expected foreign governments to be amenable, and even 

gra te fu l, when he interfered in the ir internal a ffa irs . He argued that 

conciliation  was the only sure way to remove discontent; but when in

330
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18 4 8  the B ritish  Government was faced by domestic unrest i t  adopted 

a policy o f coercion, a policy which Palmerston supported whole-heart­

edly. F ina lly , i t  could he argued that i t  was too late fo r reform in 

many places on the continent, that to submit to the demands fo r change 

would encourage the discontent rather than appease i t .  The Pope had 

adopted Palmerston's recommendations, yet hy the end o f the year he 

too had been driven from his capital.

When urging reform, Palmerston often revealed an in sen s itiv ity  to 

the fee lings o f other governments which created i l l - fe e l in g  and exacer­

bated real d ifferences, and he displayed an obvious inconsistency be­

tween what Britain did and what she advised other countries to do. The 

surprising thing is  not that foreign governments resented Palmerston's 

conduct, but that they fa iled  to react more strongly more often. The 

Spanish Government's expulsion o f Bulwer is  noteworthy because i t  is  

exceptional and because i t  gives an idea o f what could happen when the 

normal safeguards -  the moderating voices of the Queen, the Cabinet, 

and the relevent ambassador -  fa iled  and when a foreign government was 

w illin g  to quarrel with Britain. I t  is  possible that i f  Palmerston's 

advice had been adopted, i f  continental governments had agreed to in s t i­

tute reforms, the revolutions that broke out in March might have been 

averted, although this seems unlikely and is  unprovable. What does seem 

clear, however, is  that Palmerston's advocacy o f reform did l i t t l e  but 

harm to B rita in 's  relations with other governments.

For the British  Government, the March revolutions seemed l i t t l e  

short o f a disaster. Since the defeat o f Napoleon, B rita in 's  aim with 

respect to Europe had been to maintain the balance o f power as estab­

lished by the Vienna settlement. For the f i r s t  time since 18 1 5  that 

balance was seriously threatened. The reduction o f Austria and Prussia, 

fo r the moment at least, to the condition o f second-rate Powers and
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the withdrawal o f Russia from the a ffa irs  o f western Europe permitted 

the rise o f I ta ly  and Germany and increased the re la tive  importance 

o f France. As fa r as the B ritish  Government was concerned, the peace 

of Europe and the Balance o f power had to he maintained at a time 

when a l l  was confusion and uncertainty. Revolution was encouraged 

where the B ritish  Government thought i t  would he advantageous to Euro­

pean s ta b ility , as in Ita ly  and to a lesser extent Germany where i t  

was hoped that successful revolutions would lead to the creation o f 

lib era l states which would assist the maintenance o f the balance of 

power. But where i t  was feared that a revolution would be detrimental 

to that s ta b ility , as in the case o f Moldavia-Wallachia (where the 

revolution seemed to threaten the well-being o f the Turkish Empire 

and therefore the security o f the route to India) and la ter Hungary 

(where the revolution seemed to threaten the well-being o f the Austrian 

Empire and therefore the balance o f power), the forces o f reaction, 

i f  not openly encouraged, were at least not discouraged. In general, 

the British  Government was anxious that such wars as did break out 

should be settled  as soon as possible, before they could escalate.

But there is  an obvious difference between the case o f Schleswig-Hol­

stein , where Britain preferred a return to the status quo ante bellumr 

and the cases o f northern and southern Ita ly , where the British  Govern­

ment hoped that sign ificant te r r ito r ia l changes would result from the 

con flic ts . The protection and promotion o f national se lf- in te res t was 

the fundamental tenet o f B ritish  foreign policy. But as the demands 

o f the balance o f power, which fo r  the British  Government formed the 

keystone o f that national se lf- in terest in Europe in 1 8 4 8 , seemed to 

vary from one part o f Europe to another, so British  policy varied, 

sometimes supporting and sometimes opposing revolution, sometimes app­

roving and sometimes disapproving o f war. Palmerston s foreign policy
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in 18 4 8  was often c r itic is ed  fo r "being inconsistent. The reason fo r  

the inconsistency, however, was that B ritish  interests were inconsistent.

In one respect, B ritish  policy towards Ita ly , in both the north and 

the south o f the peninsula, forms the most remarkable aspect o f B ritish  

foreign policy in 1 8 4 8 . B rita in ’ s aims remained essentia lly  conservative

-  the prevention o f a European war and the maintenance o f the balance 

o f power -  but those aims were pursued by countenancing war and encour­

aging revolution. Moreover, in Ita ly  there was also the greatest need 

to res is t French ambitions. Freed by the March revolutions o f the need 

to adopt a cautious foreign policy, the French Government hoped to 

increase it s  influence in Ita ly , by evicting Austria and res tr ic tin g  

the expansion o f Sardinia, and possibly extend the French fron tiers

to include Savoy and Nice. French preoccupation with Ita ly  ensured 

that Britain took a sim ilar close in terest.

In it ia l ly ,  B ritish  policy was based on two assumptions: that the 

Ita lian  libera ls  would triumph in the ir struggle against oppression, 

and that i f  Britain did not support them and gain the ir gratitude the 

French Republic would. Both these assumptions proved fa ls e , but in 

May, when British  policy was formed, neither seemed unreasonable. By 

preference, the British  Government was inclined towards the lib era ls .

Not only did the tide o f history seem to be in the ir favour, but also 

the ir objectives -  a unified northern I ta ly  and an independent S ic ily

-  seemed conducive to British  in terests. However sympathy was one 

thing, support was another. The British  Government assisted the Ita lian  

lib e ra ls , both diplom atically and, in the case o f S ic ily , fo r a time 

m ilita r ily , because i t  feared the consequences i f  i t  did not. The Sard­

inians and the S icilians were looking to either Britain or France to 

"sponsor" the ir e ffo r ts . They were inclined towards Brita in , but i f  

Britain did not answer the ir expectations they would appeal to France.
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For the British  Government, then, the French Republic acted as a cata­

lys t. Pear o f being discarded fo r a more rewarding "sponsor" made the 

B ritish  Government go further and faster in support of Ita lian  lib e r­

alism than prudence and discretion dictated.

In the f i r s t  week o f August the dangers o f the British  policy suddenly 

became apparent. Radetzky's v ictory  at Custozza and the Neapolitan 

preparations fo r an attack on S ic ily  necessitated a rapid reappraisal 

o f the B ritish  Government's attitude. A lo g ica l continuation o f the 

ea r lie r  policy would have been to provide m ilitary assistance to the 

Ita lian  lib era ls , either d irec tly  by Britain or by countenancing the 

use o f French forces. However the former was precluded by the state 

o f B ritish  public opinion whilst the la tte r  opened up the horrify ing 

prospect, fo r the British  Government at least, o f a European war or 

the expansion o f the influence o f the French Republic. Fortunately, 

the French Government was not inclined to explo it B rita in 's  embarrass­

ment, and indeed proved equally anxious to avoid a further commitment 

to the cause o f Ita lian  liberalism . As a resu lt, whatever the ir immed­

ia te origins, the Anglo-French mediation over northern Ita ly , and la ter 

the Anglo-French mediation over S ic ily , became used by the B ritish  and 

French Governments as an excuse not to provide further assistance to 

the Ita lian  lib era ls .

The Anglo-French entente over northern Ita ly  was a response to a 

spec ific  and immediate problem, rather than the result o f a general 

d r ift  on the part o f both governments into a better understanding on 

foreign a ffa irs . The French Government undoubtedly wished to establish 

such a general understanding. I t  was the British  Government that was 

reluctant. Palmerston only wanted an entente where he f e l t  that B ritish

interests could be furthered more e ffe c t iv e ly  by such an agreement, 

as over northern Ita ly , S ic ily  and Moldavia-Wallachia. Where an entente
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seemed, unnecessary or detrimental to British  in terests, as over Schles­

wig-Holstein and Greece, he was determined not to he bound to Prance.

In Palmerston's eyes, the understandings that were reached with the 

Republic were designed to assist the solution o f particular problems; 

they were not the f ir s t  steps towards a new entente cord ia le. Thus 

the deterioration in Anglo-French relations which occurred a fte r Louis 

Napoleon's election  was not caused by Palmerston's h o s t ility  towards 

the new regime. I t  would have occurred anyway, whenever Palmerston 

decided that the circumstances that had led to the ententes no longer 

existed.

Even th is lim ited understanding with Prance aroused widespread oppo­

s ition  in Britain , especia lly in conservative c irc les . In part i t  re­

flec ted  a deep d is like and distrust o f the Republic. The Republic under 

Cavaignac might be more moderate than the Republic under Lamartine and 

Ledru R o llin , but i t  was s t i l l  a republic and therefore, in the eyes 

o f its  British  c r it ic s , unreliable and untrustworthy. Britain , they 

f e l t ,  should have as l i t t l e  to do with i t  as possible. Yet i t  was the 

reasons which had led to the entente. as much as the nature o f the 

partner in that entente, that angered the opponents o f the mediations. 

The Protectionists and the Peelites had never been as enamoured with 

the lib era l movements on the continent as the Whigs and the Radicals. 

They had an innate sympathy with the established governments and a 

deep-rooted suspicion o f the "true" intentions o f the lib era ls . The 

March revolutions reinforced these doubts and made them fear fo r  the 

peace and s ta b ility  o f Europe. There was particular distaste fo r Charles 

A lbert, whose attack on Austria was regarded, not wholly without found­

ation, as an opportunist attempt at self-aggrandizement. Yet i t  was 

Charles Albert and the revolutionary libera ls  whom the entente seemed 

designed to assist by preventing them suffering the fu l l  consequences
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o f their action.

The conservatives provided the bulk o f the opposition to the Govern­

ment’ s Ita lian  policy, but as the year progressed increasing d issatis­

faction was expressed by the Government's usual supporters. The fa ilu re  

o f the Ita lian  libera ls  to achieve a v ic to ry  on the ir own led the 

Radicals especia lly to consider how fa r Britain should assist them 

achieve the ir objectives. The cause o f Ita lian  liberalism  might be 

praiseworthy (and even here there was some disenchantment), but many 

Radicals and some Whigs, most notably the Grey faction , decided that 

i t  was not worth a major war and certain ly not a war in which Britain 

was one o f the main protagonists. Sympathy fo r  the libera ls  became 

subordinated to the demand fo r non-intervention.

I t  is  easy to discover the arguments used by the opponents o f the 

Government's Ita lian  policy. I t  is  more d i f f ic u lt  to discern the e ffe c t 

o f that opposition on the Government's actions. The Queen, who was 

the most persistent c r i t ic  o f Palmerston’ s actions, and the Grey faction , 

which carried on the figh t in the Cabinet, created problems fo r  the 

advocates o f a pro-Ita lian  policy, but such sniping would have been 

in e ffec tive  without the bigger guns o f opposition in Parliament and, 

by implication, among the electorate. By mid-August a majority in 

the Cabinet, including Russell and Palmerston, was convinced that 

the Government could not command su ffic ien t Parliamentary support 

fo r the strong line which seemed necessary i f  e ffe c t iv e  help was to 

be given to the Ita lian  lib era ls . The reversal o f the decision to 

prevent a Neapolitan attack on S ic ily  was the result o f the Cabinet's 

recognition that Parliament would not countenance such a step, and 

i t  seems lik e ly  that the refusal to agree to armed mediation in northern 

I ta ly  was the result o f a sim ilar calculation. Yet i t  is  fa r from 

certain that the Government would have intervened but fo r  the public
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opposition. Palmerston argued that intervention would "be unnecessary 

as the mere threat o f i t  would secure British  objectives; he never 

said that Britain  should intervene i f  the threat proved in su ffic ien t.

Nor did Britain always have the means to intervene successfully. She 

could use her f le e t  in the case o f S ic ily , but her army was too small 

to intervene in northern Ita ly  and she dare not agree to the use of 

French troops. In the summer o f 1 8 4 8 , however, even when m ilitary 

intervention was a feasib le a lternative, Parliamentary opinion precluded 

that option.

I t  would be wrong to imagine that the opposition o f the electorate, 

as represented by Parliament, to m ilitary intervention in Europe in 

18 4 8  re flected  a more general opposition to m ilitary intervention on 

the part o f mid-Victorian Britain. The B ritish  electorate did not like 

war, fo r  apart from any moral consideration i t  seemed irreconcilab le 

with the overwhelming desire fo r the expansion o f trade and industry.

But i t  was prepared to support i t s  Government in a warlike policy i f  

that policy was thought to be essential to British  in terests. In 1 8 4 8 , 

fo r  example, the British  Government, supported by a majority o f the 

electorate, was engaged in a war against the Sikhs in India, had just 

concluded a war against the K affirs  in  southern A frica , and was using 

its  f le e t  to influence the struggle in the Rio Plata. A l l  the above 

mentioned examples occurred outside Europe, where small m ilitary means 

could achieve large results. But the electorate was not necessarily 

opposed to British  involvement in a European war, despite the danger 

and expense such an involvement would en ta il. The Crimean War was pop­

ular with large sections o f the British  public and was at least partly 

due to the public desire that a tough stand should be taken towards 

Russia. The difference between the Crimean War (and the colonial wars) 

and British intervention in Ita ly  in 18 4 8  was that in 1 8 5 4  war seemed
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the Turkish Empire and the security o f the route to India. In Ita ly  

in 18 4 8  no v ita l  B ritish  interest would he served by assisting the 

lib era ls . The lib era liza tion  and partia l unification  of Ita ly  might 

be desirable, but i t  would not obviously add to B rita in 's  security 

or further B rita in 's  interests. Indeed in the short term i t  might 

be harmful to B rita in 's interests fo r the struggle that would be nece­

ssary to achieve success would exacerbate and prolong the uncertainty 

and tension throughout Europe. I f  the Ita lian  libera ls  had achieved 

a quick v ictory , as seemed probable in A pril and fey , the British 

electorate would have welcomed the ir success and applauded Russell 

and Palmerston for their prudent foresight in supporting them. But 

they did not achieve a quick v ictory , or indeed any kind o f v ic to ry , 

and consequently the B ritish  Government's support fo r them seemed 

dangerous and p ro fitless .

Although the British  electorate denied its  Government the means 

to support i t s  diplomacy, except in the most pressing circumstances, 

at the same time i t  expected that diplomacy to be successful. I t  was 

convinced that, because Britain was the world's leading industrial 

and commercial nation and because (in  its  opinion) i t  had the most 

balanced constitution, Britain was the most powerful country in the 

world. What th is meant in rea l terms was unclear, but i t  was assumed 

that British  diplomacy, her "moral influence", could a ffec t European 

a ffa irs . By exerting that "moral influence", i t  was thought, Britain 

could persuade other countries to adopt a course which was benefic ia l 

to mankind, and also benefic ia l to Britain. Three decades o f British  

diplomatic success since 1 8 1 5  had added to th is illu s ion . The re a lit ie s  

o f power p o lit ic s  were forgotten or ignored, except by those politic ians 

who had experience o f conducting foreign a ffa irs . In the opinion o f
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large sections o f the British  electorate, the B ritish  Government had 

only to speak and other governments would he forced to take notice.

The events o f 18 4 8  destroyed th is illu s ion . The British  Government 

exerted its  "moral influence" on Behalf o f the lib e ra l movements in 

Europe (although that influence was not exerted evenly or consistently, 

depending on the Government's perception o f B ritish  in terests ), and 

i t  was generally ignored. Nations followed considerations o f se lf- in te res t, 

not British  advice, and shorn o f the m ilitary means By which i t  could 

compel other governments to take notice the British  Government was 

powerless to change th is. This state o f a ffa irs  was no d ifferen t from 

what i t  had been in the 1820s and 1830s, But in 18 4 8  Europe was in a 

more v o la tile  condition and nations could attempt to further their 

objectives more quickly and more openly. As a resu lt, the consequences 

o f the fa ilu re  o f British  diplomacy were more apparent.

Since 1815, Britain had Been liv in g  on her reputation, at least as 

far as Europe was concerned. Her eventual v ictory  in her long struggle 

against Napoleon had created a myth o f B ritish  power and influence, 

a myth that had Been subconsciously propagated Both at home and abroad. 

That power and influence did ex is t, But i t  needed more e ffo r t  and s e l f -  

sacrifice  to u t il is e  i t  than the British  electorate was prepared to 

expend on non-essential questions. However the memory o f that power 

and influence remained to cloud British and continental thinking. In 

18 4 8  memory and re a lity  came into con flic t , and re a lity  triumphed.

Europe went through a period o f tumultuous change with the British  

Government unable, Because the British  electorate was unwilling, to 

a ffec t matters Beyond encouraging and assisting other governments, 

notably France, along lines they had already decided to follow . The 

Crimean War was a greater Blow to British  prestige, fo r i t  destroyed 

the legend o f the in v in c ib ility  o f the British  army, whilst the supremacy
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of the Royal Navy, though sometimes questioned, was never seriously 

challenged in the nineteenth century. But the obvious impotence of 

British  diplomacy in 18 4 8  f i r s t  threw that power and influence into 

question.
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